

The thyroid and Covid-19

Edited by

Gabriela Brenta, Marco António Campinho, Celia Regina Nogueira and Jose Sgarbi

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-294-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-294-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

The thyroid and Covid-19

Topic editors

Gabriela Brenta — Dr. César Milstein Care Unit, Argentina Marco António Campinho — University of Algarve, Portugal Celia Regina Nogueira — Sao Paulo State University, Brazil Jose Sgarbi — Faculdade de Medicina de Marília, Brazil

Citation

Brenta, G., Campinho, M. A., Nogueira, C. R., Sgarbi, J., eds. (2023). *The thyroid and Covid-19*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-294-4

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: New insights in thyroid and Covid-19 Jose Augusto Sgarbi, Celia Regina Nogueira, Gabriela Brenta and Marco Antonio Campinho

08 Outcomes of Patients With Hypothyroidism and COVID-19: A Retrospective Cohort Study Maaike van Gerwen, Mathilda Alsen, Christine Little, Joshua Barlow,

Leonard Naymagon, Douglas Tremblay, Catherine F. Sinclair and Eric Genden

- 13 Euthyroid Sick Syndrome in Patients With COVID-19 Runmei Zou, Chenfang Wu, Siye Zhang, Guyi Wang, Quan Zhang, Bo Yu, Ying Wu, Haiyun Dong, Guobao Wu, Shangjie Wu and Yanjun Zhong
- 20 Thyroid Hormone Changes in Early Pregnancy Along With the COVID-19 Pandemic

Ting-Ting Lin, Chen Zhang, Han-Qiu Zhang, Yu Wang, Lei Chen, Cindy-Lee Dennis, Hefeng Huang and Yan-Ting Wu

- 31 Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients Weibin Wang, Xingyun Su, Yongfeng Ding, Weina Fan, Weibin Zhou, Junwei Su, Zhendong Chen, Hong Zhao, Kaijin Xu, Qin Ni, Xiaowei Xu, Yunqing Qiu and Lisong Teng
- 38 Physiological Role and Use of Thyroid Hormone Metabolites - Potential Utility in COVID-19 Patients Eleonore Fröhlich and Richard Wahl
- 58 COVID-19-Associated Subacute Thyroiditis: Evidence-Based Data From a Systematic Review
 Pierpaolo Trimboli, Carlo Cappelli, Laura Croce, Lorenzo Scappaticcio, Luca Chiovato and Mario Rotondi
- 69 The Impact of Interferon Beta-1b Therapy on Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Among COVID-19 Survivors David Tak Wai Lui, Ivan Fan Ngai Hung, Chi Ho Lee, Alan Chun Hong Lee, Anthony Raymond Tam, Polly Pang, Tip Yin Ho, Chloe Yu Yan Cheung, Carol Ho Yi Fong, Chun Yiu Law, Kelvin Kai Wang To, Ching Wan Lam, Wing Sun Chow, Yu Cho Woo, Karen Siu Ling Lam and Kathryn Choon Beng Tan
- 78 The Independent Association of TSH and Free Triiodothyronine Levels With Lymphocyte Counts Among COVID-19 Patients

David Tak Wai Lui, Chi Ho Lee, Wing Sun Chow, Alan Chun Hong Lee, Anthony Raymond Tam, Polly Pang, Tip Yin Ho, Chloe Yu Yan Cheung, Carol Ho Yi Fong, Chun Yiu Law, Kelvin Kai Wang To, Ching Wan Lam, Kathryn Choon Beng Tan, Yu Cho Woo, Ivan Fan Ngai Hung and Karen Siu Ling Lam 88 The Effect of Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines on TRAB in Graves' Disease

> LingHong Huang, ZhengRong Jiang, JingXiong Zhou, YuPing Chen and HuiBin Huang

97 Mental Health in Postoperative Thyroid Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Shijie Yang and Xiequn Xu

106 Thyroid Function, Inflammatory Response, and Glucocorticoids in COVID-19

Renata Świątkowska-Stodulska, Agata Berlińska and Ewelina Puchalska-Reglińska

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Terry Francis Davies, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Jose Augusto Sgarbi Sose.sgarbi@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 30 November 2022 ACCEPTED 06 December 2022 PUBLISHED 23 December 2022

CITATION

Sgarbi JA, Nogueira CR, Brenta G and Campinho MA (2022) Editorial: New insights in thyroid and Covid-19. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1112695. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1112695

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sgarbi, Nogueira, Brenta and Campinho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: New insights in thyroid and Covid-19

Jose Augusto Sgarbi^{1*}, Celia Regina Nogueira², Gabriela Brenta³ and Marco Antonio Campinho^{4,5}

¹Thyroid Unit, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Department of Medicine, Faculdade de Medicina de Marília, Marilia, Brazil, ²Department of Internal Medicine, Medical School Botucatu, São Paulo State University (UNESP), Botucatu, Brazil, ³Endocrinology Division, Cesar Milstein Hospital, CABA, Buenos Aires, Argentina, ⁴Faculty of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ⁵Algarve Biomedical Center-Research Institute, Universidade do Algarve, Faro, Portugal

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, thyroid hormone, thyroid disorders, hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism

Editorial on the Research Topic The thyroid and Covid-19

The Coronaviruses Disease 2019 (Covid-19) pandemic, caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is perhaps the most dramatic threat to human health since the Spanish flu in 1918. Almost 700 million cases and more than 6 million deaths have been reported worldwide by November 20, 2022 (1). The lung is the main affected organ, and the most critical clinical presentation has been characterized by interstitial pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome, multiple organ failure, and death (2).

Multiple endocrine organs, such as the pituitary, pancreas, adrenal, gonads, and thyroid gland, have also been affected (3). Detrimental effects on thyroid function have been reported in patients with and without pre-existing thyroid disease. Nonthyroidal illness syndrome (NTIS), subacute thyroiditis (SAT), Hashimoto's thyroiditis, and Graves' disease have been the most frequent thyroid dysfunctions associated with Covid-19 (4). Two major pathophysiological models have been implicated, a direct effect by virus attack causing follicular cells damage and an indirect effect caused by an immune-inflammatory abnormal response to the virus (5). Most recently, thyroid autoimmune diseases have also been reported following Covid-19 vaccination (6).

Thus, thyroid disorders associated with Covid-19 infection or vaccination have emerged as a new focus of research in thyroidology, which has motivated a particular Research Topic by Frontiers Endocrinology. We (the editorial team) invited potential collaborators worldwide from different disciplines to submit their recent research on Covid-19 and thyroid diseases. Eleven articles involving 83 authors were accepted for publication following at least two peer reviews. The published articles fit in Covid-19 and thyroid function- and autoimmunity, analyzing different themes of clinical interest, such as SAT, NTIS, hypothyroidism, pregnancy, vaccination, and autoimmuneinflammatory response. Sgarbi et al.

In a systematic review including 19 studies (17 case reports and 2 case series), Trimboli et al. found that the size and quality of published data are poor and that the clinical presentation of Covid-19-related SAT is like the classic forms, being usually milder and not requiring any specific treatment.

NTIS was addressed in four studies. Zou et al. studied 149 Covid-19 patients and found that NTIS patients (27.5%) had more robust inflammatory responses, such as higher levels of C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate compared to those with non-NTIS. In addition, NTIS was an independent risk factor for Covid-19 severity. Wang et al. showed similar findings in a retrospective study comparing Covid-19 patients with non-Covid-19 patients. They also observed that thyroid dysfunction recovers gradually and spontaneously and tended to be associated with longer viral nucleic acid cleaning time, suggesting a direct effect of the SARS-CoV-2 virus on the gland. Lui et al. included 541 patients without known thyroid disorders with Covid-19; 15.4% had abnormal thyroid function, NTIS being the most frequent. TSH and FT3 levels independently correlated with lymphocyte counts and SARS-Cov-2 viral load. The authors also found that patients who had both lymphopenia and NTIS were more likely to deteriorate than those who had only one alone and those without lymphopenia or NTIS. Finally, in another study including 174 hospitalized patients with Covid-19, Swiatkowska-Stodulska et al. found that FT3 measured at admission was an independent predictor of unfavorable endpoints such as death, mechanical ventilation, vasopressor infusion, and prolonged hospital stay. All these data suggest an essential role of an abnormal immune- and inflammatory response in the pathogenesis of NTIS in Covid-19 patients and its correlation with Covid-19 severity.

Different features of thyroid function were explored in the other three studies. Gerwen et al. did not find any association between pre-existing hypothyroidism with increased risk of hospitalization, mechanical ventilation, or death, indicating that no additional precautions or specific recommendations are needed for patients with hypothyroidism. On the other hand, a retrospective cohort study by Lin et al. showed that pregnant women in their first trimester during the Covid-19 outbreak in Shanghai were at increased risk of having isolated hypothyroxinemia, emphasizing the importance of monitoring thyroid function in pregnant women during and after Covid-19. In addition, Yang and Xu found that postoperative thyroid patients tended to have more mental health problems and less psychological support during the Covid-19 pandemic. Fröhlich and Wahl. presented the readers with a narrative overview of several themes, such as thyroid hormones- and their metabolite's actions, thyroid dysfunctions in Covid-19, and the potential use of L-T3 and their metabolites in the treatment of severely ill Covid-19 patients.

Finally, two interesting articles addressed the link between Covid-19, thyroid autoimmunity, and vaccination. Lui et al. observed that interferon therapy for Covid-19 was associated with modest increases in thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibody titers and incidence. Furthermore, incident anti-TPO positivity was more likely to be related to abnormal thyroid function during convalescence, suggesting that clinicians monitor thyroid function and anti-thyroid antibodies among interferon-treated Covid-19 patients. As a complement to the work of Lui et al., an interestingly combined retrospective and prospective study by Huang et al. demonstrated that thyrotropin receptor antibody (TRAB) serum levels of Graves' disease patients decreased less after inactivated SARS-Cov-2 vaccination and showed an upward trend. Not surprisingly, FT3 and FT4 levels were consistent with it. These data provide evidence for clinicians monitoring TRAB- and thyroid hormone levels after inactivated SARS-Cov-2 vaccination.

Most of the studies in this Research Topic of Frontiers in Endocrinology focus on the thyroid dysfunctions associated with Covid-19, having further advanced the evidence for clinicians in managing adults and pregnant women with- and without preexistent thyroid dysfunctions. Additionally, new insights into the potential effects of vaccination on thyroid autoimmunity were highlighted.

Author contributions

JS wrote de manuscript. GB, CN, and MC critically reviewed and approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all the reviewers of the submitted manuscripts and the Editorial Office Collaborative Peer Review Team for their contributions and excellent assistance to the Topic Editors of this Research Topic.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Johns Hopkins University. COVID-19 map. Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. Available at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html (Accessed Nov 20th 2022).

2. Camporota L, Cronin JN, Busana M, Gattinoni L, Formenti F. Pathophysiology of coronavirus-19 disease acute lung injury. *Curr Opin Crit Care* (2022) 28(1):9–16. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000911

3. Kazakou P, Paschou SA, Psaltopoulou T, Gavriatopoulou M, Korompoki E, Stefanaki K, et al. Early and late endocrine complications of COVID-19. *Endocr Connect* (2021) 10(9):R229–39. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0184

4. Martins JRM, Villagelin DGP, Carvalho GA, Vaisman F, Teixeira PFS, Scheffel RS, et al. Management of thyroid disorders during the COVID-19

outbreak: A position statement from the thyroid department of the Brazilian society of endocrinology and metabolism (SBEM). *Arch Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 65(3):368–75. doi: 10.20945/2359-3997000000352

5. Duntas LH, Jonklaas J. COVID-19 and thyroid diseases: A bidirectional impact. J Endocr Soc (2021) 5(8):bvab076. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvab076

6. Jafarzadeh A, Nemati M, Jafarzadeh S, Nozari P, Mortazavi SMJ. Thyroid dysfunction following vaccination with COVID-19 vaccines: A basic review of the preliminary evidence. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2022) 45(10):1835–63. doi: 10.1007/s40618-022-01786-7





Outcomes of Patients With Hypothyroidism and COVID-19: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Maaike van Gerwen^{1,2*}, Mathilda Alsen¹, Christine Little¹, Joshua Barlow¹, Leonard Naymagon³, Douglas Tremblay³, Catherine F. Sinclair^{1*} and Eric Genden¹

¹ Department of Otolaryngology- Head and Neck Surgery, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ² Institute for Translational Epidemiology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ³ Division of Hematology and Medical Oncology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jacqueline Jonklaas, Georgetown University, United States

Reviewed by:

James Vincent Hennessey, Harvard Medical School, United States Angela Leung, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

*Correspondence:

Maaike van Gerwen maaike.vangerwen@mountsinai.org Catherine F. Sinclair catherine.sinclair@mountsinai.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 June 2020 Accepted: 10 July 2020 Published: 18 August 2020

Citation:

van Gerwen M, Alsen M, Little C, Barlow J, Naymagon L, Tremblay D, Sinclair CF and Genden E (2020) Outcomes of Patients With Hypothyroidism and COVID-19: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front. Endocrinol. 11:565. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00565 Coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) is associated with high rates of morbidity and mortality and worse outcomes have been reported for various morbidities. The impact of pre-existing hypothyroidism on COVID-19 outcomes remains unknown. The aim of the present study was to identify a possible association between hypothyroidism and outcomes related to COVID-19 including hospitalization, need for mechanical ventilation, and all-cause mortality. All patients with a laboratory confirmed COVID-19 diagnosis in March 2020 in a large New York City health system were reviewed. Of the 3703 COVID-19 positive patients included in present study, 251 patients (6.8%) had pre-existing hypothyroidism and received thyroid hormone therapy. Hypothyroidism was not associated with increased risk of hospitalization [Adjusted Odds Ratio (OR_{adj}): 1.23 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.88- 1.70)], mechanical ventilation [OR_{adj}: 1.17 (95% CI: 0.81–1.69)] nor death [OR_{adj}: 1.07 (95% CI: 0.75–1.54)]. This study provides insight into the role of hypothyroidism on the outcomes of COVID-19 positive patients, indicating that no additional precautions or consultations are needed. However, future research into the potential complications of COVID-19 on the thyroid gland and function is warranted.

Keywords: COVID-19, hypothyroidism, survival, outcomes, epidemiology, cohort

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease (COVID-19), the disease caused by severe acute coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has spread dramatically worldwide and is associated with high rates of morbidity and mortality (1, 2). The clinical presentation ranges from an asymptomatic infection to severe viral pneumonia with acute respiratory failure, sepsis and death (3). Older age, male gender and the presence of multiple comorbidities have been identified as the main risk factors for more severe disease and worse outcomes (3, 4). There is some epidemiological evidence that certain comorbidities are associated with worse outcomes. However, the impact of hypothyroidism on outcome in COVID-19 positive patients remains unknown.

It has been established that angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) is the functional host receptor for SARS-CoV-2, ACE2 is expressed in various cells in different organs, including the thyroid gland (5, 6). Data on thyroid function or thyroid pathology in COVID-19 patients is not yet available although destruction of follicular cells was seen in an autopsy study of SARS infected

8

patients published in 2007 (7). Currently, the American Thyroid Association (ATA) does not have specific recommendations for patients with hypothyroidism but underlines the importance of minimizing the spread of COVID-19 and advises patients with underlying hypothyroidism to continue taking their medication as prescribed (8).

The aims of this study are therefore to investigate the association between pre-existing hypothyroidism and COVID-19 related outcomes, including hospitalization, need for mechanical ventilation and all-cause mortality.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

All patients with a positive result on a reverse-transcriptasepolymerase-chain-reaction (RT-PCR) SARS-CoV-2 assay of a nasopharyngeal swab specimen and therefore diagnosed with laboratory confirmed COVID-19 between March 1, 2020 and April 1, 2020 were identified via the electronic medical record of a large New York City health system (n = 4,343). Both hospitalized and ambulatory patients were included. Patients were excluded if they were <18 years old (n = 55) or had insufficient clinical documentation available or accessible, including confidential patient records (n = 585), resulting in a final study population of 3703 COVID-19 positive patients. This study was approved by the Program for the Protection of Human Subjects (PPHS) of the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai.

Data Collection

The medical records of all patients were retrospectively reviewed and data relevant to our study was collected and securely stored using Research Electronic Data Capture software (REDCap, Vanderbilt University). COVID-19 patients were identified as having hypothyroidism as a comorbidity when (1) the significant medical history in the medical record mentioned "hypothyroidism" (ICD-9 code 244, 245.2 or ICD-10 code E02, E03, E06.3) or (2) the term hypothyroidism was found within the clinical notes, combined with receiving thyroid hormone therapy before the COVID-19 related hospital visit/ admission. Data was collected on age, sex, race, smoking status, and body mass index (BMI) with the cut-offs used for normal weight ($<25 \text{ kg/m}^2$), overweight $(25-30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ and obese $(>30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, as proposed by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (9). Data on comorbidities was collected and translated into a categorical variable on the number of comorbidities. Survival time was calculated as the time (days) between a positive result on a RT-PCR SARS-CoV-2 assay of a nasopharyngeal swab specimen and last follow-up. Our primary predictor of interest was the presence of hypothyroidism. Data on the primary outcomes of interest was collected up to May 13, 2020 and included hospital admission, need for invasive mechanical ventilation (i.e., intubation), and all-cause mortality.

Statistical Analysis

Demographic and clinical characteristics were compared between the hypothyroidism group and the no hypothyroidism group using two-sided t-test for age and chi² tests for the

categorical variables. Adjusted analysis was performed using multivariable logistic regression to calculate the odds of hospitalization between the hypothyroidism and the no hypothyroidism group, adjusting for age, sex, race, BMI, smoking status and number of comorbidities. Multivariable logistic regression was also used to calculate the odds of mechanical ventilation and death between the hypothyroidism and the no hypothyroidism group within the group of hospitalized patients.

We additionally applied propensity score matching methods to deal with potential bias due to non-random treatment allocation among COVID-19 positive patients with and without hypothyroidism (10). Propensity scores were calculated using a logistic regression model adjusting for age, sex, race, BMI, smoking status, and number of comorbidities. A one-to-three matching technique was utilized by matching one patient from the hypothyroidism group to three patients from the no hypothyroidism group based on their propensity score values, using the Greedy matching technique (10). Event analysis for the outcome hospitalization was determined. Within the group of hospitalized patients, we again matched one patient from the hypothyroidism group to three patients from the no hypothyroidism group based on their propensity score values and ran event analysis for the outcome mechanical ventilation and all-cause mortality. We additionally performed time-toevent analysis for all-cause mortality. Patients with a survival time exceeding 50 days were censored to avoid a small number of patients at risk. The results of time-to-event analysis were expressed as a Kaplan-Meier curve with significance indicated using log-rank test. Cox proportional hazard model of all-cause mortality with robust sandwich variance estimates of standard errors was performed and expressed as hazard ratio. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

RESULTS

Our study population consisted of 3703 COVID-19 positive patients, of which 251 patients (6.8%) had pre-existing hypothyroidism. Of the 251 patients with pre-existing hypothyroidism, 22 patients (8.8%) had Hashimoto's disease. Patients in the hypothyroidism group were significantly older, more frequently female and Non-Hispanic White and had significantly more other comorbidities (**Table 1**); 68.1% of the COVID-19 positive patients with hypothyroidism needed hospitalization.

Hospitalization

Hypothyroidism was not associated with increased risk of hospitalization [Adjusted Odds Ratio (OR_{adj}): 1.23 (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 0.88–1.70)] (**Table 2**). Propensity score matching yielded 241 patients with hypothyroidism and 723 patients without hypothyroidism with balanced variables between the groups (**Supplementary Table 1**). The risk of hospitalization was not statistically significantly different between the matched groups [OR: 0.76 (95% CI: 0.58–1.00)] (**Table 2**).

	Hypothyroidism (n = 251) n (%)	Without hypothyroidism (<i>n</i> = 3,452) <i>n</i> (%)	p-value
Age (years \pm SD)	65.0 (± 16.9)	56.4 (±18.2)	<0.001
Female	173 (68.9)	1,481 (42.9)	< 0.001
Race			< 0.001
NHW	114 (45.4)	899 (26.0)	
NHB	39 (15.5)	953 (27.6)	
Other/ unknown	98 (39.0)	1,600 (46.4)	
Smoking			< 0.001
Never	153 (61)	1,991 (57.7)	
Former	72 (28.7)	641 (18.6)	
Current	7 (2.8)	186 (5.4)	
Unknown	19 (7.6)	634 (18.4)	
BMI			< 0.001
<25	74 (29.5)	771 (22.3)	
25-30	75 (29.9)	981 (28.4)	
> 30	87 (34.7)	985 (28.5)	
Unknown	15 (6.0)	715 (20.7)	
Number of Comorbidities*			<0.001
0	55 (21.9)	1,305 (37.8)	
1	52 (20.7)	786 (22.8)	
2	40 (15.9)	575 (16.7)	
>2	104 (41.4)	786 (22.8)	
Hospital admission	171 (68.1)	1,844 (53.4)	<0.001

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population by hypothyroidism status (n = 3,703).

NHB, Non-Hispanic Black; NHW, Non-Hispanic White; SD, standard deviation.

*Comorbidities include hypertension, coronary artery disease, atrial fibrillation, congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular accident/ transient ischemic attack, dementia, diabetes, chronic kidney disease stage III or greater, malignancy (including all types of cancer as well as lymphoma and leukemia), asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and prior venous thromboembolism.

Mechanical Ventilation and Mortality in Hospitalized Patients

In the group of hospitalized patients (n = 2,015), hypothyroidism was not associated with an increased risk of mechanical ventilation [OR_{adj}: 1.17 (95% CI: 0.81–1.69)] or death [OR_{adj}: 1.07 (95% CI: 0.75–1.54)] (**Table 2**). Propensity score matching yielded 158 hospitalized patients with hypothyroidism and 474 hospitalized patients without hypothyroidism with balanced variables between the groups (**Supplementary Table 2**). Hypothyroidism was not associated with increased risk of mechanical ventilation [OR: 0.85 (95% CI: 0.58–1.25)] or death [OR: 1.04 (95% CI: 0.71–1.52)] (**Table 2**). There was no statistically significant difference in survival (p= 0.898) between the two groups [HR: 0.98 (95% CI: 0.72–1.34)] (**Figure 1**).

DISCUSSION

This large, retrospective cohort study showed that hypothyroidism is not associated with increased risk of

TABLE 2 | Association between hypothyroidism and COVID-19 outcomes.

	Adjusted analysis* OR _{adj} (95% Cl)	Propensity matched analysis OR (95% CI)
Hospitalization	1.23 (0.88–1.70)	0.76 (0.58–1.00)
Mechanical ventilation#	1.17 (0.81–1.69)	0.85 (0.58–1.25)
Death [#]	1.07 (0.75–1.54)	1.04 (0.71–1.52)

^{*}Adjusted for age, sex, race, BMI, smoking status, number of comorbidities. [#]Only included hospitalized patients.

COVID-19 related hospitalization or a worse outcome, including death. The current recommendations by the ATA for patients with hypothyroidism are therefore accurate and no additional precautions are needed for patients suffering from hypothyroidism.

From published literature, we know that well-managed hypothyroidism is not associated with increased infection risk although there is some evidence that susceptibility to infection might increase in patients with poorly controlled hypothyroidism (11, 12). Therefore, the treatment of thyroid disorders in COVID-19 positive patients remains of significant importance amid the ongoing pandemic. The unprecedented strain on medical resources and implementation of social distancing measures pose a fundamental challenge to the treatment of patients with chronic conditions, including hypothyroidism. Hypothyroidism requires management with thyroid hormone replacement therapy and active monitoring through regular biochemical testing to ensure that therapeutic levels are maintained (13). Iatrogenic overtreatment with thyroid hormone supplementation is a known risk factor for the development of thyrotoxicosis (14). A joint statement by the British Thyroid Association and the Society for Endocrinology (BTA/SfE) as well as the ATA regarding the COVID-19 pandemic therefore strongly advise that patients with thyroid disease continue taking their thyroid medications as prescribed in order to reduce any risk of thyroid dysregulation (15) that could lead to a more severe COVID-19 outcome.

Besides pre-existing hypothyroidism as potential focus of interest, there is some evidence that endocrinological disruption and destruction of thyroid tissue may be a complication of COVID-19, even in patients without pre-existing endocrinological conditions (7, 16–19). It is known that SARS-CoV, the virus responsible for the SARS outbreak in 2003, as well as SARS-CoV-2 use ACE2 to enter human cells (20, 21). ACE2 is expressed by various cells in the body, including the thyroid gland (5, 6). Destruction of thyroid gland tissue and temporary or permanent thyroid dysfunction should therefore be subject of future studies.

This study was a retrospective study using data collected from the electronic medical records of ambulatory and hospitalized COVID-19 positive patients. A limitation of this study includes that the study population consisted solely of patients within the New York metropolitan area therefore potentially limiting the generalizability of the results. Although assessing the outcomes of patients with hypothyroidism due to Hashimoto's disease



compared to patients with hypothyroidism due to other causes would be clinically relevant, a subgroup analysis was not feasible because of too low number of patients with Hashimoto's disease in our study cohort. The increased patient volume and reduced consultation time per patient associated with the increased influx of patients during the pandemic potentially resulted in missing data, especially for ambulatory patients, on certain covariates including race, BMI, and smoking status. Furthermore, we were unable to collect mortality data for the patients who were still hospitalized at the time of data collection, therefore potentially introducing bias. However, we estimate that little bias was introduced because only 1.3% of the study population was still hospitalized at the time of data collection.

To our knowledge, this is the first study investigating the COVID-19 associated outcomes in patients with pre-existing hypothyroidism in a population drawn from the first and largest

REFERENCES

- Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in china: summary of a report of 72314 cases from the chinese center for disease control and prevention. *Jama*. (2020) 323:1239–42. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648
- Grasselli G, Zangrillo A, Zanella A, Antonelli M, Cabrini L, Castelli A, et al. Baseline characteristics and outcomes of 1591 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 admitted to ICUs of the lombardy region, Italy. *Jama*. (2020) 323:2195–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.5394
- 3. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in

COVID-19 epicenter in the US, with sufficiently long follow-up to rigorously assess whether pre-existing hypothyroidism is a risk factor for worse outcomes.

In conclusion, hypothyroidism is not a risk factor associated with worse outcomes in COVID-19 positive patients, therefore no additional precautions or consultations are needed. However, future research into the potential complications of COVID-19 on the thyroid gland and function is warranted.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Program for the Protection of Human Subjects (PPHS) of the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have made substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work (CS, MG, MA, CL, DT, EG), or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data, or the creation of new software used in the work (MG, MA, CL, JB, LN, DT, CS, EG), or have drafted the work or substantively revised it (MG, MA, CL, CS), and have approved the submitted version (plus any substantially modified version that involves the author's contribution to the study [all authors]), and to have agreed both to be personally accountable for the author's own contributions and to ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work, even ones in which the author was not personally involved, are appropriately investigated, resolved, and the resolution documented in the literature.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2020.00565/full#supplementary-material

Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

- van Gerwen M, Alsen M, Little C, Barlow J, Genden E, Naymagon L, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 in New York City; a retrospective cohort study. J Med Virol. (2020). doi: 10.1002/jmv.26337
- Bourgonje AR, Abdulle AE, Timens W, Hillebrands JL, Navis GJ, Gordijn SJ, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2), SARS-CoV-2 and pathophysiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). J Pathol. (2020). doi: 10.1002/path.5471
- Pal R, Banerjee M. COVID-19 and the endocrine system: exploring the unexplored. J Endocrinol Invest. (2020) 43:1–5. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01276-8

- Wei L, Sun S, Xu CH, Zhang J, Xu Y, Zhu H, et al. Pathology of the thyroid in severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Hum Pathol.* (2007) 38:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2006.06.011
- 8. Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the Thyroid. Available online at: https://www.thyroid.org/covid-19/statement-covid-19/ (accessed June 4, 2020).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Body Mass Index (BMI). Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/index. html (accessed June 2, 2020).
- Austin PC. An introduction to propensity score methods for reducing the effects of confounding in observational studies. *Multivar Behav Res.* (2011) 46:399–424. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2011.568786
- Schoenfeld PS, Myers JW, Myers L, LaRocque JC. Suppression of cellmediated immunity in hypothyroidism. *South Med J.* (1995) 88:347–9. doi: 10.1097/00007611-199503000-00019
- Mayer D, Miller-Hänisch B, Böckh A, Hehrmann R. Fulminant meningococcal meningitis and sepsis associated with severe hypothyroidism caused by autoimmune (Hashimoto) thyreoiditis. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*. (1997) 105 (Suppl. 4):80. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1211942
- Jonklaas J, Bianco AC, Bauer AJ, Burman KD, Cappola AR, Celi FS, et al. Guidelines for the treatment of hypothyroidism: prepared by the american thyroid association task force on thyroid hormone replacement. *Thyroid.* (2014) 24:1670–751. doi: 10.1089/thy. 2014.0028
- Mammen JS, McGready J, Oxman R, Chia CW, Ladenson PW, Simonsick EM. Thyroid hormone therapy and risk of thyrotoxicosis in community-resident older adults: findings from the baltimore longitudinal study of aging. *Thyroid.* (2015) 25:979–86. doi: 10.1089/thy. 2015.0180
- BTA/SGE statement regarding issues specific to thyroid dysfunction during the COVID-19 pandemic. Available online at: https://www.british-thyroidassociation.org/sandbox/bta2016/management-of-thyroid-dysfunctionduring-covid-19_final.pdf (accessed June 4, 2020).

- Leow MK, Kwek DS, Ng AW, Ong KC, Kaw GJ, Lee LS. Hypocortisolism in survivors of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2005) 63:197–202. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02325.x
- Chrousos GP, Kaltsas G. Post-SARS sickness syndrome manifestations and endocrinopathy: how, why, and so what? *Clin Endocrinol.* (2005) 63:363–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02361.x
- Chrousos GP, Gold PW. The concepts of stress and stress system disorders: overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. *Jama*. (1992) 267:1244–52. doi: 10.1001/jama.267.9.1244
- Gu J, Gong E, Zhang B, Zheng J, Gao Z, Zhong Y, et al. Multiple organ infection and the pathogenesis of SARS. J Exp Med. (2005) 202:415–24. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050828
- Ge XY, Li JL, Yang XL, Chmura AA, Zhu G, Epstein JH, et al. Isolation and characterization of a bat SARS-like coronavirus that uses the ACE2 receptor. *Nature*. (2013) 503:535–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12711
- Devaux CA, Rolain JM, Raoult D. ACE2 receptor polymorphism: susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2, hypertension, multi-organ failure, and COVID-19 disease outcome. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. (2020) 53:425–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.04.015

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past co-authorship with one of the author CS.

Copyright © 2020 van Gerwen, Alsen, Little, Barlow, Naymagon, Tremblay, Sinclair and Genden. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Euthyroid Sick Syndrome in Patients With COVID-19

Runmei Zou^{1†}, Chenfang Wu^{2†}, Siye Zhang², Guyi Wang², Quan Zhang³, Bo Yu², Ying Wu², Haiyun Dong², Guobao Wu², Shangjie Wu⁴ and Yanjun Zhong^{2*}

¹ Children's Medical Center, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, ² Critical Care Medicine, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, ³ Critical Care Medicine, The First Hospital of Changsha, Changsha, China, ⁴ Department of Respiratory, The Second Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesco S. Celi, Virginia Commonwealth University, United States

Reviewed by:

Sahzene Yavuz, Virginia Commonwealth University, United States Giorgio Radetti, Ospedale di Bolzano, Italy Peter Nicholas Taylor, Cardiff University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Yanjun Zhong zhongyanjun@csu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 28 May 2020 Accepted: 17 September 2020 Published: 07 October 2020

Citation:

Zou R, Wu C, Zhang S, Wang G, Zhang Q, Yu B, Wu Y, Dong H, Wu G, Wu S and Zhong Y (2020) Euthyroid Sick Syndrome in Patients With COVID-19. Front. Endocrinol. 11:566439. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.566439 **Background:** Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has been shown to affect almost every organ throughout the body. However, it is not clear whether the thyroid gland is impaired in COVID-19 patients. Euthyroid sick syndrome (ESS) is usually associated with the disease severity and deterioration prognosis in critical illness. In this study, the thyroid function of COVID-19 patients was assessed and factors associated with outcomes were analyzed to determine the potential predictive value of ESS.

Methods: Clinical and laboratory data of COVID-19 patients with or without ESS in Changsha, China, were collected and analyzed on admission. Kaplan-Meier curve and cox regression model were utilized to determine the correlation between ESS and the endpoints. Subsequently, a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was plotted to evaluate the predictive performances of FT3 and C-reactive protein (CRP) in the disease severity.

Results: Forty-one (27.52%) cases of COVID-19 patients diagnosed with ESS. ESS patients had higher proportions of fever, shortness of breath, hypertension, diabetes, and severe events than those of non-ESS patients. The levels of erythrocyte sedimentation rate and C-reactive protein, and the positive rate of procalcitonin were significantly higher, whereas the lymphocyte count was apparently lower in ESS patients than in non-ESS patients. The regression analysis showed that ESS was significantly associated with the disease severity of COVID-19 (HR = 2.515, 95% CI: 1.050–6.026, P = 0.039). The areas under the curve (AUCs) for predicting the severe disease were [0.809 (95% CI 0.727–0.892), P < 0.001] and [0.792 (95% CI 0.689–0.895), P < 0.001] for FT3 and CRP, respectively.

Conclusion: ESS was significantly associated with the disease severity and inflammatory parameters in COVID-19 patients.

Keywords: Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), euthyroid sick syndrome, thyroid function, disease severity, C-reactive protein

13

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease which causes severe respiratory illness. It was first reported in Wuhan, China, in December 2019 (1–3). It has spread widely around the world and been declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization (WHO) on March 11, 2020. As of August 28, over 24,000,000 cases and 800,000 deaths have been identified worldwide (4). The etiological agent of COVID-19 has been confirmed as a novel coronavirus, initially named 2019-nCov but now known as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (5).

COVID-19 can impair almost any structure in the human body from the brain to the toes, including lungs, liver, heart, kidney, brain, gut, etc. (6). The thyroid gland is a neuroendocrine organ which plays an important role in regulating immunity and metabolism. Whether the thyroid gland is affected by SARS-CoV-2 remains unclear. An identity match of more than 85% has been identified between SARS-CoV-2 and a bat SARS-like CoV genome published previously (7). A study composed of 48 SARS patients found that 93.7% patients had a low serum level of triiodothyronine (T3) (8). During acute illness, changes in the serum levels of thyroid hormones have been depicted which represent a condition known as euthyroid sick syndrome (ESS). ESS is characterized by a decreased level of serum T3 and/or thyroxine (T4) without an increased secretion of thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) (9). ESS is the physiologic adaptation and pathologic response to acute disease, occurring in the fasting state in healthy individuals, as well as in the context of infection, trauma, myocardial infarction, and malignancy (10). Previous studies suggested that thyroid hormone levels, especially low serum levels of free T3 (FT3), are usually associated with the disease severity and deterioration prognosis in critical illness (11, 12).

In this study, we assessed the thyroid function in patients with COVID-19 and analyzed the related factors to determine the potential value of ESS in predicting the disease severity. We found that COVID-19 patients with ESS had a higher risk of severe events than non-ESS patients. Besides, ESS was an independent risk factor for the severe event in COVID-19 patients. ESS also displayed a potent correlation with the inflammatory parameters.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

This was a retrospective cohort study. The study was approved by the institutional ethics board of the second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University (No. 2020001). Laboratoryconfirmed COVID-19 patients (aged 19–84 years old) admitted to Public Health Treatment Center of Changsha, China from January 17 to March 14, 2020, were enrolled. Patients with underlying primary thyroid disease, history of chemotherapy or radiotherapy in the last 6 months, suspicion of underlying hypothalamic or pituitary disease were excluded. ESS was described as serum FT3 <2.3 pg/ml with low or normal levels of TSH. Patients were divided into two groups according to serum FT3 values: ESS group and non-ESS group.

Data Collection

Two members of our team carefully gathered and individually reviewed the medical records of patients. Detailed information on demographic data, clinical symptoms, underlying comorbidities, medical history, laboratory parameters, and chest computed tomographic (CT) scans were checked and extracted. Blood samples were drawn from the patients on their first day of the hospitalization.

Endpoints

The primary endpoint of our study was the severe event. The second endpoints were the rates of noninvasive and invasive ventilation, mortality, virus shedding time, and length of hospital stay. We used one of the following criteria to determine the severe event of COVID-19: 1) respiratory rate \geq 30/min; 2) oxygen saturation \leq 93%; 3) PaO2/FiO2 \leq 300 mmHg; 4) progression of lung lesions exceeding 50% within 24–48 h; 5) mechanical ventilation was implemented; 6) shock; 7) intensive care unit admission (13). The virus shedding time was defined as the time from illness onset (the day of diagnosis for asymptomatic patients) to the first negative samples without any positive sample thereafter.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables in our study were expressed as the median with inter quartile range (IQR) for data not following normal distribution and analyzed using the Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical data were described using frequencies and percentages. The $\chi 2$ test or Fisher's exact test was used to compare the differences of the categorical variables. The Kaplan-Meier (KM) curve and cox proportional hazard regression models were applied to determine the association between ESS and the endpoints, with the hazards ratio (HR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI) being reported. Finally, a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was established to evaluate the predictive performances of FT3 and C-reactive protein (CRP) in the disease severity of COVID-19.

RESULTS

A total of 149 COVID-19 patients were enrolled in this study, of whom 41 (27.52%) cases were diagnosed with ESS. Out of these, 14 (34.15%) were males. The median age was 58 (IQR: 50–66) years old. The most common symptoms in the ESS group were fever [39 (95.12%)], fatigue [18 (43.90%)], cough [36 (87.80%)], shortness of breath [25 (60.98%)], expectoration [20 (48.78%)], and anorexia [21 (51.22%)]. Hypertension [10 (24.39%)] and diabetes [7 (17.07%)] were the most common comorbidities (**Table 1**).

Compared with non-ESS patients, patients with ESS were older [58 years (IQR: 50–66) vs 41 years (IQR: 31–56.5), P < 0.001) and exhibited a female dominance (65.85 vs 47.22%, P = 0.042).

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of patients with ESS and non-ESS.

	ESS group (n = 41)	Non-ESS group (n = 108)	All patients (n = 149)	P value
Gender (male/female)	14/27	57/51	71/78	0.042*
Age, y, M (IQR)	58 (50, 66)	41 (31, 56.5)	47 (36, 61.5)	<0.001*
Symptoms				
Fever (n, %)	39 (95.12)	73 (67.59)	112 (75.17)	0.001*
Fatigue (n, %)	18 (43.90)	43 (39.81)	61 (40.94)	0.650
Cough (n, %)	36 (87.80)	88 (81.48)	124 (83.22)	0.356
Shortness of breath (n, %)	25 (60.98)	26 (24.07)	51 (34.23)	<0.001*
Expectoration (n, %)	20 (48.78)	49 (45.37)	69 (46.31)	0.709
Hemoptysis (n, %)	3 (7.32)	2 (1.85)	5 (3.36)	0.128
Pharyngalgia (n, %)	6 (14.63)	21 (19.44)	27 (18.12)	0.496
Vomiting (n, %)	4 (9.76)	12 (11.11)	16 (10.74)	1.000
Diarrhea (n, %)	8 (19.51)	24 (22.22)	32 (21.48)	0.719
Abdominal pain (n, %)	3 (7.32)	2 (1.85)	5 (3.36)	0.128
Nausea (n, %)	5 (12.20)	12 (11.11)	17 (11.41)	1.000
Anorexia (n, %)	21 (51.22)	47 (43.52)	68 (45.64)	0.399
Myalgia (n, %)	3 (7.32)	11 (10.19)	14 (9.40)	0.825
Chill (n, %)	8 (19.51)	12 (11.11)	20 (13.42)	0.179
Dizziness (n, %)	7 (17.07)	12 (11.11)	19 (12.75)	0.330
Headache (n, %)	7 (17.07)	16 (14.81)	23 (15.44)	0.733
Comorbidities				
Hypertension (n, %)	10 (24.39)	7 (6.48)	17 (11.41)	0.005*
Cardiovascular (n, %)	3 (7.32)	4 (3.70)	7 (4.70)	0.619
Diabetes (n, %)	7 (17.07)	3 (2.78)	10 (6.71)	0.006*
Chronic liver disease (n, %)	1 (2.44)	6 (5.56)	7 (4.70)	0.712

*means a significant difference; ESS, euthyroid sick syndrome; M, median; IQR, inter quartile range; y, years.

Furthermore, patients with ESS tended to have a higher prevalence of fever and shortness of breath compared to non-ESS patients (95.12 *vs* 67.59%, P = 0.001; 60.98 *vs* 24.07%, P < 0.001, respectively). The occurrences of hypertension and diabetes were higher in ESS patients than those in non-ESS patients (24.39 *vs* 6.48%, P = 0.005; 17.07 *vs* 2.78%, P = 0.006, respectively) (**Table 1**).

Patients with ESS had significantly lower levels of T4 (median 106.30 *vs* 121.98 nmol/L, P < 0.001), and free T4 (FT4) (median 14.47 *vs* 16.08 pmol/L, P = 0.026) than non-ESS patients, but no significant difference was detected with respect to TSH. The levels of erythrocyte sedimentation rate (median 66.5 *vs* 35 mm/h, P < 0.001) and CRP (median 38.99 *vs* 11.26 mg/L, P < 0.001) were significantly higher, whereas the lymphocyte count (0.91 *vs* 1.27 ×10⁹/L, P < 0.001) was obviously lower in ESS patients than those of non-ESS patients. Additionally, patients with ESS had a higher positive rate of procalcitonin compared with non-ESS patients (53.66 *vs* 29.63%, P = 0.006) (**Table 2**). COVID-19 patients with ESS were linked with stronger inflammatory responses, characterized by higher levels of inflammatory markers.

The associations between ESS and the outcomes of COVID-19 patients were presented in **Table 3**. COVID-19 patients with ESS had a significantly higher prevalence of severe events (36.59 *vs* 10.19%, P < 0.001). Nonetheless, no significant effects of ESS were found on the rates of noninvasive (2.44 *vs* 1.85%, P = 1.000) and invasive ventilation (2.44 *vs* 0.93%, P = 0.476), mortality (0.00 *vs* 0.93%, P = 1.000), virus shedding time [19 days (IQR: 14–23.5) *vs* 17 days (IQR: 13–24), P = 0.670], and length of hospital stay [17 days (IQR:12–25) *vs* 15 days (IQR: 11–23), P =0.345]. As observed from the KM curve, patients with ESS had a significantly higher risk of severe events compared with those without ESS (log-rank P < 0.001, **Figure 1**). The results of cox regression analysis showed that both ESS (HR = 2.515, 95% CI: 1.050–6.026, P = 0.039), and CRP (HR = 1.031, 95% CI: 1.015–1.046, P < 0.001) were independent risk factors for the disease severity (**Table 4**).

Considering that CRP was one of the most reported risk factors of the disease severity of COVID-19 patients (14–17), ROC curve was conducted to determine the predictive performances of FT3 and CRP in the disease severity. The areas under the curve (AUCs) for FT3 and CRP predicting the severe disease were [0.809 (95% CI 0.727–0.892), P < 0.001] and [0.792 (95% CI 0.689–0.895), P < 0.001] (**Figure 2**), respectively.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we identified 41 (27.52%) COVID-19 patients with ESS. We compared the clinical characteristics between ESS and non-ESS patients and analyzed factors related to the disease severity of patients with COVID-19. The results demonstrated that ESS patients had a higher prevalence of severe events than non-ESS patients, which was consistent with the severity of symptoms and elevated inflammatory markers. The cox regression model suggested that ESS is an independent risk factor for the severity of COVID-19.

Previous studies demonstrated that a decreased level of FT3 was a prognostic indicator of critical disease, which was associated with all-cause mortality, especially in the intensive

oup (n = 41)	Non-ESS group (n = 108)		
,	Non-E35 group (n = 108)	All patients (n = 149)	P value
3.38, 6.15)	4.67 (3.68. 5.98)	4.63 (3.60, 6.03)	0.708
0.59, 1.13)	1.27 (0.91, 1.70)	1.13 (0.83, 1.52)	<0.001*
0.81, 1.10)	1.47 (1.35, 1.68)	1.39 (1.11, 1.59)	< 0.001*
39.38, 119.09)	121.98 (107.78, 136.13)	118.80 (100.67, 131.15)	<0.001*
2.72, 17.18)	16.08 (13.43, 18.91)	15.80 (13.35, 18.11)	0.026*
1.01, 2.28)	1.74 (1.13, 2.71)	1.63 (1.07, 2.56)	0.065
(43, 82.5)	35 (15, 60)	46 (21.5, 68.5)	<0.001*
9.05, 60.96)	11.26 (2.92, 22.88)	16.07 (4.14, 34.07)	<0.001*
(53.66)	32 (29.63)	54 (36.24)	0.006*
3.37, 28.75)	19.72 (14.11, 26.41)	19.08 (13.75, 26.44)	0.973
21.31, 34.82)	23.84 (18.85, 29.19)	23.97 (19.38, 30.47)	0.098
7.73, 14.59)	10.29 (8.20, 14.82)	10.60 (8.08, 14.68)	0.784
37.67, 65.55)	50.51 (41.05, 65.66)	51.11 (40.74, 65.43)	0.883
0.10, 139.10)	68.25 (44.38, 105.63)	68.70 (45.40, 111.40)	0.321
6.35, 13.95)	9.50 (6.10, 12.30)	10.00 (6.10, 12.99)	0.320
(100.00)	101 (93.52)	142 (95.30)	0.216
	3.38, 6.15) (0.59, 1.13) (0.81, 1.10) 39.38, 119.09) 12.72, 17.18) 1.01, 2.28) (43, 82.5) 19.05, 60.96) (53.66) 13.37, 28.75) 21.31, 34.82) 7.73, 14.59) 37.67, 65.55) 0.10, 139.10) 6.35, 13.95) (100.00)	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

*means a significant difference; ESS, euthyroid sick syndrome; M, median; IQR, inter quartile range; WBC, white blood cell count; T3, triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; FT4, free thyroxine; TSH, stimulating hormone; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein; PCT, procalcitonin; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; TBil, total bilirubin; SCr, serum creatinine; CK, creatine kinase; CK-MB, creatine kinase isoenzyme.

TABLE 3 | Outcomes of patients with ESS and non-ESS.

	ESS group (n = 41)	Non-ESS group (n = 108)	All patients(n = 149)	P value
Severe event (n, %)	15 (36.59)	11 (10.19)	26 (17.45)	<0.001*
Noninvasive ventilator (n, %)	1 (2.44)	2 (1.85)	3 (2.01)	1.000
Invasive ventilator (n, %)	1 (2.44)	1 (0.93)	2 (1.34)	0.476
Mortality (n, %)	0 (0.00)	1 (0.93)	1 (0.67)	1.000
Virus shedding time (days, IQR)	19 (14, 23.5)	17 (13, 24)	17.50 (13, 24)	0.670
Length of hospital stay (days, IQR)	17 (12, 25)	15 (11, 23)	15.5 (11, 24.75)	0.345

*means a significant difference; ESS, euthyroid sick syndrome; IQR, inter quartile range.



care unit (18). A study consisting of 503 patients diagnosed with community-acquired pneumonia reported that ESS is an independent risk factor for the 30-day mortality (19). The pathophysiological process of ESS involved in the induction of type III deiodinase and decrease of type I deiodinase, which resulted in the increased conversion of T4 to rT3 instead of

T3 (9). Furthermore, the HPT axis was suppressed under pathological conditions, contributing to the decreased secretion of TSH (20). This pathophysiological mechanism also involved the binding of thyroid hormone to plasma protein, transport of thyroid hormone in peripheral tissues, and the hormone receptor activity (10).

	Beta	SE	Wald	P value	Hazard ratio	95.0	% CI
						Lower	Upper
ESS	0.922	0.446	4.280	0.039*	2.515	1.050	6.026
Gender	0.313	0.456	0.472	0.492	1.368	0.559	3.345
Age	0.006	0.017	0.147	0.701	1.006	0.974	1.040
Hypertension	0.417	0.549	0.576	0.448	1.517	0.517	4.447
Cardiovascular disease	-0.777	0.579	1.800	0.180	0.460	0.148	1.431
CRP	0.030	0.008	15,246	<0.001	1.031	1.015	1.046

TABLE 4 | Association of ESS and disease severity in the cox regression model.

*means a significant difference; ESS, euthyroid sick syndrome; CRP, C-reactive protein.



FIGURE 2 | Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves showed that the areas under the curve (AUCs) were 0.809 and 0.792 for FT3 (A) and C reactive protein (B), respectively.

In COVID-19 patients, ESS may be directly caused by infection of thyroid cells with SARS-CoV-2. Despite the fact that no article on the involvement of the thyroid gland in COVID-19 patients has been published, varying degrees of damage to the thyroid gland were confirmed in SARS patients back in 2007 (21). Meanwhile, the patients with COVID-19 had lower serum TSH and TT3 levels than healthy controls and non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients (19). Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) 2, an important receptor in the pathogenesis of COVID-19, was demonstrated to be expressed in the thyroid tissues (22). Hence, the thyroid gland may be one of the targets damaged by SARS-CoV-2. Withal, the mechanism for this hypothesis remains unknown. Further investigation is necessary to determine whether ACE2 has an impact on the thyroid function in patients with COVID-19. Second, cytokine storms were very common in COVID-19 patients, especially in severe cases, characterized by the uncontrolled and excessive release of inflammatory mediators resulting in overwhelming systemic inflammation and even multiple organ dysfunction (23). In our research, the inflammatory responses seemed to be stronger in patients with ESS, with higher levels of CRP and erythrocyte sedimentation rate as well as a higher positive rate of procalcitonin. It is well known that cytokines are the key molecules involved in coordinating the hormone, immune, and

inflammatory responses to stressful stimuli (24). In the previous study, patients admitted to the intensive care unit elicited lower serum concentrations of T4, FT4, T3, FT3, and TSH, while the serum levels of inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 β and TNF- α were markedly elevated (25). The increase of inflammatory cytokines can result in suppression of central TSH and 5'-deiodinases activity. Third, our results indicated that ESS patients were more likely to have the symptom of fever compared with non-ESS patients. The invasion of SARS-CoV-2 causing hyperthermia can lead to down-regulation of 5'deiodinases activity, resulting in decreases in T3 levels. Meanwhile, the disease related negative nitrogen balance and body consumption, can also lead to a decline in the serum levels of thyroid hormone transport proteins, inhibiting T4 transport in T3-producing tissues. Fourth, the effects of drugs on the thyroid function should not be ignored. Glucocorticoids and dopamine can inhibit the secretion of TSH by the pituitary and the intake of T4 by peripheral tissues. Likewise, amiodarone and beta-adrenergic blocking agents can suppress deiodinase activity and consequently T3 production, contributing to a decrease in serum T3 levels. Also, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are capable of transiently increasing free thyroid hormone levels by preventing their binding to plasma transport proteins (26). Given that the thyroid functions of our

patients were assessed on admission, further studies including the effects of drugs on the thyroid function are imperative to demonstrate the impact of COVID-19 pharmacotherapy on the development of ESS.

Our work above had some limitations. First, this study was a retrospective study, and the thyroid function was accessed only at admission. Second, the sample size was too small and only a few patients required the mechanical ventilation. Based on this fact, the assessment of the correlation between ESS and the ventilation requirement performed in this study may be biased. Third, the levels of glucocorticoid, rT3 and the pituitary function were unknown, which are needed to exclude the effects of other factors on the functions of various endocrine glands.

In summary, more than 25% COVID-19 patients were diagnosed with ESS in our research. ESS is an independent risk factor for the disease severity of COVID-19. COVID-19 patients with ESS had stronger inflammatory responses, with higher levels of CRP and erythrocyte sedimentation rate as well as a higher positive rate of procalcitonin. Further investigation with a large sample size and an appropriate study design are needed to demonstrate the impact of ESS in COVID-19 patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because: The data used in this paper are from public health treatment center, which can only be obtained with the approval of relevant institutions. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to YZ, zhongyanjun@csu.edu.cn.

REFERENCES

- Lu H, Stratton CW, Tang YW. Outbreak of pneumonia of unknown etiology in Wuhan, China: The mystery and the miracle. *J Med Virol* (2020) 92:401–2. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25678
- Hui DS, Azhar EI, Madani TA, Ntoumi F, Kock R, Dar O, et al. The continuing 2019-nCoV epidemic threat of novel coronaviruses to global health - The latest 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak in Wuhan. *China Int J Infect Dis* (2020) 91:264–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.01.009
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan. *China Lancet* (2020) 395:497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- World Health Organization. Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) situation reports. Available at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019/situation-reports/ (Accessed Assessed on Augest 28th, 2020).
- Coronaviridae Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of The species Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus: classifying 2019-nCoV and naming it SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Microbiol* (2020) 5:536–44. doi: 10.1038/s41564-020-0695-z
- Wadman M, Couzin-Frankel J, Kaiser J, Matacic C. How does coronavirus kill? Clinicians trace a ferocious rampage through the body, from brain to toes. *Science* (2020). doi: 10.1126/science.abc3208
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med (2020) 382:727– 33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001017
- Wang W, Ye Y, Yao H, Li H, Sun L, Wang A, et al. Evaluation and observation of serum thyroid hormone and parathyroid hormone in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. J Chin Antituberculous Assoc (2003) 25:232–4.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by: The study was approved by the institutional ethics board of the Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University (No. 2020001). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements. Written informed consent was not obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RZ and CW were involved in study design, interpreting data, statistical analysis, creating tables and figures, and writing of the manuscript. SZ, GWa, QZ, BY, YW, and HD were involved in collecting data. YZ, SW, and GWu were involved in interpreting data, statistical analysis, and designed the research, supervised the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Emergency project for COVID-19 prevention and control of Central South University, China (No 160260005).

- Boelen A, Kwakkel J, Fliers E. Beyond low plasma T3: local thyroid hormone metabolism during inflammation and infection. *Endocr Rev* (2011) 32:670– 93. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-0007
- Lee S, Farwell AP. Euthyroid Sick Syndrome. Compr Physiol (2016) 6:1071– 80. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c150017
- Scoscia E, Baglioni S, Eslami A, Iervasi G, Monti S, Todisco T. Low triiodothyronine (T3) state: a predictor of outcome in respiratory failure? Results of a clinical pilot study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2004) 151:557–60. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1510557
- Bertoli A, Valentini A, Cianfarani MA, Gasbarra E, Tarantino U, Federici M. Low FT3: a possible marker of frailty in the elderly. *Clin Interventions Aging* (2017) 12:335–41. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S125934
- National health commission. National administration of traditional Chinese medicine.Diagnosis and treatment of new coronavirus pneumonia (trial sixth edition). *Chin J Viral Dis* (2020) 10:1–5.
- Wang G, Wu C, Zhang Q, Wu F, Yu B, Lv J, et al. C-Reactive Protein Level May Predict the Risk of COVID-19 Aggravation. Open Forum Infect Dis (2020) 7:ofaa153. doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofaa153
- Fu J, Huang PP, Zhang S, Yao QD, Han R, Liu HF, et al. The value of serum amyloid A for predicting the severity and recovery of COVID-19. *Exp Ther Med* (2020) 20:3571–7. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.9114
- He F, Luo Q, Lei M, Fan L, Shao X, Huang G, et al. Risk factors for severe cases of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. *Aging (Albany NY)* (2020) 12:15730–40. doi: 10.18632/aging.103803
- Zhou Y, Li B, Liu J, Chen D. The Predictive Effectiveness of Blood Biochemical Indexes for the Severity of COVID-19. *Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol* (2020) 2020:7320813. doi: 10.1155/2020/7320813
- Nomura R, Miyai K, Kuge R, Okura T, Goto M, Hasegawa Y. Free T3 to free T4 ratio less than 2.0 suggests low T3 syndrome rather than central

hypothyroidism from the age of two to eighteen years. *Endocr J* (2017) 64:213–9. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ16-0169

- Liu J, Wu X, Lu F, Zhao L, Shi L, Xu F. Low T3 syndrome is a strong predictor of poor outcomes in patients with community-acquired pneumonia. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22271. doi: 10.1038/srep22271
- Lechan RM, Fekete C. Infundibular tanycytes as modulators of neuroendocrine function: hypothetical role in the regulation of the thyroid and gonadal axis. Acta Bio-Med Atenei Parmensis (2007) 78 (Suppl 1):84–98.
- Wei L, Sun S, Xu CH, Zhang J, Xu Y, Zhu H, et al. Pathology of the thyroid in severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Hum Pathol* (2007) 38:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2006.06.011
- 22. Narayan SS, Lorenz K, Ukkat J, Hoang-Vu C, Trojanowicz B. Angiotensin converting enzymes ACE and ACE2 in thyroid cancer progression. *Neoplasma* (2020) 67:402–9. doi: 10.4149/neo_2019 _190506N405
- Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J. The pathogenesis and treatment of the 'Cytokine Storm' in COVID-19. J Infect (2020) 80:607–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf. 2020.03.037
- 24. De Groot LJ. Non-thyroidal illness syndrome is a manifestation of hypothalamic-pituitary dysfunction, and in view of current evidence,

should be treated with appropriate replacement therapies. *Crit Care Clinics* (2006) 22:57–86, vi. doi: 10.1016/j.ccc.2005.10.001

- Monig H, Arendt T, Meyer M, Kloehn S, Bewig B. Activation of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis in response to septic or non-septic diseases-implications for the euthyroid sick syndrome. *Intens Care Med* (1999) 25:1402-6. doi: 10.1007/s001340051088
- Burch HB. Drug Effects on the Thyroid. N Engl J Med (2019) 381:749–61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1901214

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Zou, Wu, Zhang, Wang, Zhang, Yu, Wu, Dong, Wu, Wu and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Hormone Changes in Early Pregnancy Along With the COVID-19 Pandemic

Ting-Ting Lin^{1,2†}, Chen Zhang^{1,2†}, Han-Qiu Zhang^{1,2}, Yu Wang^{1,2}, Lei Chen^{1,2}, Cindy-Lee Dennis³, Hefeng Huang^{1,2*} and Yan-Ting Wu^{1,2*}

¹ The International Peace Maternity and Child Health Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ² Shanghai Key Laboratory of Embryo Original Diseases, Shanghai, China; Chinese Maternal and Child Health Association, Beijing, China, ³ Lawrence S. Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alexandra Kautzky-Willer, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

Reviewed by:

Takao Ando, Nagasaki University Hospital, Japan Trevor Edmund Angell, University of Southern California, United States

*Correspondence:

Hefeng Huang huanghefg@sjtu.edu.cn Yan-Ting Wu yanting_wu@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 06 November 2020 Published: 07 December 2020

Citation:

Lin T-T, Zhang C, Zhang H-Q, Wang Y, Chen L, Dennis C-L, Huang HF and Wu Y-T (2020) Thyroid Hormone Changes in Early Pregnancy Along With the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front. Endocrinol. 11:606723. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.606723 **Purpose:** COVID-19 (Coronavirus Disease 2019) was first reported in December 2019 and quickly swept across China and around the world. Levels of anxiety and depression were increased among pregnant women during this infectious pandemic. Thyroid function is altered during stressful experiences, and any abnormality during early pregnancy may significantly affect fetal development and pregnancy outcomes. This study aimed to determine whether the COVID-19 pandemic induces thyroid hormone changes in early pregnant women.

Methods: This study comprised two groups of pregnant women in Shanghai in their first trimester – those pregnant women before the COVID-19 outbreak from January 20, 2019, to March 31, 2019 (Group 1) and those pregnant during the COVID-19 outbreak from January 20, 2020, to March 31, 2020 (Group 2). All women were included if they had early pregnancy thyrotropin (TSH), free triiodothyronine (FT3), free thyroxine (FT4), total triiodothyronine (TT3), and total thyroxine (TT4) concentrations, thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibody or thyroglobulin antibody (TgAb) available and did not have a history of thyroid diseases or received thyroid treatment before or during pregnancy. We used propensity score matching to form a cohort in which patients had similar baseline characteristics.

Results: Among 3338 eligible pregnant women, 727 women in Group 1 and 727 in Group 2 had similar propensity scores and were included in the analyses. Pregnant women in Group 2 had significantly higher FT3 (5.7 vs. 5.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) and lower FT4 (12.8 vs. 13.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) concentrations compared with those in Group 1. Pregnant women in Group 2 were more likely to develop isolated hypothyroxinemia (11.6% vs. 6.9%, OR, 1.75 [95% Cl, 1.20–2.53], P=0.003) than those in Group 1 but had a significantly lower risk of TgAb positivity (12.0% vs. 19.0%, OR, 0.58 [95% Cl, 0.43–0.78], P<0.001).

Conclusion: Pregnant women in their first trimester in Shanghai during the COVID-19 outbreak were at an increased risk of having higher FT3 concentrations, lower FT4 concentrations, and isolated hypothyroxinemia. The association between thyroid hormones, pregnancy outcomes, and the COVID-19 outbreak should be explored further.

Keywords: thyroid, early pregnancy, COVID-19, anxiety, depression

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 (Coronavirus Disease 2019), caused by SARS-Cov-2 (Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2) virus, is a highly infectious disease with a significant mortality rate and limited effective treatment (1). The outbreak was first reported in December 2019 in Wuhan, China, and since then, the number of cases has continued to escalate exponentially worldwide (2). The severity of COVID-19 was underestimated before it was officially confirmed as a type B infectious disease by the National Health Council, and the nation took heightened action to fight against it on January 20, 2020 (3). Since then, the number of diagnoses and deaths has grown rapidly internationally with significant epidemic prevention work implemented (4). Due to the uncertainty and low predictability of COVID-19, depression and anxiety symptoms have been common among the general population (5-7).

Pregnant women are also affected by the COVID-19 pandemic due to safety concerns for their fetuses (8, 9). In a case-control study, anxiety levels among pregnant women during the SARS outbreak were significantly higher than levels pre-SARS outbreak (8). A recent cross-sectional study conducted in pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic found that half of the participants indicated that the COVID-19 outbreak had serious psychological effects, with twothirds reporting higher than normal levels of stress (9). Almost half of the women expressed high anxiety due to concerning potential vertical transmission of this disease (9). The negative psychological impact caused by COVID-19 was especially highlighted among women in their early pregnancies (9). This kind of stress and anxiety may have a significant physiological impact on pregnant women.

Thyroid hormones regulate various physiological processes related to pregnancy, such as the development and function of the placenta, fetal growth, and the expression of neuropeptides at the onset of labor (10-12). Overt thyroid diseases, such as hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism, occur in approximately 0.5% and 0.05% of pregnant women, respectively and are associated with adverse outcomes for pregnant women and their fetuses (13, 14). Compared with overt thyroid diseases, thyroid dysfunctions such as subclinical hyperthyroidism and isolated hypothyroxinemia and thyroid autoimmune diseases have higher incidences (14) and have been associated with an increased risk for preeclampsia, spontaneous abortion, preterm delivery, low birth weight, and intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) (15). Thus, the timely detection and treatment of pregnant women with thyroid dysfunction is clinically important (16). Few studies have focused on the physiological and psychological well-being of pregnant women during an infectious disease outbreak to understand the development of subclinical diseases that also need clinical management. The purpose of this study was to examine whether the COVID-19 outbreak was independently associated with thyroid hormone fluctuation and an increased risk of thyroid dysfunction in early pregnancy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample Collection

This retrospective cohort study was conducted in the International Peace Maternity and Child Health Hospital (IPMCH), which is a university-affiliated hospital and accounts for approximately 20% of births in Shanghai, China. As a part of standard antenatal care, all pregnant women underwent thyroid assessment in their first trimester and were divided into two groups. On January 20, 2020, COVID-19 was officially classified as a Type B infectious disease by the National Health Commission and thus defined as the start date of public awareness. Those pregnant women who underwent thyroid assessment between January 20, 2019, and March 31, 2019, were classified as the pre-COVID-19 epidemic group (Group 1), and those pregnant women screened between January 20, 2020, and March 31, 2020, were classified as the during-COVID-19 epidemic group (Group 2). A total of 3038 women in Group 1 and 2082 women in Group 2 were enrolled, all of whom had thyrotropin (TSH), free thyroxine (FT4), free triiodothyronine (FT3), TPOAb or TgAb concentrations available and had no COVID-19 symptoms such as fever, cough, and myalgia symptoms (1). Women were excluded if they were not in their first trimester, underwent in vitro fertilization, had twin pregnancies, or had a history of thyroid disease or TPOAb positivity. Ethics approval was obtained by the institutional review board (No. GKLW2019-51).

Exposure and Outcomes

When pregnant women come to the hospital for prenatal care, all data, including sociodemographic and clinical data, were collected by doctors and nurses and recorded in the electronic medical file. Thyroid hormones, including TSH, FT3, FT4, TT3, TT4, TPOAb, and TgAb, were measured by taking fasting blood samples from the cubital vein and centrifugation within 6 hours to separate the serum, which was then detected with the Architect i2000 immunoassay (Abbott, Chicago, USA) during the whole study period. The lower limits of detection and the intra- and interassay coefficients of variation were 0.0038 mIU/L and 1.6% and 3.59%, respectively, for TSH; 1.54 pmol/L and 2.97% and 4.03%, respectively, for FT3; 0.6200 pmol/L and 1.9% and 4.01%, respectively, for FT4; 0.38 nmol/L and 2.3% and 4.07%, respectively, for TT3; 0.62 pmol/L and 1.9% and 4.01%, respectively, for TT4; 0.5 IU/ml and 10% and 10%, respectively, for TPOAb; and 0.31 IU/ml and 20% and 20%, respectively, for TgAb.

Outcomes included thyroid function measurements (thyrotropin (TSH), free triiodothyronine (FT3), free thyroxine (FT4), total triiodothyronine (TT3), and total thyroxine (TT4) concentrations, thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibody and thyroglobulin antibody (TgAb)). Subclinical thyroid diseases were defined according to the cohort-specific 2.5th and 97.5th population percentiles for TSH, FT3, FT4, TT3 and TT4 after exclusion of TPO antibody-positive women (17). TPO antibodies \geq 5.61 IU/ml were considered positive. TgAbs \geq 4.11 IU/ml were considered positive. Subclinical hyperthyroidism was defined as a TSH concentration below the 2.5th percentile and an FT4 concentration within the normal range (2.5th–97.5th percentile). Subclinical hypothyroidism was defined as a TSH concentration above

the 97.5th percentile and an FT4 concentration within the normal range. Overt hyperthyroidism was defined as a TSH concentration below the 2.5th percentile and an FT4 concentration above the 97.5th percentile. Overt hypothyroidism was defined as a TSH concentration above the 97.5th percentile and an FT4 concentration below the 2.5th percentile. Isolated hypothyroxinemia was defined as an FT4 concentration within the normal range. Elevated T3 was defined as a TT3 concentration above the 97.5th percentile. Low T3 was defined as a TT3 concentration below the 2.5th percentile.

Sociodemographic Outcomes

Maternal age, educational level, gravida, and body mass index (BMI) were collected in addition to smoking and drinking status, gestational weeks, and previous history of thyroid disease. We also collected paternal age and education. Maternal and paternal age was reported at the time of thyroid function tests and was categorized as 18 to 29, 30 to 39 and > 39 years. Maternal and paternal educational levels were defined as the years of education after graduation from primary school and were categorized as < 6 years (low), 6 to 10 years (middle) and > 10 years (high). Gravida was defined as the total number of pregnancies, including live births, stillbirths and abortions. BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared and categorized as low weight (<18.5), normal weight (18.5-23.9), overweight (24.0-27.9), and obese (≥28.0). Maternal smoking was selfreported and categorized as nonsmoker, past smoker or current smoker. Maternal drinking was similarly categorized. Weeks gestation was established based on measurement of the fetal crown-rump length (CRL) (18). A previous history of thyroid disease was defined as self-reported hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, thyroid nodules that underwent thyroidectomy, and thyroid autoimmune diseases.

Statistical Analysis

Considering the difference in baseline characteristics between the two groups of participants (**Table 1**), we used propensity score matching to regroup a cohort of 1454 first trimester pregnant women with similar baseline characteristics. The propensity score is the conditional probability of having a specific exposure level (Group 1 and Group 2) under a given set of baseline covariates (19, 20). A multivariate logistic regression model was used to estimate propensity scores, and all baseline characteristics listed in **Table 1** were included as covariates, using a 1:1 matching protocol with no replacement for matching with a caliper width equal to 0.01 and evaluating the P values of all baseline covariates before and after matching to assess whether they are balanced. Standard differences of less than 5% indicate a relatively small imbalance. All variables in the matched cohort are without missing data.

Descriptive analysis of normally distributed continuous variables is expressed as the mean and standard deviation (SD). For nonnormally distributed variables, we use the median and interquartile range (IQR); categorical variables are expressed in proportion and percentage. We used the Mann-Whitney U test to compare the median difference of continuous variables and the chisquare test to compare the difference in proportion. To perform a univariate analysis of the association between thyroid dysfunction and all other factors, a chi-square test was used (if the number in the cell was less than 5, Fisher's two-sided exact test was used). In a multivariate logistic regression model, logistic regression analysis was performed on the relationship between (subclinical) thyroid diseases and all those variables with a P value <0.1 in univariate analysis. Sensitivity analysis and subgroup analysis were used to evaluate the difference in thyroid hormones and (subclinical) thyroid diseases in each subgroup between the matched Group 1 and Group 2 to identify potential bias. A two-sided P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All statistical tests were conducted using SPSS version 24.0 and R version 3.6 (*Packages forestplot, ggplot2*).

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

After exclusion, a total of 3338 pregnant women participated in the study, with 2012 in Group 1 and 1326 in Group 2 (**Figure 1**). **Table 1** shows the comparisons of the baseline characteristics between the two groups before and after propensity-score matching. The majority of women overall were between 30 and 39 years old (n=1832, 54.9%), nondrinkers (n =2834, 97.7%), and nonsmokers (n =2885, 99.5%). Compared with Group 1, Group 2 was more likely to be older (31 vs 30 years old, P<0.001), earlier in pregnancy (i.e., lower weeks gestation) (12.1 vs 12.7 weeks, P<0.001) and less likely to be a current drinker (1.4% vs. 2.7%, P=0.03). With propensity score matching, 727 women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak (Group 2) were matched with 727 women in Group 1. After matching, the P values of all variables were greater than 0.05, indicating that no significant differences existed between the two groups (**Table 1**).

Thyroid Hormone Concentrations Among Early Pregnant Women

Women in Group 2 who were exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak had significantly higher FT3 (5.7 vs. 5.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) and lower FT4 (12.8 vs. 13.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) concentrations than those in Group 1. There were no significant differences between the two groups in the concentrations of TSH (1.32 vs. 1.28 mIU/L, P=0.45), TT3 (2.0 vs. 2.0 nmol/L, P=0.73) and TT4 (140.2 vs. 140.4 nmol/L, P=0.56) (**Table 2**) (**Figure S1**).

Risk of Thyroid Diseases Among General Early Pregnant Women

Univariate analysis found that factors associated with subclinical thyroid disease included weeks gestational, gravida, maternal BMI, paternal age and educational levels, and cohort group (Group 1 vs Group 2) (**Table S1**). To examine the risk of developing subclinical thyroid disease, logistic regression was performed with results suggesting that exposure to the COVID-19 outbreak increased a woman's risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia (11.6% vs. 6.9%, OR, 1.75 [95% CI, 1.20–2.54], *P*=0.003) and decreased their risk of TgAb positivity (12.0% vs. 19.0%, OR, 0.58 [95% CI, 0.43–0.78], *P*<0.001)

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics before and after propensity-score matching.

Assessment characteristics	Bet	fore matching		At	After matching			
	Group 1N = 2,012	Group 2N = 1,326	P value	Group 1 N = 727	Group 2 N = 727	P value		
Maternal Demographics								
Age, median (Q1–Q3) in years	30 (28–32)	31 (28–33)	<0.001	30 (28–33)	30 (28–33)	0.52		
Age distribution								
18–29	937/2,012 (46.6)	499/1,326 (37.6)	< 0.001	297 (40.9)	289 (39.8)	0.52		
30–39	1,046/2,012 (52.0)	786/1,326 (59.3)		417 (57.4)	420 (57.8)			
>39	29/2,012 (1.4)	41/1,326 (3.1)		13 (1.8)	18 (2.5)			
Weeks gestational at blood sampling, median (95% range)	12.7 (12.3–13.1)	12.1 (11.4–12.9)	< 0.001	12.4 (12.0–13.0)	12.4 (12.0–12.9)	0.78		
Body mass index, median (Q1-Q3), kg/m ²	20.8 (19.3–22.7)	20.9 (19.3––22.9)	0.51	20.9 (19.3––22.9)	20.9 (19.3––23.0)	0.91		
Body mass index distribution	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · ·	· · · · · ·			
Underweight	251/1,937 (13.0)	126/982 (12.8)	0.15	95 (13.1)	99 (13.6)	0.74		
Normal	1391/1,937 (71.8)	700/982 (71.3)		514 (70.7)	508 (69.9)			
Overweight	244/1,937 (12.6)	115/982 (11.7)		95 (13.1)	87 (12.0)			
Obesity	51/1,937 (2.6)	41/982 (4.2)		23 (3.2)	33 (4.5)			
Gravida, median (Q1–Q3)	1 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	0.08	2 (1-2)	1 (1-2)	0.50		
Smoking status	. (/	- (· -/		- (· -)	. (/			
Nonsmoker or past smoker	1,916/1,923 (99.6)	969/977 (99.2)	0.11	725 (99.7)	722 (99.3)	0.45		
Current smoker	7/1923 (0.5)	8/977 (0.8)		2 (0.3)	5 (0.7)			
Drinking status	.,			= (0.0)	- ()			
Nondrinker or past drinker	1,871/1,923 (97.3)	963/977 (98.6)	0.03	713 (98.1)	716 (98.5)	0.55		
Current drinker	52/1,923 (2.7)	14/977 (1.4)	0.00	14 (1.9)	11 (1.5)	0.00		
Educational level	02, 1,020 (211)			(1.6)	(
Low	140/1,935 (7.2)	74/981 (7.5)	0.11	41 (5.6)	52 (7.2)	0.64		
Middle	1,411/1,935 (72.9)	678/981 (69.1)	0.11	530 (72.9)	517 (71.1)	0.01		
High	384/1,935 (19.8)	229/981 (23.3)		156 (21.5)	158 (21.7)			
Paternal Demographics	004/1,000 (10.0)	220/001 (20.0)		100 (21.0)	100 (21.17)			
Age, median (Q1–Q3) in years	32 (29–35)	32 (30–36)	<0.001	32 (30–35)	32 (30–35)	0.90		
Age distribution	02 (20 00)	02 (00 00)	<0.001	02 (00 00)	02 (00 00)	0.00		
18–29	540/1,885 (28.6)	202/948 (21.3)	<0.001	163 (22.4)	161 (22.2)	0.96		
30–39	1,222/1,885 (64.8)	669/948 (70.6)	<0.001	505 (69.5)	510 (70.2)	0.30		
>39	123/1,885 (6.5)	77/948 (8.1)		59 (8.1)	56 (7.7)			
Educational level	120/1,000 (0.0)	11/340 (0.1)		0.1)	50 (1.1)			
Low	297/3,211 (9.2)	40/454 (8.8)	0.19	44 (6.1)	52 (7.2)	0.96		
Low Middle		40/454 (8.8) 301/454 (66.3)	0.19	44 (6.1) 509 (70.0)	52 (7.2) 494 (68.0)	0.90		
High	2,216/3,211 (69.0) 698/3,211 (21.7)	301/454 (66.3) 113/454 (24.9)		509 (70.0) 174 (23.9)	494 (68.0) 181 (24.9)			
пун	U90/3,ZII (ZI./)	113/434 (24.9)		174 (23.9)	101 (24.9)			



(**Table 3**). Conversely, there was no significant difference between the two groups in the risk of subclinical hyperthyroidism (3.0% vs. 1.9%, OR, 1.60 [95% CI, 0.81–3.15], P=0.18), subclinical hypothyroidism (2.6% vs. 4.4%, OR, 0.58 [95% CI, 0.33–1.04], P=0.07) and overt hyperthyroidism (0.3% vs. 0.6%, OR, 0.51 [95% CI, 0.09–2.78], P=0.43) (**Table 3**) (**Figure S2**).

Sensitivity Analysis

Figure 2 shows the results of the FT3 subgroup analysis, which indicated that women in early pregnancy exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak who were overweight or obese preconceptionally had a higher FT3 concentration (overweight: 6 vs 5.2 pmol/L, P<0.001, obesity: 5.9 vs. 5.5, P=0.006) (**Figure 2A**, **Table S2**). Furthermore, exposure to the COVID-19 outbreak could elevate FT3 concentration in all subgroups except women over 40 years old (**Figures 2B, D, E, Table S2**). A lower maternal education level was associated with higher FT3 concentrations (low vs. middle vs. high: 5.6 vs. 5.4 vs. 5.3 pmol/L, P=0.03) when pooled data from two groups.

Figure 3 shows the results of the FT4 subgroup analysis. Women in early pregnancy exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak who were overweight or obese preconceptionally had a lower FT4 concentration (overweight: 12.5 vs 12.8 pmol/L, P=0.23, obesity: 11.8 vs. 12.8, P=0.03) (**Figure 3A**, **Table S3**). Those who were less than 30 years old and between 30 and 39 years old had significantly lower FT4 concentrations (< 30: 13.1 vs. 13.3 pmol/L, P=0.008, 30–39: 12.8 vs 13.1 pmol/L, P<0.001) (**Figure 3B**, **Table S3**), and women between 30 and 39 had lower FT4 concentrations (12.9 vs. 13.2 pmol/ L, P=0.001) in comparison to those under 30 years of age. Furthermore, the FT4 concentration difference was greater between Group 1 and Group 2 among those between 30 and 39 years old compared to women less than 30 years old (–0.3 vs –0.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) (**Figure 3B**, **Table S3**). Women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak at all education levels had lower FT4 concentrations than Group 1 (12.8 vs. 13.1 pmol/L, P<0.001), although a significant difference was only found at the middle level (**Figure 3C**, **Table S3**). A higher maternal education level was associated with lower FT4 concentrations (low vs. middle vs. high: 12.75 vs. 13.0 vs. 13.2 pmol/L, P=0.01) when pooled data from two groups. The lower concentration of FT4 in Group 2 than in Group 1 was not significant among women with husbands over 40 years old (12.4 vs 12.9 pmol/L, P=0.07) or in low (12.8 vs 12.8 pmol/L, P=0.27) or high (13.0 vs 13.2 pmol/L, P=0.14) educational levels, but it was significant among those whose husbands were under the age of 40 (under 30: 12.9 vs 13.4 pmol/L, P=0.03, 30 to 39: 12.9 vs 13.2 pmol/L, P=0.002) or had a higher educational level (12.8 vs 13.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) (**Figures 3D**, **E**, **Table S3**).

Figure 4 shows the results of the isolated hypothyroxinemia subgroup analysis. An increased risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia was found in all subgroups except women over 40 years old or those with an underweight BMI. Women in early pregnancy exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak between 30 and 39 years old had a higher risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia (OR, 1.81 vs. 1.76, P<0.001) in comparison to those under 30 years of age. Women who were overweight or obese preconceptionally had a higher risk of developing isolated hypothyroxinemia in comparison to normal or underweight women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak (OR 1.92 vs. 1.87 vs. 0.63).

Figure 5 shows the results of the TgAb positivity subgroup analysis, which indicated that the risk of TgAb positivity among all subgroups was lower in Group 2 than in Group 1 except at the paternal high educational level. Interestingly, older paternal age was associated with a lower prevalence rate of TgAb positivity in early pregnant women (Group 1: 18–29 vs 29–39 vs >39: 21.1% vs 18.6% vs 16.1%, Group 2: 18–29 vs 29–39 vs >39: 12.5% vs 11.9% vs 10.7%).

TABLE 2 | Thyroid hormone concentrations in the propensityscore-matched cohort.

	Group 1	Group 2	P value
TSH, mlU/L (median, 95% range)	1.28 (0.03–4.15)	1.32 (0.02–3.9)	0.45
Free thyroxine 3 (FT3), pmol/L (median,95% range)	5.2 (4.2–6.6)	5.7 (4.3–7.4)	< 0.001
Free thyroxine 4 (FT4), pmol/L (median,95% range)	13.2 (11–16.5)	12.8 (10.7–16.9)	<0.001
Total thyroxine 3 (TT3), nmol/L (median,95% range)	2.0 (1.4–2.8)	2.0 (1.5–2.7)	0.73
Total thyroxine 4 (TT4), nmol/L (median,95% range)	140.4 (100.2–197.3)	140.2 (100.3–192.3)	0.56

TABLE 3 | Risk of thyroid diseases in the propensity score-matched cohort.

(Subclinical) Thyroid diseases	Group 1n(%)	Group 2n(%)	Odds Ratio (95%)	Adjusted Odds Ratio (95% CI)	P value
Subclinical hyperthyroidism	14 (1.9)	22 (3.0)	1.59 (0.81–3.13)	1.60 (0.81–3.15)a	0.18
Subclinical hypothyroidism	32 (4.4)	19 (2.6)	0.58 (0.33-1.04)	0.58 (0.33-1.04)	0.07
Overt hyperthyroidism	4 (0.6)	2 (0.3)	0.50 (0.10-2.73)	0.51 (0.10-2.78)b	0.43
Isolated Hypothyroxinemia	50 (6.9)	84 (11.6)	1.77 (1.23-2.55)	1.75 (1.20-2.54)c	0.003
Thyroglobulin antibody positivity	138 (19.0)	87 (12.0)	0.58 (0.43–0.78)	0.58 (0.43–0.78)	< 0.001
Elevated T3	50 (6.9)	35 (4.8)	0.69 (0.44-1.07)	0.37 (0.07–1.91)d	0.23
Low T3	5 (0.7)	2 (0.3)	0.40 (0.08–2.06)	0.67 (0.43-1.05)e	0.08

The table shows the number and proportion of pregnant women with (subclinical) thyroid disease during early pregnancy in Group 1 and Group 2. The adjusted odds ratio was calculated in the multivariate logistic regression model by including all confounding factors with a P value <0.1 in univariate analysis. a: Paternal age distribution is included as cofounding factor in logistic regression model; b: Gravida is included as cofounding factor in logistic regression model; c: Maternal BMI is included as cofounding factor in logistic regression model; d: BMI distribution is included as cofounding factor in logistic regression model e: Maternal BMI, paternal educational level, maternal age and age distribution, weeks gestational are included as cofounding factor in logistic regression model.









	Group 1 (%)	Group 2 (%)	Adj	usted Odds Ratios(95%C	I) P-value
All women	6.9	11.6	-	1.746(1.202-2.536)	0.003
Maternal age				. ,	
18-29	5.6	10.5	⊢ ∎—⊸	1.764(0.938-3.318)	0.078
30-39	7.3	12.5		1.806(1.123-2.905)	0.015
>40	21.4	6.3	•	0.244(0.022-2.676)	0.249
Maternal BMI					
Low	5.1	3.2	H B	0.627(0.145-2.699)	0.53
Normal	5.6	9.9	⊢ ∎i	1.865(1.162-2.993)	0.01
Overweight or Obesity	14.8	25		1.917(0.978-3.76)	0.056
Maternal educational level					
Low or Middle	6.9	12.5	⊢ ∎−−i	1.942(1.29-2.92)	0.001
High	6.9	8.1	- 	1.117(0.477-2.618)	0.799
Paternal age					
18-29	5.6	10		1.679(0.708-3.983)	0.24
30-39	7.1	12.1	⊢ ∎i	1.798(1.163-2.78)	0.008
>40	8.9	10.7	·	1.02(0.278-3.741)	0.976
Paternal educational level					
Low or Middle	7.1	12.2	⊢∎	1.82(1.2-2.76)	0.004
High	6.3	9.7	·	1.695(0.769-3.732)	0.19

FIGURE 4 | Subgroup analysis of the risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia in the Propensity-Score-Matched Cohort. Figure shows the proportion of pregnant women with isolated hypothyroxinemia in each subgroup of Group 1 and Group 2 (expressed as the number of pregnant women with isolated hypothyroxinemia / the total number of women in this subgroup *100%). The forest chart in the fourth column describes the adjusted odds ratio in each subgroup. The diamond represents the overall adjustment odds ratio. The position of the small rectangle below indicates the point estimate of the adjustment odds ratio of each subgroup. The solid line range indicates the 95% confidence interval of the adjustment risk ratio of each subgroup. Adjusted odds ratio is calculated in the multivariate logistic regression model by including all confounding factors with a P value < 0.1 in univariate analysis.

	Group 1 (%)	Group 2 (%)	Adju	sted Odds Ratios(95%)	CI) P-valu
All women	19	12	◆	0.58(0.43-0.78)	<0.00
Maternal age distribution					
<35	19.4	12.2	H E -1	0.58(0.42-0.80)	0.001
≥35	17.1	11.0	⊢∎∔→	0.60(0.29-1.25)	0.171
Maternal Body mass index distribution					
Low	15.2	9.7		0.79(0.31-1.99)	0.61
Normal	19.2	11.9	⊢ ∎ (0.57(0.40-0.80)	0.001
Overweight	19.5	17.0		0.85(0.40-1.82)	0.67
Obesity	28.6	6.3	· =	0.17(0.03-0.93)	0.041
Maternal educational level					
Low	23.7	13.5		0.50(0.17-1.50)	0.215
Middle	18.5	12.5	H B -1	0.63(0.45-0.88)	0.007
High	19.4	9.9	H B	0.46(0.24-0.88)	0.019
Paternal age distribution					
18-29	21.1	12.5	H B	0.53(0.30-0.98)	0.041
29-39	18.6	11.9	⊢ ∎→	0.59(0.42-0.84)	0.003
>39	16.1	10.7	⊢∎	0.63(0.21-1.90)	0.408
Paternal educational level					
Low	30.2	7.5	• =	0.19(0.06-0.63)	0.007
Middle	19.3	11.0	H≣ -1	0.52(0.36-0.74)	0
High	15.3	15.7		1.03(0.58-1.81)	0.93

FIGURE 5 | Subgroup analysis of the risk of TgAb positivity in the Propensity-Score-Matched Cohort. Figure shows the proportion of pregnant women with TgAb positivity in each subgroup of Group 1 and Group 2 (expressed as the number of pregnant women with TgAb positivity / the total number of women in this subgroup *100%). The forest chart in the fourth column describes the adjusted odds ratio in each subgroup. The diamond represents the overall adjustment odds ratio. The position of the small rectangle below indicates the point estimate of the adjustment odds ratio of each subgroup. The solid line range indicates the 95% confidence interval of the adjustment risk ratio of each subgroup. Adjusted odds ratio is calculated in the multivariate logistic regression model by including all confounding factors with a P value < 0.1 in univariate analysis.

After excluding TgAb-positive women, there were 589 in group 1 and 640 in group 2. The results were similar to the population without exclusion. Women in Group 2 who were exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak had significantly higher FT3 (5.7 vs. 5.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) and lower FT4 (12.9 vs. 13.2 pmol/L, P<0.001) concentrations than those in Group 1. There were no significant differences between the two groups in the concentrations of TSH (1.31 vs. 1.24 mIU/L, P=0.37), TT3 (2.0 vs. 2.0 nmol/L, P=0.54) and TT4 (140.9 vs. 141.1 nmol/L, P=0.33) (**Table S4**). In addition, TgAb-negative women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak had an increased risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia (11.1% vs. 6.5%, OR, 1.77 [95% CI, 1.16–2.69], P=0.008). No significant difference was found in the risk of subclinical

hyperthyroidism (3.1% vs. 1.5%, OR, 2.08 [95% CI, 0.94–4.60], P=0.07) or subclinical hypothyroidism (2.5% vs. 3.9%, OR, 0.63 [95% CI, 0.33–1.21], P=0.16) (**Table S5**).

For TgAb-positive women, there were 138 in Group 1 and 87 in Group 2. Those women in Group 2 who were exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak had significantly higher FT3 (5.6 vs. 5.0 pmol/L, P<0.001) and lower FT4 (12.6 vs. 13.2 pmol/L, P=0.03) concentrations than those in Group 1. There were no significant differences between the two groups in the concentrations of TSH (1.47 vs. 1.39 mIU/L, P=0.74), TT3 (2.0 vs. 2.0 nmol/L, P=0.73) and TT4 (136.1 vs. 139.7 nmol/L, P=0.44) (**Table S6**). The COVID-19 outbreak increased the risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia, although there was no significant

difference (14.9% vs. 8.7%, OR, 1.93 [95% CI, 0.80–4.64], P=0.14). No significant difference was found in the risk of subclinical hyperthyroidism (2.3% vs. 3.6%, OR, 0.63 [95% CI, 0.12–3.30], P=0.58) or subclinical hypothyroidism (3.4% vs. 6.5%, OR, 0.33 [95% CI, 0.08–1.40], P=0.13) (**Table S7**).

DISCUSSION

This study found that women in early pregnancy who were exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak had a higher concentration of FT3 and a lower concentration of FT4 in comparison to those not exposed to this pandemic. Furthermore, we found an increased risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia and a lower risk of TgAb positivity among early pregnant women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak who did not have any previous thyroid diseases after propensity score matching and adjusting for potential confounders, including maternal and paternal age and educational level, gravida status, maternal smoking and drinking status, maternal BMI and weeks gestational.

Infectious disease pandemics will naturally increase anxiety and fear among individuals in society (4). Pregnant women are vulnerable due to additional safety concerns for their fetuses because they also worry that vertical transmission will damage the health of the fetus in addition to their own health (9). A substantial portion of pregnant women overestimated their risk of COVID-19 infection during the outbreak, leading to even higher rates of depression and anxiety than what is typically expected during the antenatal period (9). The depression rate in pregnant women is positively correlated with the number of newly confirmed cases, the number of suspicious cases and the number of deaths per day (21). It is well documented that antenatal depression and anxiety are associated with poor pregnancy outcomes and have negative influences on child development (22–24).

During pregnancy, thyroid hormones of pregnant women undergo significant physiological changes. The concentration of FT4 increases in the early stages of pregnancy and maintains this level until delivery and then rapidly declines postnatally (17). Conversely, FT3 changes little during pregnancy (17). In early pregnancy, the increase in FT4 levels is due to increased placental production of human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG), which leads to a reduction in TSH (11). Although the fetal thyroid begins to develop around the 5th or 6th week of pregnancy, the fetus cannot synthesize thyroid hormones required for normal neurological development are completely maternally derived. Alterations in maternal FT4 concentration due to significant stress, such as a COVID-19 outbreak, may increase the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes.

It is currently known that isolated hypothyroxinemia is associated with a higher risk of preterm and very preterm birth (26) and neurocognitive dysplasia in offspring (27, 28). Previous studies have shown a relationship between thyroid antibody positivity and concomitant anxiety or depression disorder, where individuals with autoimmune thyroiditis exhibit an increased chance of developing depression and anxiety (29). However, the relationship between thyroid autoantibodies and preterm delivery is controversial. A prospective cohort study of 120 pregnant women in western European cities reported that those with normal thyroid function but positive TPOAb or TgAb had a significantly increased preterm birth rate (16% vs. 8%, p <0.005) (30). Conversely, another prospective study of 1179 women in Japan did not find an increased risk of preterm birth among TgAb-positive women. The preterm birth rates in the study group and the control group were both extremely low (3% vs. 3.1%), which the researchers suggested was the result of ethnic differences (31). Another prospective study of 10062 pregnant women reported that the risk of preterm birth did not increase among women who were positive for TPOAb and/or TgAb in early pregnancy, although premature rupture of membranes significantly increased (32). Importantly, thyroid autoantibodies are associated with the suboptimal development of offspring. One study evaluated the neurocognitive ability of 43 5.5year-old children who were born at term. Children with TgAbpositive mothers had lower sensory performance and exercise scores, and those with TgAb-positive umbilical cord blood also had lower sensory performance scores (33). Although we do not know the pregnancy outcomes of women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak who had isolated hypothyroxinemia or TgAb positivity in our study until writing this article, we will follow up on their pregnancy outcomes and the health status of their offspring.

The relationships between mood alteration and thyroid function were first recognized in a seminal review (34). Later, a meta-analysis of 20 studies found that individuals with anxiety were significantly more likely to have thyroid disease and that anxiety was inversely related to TSH levels (35). Several crosssectional studies have shown that those with thyroid dysfunction have an increased risk of anxiety or depression (36-38). Therefore, previous studies have mostly focused on the relationship between depression or anxiety and TSH concentration, overt hyperthyroidism or overt hypothyroidism. The relationship between mental disorders and isolated hypothyroxinemia, FT3 or FT4 has not been explored. In this study, a higher concentration of FT3, a lower concentration of FT4, a higher risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia and a nonsignificantly higher concentration of TSH were found in pregnant women exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak. We speculate that this is because anxiety due to the COVID-19 outbreak amplifies the TSH enhancement of FT4 to FT3 conversion (39). This hypothesis requires further study.

In the current study, we found some interesting results in the sensitivity analysis. BMI was a determinant of thyroid function during pregnancy. Consistent with previous research (40, 41), we found that higher maternal BMI preconceptually was associated with higher FT3 concentrations, lower FT4 concentrations, and an increased risk for isolated hypothyroxinemia and TgAb positivity. The correlation between BMI and thyroid function has been reported previously and is hypothesized to be due to changes in energy balance caused by increased heat production in obese women (42). Why were the higher concentration of FT3, lower concentration of FT4 and higher risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia in women > age 40 exposed to COVID -19 outbreak not significantly different? First, the sample of pregnant

women older than 40 years is relatively small. Furthermore, advanced maternal age was associated with lower FT3 (43). The enhancement of TSH on the conversion of T3 to T4 reaches its peak at the age of 30 to 40 years (44). Its enhancement begins to weaken after 40 (44). This can also explain why the risk of FT4 and isolated hypothyroxinemia is more significant in women aged 30 to 39 years in this study than in women < age 30. We also found that the higher maternal and paternal education level, the less significant the difference between the COVID-19 exposure and the nonexposure group, that is, the lower FT3 concentration, the higher FT4 concentration, and the lower risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia. A study that evaluated the depression and anxiety symptoms of pregnant women under COVID-19 may explain it. It showed that the higher the maternal education level, the less likely it is to report anxiety and depression because a higher education level often means higher income, more comprehensive knowledge of COVID-19, access to good medical resources and better prevention measures (21). Therefore, the thyroid function of pregnant women with higher education levels is less affected. The effect of paternal age on maternal FT3 and FT4 concentrations and the risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia is similar to that of maternal education level and age. This may be because people tend to choose those who are close to their age as their spouse. This can be proven in this study. The correlation coefficient between paternal age and maternal age was 0.72 (P<0.001). We also found that the main conclusions in TgAb-positive or TgAbnegative women are similar to the whole population. However, for TgAb-positive women, there was no significant difference in the increased risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia due to the COVID-19 outbreak. The small sample size of TgAb-positive women could partly explain this finding.

There are some limitations in our study. First, we did not demonstrate the mental health status of participants exposed to the COVID-19 outbreak. However, another study by our team, discussed above, evaluated the depression and anxiety symptoms of pregnant women in 25 hospitals in China before and at the time of the epidemic. It has been fully demonstrated that participants in this article are also more likely to experience symptoms of anxiety and depression under the pressure of the epidemic (21). Further, this study was completed within 2 months of the COVID-19 outbreak, and thus, only short-term thyroid responses were examined; longterm follow-up is required to examine subacute thyroid dysfunction, pregnancy outcomes, and postpregnancy thyroid function. Thyroid hormone changes were observed in pregnant women, and whether there is the same change in nonpregnant women and the general population is worthy of further research. In addition, although we have taken the confounding factors that affect thyroid hormone levels into account as comprehensively as possible, there are possibly some other unmeasured confounders causing bias in the propensity-score-matched cohort.

The current study provides evidence that exposure to extreme stress, such as the COVID-19 outbreak, can alter thyroid function in early pregnant women. When a pregnant woman is exposed to emergency or highly stressful events, the thyroid function of pregnant women deserves concern. However, whether this monitoring and treatment would lead to safe and effective results needs further research.

CONCLUSION

This is the first study to examine alterations in thyroid functioning among pregnant women in their first trimester who are exposed to extreme stress, such as the COVID-19 outbreak. We found that exposure to the COVID-19 outbreak was independently associated with a higher FT3 concentration, a lower FT4 concentration, a higher risk of isolated hypothyroxinemia and a lower risk of TgAb positivity in pregnant women during the first trimester in Shanghai. Based on our study, we can infer that anxiety induced by COVID-19 during early pregnancy significantly influenced maternal thyroid function. Timely thyroid function tests and psychological intervention programs are recommended to be considered for pregnant women during emergencies or extremely stressful events and warrant additional research. Furthermore, the association between pregnancy outcomes and COVID-19 outbreaks requires further exploration.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Materials**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The International Peace Maternity and Child Health Hospital institutional review board. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by TL, CZ, HZ, YW, and LC. The first draft of manuscript was written by TL. Review and editing were performed by C-LD, HH, and YTW. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82001571), Program of Shanghai

Academic Research Leader (20XD1424100), Outstanding Youth Medical Talents of Shanghai Rising Stars of Medical Talent Youth Development Program, Science and Technology Innovation Fund of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (YG2019GD04), Program of "Jiaotong University Star" Medical-Industry Interdisciplinary Research Fund (YG2020YQ29), COVID-19 Prevention and Control Project of the International Peace Maternity and Child Health Hospital (2020COVID1903) (2020COVID1904) and Clinical Research Project of Shanghai Municipal Commission of Health and Family planning (20184Y0349). Ethics approval was obtained by the institutional review board (No. GKLW2019-51).

REFERENCES

- Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, Luo F, Yu X, Zhang W, et al. Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10226):809–15. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30360-3
- Nishiura H, Jung SM, Linton NM, Kinoshita R, Yang Y, Hayashi K, et al. The Extent of Transmission of Novel Coronavirus in Wuhan, China, 2020. J Clin Med (2020) 9(2):330. doi: 10.3390/jcm9020330
- China, t.N.H.C.o.t.P.s.R.o. Announcement on Incorporating the COVID-19 into the Administration of Statutory Infectious Diseases (2020). the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Available at: http:// www.gov.cn/zhengce/zhengceku/2020-01/21/content_5471164.htm (Accessed January 20 2020).
- Horton R. Offline: 2019-nCoV-"A desperate plea". Lancet (2020) 395 (10222):400. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30299-3
- Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, Xiang YT, Liu Z, Hu S, et al. Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2020) 7 (4):e17–8. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30077-8
- Ettman CK, Abdalla SM, Cohen GH, Sampson L, Vivier PM, Galea S. Prevalence of Depression Symptoms in US Adults Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open* (2020) 3(9):e2019686. doi: 10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.19686
- Shi L, Lu Z-A, Que J-Y, Huang X-L, Liu L, Ran M-S, et al. Prevalence of and Risk Factors Associated With Mental Health Symptoms Among the General Population in China During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3(7):e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14053
- Lee DTS, Sahota D, Leung TN, Yip ASK, Lee FFY, Chung TKH. Psychological responses of pregnant women to an infectious outbreak: a case-control study of the 2003 SARS outbreak in Hong Kong. J Psychosom Res (2006) 61(5):707– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.08.005
- Saccone G, Florio A, Aiello F, Venturella R, De Angelis MC, Locci M, et al. Psychological impact of coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnant women. Am J Obstetr Gynecol (2020) 223(2):293–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.05.003
- Barjaktarovic M, Korevaar TIM, Chaker L, Jaddoe VWV, de Rijke YB, Visser TJ, et al. The association of maternal thyroid function with placental hemodynamics. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2017) 32(3):653–61. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew357
- Chen C-Y, Chen C-P, Lin K-H. Biological functions of thyroid hormone in placenta. Int J Mol Sci (2015) 16(2):4161–79. doi: 10.3390/ijms16024161
- Ramadurai SM, Nielsen HC, Chen Y, Hatzis D, Sosenko IR. Differential effects in vivo of thyroid hormone on the expression of surfactant phospholipid, surfactant protein mRNA and antioxidant enzyme mRNA in fetal rat lung. *Exp Lung Res* (1998) 24(5):641–57. doi: 10.3109/01902149809099585
- Dong AC, Stagnaro-Green A. Differences in Diagnostic Criteria Mask the True Prevalence of Thyroid Disease in Pregnancy: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Thyroid Off J Am Thyroid Assoc* (2019) 29(2):278–89. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0475
- Korevaar TIM, Medici M, Visser TJ, Peeters RP. Thyroid disease in pregnancy: new insights in diagnosis and clinical management. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2017) 13(10):610–22. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.93
- 15. Thangaratinam S, Tan A, Knox E, Kilby MD, Franklyn J, Coomarasamy A. Association between thyroid autoantibodies and miscarriage and preterm

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are extremely grateful to the pregnant women, doctors and nurses who participated in this study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2020. 606723/full#supplementary-material

birth: meta-analysis of evidence. *BMJ (Clinical Res ed)* (2011) 342:d2616. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d2616

- Alexander EK, Pearce EN, Brent GA, Brown RS, Chen H, Dosiou C, et al. 2017 Guidelines of the American Thyroid Association for the Diagnosis and Management of Thyroid Disease During Pregnancy and the Postpartum. *Thyroid Off J Am Thyroid Assoc* (2017) 27(3):315–89. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0457
- Fan J, Zhang Y, Zhang C, Barjaktarovic M, Yang X, Peeters RP, et al. Persistency of Thyroid Dysfunction from Early to Late Pregnancy. *Thyroid Off J Am Thyroid Assoc* (2019) 29(10):1475–84. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0115
- Salomon LJ, Alfirevic Z, Da Silva Costa F, Deter RL, Figueras F, Ghi T, et al. ISUOG Practice Guidelines: ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and growth. Ultrasound Obstetr Gynecol Off J Int Soc Ultrasound Obstetr Gynecol (2019) 53(6):715–23. doi: 10.1002/uog.20272
- Rosenbaum PR, Rubin DB. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika* (1983) 70(1):41–55. doi: 10.1093/biomet/70.1.41
- Rubin DB. Using Propensity Scores to Help Design Observational Studies: Application to the Tobacco Litigation. *Health Serv Outcomes Res Method* (2001) 2(3):169–88. doi: 10.1023/A:1020363010465
- Wu Y, Zhang C, Liu H, Duan C, Li C, Fan J, et al. Perinatal depressive and anxiety symptoms of pregnant women during the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak in China. Am J Obstetr Gynecol (2020) 223(2):240.e241–240.e249. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.05.009
- 22. Ibanez G, Charles M-A, Forhan A, Magnin G, Thiebaugeorges O, Kaminski M, et al. Depression and anxiety in women during pregnancy and neonatal outcome: data from the EDEN mother-child cohort. *Early Hum Dev* (2012) 88 (8):643–9. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2012.01.014
- Dennis C-L, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci (2017) 210(5):315–23. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179
- Sanchez SE, Puente GC, Atencio G, Qiu C, Yanez D, Gelaye B, et al. Risk of spontaneous preterm birth in relation to maternal depressive, anxiety, and stress symptoms. J Reprod Med (2013) 58(1-2):25–33.
- Patel J, Landers K, Li H, Mortimer RH, Richard K. Delivery of maternal thyroid hormones to the fetus. *Trends Endocrinol Metab: TEM* (2011) 22 (5):164–70. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2011.02.002
- 26. Consortium on, T and Pregnancy-Study Group on Preterm, B, Korevaar TIM, Derakhshan A, Taylor PN, Meima M, et al. Association of Thyroid Function Test Abnormalities and Thyroid Autoimmunity With Preterm Birth: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA* (2019) 322(7):632–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.10931
- Godoy GA, Korevaar TI, Peeters RP, Hofman A, de Rijke YB, Bongers-Schokking JJ, et al. Maternal thyroid hormones during pregnancy, childhood adiposity and cardiovascular risk factors: the Generation R Study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2014) 81(1):117–25. doi: 10.1111/cen.12399
- 28. Li Y, Shan Z, Teng W, Yu X, Li Y, Fan C, et al. Abnormalities of maternal thyroid function during pregnancy affect neuropsychological development of their children at 25-30 months. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2010) 72(6):825–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03743.x
- Siegmann EM, Muller HHO, Luecke C, Philipsen A, Kornhuber J, Gromer TW. Association of Depression and Anxiety Disorders With Autoimmune Thyroiditis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2018) 75(6):577–84. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0190

- Glinoer D, Soto MF, Bourdoux P, Lejeune B, Delange F, Lemone M, et al. Pregnancy in patients with mild thyroid abnormalities: maternal and neonatal repercussions. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1991) 73(2):421–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem-73-2-421
- Iijima T, Tada H, Hidaka Y, Mitsuda N, Murata Y, Amino N. Effects of Autoantibodies on the Course of Pregnancy and Fetal Growth. Obstetr Gynecol (1997) 90(3):364–9. doi: 10.1016/S0029-7844(97)00283-4
- Haddow JE, Cleary-Goldman J, McClain MR, Palomaki GE, Neveux LM, Lambert-Messerlian G, et al. Thyroperoxidase and thyroglobulin antibodies in early pregnancy and preterm delivery. *Obstet Gynecol* (2010) 116(1):58–62. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181e10b30
- Williams FL, Watson J, Ogston SA, Visser TJ, Hume R, Willatts P. Maternal and umbilical cord levels of T4, FT4, TSH, TPOAb, and TgAb in term infants and neurodevelopmental outcome at 5.5 years. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(2):829–38. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3572
- 34. Simon NM, Blacker D, Korbly NB, Sharma SG, Worthington JJ, Otto MW, et al. Hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism in anxiety disorders revisited: new data and literature review. J Affect Disord (2002) 69(1-3):209–17. doi: 10.1016/ S0165-0327(01)00378-0
- Fischer S, Ehlert U. Hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis functioning in anxiety disorders. A systematic review. *Depress Anxiety* (2018) 35(1):98– 110. doi: 10.1002/da.22692
- 36. Giynas Ayhan M, Uguz F, Askin R, Gonen MS. The prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in patients with euthyroid Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a comparative study. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (2014) 36(1):95–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.genhosppsych.2013.10.002
- Patten SB, Williams JVA, Esposito E, Beck CA. Self-reported thyroid disease and mental disorder prevalence in the general population. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (2006) 28(6):503–8. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2006.09.001
- Chueire VB, Romaldini JH, Ward LS. Subclinical hypothyroidism increases the risk for depression in the elderly. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr* (2007) 44(1):21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2006.02.001

- Quinlan P, Horvath A, Wallin A, Svensson J. Low serum concentration of free triiodothyronine (FT3) is associated with increased risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2019) 99:112–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2018.09.002
- Knight BA, Shields BM, Hattersley AT, Vaidya B. Maternal hypothyroxinaemia in pregnancy is associated with obesity and adverse maternal metabolic parameters. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 174(1):51–7. doi: 10.1530/eje-15-0866
- Mannisto T, Surcel HM, Ruokonen A, Vaarasmaki M, Pouta A, Bloigu A, et al. Early pregnancy reference intervals of thyroid hormone concentrations in a thyroid antibody-negative pregnant population. *Thyroid* (2011) 21(3):291–8. doi: 10.1089/thy.2010.0337
- 42. Iacobellis G, Ribaudo MC, Zappaterreno A, Iannucci CV, Leonetti F. Relationship of thyroid function with body mass index, leptin, insulin sensitivity and adiponectin in euthyroid obese women. *Clin Endocrinol* (2005) 62(4):487–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02247.x
- Fan P, Luo Z-C, Tang N, Wang W, Liu Z, Zhang J, et al. Advanced Maternal Age, Mode of Delivery, and Thyroid Hormone Levels in Chinese Newborns. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 10:913. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00913
- Strich D, Karavani G, Edri S, Gillis D. TSH enhancement of FT4 to FT3 conversion is age dependent. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 175(1):49–54. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0007

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lin, Zhang, Zhang, Wang, Chen, Dennis, Huang and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients

Weibin Wang^{1†}, Xingyun Su^{2†}, Yongfeng Ding^{2†}, Weina Fan^{3†}, Weibin Zhou⁴, Junwei Su⁵, Zhendong Chen¹, Hong Zhao⁵, Kaijin Xu⁵, Qin Ni⁵, Xiaowei Xu⁵, Yunqing Qiu^{5*} and Lisong Teng^{1*}

¹ Department of Surgical Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ² Department of Medical Oncology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ³ Department of Intensive Care Unit (ICU), The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ⁴ Department of Endocrinology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, China, ⁵ State Key Laboratory for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, National Clinical Research Center for Infectious Diseases, Collaborative Innovation Center for Diagnosis and Treatment of Infectious Diseases, Department of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital, College of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rauf Latif, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Fulvio Basolo, University of Pisa, Italy Joanne F. Rovet, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

*Correspondence:

Lisong Teng Isteng@zju.edu.cn Yunqing Qiu qiuyq@zju.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 30 October 2020 Accepted: 24 December 2020 Published: 19 February 2021

Citation:

Wang W, Su X, Ding Y, Fan W, Zhou W, Su J, Chen Z, Zhao H, Xu K, Ni Q, Xu X, Qiu Y and Teng L (2021) Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients. Front. Endocrinol. 11:623792. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.623792 **Purpose:** The novel coronavirus COVID-19, has caused a worldwide pandemic, impairing several human organs and systems. Whether COVID-19 affects human thyroid function remains unknown.

Methods: Eighty-four hospitalized COVID-19 patients in the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine (Hangzhou, China) were retrospectively enrolled in this study, among which 22 cases had complete records of thyroid hormones. In addition, 91 other patients with pneumonia and 807 healthy subjects were included as controls.

Results: We found that levels of total triiodothyronine (TT3) and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) were lower in COVID-19 patients than healthy group (p < 0.001). Besides, TSH level in COVID-19 patients was obviously lower than non-COVID-19 patients (p < 0.001). Within the group of COVID-19, 61.9% (52/84) patients presented with thyroid function abnormalities and the proportion of thyroid dysfunction was higher in severe cases than mild/moderate cases (74.6 vs. 23.8%, p < 0.001). Patients with thyroid dysfunction tended to have longer viral nucleic acid cleaning time (14.1 ± 9.4 vs. 10.6 ± 8.3 days, p = 0.088). To note, thyroid dysfunction was also associated with decreased lymphocytes (p < 0.001) and increased CRP (p = 0.002). The correlation between TT3 and TSH level seemed to be positive rather than negative in the early stage, and gradually turned to be negatively related over time.

Conclusion: Thyroid function abnormalities are common in COVID-19 patients, especially in severe cases. This might be partially explained by nonthyroidal illness syndrome.

Keywords: COVID-19, thyroid function, abnormality, thyroid stimulating hormone, pathogenesis

Thyroid Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients

INTRODUCTION

The outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has rapidly spread worldwide and led to the declaration of Public Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organization (WHO) (1, 2). As of June 14, 2020, a total of 7,844,978 cases have been confirmed worldwide, among them, 428,045 people have died of COVID-19. Patients infected with COVID-19 display mainly symptoms similar with pneumonia such as fever, fatigue, cough, shortness of breath (3, 4). And many patients have symptoms outside of the respiratory system including poor appetite, diarrhea, nausea, vomiting and palpitation (3, 4). The main management of COVID-19 infection is supportive, and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) induced respiratory failure is the leading cause of mortality (3, 5–7).

Severe and complex effects on several human organs and systems including respiratory, immune, digestive, circulatory, hepatic, renal, and hematological systems have been reported in COVID-19 patients (3–6). Whether COVID-19 affects human thyroid function remains unknown. Previously, thyroid dysfunction was identified in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) caused by a different strain of coronavirus (8). Therefore, COVID-19 may also influence the function of thyroid. Recently, Brancatella et al. reported the first case of subacute thyroiditis after SARS-CoV-2 infection (9). Both reports therefore indicate that the thyroid gland may also be a target organ of SARS-CoV-2. Investigating thyroid function in COVID-19 patients might help to uncover the pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 and provide effective information for clinical practice.

In the present study, 84 hospitalized COVID-19 patients were enrolled retrospectively from the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine (Hangzhou, China). In addition, 91 other patients with pneumonia and 807 healthy subjects were included as controls. The thyroid function in COVID-19 was compared with that in pneumonia patients, and its relationship with disease severity, viral nucleic acid cleaning time, auto-antibodies, leukocytes, inflammatory biomarkers and cytokines was also investigated. Furthermore, the nature history of thyroid function during patients' recovery were also studied to depict the development of thyroid dysfunction causing by SARS-CoV-2.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Ninety-six hospitalized patients from the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine (Hangzhou, China), who were definitively diagnosed as COVID-19 according to WHO interim guidance (10), participated. They represented all COVID-19 patients admitted to our hospital in the period from January 22nd to March 16th, 2020, and diagnosed by the positive of nucleic acid of SARS-CoV-2 *via* nasal pharyngeal swab or phlegm. Within two days of admission, 85 of the 96 patients were assessed for thyroid function. One patient was excluded due to pregnancy leaving a total of 84 patients enrolled. In addition, 91 non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients from the Department of Respiratory Diseases or the ICU who were infected by bacteria, fungus, and virus, and 807 healthy subjects who underwent annual routine physical checkup in our Health Management Center were included as controls. Since the examination of thyroid function is included in the panel of annual routine physical checkup, the thyroid hormone levels of these healthy subjects are available. Non-COVID-19 pneumonia cases were matched for age, gender, and disease severity with COVID-19 patients.

Clinical classification of COVID-19 was based on the Handbook of COVID-19 Prevention and Treatment (11), and cases were judged as severe if they met any of the following criteria: 1) respiratory rate over 30 breaths/min; 2) oxygen saturation \leq 93% at a rest state; and 3) arterial partial pressure of oxygen (PaO2)/oxygen concentration (FiO2) \leq 300 mmHg. In additions, patients with >50% lesions progression within 24 to 48 h in lung imaging were also regarded as severe cases. Patients who presented with classical respiratory tract symptoms but did not reach the criteria of "Severe" were classified as "Moderate" while those with no or mild symptoms without CT pneumonia manifestation were classified as "Mild". All cases provided informed consent. The research was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine.

Data Collection

Thyroid hormones including triiodothyronine (TT3), thyroxine (TT4), and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) were successfully collected in all studied groups. In COVID-19 patients, we also have 22 patients with complete records of thyroid hormones including TT3, TT4, free triiodothyronine (fT3), free thyroxine (fT4) and TSH. All COVID-19 patients had record of TT3, TT4, and TSH at admission. We also collected the clinicopathologic characteristics of age, gender, disease severity, and lab data of inflammatory biomarker (leukocytes, C-reactive protein, procalcitonin), inflammatory cytokines (interleukin-6, interleukin-10, tumor necrosis factor- α , interferon- γ), autoantibodies (thyroglobulin antibody, thyroid peroxidase antibody), and viral nucleic acid cleaning time of patients. The viral nucleic acid cleaning time was defined as the period from diagnosed as positive to negative of nucleic acid of SARS-CoV-2 via nasal pharyngeal swab or phlegm, and the negative result was repeated twice with interval of one day.

Research Procedures and Statistical Analysis

Between COVID-19 patients with complete and incomplete records of thyroid hormones, no statistic difference was found in rate of thyroid dysfunction, disease severity or viral nucleic acid cleaning time (**Table S1**). Then we compared age, gender, and thyroid function among COVID-19, non-COVID-19

pneumonia patients and healthy subjects. The associations between thyroid function and disease severity, inflammatory biomarker (leukocytes, C-reactive protein, procalcitonin), inflammatory cytokines (interleukin-6, interleukin-10, tumor necrosis factor- α , interferon- γ), auto-antibodies (thyroglobulin antibody, thyroid peroxidase antibody), and viral nucleic acid cleaning time were analyzed. We also analyzed the dynamic changes of thyroid function during patients' recovery period.

Statistical analysis was conducted by SPSS (version 21.0) (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and R language (Version 3.6.3). Pearson chisquare test and analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used to analyze the characteristics and thyroid function among COVID-19, non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients and healthy subjects (False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction was used for multiple comparison), and to establish the factors associated with dysfunction of thyroid. Pearson correlation was performed in the correlation analysis. In addition, a polynomial regression curve was fitted between time after hospitalization and TSH or TT3 levels. For all analyses, p <0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Characteristics of Participants

The COVID-19 patients had a mean age of 57.3 ± 14.5 years old and 63% (53/84) were male. They did not differ statistically from non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients or healthy subjects in age or gender (**Table 1**). Since the COVID-19 group and non-COVID-19 pneumonia group were matched on disease severity, we didn't find any difference on clinical classification between the two groups (**Table 1**). Patients having thyroid dysfunction were those with any abnormality in TT3, TT4, or TSH. Based on quantification of thyroid hormones, a total of 52 (52/84, 61.9%) COVID-19 patients have thyroid dysfunction. Among thyroid dysfunction cases, two patients had decreased TSH accompanied by slightly enhanced TT4 while the remained 50 patients presented with lower levels of TT4, TT3, or TSH (**Figure S1**).

Thyroid Dysfunction in COVID-19 Patients

When compared with healthy subjects, the levels of TT3 and TSH were significantly lower in COVID-19 patients (p < 0.001), while no significant difference was found in TT4 (p = 0.391) (Table 1). We then focused our research on TT3 and TSH. Next, we investigated the thyroid function alterations between COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients. The level of TT3 in COVID-19 patients $(1.02 \pm 0.32 \text{ nmol/L})$ was similar with that in non-COVID-19 patients ($0.92 \pm 0.38 \text{ nmol/L}$) (p = 0.59) (Table 1). However, the TSH level was significantly lower in COVID-19 cases (0.62 ± 0.62 mIU/L vs. 1.07 ± 0.94 mIU/L, p < 0.001) (Table 1). TSH secreted by adenohypophysis normally drives the output of thyroid hormones and will be inhibited by enhanced thyroid hormones (particularly fT3) in terms of the negative feedback loop of pituitary-thyroid axis. However, our correlation analysis revealed that the levels of TT3 and TSH were positively correlated, instead of negatively related, in COVID-19 patients (R = 0.575, p < 0.001) (Figure 1). Correlation analysis showed that fT3 was in line with TT3 (p < 0.001) (Figure S2).

Analysis of Clinical Values for Thyroid Dysfunction in COVID-19 Patients

COVID-19 patients were further divided into a thyroid dysfunction subgroup and a normal subgroup according to TT3, TT4, and TSH levels. No obvious difference was found in age and sex between these two subgroups (**Table 2**). Abnormal thyroid function was more commonly detected in severe cases than mild/moderate cases (74.6 vs. 23.8%, p < 0.001) (**Table 2**). Interestingly, thyroid dysfunction tended to be associated with longer viral nucleic acid cleaning time (14.13 \pm 9.39 vs. 10.56 \pm 8.29 days, p = 0.088). Additionally, we identified increased levels of leucocytes (p < 0.001), neutrophils (p < 0.001), CRP (p = 0.002) and PCT (p = 0.054), and decreased level of lymphocytes (p < 0.001) in thyroid dysfunction group. Meanwhile, we did not find any significance in levels of auto-antibodies (thyroglobulin

TABLE 1 | Comparison of clinical features among COVID-19, non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients and healthy subjects.

Characteristics	COVID-19 patients (N = 84) Mean ± SD or n (%)	Non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients (N = 91) Mean ± SD or n (%)	Healthy subjects (N = 807) Mean ± SD or n (%)	p value	
				COVID-19 vs. Non-COVID-19	COVID-19 vs. Healthy subjects
Mean age (yrs)	57.3 ± 14.5	60.1 ± 16.7	57.7 ± 13.0	0.472	0.782
Gender					
Male	53 (63.1%)	60 (65.9%)	474 (58.7%)	0.695	0.695
Female	31 (36.9%)	31 (34.1%)	333 (41.3%)		
Clinical classifications					
Mild and moderate	21 (25.0%)	24 (26.4%)	-	0.835	-
Severe and critical	63 (75.0%)	67 (73.6%)	-		-
Thyroid Function					
TT4 (nmol/L)	99.04 ± 25.96	82.28 ± 26.47	97.25 ± 17.13	0.000	0.391
TT3 (nmol/L)	1.02 ± 0.32	0.92 ± 0.38	1.59 ± 0.24	0.059	0.000
TSH (mIU/L)	0.62 ± 0.62	1.07 ± 0.94	1.55 ± 0.94	0.001	0.000

TT4, total thyroxine or tetraiodothyronine, normal range 62.68–150.84 nmol/L; TT3, total triiodothyronine normal range 0.89–2.44 nmol/L; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone, normal range 0.35–4.94 nmol/L.

p values were False Discovery Rate (FDR)-corrected. p value in bold was regarded as statistically significant.



antibody, thyroid peroxidase antibody) and cytokines (IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , IFN- γ) (**Table 2**).

The Natural History of Thyroid Dysfunction in COVID-19 Patients

In order to examine the natural history of thyroid dysfunction induced by SARS-CoV-2, we analyzed seven patients with

records of thyroid function during their recovery period. All seven patients had lower than normal range of TSH levels on admission, and none of them was treated by glucocorticoid or thyroxine. We observed that the levels of TT3 and TSH increased gradually within 2 months after hospitalization (**Figure 2**). At Day 30, all the patients' TT3 and TSH levels recovered to normal without any thyroid hormone replacement (**Figure 2**). We further found the correlation between TT3 and TSH levels seem to shift from a positive pattern to a negative pattern overtime, indicating a recovery of the pituitary-thyroid axis. However, given limited patient number, the p-values did not reach statistical significance (**Figure 3**).

DISCUSSION

COVID-19 is an infectious illness that has caused a pandemic worldwide. As a novel type of disease with high infectivity and mortality, the pathophysiology of COVID-19 has not been fully studied. A number of studies have reported severe and complex effects of COVID-19 in several human organs and systems including respiratory, immune, digestive, circulatory, hepatic, renal, and hematological systems (6). However, whether COVID-19 affects human thyroid function remains unknown. Here, we report the influence of COVID-19 on thyroid function. We found that COVID-19 patients presented with lower levels of

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics and selected laboratory abnormalities of COVID-19 patients with and without thyroid dysfunction.

	Thyroid dysfunction* (N = 52) Mean \pm SD or n (%)	Normal (N = 32) Mean \pm SD or n (%)	P value
Gender			
Male	35 (66.0%)	18 (34.0%)	0.308
Female	17 (54.8%)	14 (45.2%)	
Clinical classifications on admission			
Mild and moderate	5 (23.8%)	16 (76.2%)	0.000
Severe and critical	47 (74.6%)	16 (25.4%)	
Viral nucleic acid cleaning time (days)	14.1 ± 9.4	10.6 ± 8.3	0.088
Thyroid auto-antibodies			
TPOAb (IU/ml, normal range 0–5.61)	23.95 ± 38.12	24.71 ± 57.08	0.945
TGAb (IU/ml, normal range 0-4.11)	35.05 ± 142.01	20.98 ± 47.31	0.613
Cytokines			
IL-6 (pg/ml; normal range 0–6.61)	59.27 ± 98.24	51.99 ± 95.17	0.748
IL-10 (pg/ml; normal range 0–2.31)	8.15 ± 10.92	6.11 ± 7.58	0.378
TNF-α (pg/ml; normal range 0–33.27)	69.14 ± 259.33	31.27 ± 38.23	0.438
IFN-γ (pg/ml; normal range 0–20.06)	32.92 ± 73.10	30.92 ± 47.39	0.895
Blood routine tests			
Leucocytes (x10 ⁹ /L; normal range 4–10)	8.71 ± 5.33	4.92 ± 1.64	0.000
Neutrophils (x10 ⁹ /L; normal range 2–7)	7.97 ± 5.30	3.40 ± 1.51	0.000
Lymphocytes (x10 ⁹ /L; normal range 0.8–4)	0.62 ± 0.33	1.09 ± 0.41	0.000
Platelets (x10 ⁹ /L; normal range 83–303)	189.13 ± 71.13	209.38 ± 75.93	0.221
Haemoglobin	132.50 ± 17.14	137.16 ± 15.69	0.216
(g/L; normal range: male 131–172, female 113–151)			
Infection-related biomarkers			
Procalcitonin (ng/L; normal range 0–0.5)	0.22 ± 0.46	0.06 ± 0.45	0.054
C reactive protein (mg/ml; normal range 0-8)	38.14 ± 37.01	15.60 ± 17.73	0.002
Blood biochemistry			
Globulin (g/L; normal range 20–40)	29.34 ± 5.85	27.82 ± 4.16	0.204

TPOAb, thyroid peroxidase antibody; TGAb, thyroglobulin antibody; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-10, interleukin-10; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor α; IFN-γ, interferon-γ.

p value in bold was regarded as statistically significant.

*Thyroid dysfunction indicates any abnormalities in the levels of TT4, TT3, or TSH.



FIGURE 2 | The changes of TSH (A) and TT3 (B) levels during hospitalization in COVID-19 patients with abnormal TSH level on admission. Every polyline represents the variation trend of TSH or TT3 level of one patient. Dashed blue lines, the lower limit of normal TSH (0.35 mIU/L) and TT3 (0.89 nmol/L) value; Dashed red lines, the upper limit of normal TSH (4.94 mIU/L) and TT3 (2.44 nmol/L) value; Green curves represent the fitting of data; Grey shaded areas, depict the 95% confidence band for the fitted curve.



TT3 and TSH than healthy subjects while their TSH levels were considerably lower than non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients. We also observed that thyroid dysfunction in COVID-19 patients may recover without thyroid hormone replacement within 30 days. This seems to mimic the pattern seen in patients with non-thyroidal illness (NTI).

Nonthyroidal illness syndrome presents as abnormal thyroid function in serious diseases other than thyroid disorders, including infection, cancer, cardiovascular and gastrointestinal disease, burn, and trauma (12). It is well established that NTI is a consequence of an acute phase response to severe systemic illness or macronutrient restriction and usually presents as decreased plasma T3 level, or low
or normal T4 and TSH levels (12, 13). The phenomenon of decreased T3 and TSH in COVID-19 patients was consistent with NTI. In COVID-19 patients, a profile of cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-6, IL-7, INF- γ , and TNF- α , is associated with disease severity and mortality of patients (3, 5, 7, 14). Our results also showed that thyroid dysfunction was associated with increased inflammation biomarkers including CRP and leucocytes, indicating inflammatory reaction played an important role in thyroid dysfunction of COVID-19. Therefore, serious infection in COVID-19 is a primary cause of NTI.

Furthermore, even though the disease severity was matched, we still found the TSH level of COVID-19 patients was significantly lower than that in non-COVID-19 pneumonia patients. This suggests thyroid function abnormalities in COVID-19 patients cannot be totally explained by NTI, possibly because of the attack of SARS CoV-2 virus. The wide distribution of COVID-19 nucleic acid in respiratory tract, saliva, feces, and breastmilk indicates that direct viral attack to the target cells may be an alternative reason (15-17). Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is a receptor providing the main entry site for SARS-CoV to invade human cells, and this in turn facilitates direct damage of virus through the course of infection (18, 19). Li et al. recently reported that ACE2 was highly expressed in the thyroid (20), suggesting that the thyroid gland may be a potential target for direct attack of COVID-19. Our study showed that thyroid dysfunction tended to be associated with viral nucleic acid cleaning time, indicating virus infection and replication may account for the abnormal thyroid hormones. However, our study also showed that disease severity, which may influence the viral nucleic acid cleaning time, was associated with thyroid dysfunction, thus the true relationship of thyroid function and viral nucleic acid cleaning time need to be further studied.

In patients with SARS caused by another strain of coronavirus (8), severe pathologic injury in follicular epithelial cells with follicular distortion and collapse was found in thyroid glands (21). After investigating the endocrine cells in the pituitary gland of five SARS patients, Wei et al. found that TSH positive cells were significantly decreased (22), indicating thyroid epithelial cells, as well as endocrine cells of adenohypophysis, may be attacked and damaged by coronavirus. Thus, we speculated that COVID-19 may have similar pathogenesis as SARS, explaining why the TSH level in COVID-19 patients was significantly lower than non-COVID-19 patients. In the present study, we also noticed 7 patients, who had lower than normal levels of TSH and TT3 on admission, with normalization by Day 30. Furthermore, the malfunctional feedback between TT3 and TSH returned to work overtime, indicating a recovery of the pituitary-thyroid axis abnormalities as well. A recent case report of thyroiditis after SARS-CoV-2 infection came up by Brancatella et al. confirmed this hypothesis. That case displayed thyroid dysfunction followed by a triphasic course including thyrotoxicosis, hypothyroidism, and euthyroidism, and then recovered to normal in one month (9).

There are several limitations which might cause potential bias. The study is single centered, with limited sample size, which may lead to bias of the study. Also, the study was conducted retrospectively with little attention paid to thyroid function during treatment of COVID-19, most patients had not dynamically monitored the thyroid function. Furthermore, only 22 patients had complete thyroid function including fT3 and fT4. Also, COVID-19 patients were admitted to hospital at different disease stages with different severity, and most patients with mild symptom did not have thyroid function tests, which may also cause bias to an extent. Thus, more patients from multiple centers should be analyzed, and complete record and dynamic changes of thyroid function should be concerned and investigated prospectively in the future studies.

In conclusion, the current study demonstrated that thyroid function abnormalities were common in COVID-19 patients, especially in severe cases. The thyroid dysfunction seems to dynamically change within the course of disease and recover gradually and spontaneously. While this may be partially explained by non-thyroidal illness syndrome, it is also possible that the thyroid gland is a direct target of the SARS CoV-2 virus.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WW, XS, YD, and WF designed the study, analyzed the data and wrote the paper. JS, ZC, HZ, KX, QN, and XX collected data and performed the study. LT and YQ designed the study, supervised the whole process, and critically revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Zhejiang Provincial Science and technology department key R & D plan emergency project (No. 2020c03123-8).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Joan Ai Hui Lim from Sengkang General Hospital (Singapore) for the language editing. We also thank Dr. Chengjiang Li and Dr. Weibin Zhou, both from Department of Endocrinology, the First Affiliated Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine, for their manuscript revisions.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2020. 623792/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B, Chen YM, Wang W, Song ZG, et al. A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. *Nature* (2020) 579 (7798):265–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3
- Horton R. Offline: 2019-nCoV outbreak-early lessons. Lancet (London England) (2020) 395(10221):322. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30212-9
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet (London England)* (2020) 395(10223):497–506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *Lancet (London England)* (2020) 395 (10223):507–13. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7
- Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ, et al. COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. *Lancet* (*London England*) (2020) 395(10229):1033–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0
- Li Y, He F, Zhou N, Wei J, Ding Z, Wang L, et al. Organ function support in patients with coronavirus disease 2019: Tongji experience. *Front Med* (2020) 14(2):232–48. doi: 10.1007/s11684-020-0774-9
- Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y, Zhang J, Huang L, Zhang C, et al. Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 8(4):420–2. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30076-X
- Ye YX, Wang W, Yao H, Li HM, Sun LQ, Wang AS. Change in hormones of related sexual function in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Labeled Immunoassay Clin Med* (2004) 11:63–5.
- Brancatella A, Ricci D, Viola N, Sgro D, Santini F, Latrofa F. Subacute Thyroiditis After Sars-COV-2 Infection. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105 (7):dgaa276. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa276
- WHO. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection when novel coronavirus (ncoV) infection is suspected: interim guidance. Available at: https://www. who.int/internal-publications-detail/clinical-management-ofsevere-acute-respiratory- infection-when-novel-coronavirus-(ncov)infection-is-suspected [accessed 30 Jan2020].
- 11. Handbook of COVID-19 Prevention and Treatment. Available at: http://en. zy91.com/special/index.
- Fliers E, Bianco AC, Langouche L, Boelen A. Thyroid function in critically ill patients. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3(10):816–25. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00225-9
- Van den Berghe G. Non-thyroidal illness in the ICU: a syndrome with different faces. Thyroid Off J Am Thyroid Assoc (2014) 24(10):1456–65. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0201

Supplementary Figure 1 | The distribution of thyroid hormones abnormalities in COVID-19 patient.

Supplementary Figure 2 | The respective association between fT3 and TT3 levels in COVID-19 patients on admission. Correlation analysis shows that fT3 is positively related with TT3 (R = 0.668, P < 0.01).

- Channappanavar R, Perlman S. Pathogenic human coronavirus infections: causes and consequences of cytokine storm and immunopathology. *Semin Immunopathol* (2017) 39(5):529–39. doi: 10.1007/s00281-017-0629-x
- Wu Y, Guo C, Tang L, Hong Z, Zhou J, Dong X, et al. Prolonged presence of SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA in faecal samples. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2020) 5(5):434–5. doi: 10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30083-2
- To KK, Tsang OT, Chik-Yan Yip C, Chan KH, Wu TC, Chan JMC, et al. Consistent detection of 2019 novel coronavirus in saliva. *Clin Infect Dis an Off Publ Infect Dis Soc America* (2020) 71(15):841–3. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa149
- Chan JF, Yip CC, To KK, Tang TH, Wong SC, Leung KH, et al. Improved Molecular Diagnosis of COVID-19 by the Novel, Highly Sensitive and Specific COVID-19-RdRp/Hel Real-Time Reverse Transcription-PCR Assay Validated In Vitro and with Clinical Specimens. *J Clin Microbiol* (2020) 58 (5):e00310-20. doi: 10.1128/JCM.00310-20
- Kuba K, Imai Y, Rao S, Gao H, Guo F, Guan B, et al. A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. *Nat Med* (2005) 11(8):875–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1267
- Li W, Moore MJ, Vasilieva N, Sui J, Wong SK, Berne MA, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. *Nature* (2003) 426(6965):450–4. doi: 10.1038/nature02145
- Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty* (2020) 9 (1):45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x
- Wei L, Sun S, Xu CH, Zhang J, Xu Y, Zhu H, et al. Pathology of the thyroid in severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Hum Pathol* (2007) 38(1):95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2006.06.011
- Wei L, Sun S, Zhang J, Zhu H, Xu Y, Ma Q, et al. Endocrine cells of the adenohypophysis in severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). *Biochem Cell Biol = Biochim Biol Cell* (2010) 88(4):723–30. doi: 10.1139/O10-022

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wang, Su, Ding, Fan, Zhou, Su, Chen, Zhao, Xu, Ni, Xu, Qiu and Teng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Physiological Role and Use of **Thyroid Hormone Metabolites -Potential Utility in COVID-19 Patients**

Eleonore Fröhlich^{1,2} and Richard Wahl^{1*}

¹ Department for Diagnostic Laboratory Medicine, Institute for Clinical Chemistry and Pathobiochemistry, University Hospital Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, ² Center for Medical Research, Medical University Graz, Graz, Austria

Thyroxine and triiodothyronine (T3) are classical thyroid hormones and with relatively well-understood actions. In contrast, the physiological role of thyroid hormone metabolites, also circulating in the blood, is less well characterized. These molecules, namely, reverse triiodothyronine, 3,5-diiodothyronine, 3-iodothyronamine, tetraiodoacetic acid and triiodoacetic acid, mediate both agonistic (thyromimetic) and antagonistic actions additional to the effects of the classical thyroid hormones. Here, we provide an overview of the main factors influencing thyroid hormone action, and then go on to describe the main effects of the metabolites and their potential use in medicine. One section addresses thyroid hormone levels in corona virus disease 19 (COVID-19). It appears that i) the more potently-acting molecules T3 and triiodoacetic acid have shorter half-lives than the less potent antagonists 3-iodothyronamine and tetraiodoacetic acid; ii) reverse T3 and 3,5-diiodothyronine may serve as indicators for metabolic dysregulation and disease, and iii) Nanotetrac may be a promising candidate for treating cancer, and resmetirom and VK2809 for steatohepatitis. Further, the use of L-T3 in the treatment of severely ill COVID-19 patients is critically discussed.

Keywords: triiodothyronine, non-thyroidal illness syndrome, COVID-19, 3,5-diiodothyronine, tetraiodoacetic acid, triiodoacetic acid, thyromimetics

INTRODUCTION

Thyroid hormones (TH) are endocrine hormones that influence nearly all cells of the human body. Deficiency and excess, hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism, demonstrate the action of TH on fetal development, lipid and carbohydrate metabolism, growth, cardiovascular, central nervous, and reproductive systems. TH action is determined by the level of circulating hormones and their metabolites, serum binding (distribution) proteins, cellular transporters, type and amount of deiodinases (D), and expression of receptors (Figure 1). Treatment with endocrine hormones is usually restricted to supplementation in case of insufficient endogenous production (e.g. in autoimmune diseases) or decreased target sensitivity (e.g. insulin resistance). TH may however also be candidates to treat specific conditions, like obesity, diabetes mellitus type 2, and metabolic syndrome. TH analogues with antagonistic effects may be helpful to support recovery from illness. Biological issues like lack of selectivity of TH action and finding suitable pharmaceutical formulations pose problems for treatment. Numerous recent studies focused on the role of pre-existing morbidities

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Salman Razvi, Newcastle University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Paul J. Davis. Albany Medical College, United States Arjola Bano, University of Bern, Switzerland

*Correspondence: Richard Wahl richard.wahl@med.uni-tuebingen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 26 July 2020 Accepted: 31 March 2021 Published: 26 April 2021

Citation:

Fröhlich E and Wahl R (2021) Physiological Role and Use of Thyroid Hormone Metabolites - Potential Utility in COVID-19 Patients. Front. Endocrinol. 12:587518. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.587518

38



level of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin and truncated and nuclear receptors TR α and TR β .

for risk of infection with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) and severity of corona virus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Although thyroid dysfunction appears to play no important role as risk factor for contracting COVID-19 disease, alterations in TH levels were observed in hospitalized patients.

This review starts with an overview of production, transport, uptake, cellular metabolism and action of the classical representatives T3 and T4 and proceeds with a description of the biologically active TH metabolites. Although all of these aspects are covered by excellent reviews, this more practically oriented description of the different aspects influencing TH action has been included to illustrate the variety of factors that affect TH action and point out differences between the metabolites. One section is devoted to the role of TH in COVID-19. Finally, potential medical applications of TH metabolites and problems in the pharmacological formulation of these agents are addressed.

BLOOD TRANSPORT, METABOLISATION, CELLULAR UPTAKE, AND CELLULAR EFFECTS OF TH

Structurally, TH belong to the amine hormones, which are derivates of amino acids such as tyrosine, tryptophan, and

histidine. They include catecholamines (epinephrine and norepinephrine), melatonin, and histamine. The molecules generally are highly water-soluble, bind to membrane receptors and act *via* G-proteins, adenylcyclase, c-AMP, and protein kinases. TH differ from the general rule in the way that they are lipophilic and cause effects *via* both nuclear and membrane receptors (1).

Proteins influencing the cellular action of classical TH are shown in **Figure 1** and described in the following sections.

Production and Blood Levels

Production of TH by the thyroid is 85 μ g/day for T4 and 6.5 μ g/ day for T3. The majority of the estimated total amount of 30 μ g T3/day is produced outside the thyroid parenchyma *via* T4 deiodination, mainly by deiodinases. TH levels show circadian rhythmicity with peak values of T4 from 8-12 am and lowest levels from 10 pm-3 am. T3 levels are highest from 7 am-1 pm and lowest from 11 pm-3 am (2). Levels are linked to those of thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), which precede them by around 6 h (peak at 2-4 am and nadir at 4-8 pm) (3). These data suggest a link of TH levels to metabolism and arousal. Overall, fluctuations of T4 and T3 levels in serum are not prominent, while tissue concentrations of T3 can vary dramatically (4). Regulation of TH levels through the hypophysis - pituitary gland – thyroid (HPT) axis is the main mechanism of TH secretion. The mechanism is described in several reviews dedicated to this topic [e.g. (5, 6)] and will not be addressed here. Age and sex influence TH levels and free TH but not TSH concentrations decrease in men with age, while in women the free TH levels remain constant but TSH level increase in an agedependent manner (7). Decreased monocarboxylate transporter (MCT)8 expression and decreased deiodinase (D)1 activity in aged livers increase TH receptor (TR) protein and shift T3 activity from liver to kidney (8). Reports of a correlation of low fT4 and longevity lead to the hypothesis that a slower metabolism with reduced production of oxygen radicals results in reduced cell damage and longer life. Prominent changes were seen during pregnancy when T4 levels increased sharply between week 6-9 and more slowly thereafter, resulting in stable values between week 20-27 of gestation. Increases in TH during pregnancy are accompanied by increase of thyroxine binding globulin (TBG) levels in blood due to longer half-life of the protein. fT4 and fT3 levels, the important parameters for TH action in the tissue, remain in the normal range (9). TH are important for fetal development and more detailed information on pregnancy-related changes in TH levels is available elsewhere [e.g. (10, 11)].

Transport in Blood by TH Distributor Proteins

TH are transported in blood bound to transport proteins. For T4 the binding is 75% to TBG, 20% to transthyretin (TTR, prealbumin), and 5% to serum albumin. Apolipoprotein B and apolipoprotein A1-containing lipoproteins, contribute with 3% of T4 and 6% of T3 to TH transport. In the rare case of familial dysalbuminemic hyperthyroxinemia and hypertriiodothyroninemia higher binding of T4 and T3 may occur (12). The affected individuals have higher T4 and T3 levels but do not have any symptoms because fT4 and fT4 are in the normal range. Only a small fraction of 0.03% of T4 and 0.3% of T3 is circulating in free form in the blood (13). The main source of all distributor proteins is the liver but choroid plexus and retinal pigment epithelium are additional sources for TTR. Albumin and TTR are produced in syncytiotrophoblast cells of the placenta during pregnancy (14). Affinity of T4 to distributor proteins is higher than that of T3 and binding affinity for T4 and T3 increases in the order albumin<TTR<TBG (15). In contrast to what was initially hypothesized, limited solubility of T4 is not the reason for the need for distributor protein binding because solubility of T4 is higher than fT4 levels. The difference is impressive as the maximum solubility of T4 at pH 7.4 is 2.3 µM, while concentration of free T4 in human blood is only 24 pM. According to the current hypothesis, binding to distributor proteins serves as a buffer for T4 and provides a more even tissue distribution of the TH. Of the three most important proteins albumin, TTR, and TBG, TTR is responsible for most of the delivery because TBG binds T4 too tightly to allow release. Binding affinity of TH to albumin, on the other hand, is too weak and the protein is not efficient for distribution. The importance of TTR is corroborated by the fact that its absence of TTR is the only distributor protein pathology not compatible with human life, while absence of albumin and TBG

deficiency does not create major symptoms. TTR is not only a binding protein for TH, it has many other biological functions (16). Only in mammals, TTR has higher affinity for T4 than for T3. Although intracellular T3 cannot be determined by blood analysis, measurements of T4, T3, and TSH are the commonly used parameters to assess thyroid function (https://www.thyroid.org/ thyroid-function-tests/).

Membrane Transporters

Entry into cells can be passive based on the lipophilicity of the molecules but also by transporters. The amphipathic nature due to the lipophilic aromatic rings and hydrophilic amino acid side chains may be the reason why thyroid hormones are suboptimal candidates for passive diffusion. The most important transporters of TH are MCT8, MCT10 and organic anion transporting polypeptide (OATP) 1C1. Further, L-amino acid transporters (LAT) 1 and 2, multidrug resistanceassociated proteins (MDP), Na+/taurocholate co-transporting peptide (NTCP) 1 and fatty acid translocase (FAT) are involved (17). MCT10 transports T3 better than MCT8, while for T4 transport MCT8 is better than MCT10 (18). MCTs are the only exclusive TH transporters and are abundantly expressed in liver, intestine, kidney, and placenta. Both can transport TH into and out of cells but the relevance of export is unclear. OATP1C1 preferentially transports T4 and rT3 over T3, and is expressed mainly in the brain (4). LAT1 transports several TH metabolites in the order 3,3'-T2>T3~rT3>T4. The presence of multiple membrane transporters appears particularly relevant in Allan-Herndon-Dudley Syndrome (AHDS), where decreased numbers of oligodendrocytes in the brain correlates with TH due to mutation of the MCT8 and contributes to the pathology (19). As OATP1C1 is not highly expressed in the pre- and perinatal human brain, MCT10, LAT1 and LAT2 are the most likely candidates for the basal TH supply in these patients.

Importers and exporters in the nuclear membrane regulate the transport of TR from cytoplasm to nucleus (20). Mutation of the transporter proteins of TR α (importins α 1, β 1, and 7) and of TR β (importin α 1/ β 1 heterodimer) may play a role in TH resistance. Exportins 4, 5, 7, and calreticulin/exportin 1 complex are mainly involved in export from the nucleus.

Deiodinases

There are 3 enzymes acting as deiodinases with different specificities, cellular localization, and organ distribution. The important effect of TH regulation by deiodinases on cellular levels is best illustrated by the reciprocal actions of D2 and D3 regarding energy expenditure (21). c-AMP induction of D2 expression in brown adipose tissue upon cold exposure increases energy expenditure, while hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α -dependent induction of D3 in myocardium and brain ischemia decreases expenditure. If the energy sparing is exaggerated, activation of D3 can lead to non-thyroidal illness syndrome (NTIS), also termed euthyroid sick syndrome. NTIS is characterized by elevated rT3 and low total T3 and fT3. TSH and fT4 can be normal but mortality increases steeply when both

parameters, as in critically ill patients, decrease [(22), see also in the section *Reverse rT3*]. The condition is viewed as a protection mechanism to reduce energy expenditure that does not require treatment, while other groups recommend treatment with thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), TSH, or T3 and T4.

All three deiodinases are selenoproteins but have different specificities. D1 is localized at the plasma membrane and exists in two forms, and can increase and decrease T3 levels. D2 localized in the endoplasmic reticulum provides T3 for receptor activation in the tissue, and D3 at the plasma membrane metabolizes T4 to rT3 and degrades T3 to T2 (23). Due to the fast binding to ubiquitin with subsequent proteasomal degradation, D2 has a much shorter half-life (30 min) than D1 and D3 (12 h). D1 catalyses 5'-deiodination (D1 1) as outer ring deiodinase (ORD) and converts T4 to T3 and rT3 to 3',5'-T2 (24). Substrate affinity decreases in the order rT3>>T4≈T3. The D1 form for 5deiodination (D1_2), also known as inner ring deiodinase (IRD), converts T4 to rT3 and T3 to 3,3'-T2. D1_1 has a greater affinity to T3 than to T4 and inactivation of T3 prevails over conversion of T4 to rT3. The high affinity to rT3 and sulfated thyrothyronines led to the assumption that the main function of D1 is to recover iodide from inactive compounds. In addition to Se deficiency, illness, specific drugs, cadmium, mercury or lead intoxication, and stress shift the balance to rT3 generation. D1 enzymes are abundant in liver, kidney and skeletal muscle (25). D2 catalyses the same reaction as D1_1 and is located in brain, pituitary gland, and brown adipose tissue. The affinity to T4 is greater than for rT3. A variety of signals, bile acids, flavonols, chemical chaperones, insulin, and peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR)-y, induce D2 expression, while endoplasmic reticulum stress and liver X receptor/retinoid X receptor (LXR/RXR) activation dampen the D2 pathway. D3, with substrate affinity T4>T3 and function for T3 degradation, is similar in activity to D1_2 and found in the central nervous system. From its localization at the plasma membrane D3 may migrate to the nuclear membrane in ischemia, where it inactivates T4 and T3 (26).

Effects of polymorphisms of deiodinases on thyroid metabolism have been studied, but with controversial results. Carriers of the D_{1b} -G/T(rs12095080) allele in D1 had higher T3 and T3/rT3 ratio, while carriers of D_{1a} -G/T(rs11206244) allele had increases in fT4 and rT3 and decreases in T3 and T3/rT3 ratio. The affected individuals, however, presented no symptoms of thyroid dysfunction (4). An indication of interference with thyroid function has been reported in carriers of Thr92Ala polymorphism in D2, which need higher L-T4 concentrations to achieve euthyroidism and show delayed T3 secretion in response to TSH.

Regulation of TH on the cellular level includes conjugation. Sulfotransferases are located in the cytoplasm particularly of liver, kidney, and brain. Several members of the sulfotransferase (SULT) 1 family, namely SULT1A1, SULT1A2, SULT1A3, SULT1B1, and SULT1C2 catalyze conjugation with velocity 3,3'-T2> T3~ rT3> T4 (24). Glucuronidation of TH is performed by members of the Uridine 5'-diphosphoglucuronosyltransferase (UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) 1A family, located in the endoplasmic reticulum. Tetrac and Triac are more rapidly glucuronidated in the liver than T4 and T3.

Mechanisms of Cellular Action by TH

In some mammalian species, a cytosolic T3-binding µ-crystallin was identified. According to rodent studies, ketimine reductase µ-crystallin, which is the human homologue, may mediate the intranuclear transport of T3, but allosteric regulation of enzymatic activity of the reductase by T3 also appears possible (27). Non-genomic regulation was discovered later than genomic regulation. Several reviews are available for detailed information on the complex and variable regulation of TH action [e.g. (28-30)]. Diversity exists on the receptor level because due to multiple splicing, multiple nuclear TRs, designated α 1- α 3 and β 1- β 3, and the truncated forms $\Delta\alpha$ 1, $\Delta\beta$ 2, and $\Delta\beta$ 3 can be generated (31). The α 2 and α 3 isoforms and all truncated TRs are non-T3 binding proteins and function as antagonists of TH signaling. As a general rule, $TR\beta1$ is mainly expressed in tissues linked to regulation of metabolism, while TRa1 is the major isoform in the heart. TRB1 is highly expressed in liver, TRB2 is particularly relevant for brain, retina, and inner ear, and TRB3 is expressed in rodent tissues but not in humans (32). Action of nuclear receptors on transcription can be briefly described as follows (Figure 2). TRs form homo- and heterodimers with retinoid X receptors (RXR). Unliganded TRs bind to TH response element sequences in T3 target genes and mediate transcriptional repression. Co-repressor proteins (nuclear receptor co-repressor protein (NCoR)/homolog silencing mediator of retinoid) and TR are recruited to the RXR-TR heterodimer in the absence of T3 and inhibit target gene expression. The proteins contain three repressor domains and two receptor interacting domains (28). The receptor domains form a large repressor complex by interaction with different types of histone deacetylases (HDAC 1, 3) and transducin (beta)like 1 (TBL-1). T3 binding causes a change in conformation with displacement of co-repressors and dissociation of the complex. Recruitment of co-activators results in interaction with RXR-TR heterodimer and transcription. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) interacts with cyclic AMP (cAMP) response element binding protein (CREB) response element-binding protein (CBP) and Adenovirus early region 1A binding protein p300 (p300) through its activation domain 1 (AD1), with histone acetyltransferases through its AD2 and with ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex through its AD3 (33). The formation of such a coactivator complex results in chromatin remodeling and bridges the hormone-activated receptors with the general transcription machinery for transcriptional activation of their specific target genes. More information on the mechanism is available elsewhere [e.g. (28, 34)].

Non-genomic action of TH is initiated at the plasma membrane, in the cytoplasm (TR α or TR β) or in intracellular organelles (e.g. mitochondria) (30) (**Figure 2**). Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3 represents one of the 24 integrin family members with an Arg-Gly-Asp (RGD) domain, which mediate interaction with extracellular matrix proteins, such as osteopontin, fibronectin,



and vitronectin. The binding site of TH is distinct from this site non-malignant cells

and virture time binding site of TTT is distinct from this site and consists of the two domains S1 and S2. Binding to S1 is specific to T3 and S2 accepts T4 and, with lower affinity, T3 (28).

There is cross-talk between $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin and growth factor receptors [e.g. vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), endothelial growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor β (TGF β), insulin growth factor (IGF) 1) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)], which can be modulated by activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2 (35, 36). Actions of $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin are mediated by two binding domains (28). Binding of TH to the S2 domain activates phospholipase C (PLC) and protein kinase C α (PKC α), which leads to phosphorylation of TR β , estrogen receptor (ER), signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), and p35. The phosphorylated TR β 1 translocates into the nucleus. Upon binding of T3 to the S1 domain, phosphatidyl-inositol 3 kinase (PI3K)/Akt/protein kinase B (PKB) pathway via Src kinase is regulated and Src kinase activation induces TRa1 translocation from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. The non-genomic regulation ensures independent function of the cytoplasmic and nuclear receptors (37, 38). TR $\Delta \alpha 1$ is involved in the maintenance of the actin cytoskeleton by T4 and rT3, and the p30 TRa1 peptide at the plasma membrane regulates T3-induced proliferation of non-malignant cells *via* ERK1/2 and Akt pathways. Binding of T3 in the cytoplasm to TR β 1 activates the P13K/Akt/mTOR pathway, which then activates Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. The T3-TR β 1 complex stimulates the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger at the plasma membrane *via* MAPK/ERK 1/2 (28).

Due to the numerous interactions between non-genomic and classical TR signaling, Flamant et al. suggested a new classification system with four types of TH signaling based on involvement of TR and extent of interaction with DNA (39). Type I describes TR-dependent signaling with direct binding to DNA and can occur as monomer, homodimer or heterodimer (usually with retinoid X receptor, RXR) binding to response elements, TR binding to enhancer elements, and as a heterodimer with other partners, such as retinoic acid receptors. Type II is TR-dependent signaling with indirect DNA binding, where TRs interact with a number of chromatin-associated proteins. In type III, signaling is TRdependent but no binding to DNA occurs. Interaction of cytoplasmic TR with kinases associated to the plasma membrane is the mechanism, and p30 protein translated from an internal codon of TR α 1 is one example. In type IV signaling of TH no TR are involved and binding of TH to $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin regulates kinases, influences actin polymerization, and allosterically regulates metabolic enzymes.

RELATIONSHIP OF SARS-COV-2 AND THYROID

Influence of COVID-19 on TH Levels

Based on a report of co-morbidities in COVID-19 patients, thyroid dysfunction is not a predisposing parameter for the disease. About 0.5% of the 7,162 patients reported had thyroid disease as a co-morbidity (40), which corresponds to a lower incidence than in the general adult population of the United States of America. Another study reported incidence similar to the general population (41). Both studies concurred that hypothyroidism is not a risk factor associated with worse outcome in COVID-19-positive patients (42) but thyroid disorders were linked to higher mortality of COVID-19 infected patients (43).

A variable percentage of COVID-19 patients was affected by thyroid dysregulation and different pattern of abnormalities were seen (Table 1). It has to be taken into account that not all studies used the same control groups and that the focus of the studies were different. While in one set of studies COVID-19 specific effects on the TH levels should be studied, in others the role of TH levels in the severity of the disease should be identified. In three studies, only a minority of COVID-19 patients presented with abnormal thyroid values (44, 45, 47). Inflammation markers (CRP, erythrocyte sedimentation, lactate dehydrogenase levels) correlated with reduced TSH and fT3 levels. Further, patients with low T3 had a higher risk for deterioration (44). Decreased TSH and T3 levels, isolated decreased TSH levels, decreased TSH and increased T4 levels, and decreased TSH and fT4 were reported. In the studies, where more than one third of COVID-19 patients had abnormal TH levels, decreased TSH and T3 was seen more often than decreased TSH in combination with increased T4 levels. In the group of the severely ill COVID-19 patients TSH and total T3 were reduced and the extent of T3 reduction correlated with the severity of the disease (48). It was further reported that decreases in T3 levels were more

pronounced in the COVID-19 patients than in other critically ill patients. Lower TSH and total T3 levels in COVID-19 patients compared to patients hospitalized for non-COVID-19 pneumonia were also reported in two other studies (49, 51). Decreases in total T3 and TSH levels were correlated to increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-2, IL-6, IL-7, interferon (INF)- γ , and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α . T3 predicted all-cause mortality and IL-6 and C-reactive protein (CRP) were negatively correlated with fT3 levels. TSH and fT3 levels were also significantly decreased in deceased patients compared to recovered patients (52). Of note, differences in T4 levels were not statistically different in these groups. In the study published by Malik et al., by contrast, severely ill COVID-19 patients had increased T4, TSH, IL-6 and procalcitonin levels (50). The preprint evaluated a patient collective, where 85.7% of the controls (hospitalized non-COVID-19 patients) showed abnormal TH levels and where the incidence of hyperthyroidism with 4.5% was considerably higher than in Europe (0.7%) and the United States of America (0.5%). It may be assumed that the reported results from this single center study cannot be generalized.

Different mechanisms have been postulated to explain the observed alterations of TH levels in COVID-19 patients. Elevated IL-6 levels are typical for severe COVID-19 infections, while the concurrent increase in anti-inflammatory IL-10 is interpreted as response to overwhelming systemic inflammation (53). This interleukin has also be identified as key cytokine in NTIS and was identified as strong independent predictors of mortality in NTIS (54). FT3 levels in NTIS patients were negatively correlated to IL-10 levels but not associated with IL-6 levels. There is reason to assume that severely ill COVID-19 patients suffer from NTIS because IL-6 levels, which are generally increased in this condition, were identified as prognostic parameter for severity of COVID-19 infection (55).

The thyroid may, however, also be a target of the virus because expression of angiotensinogen converting enzyme 2

TABLE 1 | Overview of studies on prevalence and relevance of thyroid dysregulation in COVID-19.

•		, , ,		
Number of COVID-19 patients in the study	Patients with abnormal TH values (%)	Focus of the study	Type of alterations in TH levels; control groups	Reference
191	13.1	Specificity of TH level changes for COVID-19	TSH decreased (5.2%); fT3 decreased (5.2%); COVID-19 vs non- COVID-19 hospitalized patients	(44)
334	13.7	Specificity of TH level changes for COVID-19	TSH and fT4 decreased; COVID-19 vs non-COVID-19 hospitalized patients	(45)
52	21	Role of TH levels for the severity of COVID-19	TSH decreased and T4 increased (15%); critically ill COVID-19 vs critically ill non-COVID-19 patients	(46)
60	35	Role of TH levels for the severity of COVID-19	TSH and T3 decreased (18.3%); TSH decreased and T4 increased (9.1%); critically ill vs non-severe COVID-19	(47)
50	58	Specificity of TH level changes for COVID-19	TSH and total T3 decreased and T4 normal; COVID-19 vs non- COVID-19 pneumonia and healthy individuals	(48)
84	61.9	Specificity of TH level changes for COVID-19	TSH and total T3 decreased; COVID-19 vs non-COVID-19 pneumonia and healthy individuals	(49)
48	75	Specificity of TH level changes for COVID-19	TSH and total T4 increased, total T3 decreased; COVID-19 pneumonia vs non-COVID-19 pneumonia	(50)
100	na	Role of TH levels for the severity of COVID-19	TSH and fT3 decreased; critically ill vs to non-severe COVID-19	(51)
113	na	Role of TH levels for the severity of COVID-19	TSH and fT3 decreased: deceased COVID-19 vs survivors	(52)

(ACE2) and the transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPS2) is high (56). To compensate the lack of information about biological effects of SARS-CoV-2, data obtained from the closest related member of this virus family, SARS-CoV, are often used for estimating SARS-CoV-2 effects. Although no virus RNA was found in thyroid tissue, data from five autopsies of SARS-CoV patients showed apoptosis in follicular and interfollicular cells (57). This suggests that destructive thyroiditis may occur in COVID-19 patients. Subacute thyroiditis (SAT) can be caused by viral infections and manifests itself by thyrotoxicosis, followed by hypothyroidism and return to the euthyroid condition (58). The classical form is characterized by painful swelling of the thyroid and this was confirmed in few case reports of COVID-19 patients. Atypical thyroiditis, which does not manifest with pain and swelling, was seen in 15% of COVID-19 patients and could also explain an increase in T4 (46). To reveal a potential effect of the SARS-CoV-2 virus on the thyroid, thyrotoxicosis was evaluated in patients admitted to the high intensive care unit (HICU) in 2019 compared to 2020. In 2020, 15% of the patients had thyrotoxicity compared to 1% in 2019. By contrast, the rate of pre-existing thyroid disorders was lower in 2020 than in 2019, making thyroid disorders as risk factor for severe COVID-19 unlikely. Elevated T4 levels were seen in COVID-19 patients, but not the elevated T3 levels typically seen in viral SAT (46).

In addition to a direct attack on the thyrocytes, the virus may trigger destruction of the thyroid indirectly *via* cytokines (59). The authors observed thyrotoxicosis in 20% of COVID-19 patients admitted to the hospital. These patients presented with low TSH, increased T4 and normal fT3 levels in combination with high IL-6 levels. As has been shown in cancer patients treated with TNF- α and healthy individual after IV injection with IL-6, pro-inflammatory cytokines decrease T3 levels (60). Cellular studies indicated action on various steps of T3 synthesis, TNF- α further decreased synthesis of TSH. Changes of TH levels induced by the cytokines were similar to the pattern seen in NTIS.

Injury of TSH-producing cells of the pituitary gland as reason for the decreased TSH levels is also suspected (48). This theory is supported by the observation that number and intensity of the staining with anti-TSH antibody was decreased in pituitary glands of deceased COVID-19 patients. Decreased TSH levels may result from direct virus attack on TSH-producing cells in the pituitary gland or by action of cytokines (49).

Further explanation for the abnormal TH levels would be treatment with glucocorticoids (48). Glucocorticoids over a wide range of concentrations decrease TSH levels and inhibit the conversion of T4 to T3, while stimulating the conversion of T4 to rT3 (61). The induced pattern resembles NTIS. Since about 50% of COVID-19 patients are treated with glucocorticoids, this effect needs to be taken into account (60).

In summary, NTIS, elevated IL-6 and TNF- α levels, glucocorticoid treatment and hypophysitis may cause a similar pattern of decreased TSH levels, slightly reduced T4 and T3 levels. SAT and atypical thyroiditis, by contrast, would be characterized by transiently elevated T4 and T3 levels. After

recovery normalization of TH levels without treatment has been reported for infections with the SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2, which occurs after both thyroiditis (SAT or atypical) and NTIS (50, 59, 62). The rate of hypothyroidism in 7% of patients after infection with SARS-CoV is in the same order as for SAT (62, 63). Indication of rT3 levels may help in differential diagnosis but this parameter is not routinely being determined.

It should also be mentioned that heparin, a prophylactic anticoagulation for hospitalized COVID-19 patients in hospital, can interfere with the measurement of free TH levels (60). The activity of lipoprotein lipase in blood samples is increased by heparin and non-esterized fatty acids are generated during sample storage. These acids displace T3 and T4 from their binding proteins and cause artificially high levels of the free hormones.

Common Targets of SARS-CoV-2 and TH Effects of SARS-CoV-2

Primary targets of SARS-CoV-2 are pneumocytes, immune cells, and vascular endothelial cells. Although most patients with COVID-19 manifest fever and respiratory tract symptoms, SARS-CoV-2 infection may also cause extra-respiratory symptoms, including cardiac, gastrointestinal, hepatic, renal, neurological, olfactory, gustatory, ocular, cutaneous and haematological system. Independent from the primary manifestation, death is generally associated with elevated levels of cytokines, interleukin IL-6, IL-1, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF-α), and COVID-19associated coagulopathy (CAC) (64). Thrombotic complications were seen in one third of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2. Incidence of venous thromboembolism in COVID-19 patients was high, affecting 69% of patients admitted in the Intense Care Unit (ICU), and much higher than in other patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (53). It is proposed that in the early phase of the disease, hypercoagulation predominates, and anticoagulation e.g. by heparin may be helpful. CAC presents specific differences to common coagulopathies like sepsis-induced coagulopathy and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Typical features of CAC are increased D-dimer levels, elevated inflammatory cytokines but minor changes in prothrombin time (PT), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and platelet count (65). D-dimer elevation was the most common finding and associated with severity and prognosis (66). Incidence of thrombocytopenia was seen only in 11% of SARS-CoV-2 infections and lower than for SARS-CoV infections (53). Blood levels of (vWF) and factors of the complement system are also increased. Increased release of van Willebrand factor (vWF) and FVIII, elevated expression of P-selectin by endothelial cells and damage of the glycocalyx of the endothelial cells has been reported in COVID-19 patients. These findings suggest endothelial dysfunction due to infection of the cells with the virus. Endothelial dysfunction affects regulation of vascular tonus, endothelial permeability, cell adhesion, and anticoagulation. The release of nitric oxide is particularly important for prevention of leukocyte and platelet adhesion, inflammation, migration of immune cells, smooth muscle cell proliferation and suppression of apoptosis.

Effects of TH

Circulating TH levels may improve or worsen the clinical situation based on their action on clotting, endothelial function and immune system. It has been reported that manifest hypothyroidism was linked to bleeding and hyperthyroidism to venous thromboembolism and that fT4 levels were associated with increased FVII, fibrinogen, and vWF levels (67). It is hypothesized that T4 acted by increased transcription of coagulation proteins by activation of TRB. On the other hand correlated fT3 levels with FIX activity, but neither fT4, fT3 nor TSH with fibrinogen, antithrombin III (ATIII), tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA), plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) or vWF (68). The association of hyperthyroidism with hypercoagulable states and moderate-to-severe hypothyroidism with hypocoagulable states appear to be caused by the respective fT4 levels and not associated with fT3 levels (69). Blood clots formed in hyperthyroid individuals showed a much denser fibrin network and were more resistant to fibrinolysis (70).

Increased rT3 levels found in NTIS, on the other hand, may promote hypocoagulable states in the patients because rT3 inhibits collagen-induced platelet aggregation. T4, on the other hand, promotes platelet aggregation and degranulation, and T3 appears to cause no effects in platelets (71). The lack of action of T3 on platelets can be explained by the fact that platelets are anucleate and do not have nuclear receptor proteins. Expression of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin on platelets is lower than that of other integrins, and T4, in addition to $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin binding, may support pathologic platelet aggregation by regulation of CX3CL1 (Fractalkine) (71, 72). Fractalkine induces platelet adherence to collagen.

TH can further increase the interaction of platelets and endothelium through the $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin-adjacent receptor VEGF, increasing angiogenesis (70). Potential mechanisms include increased amount of CD31 (PECAM-1) or increased αvβ3 integrin/PECAM-1 binding. Oral addition of L-T4 to euthyroid individuals resulted in elevated expression of several coagulation proteins. TH status appears to play a role for the development of atherosclerosis, and subclinical hypothyroidism was found to be correlated with endothelial dysfunction, where increased TSH levels were hypothesized as mechanism of action (73). Application of L-T4 to women with subclinical hypothyroidism did not reduce intima-media thickness (74). L-T3, on the other hand, induced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in human umbilical vein endothelial cells in the presence of IL-1 β and acted vasoprotective in hypertensive rats by reducing ROS levels (75, 76). The proposed mechanism here is T3 binding to integrin 0xb3 followed by PI3K/Akt signaling and increased eNOS production (77).

The importance of T3 and T4 levels and the T3/T4 ratio in the euthyroid condition for the immune system has been studied by Hodkinson et al. (78). Higher T3 levels were associated with higher complement levels, increased phagocytic activity of monocytes, elevated natural killer (NK) cell counts, higher percentage expression of IL-6, and higher monocyte counts. Higher T4 levels were correlated to higher complement C3 and C4, C-reactive protein concentrations, neutrophil counts, and percentage expression of T memory cells (78). In combination with

other studies, the following differences between T3 and T4 were identified. T3 in physiological concentrations increased NK cell activity and interferon (IFN)-γ responses on NK activity. Further, T3 stimulated maturation, functional activation, viability, and antigen cross presentation-allostimulatory capacity boosting antigen-specific cytotoxic T cell responses of dendritic cells (DCs) (79). T4 was unable to induce effects in DCs because only T3 was taken up by the cells. Similarly, NK cell activity was not increased, when T4 was applied to isolated lymphocytes. T4, 3,5-T2, and T3 increased respiratory burst activity, reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels, myeloperoxidase and NADPH oxidase activity of neutrophilic granulocytes, as well as ROS levels and phagocytosis of macrophages. Bacterial killing and pro-inflammatory response may be increased or decreased. In addition, T4 inhibited secretion of migration inhibitory factor (MIF) by macrophages, while no changes in IL-6 and TNF- α levels were detected. T4 increases expression of VEGF, ICAM-1, E-selectin, IL-6, and TNF- α in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) (80). It is suggested that inhibition of IL-6 signaling induced by T3 has potent regulatory functions during infection and inflammation, and decreased intracellular concentrations of T3 resulted in impaired polarization of macrophages into pro-inflammatory M1 type (81, 82). T3 stimulates immune reactions via action on lymphocytes and monocytes and supraphysiological levels of T3 decreased replication of vesicular stomatitis virus (83) and supplementation with T3 increased the number of resident (potentially beneficial) peritoneal macrophages in mice with endotoxemia (84). TRB1 was identified as the major player mediating T3 effects on macrophages. Decreased T3 levels in NTIS most likely impair immune cell function, particularly action of the specific immune system leading to insufficient protection against pathogens, e.g. viruses. Predictive data on the reaction of the human immune system in vivo are difficult to obtain because evaluation in vitro cannot represent its complexity and speciesspecificity of the immune system limits the value of animal studies.

BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS OF METABOLISATION PRODUCTS OF TH

Detection of Metabolisation Products

In addition to T4 and T3, various TH metabolites circulate in blood, some of which mediate biological effects. Exact levels are not known due to cross-reactivity of TH metabolites in conventional immunoassays, and it is also clear that metabolites found in plasma do not reflect tissue concentrations (85). Uncertainties of exact levels are not restricted to TH metabolites but exist also for T3, fT4 and fT3 levels. Liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) is the reference method for exact TH quantification but shows a general trend for overestimation, particularly of free TH (86). Based on LC-MS/ MS data, 48% percent of patients were classified as hypothyroid compared to 11% by immunoassay. In another study, in a cohort of 40 patients diagnosed with subclinical hypothyroidism (normal fT4 and increased TSH levels in conventional immunoassay), 65% had fT4 and fT3 levels below the reference level. A major reason for the better performance of LC-MS/MS in the determination of fT4 and fT3 is the removal of TH binding proteins during sample preparation.

Important TH metabolites that circulate in blood include the iodinated derivates of the phenolic amino acid thyronine similar to T4 and T3, namely reverse T3 (rT3), 3,3'-diiodothyronine (3,3'-T2), and 3,5 – diiodothyronine (3,5-T2), but also tetraiodoacetic acid (Tetrac), triiodoacetic acid (Triac), 3-iodothyronamine (3-T1AM), thyronamine (T0AM), and the conjugated TH metabolites, TH sulfate, and glucuronide. T4 deiodination leads to rT3, and T4, T3, and rT3 deiodination to 3,3'-T2 and 3,5-T2, respectively. 3-T1AM and T0AM are formed by T4 and T3 deiodination and amino acid decarboxylation (**Figure 3**). Tetrac and Triac are produced by oxidative deamination and decarboxylation of T4 and T3.

Reverse T3

The role of rT3 is receiving increasing interest because high levels are seen in NTIS, in contrast to low T3 and T4 levels. The TH

metabolite is also increased in starvation, surgery, bone marrow transplantation, heart attack, coronary bypass grafting, and chronic dieting (87). Centenarians exhibit significantly lower TSH levels together with slightly higher rT3 levels than aged controls (7). rT3 binds to TBG with 40% higher affinity than T4. Also TTR and albumin plus several other serum proteins, in particular high density lipoproteins bind rT3 but contribution to overall transport is minimal.

Upon binding of rT3 to D1 or D2, biologically inactive 3,3-T2 is formed. Drugs like dexamethasone, propyl thiouracil, iopanic acid and sodium ipodate, amiodarone, and propranolol decrease T3 and increase rT3 levels (25) rT3 influences various cellular events, e.g. mitosis, cell migration and invasion, by conversion of soluble actin to fibrous actin. rT3 has a role in glial-mediated neuronal guidance during mammalian brain development but when rT3 is lacking, no prominent symptoms arise (85). Increases in rT3 are seen in physiological and pathological conditions. Serum T3 was significantly lower and serum rT3 significantly higher in diabetic patients prior to treatment as



compared to normal subjects (88). Both T3 and rT3 normalized in 20 patients studied when adequate metabolic control was achieved as reflected by normalization of HbA1. Increased levels of rT3 also occurred in patients with myocardial infarction, hepatitis, or hepatic cirrhosis (89). On the other hand, insulin resistance was linked to an increased T3/rT3 ratio (90). All data suggest that the T3/rT3 ratio is decreased when metabolism is dysregulated, a notion supported by the finding that stress (induced by sleep deprivation, cold exposure, examination) and elevated cortisol levels (even if still in the normal range) are linked to raised rT3 levels (25). It appears that a rise in rT3 indicates shortterm changes in metabolism rather than being a marker for chronic alterations because after 3 weeks of caloric restriction, T4 and rT3 levels returned to normal. The theory of rT3 being a marker for acute metabolic dysregulation is also compatible with the observed decrease in rT3 in hibernating bears. In this physiological long-term state, the bears showed a hypothyroid condition with decreased rT3 levels (91). Species-specificity, on the other hand, could also be the reason for the different reaction.

According to a generally accepted hypothesis, rT3 levels increase in specific conditions to conserve energy and to protect cells against insufficient T4, which could be converted to T3. rT3 is hypothesized to act as an energy-saving mechanism and as compensation for the decreased T3 levels (92). Upon dieting, T3 levels can decrease to 50% and after prolonged dieting not return to normal levels upon normal food intake. Conversely, in alternative day fasting normal T3 and rT3 levels are restored after a meal (93). During starvation more than the normal rate of 40% of T4 is converted to rT3 and less than the normal 60% to T3 with the effect of a changed rT3/T3 ratio. Increase of rT3 levels in dieting is mainly due to decreased elimination of rT3 during fasting, while decrease of rT3 after re-feeding is caused by decreased production. D1 was more sensitive to starvation than D2 and D3, which is consistent with the finding that changes in T3 affect mainly peripheral tissues, not the brain. This regulation serves the purpose of maintaining function of the central nervous system. Carbohydrate levels are important regulators in rT3 and T3 levels in low caloric intake between 360-1200 cal/day (94).

The most dramatic manifestation, where increased rT3 levels are seen, is NTIS. Also in this situation, the changes are interpreted as protection mechanism to reduce energy expenditure that does not require treatment, while other groups recommend treatment with thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), TSH, or T3 and T4. In patients with NTIS, half-life of rT3 was short (3h) and levels mainly influenced by liver deiodinases (95). Davis et al. do not exclude the possibility that increased rT3 levels in NTIS contribute to hypercoagulation because rT3 acts similar to T4 on $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin (96). rT3 levels were negatively correlated to D1 in liver and positively to D3 in liver and muscle. The proposed mechanism of decreased action of D1 is downregulation by inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , interferon a, and IL-6. IL-6 plays a key role in the regulation of TH levels by acting on central and peripheral levels (Figure 4). IL-6 is increased in NTIS and levels inversely correlated (r=0.56) with T3 levels and positively correlated (r=0.78) with rT3 levels (97). Low T3 and T4 levels are detected extremely frequently in patients in intensive care, namely in 70% and 50%, respectively. Processes contributing to the findings in NTIS include IL-6 induced decrease of TBG and TTR, decreased T4/T3 tissue uptake, increased or unchanged transporter expression, decreased D1 and increased D3 expression in liver and increased D2 in muscle (98). Changes in acute and prolonged disease differ in the way that pulsatile TSH surge is present, TRH mRNA and T4 levels normal, T3 low and rT3 elevated in the acute, while TSH surge is absent, TRH mRNA and T4 levels low, T3 very low, and rT3 normal in chronic NTIS.

Circulating rT3 levels are also increased in cancer patients (96). rT3 increases proliferation of cancer cells *via* $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin signaling, which is highly expressed in such cells. It is supposed that cancer cells use this metabolite for proliferation instead of T3, which at physiological concentrations does not promote proliferation. This is in line with the finding that suppression of TH synthesis by methimazole and substitution by T3 in terminal patients induced stabilization or regression of the disease (71). Another, very rare, manifestation of increased rT3 levels is consumptive hypothyroidism seen in hemangioma (99).

3,5 Diiodothyronine (3,5-T2)

Of the several diiodothyronines, biological effects have been identified for 3,5-T2, while other diiodothyronines have higher serum levels (3,3'-T2: 1-8 ng/dl; 3',5'-T2: 1.5-9 ng/dl) but no effect on metabolism (100). 3,5-T2 has blood levels of 0.2-0.75 ng/dl and low binding to TBG (101). Other studies reported up to 15 ng/dL, and blood levels have to be interpreted with caution because interference between diiodothyronines and T3 occurs (85). Inter-individual differences in 3,5-T2 levels have been reported, which are not linked to T3 levels. In NTIS, 3,5-T2 correlated with rT3 and may result from either increased production from T3 or decreased degradation. The 3,5-T2 levels increased by 30% in NTIS and may be seen as a balance to the increased rT3, that has opposite effects on metabolism (102). It is assumed that increased 3,5-T2 levels in otherwise healthy individuals may be an indication of an underlying disease. 3,5-T2 can bind to the T3 receptor and induce TSH suppression and alter expression of classical T3-regulated genes in liver and other tissues. 3,5-T2 increases mitochondrial oxygen consumption in rats rapidly (103). Increased 3,5-T2 levels in disease have been interpreted as compensation for low cellular T3 levels (104). Survival in chronically cold-exposed animals is improved due to activation of thermogenesis, stimulation of βoxidation, and up-regulation of F(0)-F(1)-ATP synthase. In HepG2 hepatocytes, 3,5-T2 blocked proteolytic cleavage of SREBP 1, which resulted in decreased fatty acid synthase expression. Administration to humans rapidly increases resting metabolic rate. Upon chronic administration (28 d) body weight decreased and metabolic rate increased in a study of just two participants. Although T3- and 3,5-T2-induced effects are inhibited by propranolol, application of deiodinases did not influence the effects and these were more rapid than T3-induced events, suggesting independent mechanisms of T3 and 3,5-T2 actions. T3 stimulates fatty acid synthesis (FAS, fatty acid synthase) and β-oxidation (ACC, acetyl-CoA carboxylase) while 3,5-T2 stimulates only β -oxidation (105). Decrease of FAS is regulated by SREBP-1 at the non-genomic level.



FIGURE 4 | Effects of interleukin (IL)-6 on cellular thyroid hormone levels. The inflammatory cytokine acts on hypothalamus and pituitary gland of the brain, on levels of free hormones, on transporters, and on cellular deiodinases. Indoxyl sulfate is a metabolite of tryptophan that accumulates in kidney damage. NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids; TBG, thyroxine binding globulin; TRH, thyrotropin releasing hormone; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; TTR, transthyretin.

3,5-T2 stimulated mitochondrial oxidative metabolism of fatty acids and reduced SREBP-1. The latter effect was linked to the proapoptotic effects of T2, suggesting potential application as an anticancer agent. Other effects of 3,5-T2 include activation of protein kinases Akt, p38, PKC- δ , ERK, ATP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and silent mating-type information regulation 2 homolog (sirtuin, SIRT)1, a nuclear deacetylase that enhances mitochondrial activity.

Thyronamines

Thyronamines are decarboxylated and deiodinated metabolites of thyroid hormones with 3-iodothyronamine (3-T1AM) and thyronamine (T0AM) as the most important representatives in humans. Blood levels are 0.6-2.3 ng/dl but intracellular levels can be 20 times higher than T3 and twice as high as T4 (106). 3-T1AM is produced by ornithine carboxylase and is very stable. It is observed up to 6 days after oral application of L-T4. 3-T1AM accumulates in skeletal muscle, myocardium>liver>adipose tissue. 3-T1AM and T0AM differ from T3 and T4 regarding their effects and their binding to serum proteins in the way that the highly lipophilic molecules are transported by apolipoprotein B100 instead of the common TH distributor proteins. As a general rule, the action of 3'3,5-T3 is roughly equal to 3,5-T2, while T1AM acts as an antagonist.

T3 has a stronger action on body temperature and insulin secretion than 3,5-T2, while the opposite applies to insulin sensitivity, heart rate and contractility (107). Upon activation of 3-T1AM, metabolic rate decreased and metabolism was shifted from carbohydrate to lipid with elevated H_2O_2 production. Sirtuin increased expression of SIRT4 and SIRT6-dependent genes. 3-T1AM activates trace amine-associated receptor 1 (TAAR 1), adrenergic receptors, and serotonin 1 β receptors and reduces metabolic rate and increases lipid utilization, resembling the pattern of sleep or hibernation. 3-T1AM has also neuromodulatory effects, which are, according to animal experiments, partly mediated by inhibition of dopamine and norepinephrine reuptake and transport into synaptic vesicles. 3-T1AM and T0AM cause similar effects (e.g. hypothermia, negative chronotropy, reduction of respiratory coefficient). More details are given by Köhrle (85).

Thyroacetic Acids (Tetraiodoacetic and Triiodoacetic Acid)

Thyroacetic acids circulate at relatively high levels in blood and are formed by desamination of iodothyronines. Tetraiodoacetic acid (Tetrac) is a physiological metabolite of T4, a ligand of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin, and a precursor of triiodoacetic acid (Triac). Levels are increased upon fasting as with T3 and appear to serve the same

purpose, i.e. the shunting away of T4 from T3 (108). Half-lives of Triac at 6h and Tetrac at 3-4d are related to the half-lives of T4 (7d) and T3 (1d), respectively. Deiodinases D1 and D2 can convert Tetrac to Triac, and D1 and D3 can deiodinate Triac with higher affinity than T3. The hydrophilic molecules have little binding to the distributor proteins, and are transported exclusively by TTR. Cellular uptake of Triac takes place by tissue-specific transporters different from MCT8, MCT10 and OATP. Triac is excreted in the urine after conjugation to glucuronic acid. Tetrac and Triac are much better substrates for glucuronidation than T4 and T3 and are, as sulfates and glucuronates, better substrates for deiodination in liver and kidney than T3 and T4 (109).

Tetrac blocks T4 at the binding site of the $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin and acts via MAPK/ERK signaling in competition with T4. The binding disrupts cross-talk with adjacent growth factor receptors like VEGF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and EGF (110). Tetrac appears to be able to disrupt this cross-talk and through this mechanism block migration, angiogenesis and tissue invasion of cancer cells (111). Tetrac can also lower DNA repair, drug resistance and radioresistance by blocking P-glycoprotein (P-gp) and multidrug resistance protein (MRP). By its action on the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, the pH shifts away from the optimum of the P-gp pump and the intracellular pH becomes more acidic. In cancer cells with inherent radioresistance due to changed conformation of the receptor, Tetrac can reduce the effect (96). In addition to prevention of angioneogenesis in cancer, Tetrac can reduce fibrosis in hepatic fibroblasts (35). The increased Tetrac levels in patients with Graves' disease have to be discussed in the light of the greater risk of these patients for cancer (112) and the promoting effect of hyperthyroidism on cancer progression (36, 113). It may be speculated that conversion of T4 to Tetrac in cancer patients is lower than the 20% reported in normal individuals (114). In this way the effects of the other TH may outbalance the anti-tumor effects of Tetrac.

Similar to rT3, Triac levels are increased in fasting and in NTIS. However, in contrast to rT3, Triac acts as a thyromimetic, affecting the liver, adipose tissue, bone, and brain but not the heart. Triac binds to TR α 1 with similar binding affinity as T3 and to TR β with six-fold higher affinity but has limited potency due to its short half-life (115). Triac causes pituitary suppression of TSH, and effects on bone, kidney, liver and body weight similar to T3. Triac has suppressive function on TSH and decreases leptin secretion by adipocytes in this condition. This is surprising because, when blood T3 levels are low, increased TSH is expected. Triac is special because the metabolite acts as a thyromimetic in hypothyroid conditions and increases metabolism. In the euthyroid condition, metabolic rate is reduced. The applied doses were 4-30 times lower than L-T4 and 15-100 times lower than L-T3 but much higher than needed for TSH suppression.

MEDICAL USES OF IODOTHYRONINES, THYROAMINES, AND IODOACETATES

Medical uses may consist in functioning as biomarkers or as candidates for treatment.

Use of L-T4 and L-T3

Thyroxine (T4) is one of the top 10 medically-prescribed drugs worldwide, with the most common indication being hypothyroidism. At first glance, supplementation of TH appears less challenging than application of insulin in diabetes mellitus, where food intake, physical activity and stress change hormone requirement (116). Levels of T3 have a diurnal rhythm with peak round 4 am and a nadir between 3-5 pm but actual differences in T3 are low (117). T4 levels are constant mainly due to the long half-life of T4 of about 7 days, which eliminates the need to adapt for circadian changes. On the other hand, identification of the ideal personalized dose may pose problems. Requirements of L-T4 appear to be influenced by residual thyroid function because the small amounts of co-secreted T3 upon normal T4 secretion have regulatory function on the HPT axis (118).

Doses for L-T4 supplementation can be calculated based on body weight or body mass index (BMI) with and without inclusion of additional factors (e.g. patient sex). Generally, both a TSH-based estimate and a body weight-based estimate yield similar initial estimates of dose requirement (119). Type of formulation, comedication (iron, calcium carbonate, -citrate, -acetate, vitamin C, phenytoin, rifampin) and nutrients (soja products, milk, coffee, grape fruit, papaya), co-existing conditions (pregnancy, renal failure, hepatic disease), deiodinase expression and peripheral conversion, dosing (lean/obese), drug distribution (circulation, plasma proteins), drug absorption (food intake, timing gastrointestinal tract motility), patient compliance, co-morbidities (malabsorption, surgery), and disease stage (stable, progressing, residual thyroid tissue) cause variable TH levels upon administration of the same amount of L-T4 (120). Conversely, chronic conditions like diabetes mellitus, cardiac disease, hepatic disease, osteoporosis do not have a pronounced influence on L-T4 requirement. Some general rules, the reduced requirement of aged individuals and postmenopausal women should also be taken into account. A list of medical conditions, food ingredients, and drugs that interfere with L-T4 supplementation is available elsewhere (121). If patients complain of hypothyroid symptoms despite L-T4 therapy, a panel of other diseases, which could cause symptoms similar to TH deficiency, has to be excluded. These conditions include: diabetes mellitus, adrenal insufficiency, hypopituitarism, celiac disease, pernicious anemia, anemia, multiple myeloma, chronic kidney damage, chronic liver disease, and congestive heart failure (117). Similarly, B12 deficiency, folate, vitamin D, and iron deficiency, obesity, hypercalcemia, electrolyte imbalance, treatment with β -blockers, statins and opiates, stress, lack of sleep, alcohol excess, sleep apnea, chronic fatigue syndrome, copoisoning, depression, polymyalgia rheumatica, and fibromyalgia can mimic inadequate L-T4 supplementation. Reasons for insufficient treatment like lack of compliance or change of L-T4 formulation should also be considered. The different existing formulations were regarded as bioequivalent and products, in theory, should be interchangeable (122). Bioequivalence of two products means that 90% confidence interval of the ratio of the logtransformed exposure measure, area under the curve (AUC) and maximal plasma concentration (Cmax), falls within 80-125%. The method is not undisputed because only T4 levels are used for the

evaluation and conventional immunoassays may overestimate TH levels. Furthermore, the method cannot distinguish dose differences of up to 33% (e.g. 400 vs 600 µg) and doses that differ by 12.5% (400 vs 450 µg). There is uncertainty if products are really bioequivalent and, therefore, change between products is not recommended because changes of 12.5 µg may have dramatic effects on a drug like L-T4, which has a narrow therapeutic window. In gastrointestinal diseases such as celiac disease, gastritis, or lactose intolerance, that decrease absorbance, liquid formulations may work better than tablets. However, even when euthyroidism according to standard readout parameters for TSH and fT4 is achieved, ~15% of patients experience some level of psychological impairment. These patients express the wish for alternative treatment, often the combination of L-T4 with L-T3 or the prescription of desiccated porcine thyroids. The D-enantiomer of L-T4 dextrothyroxine (D-T4) has been tested in clinical trials for its antihyperlipidemic effects. Although D-T4 lowered serum cholesterol in the Coronary Drug Project (1966 and 1975), groups were discontinued early because of increased mortality, probably due to tachycardia (123).

The question whether combined L-T3 + L-T4 supplementation is superior to L-T4 monotherapy has been under debate for many years and numerous reviews have been dedicated to this question (e.g (4, 124, 125).). Patients under replacement therapy have lower T3 and higher T4 levels compared to control individuals. When L-T4 was dosed to reach T3 levels of the controls, TSH was lowered or suppressed (126). Only the combination of L-T3 + L-T4 normalized TSH, serum and tissue T4 and T3 concentrations. In another study including patients with elective total thyroidectomy, L-T4 monotherapy was able to bring serum T3 back to the same presurgical levels without suppressing TSH but with elevated fT4 levels. Also better quality of life under combination therapy compared to L-T4 monotherapy has been reported (127). Improved effects by L-T3 + L-T4 combination may be explained by placebo effects, differential signaling in neurons and positive effects by action on serotonin and catecholamines (120). A systematic review of ten randomized controlled trials comparing combination therapy vs monotherapy found no statistically significant differences in biochemical markers, mood states, and adverse effects. Commercially available products like Armour Thyroid, Nature-Throid, Bio-Throid, WP-Thyroid, Westhiod, and NP-Throid consist of desiccated porcine thyroid extracts. Although containing both TH may be advantageous, one major criticism is the species-specific relation of T4:T3, of 4:1 in pigs and 14:1 in humans. Combination therapy may only be adequate in patients bearing the Thr92Ala D2 (rs225014) polymorphism. This genetic polymorphism may affect half-life of the protein and could hypothetically disrupt TH signaling in D2-expressing tissues. Nevertheless, human studies, so far, did not find lower TSH levels, changes in fT4 and fT3, metabolic syndrome etc. in carriers of this polymorphism (119). Patients with MCT10 (rs17606253) polymorphism, on the other hand, preferred the combination therapy to L-T4 monotherapy (128). This led to the recommendation to restrict the combination therapy to populations with such polymorphisms. T3 supplementation is adequate for patients with TR mutations, where TR β mutation hyperthyroid symptoms are frequent upon L-T4 therapy. They manifest as tachycardia because heart effects are dominated by TR α signaling and when the L-T4 dose, which is adjusted to the dysfunctional TR β is too high (129). In patients with TR α mutations, low T4/T3 ratio is typical and symptoms of hypothyroidism with variable manifestations are seen. The consensus report on evidence-based use of L-T3/L-T4 combinations in treating hypothyroidism reported that there is dissatisfaction with the existing standard of care and that "a new well-designed adequately powered clinical trial of combination therapy" is needed because not all studies met the current standard requirements (130).

Treatment of heart diseases may be another indication for use of TH. This may appear surprising as arrhythmia and mortality are linked to overdoses of L-T4. However, in heart disease, tissue levels of deiodinases are altered and less T3 is being produced. In hypothyroidism MCT10 expression in the heart is increased and deiodinase expression thus changed to produce more T3. The opposite is observed in hyperthyroidism showing that the heart is capable to adapt to abnormal TH levels. A combination of L-T4 + L-T3 is suggested because supplementation with either of the TH alone did not restore T3 in rats (131). L-T3 alone has positive effects in myocardial infarction and protects hypothyroid rats against arrhythmia. L-T3 and L-T4 showed beneficial effects in patients with heart failure (132). Small clinical trials reported promising effects of L-T3 administration in patients with acute myocardial infarction, cardiac surgery and transplantation.

TH interact with catecholamines (epinephrine and norepinephrine) in that infusion of T3 before trauma in pigs increased epinephrine levels and decreased T3 and T4 levels (133). The resultant hypothyroid state decreased responsiveness to α - and β -adrenergic agonists. Similar effects occur also during brain death and provide the theoretical basis for the use of TH in preparation of organ transplantation. It is assumed that loss of TH, cortisol, antidiuretic hormone (ADH) and insulin leads to reduction in perfusion, inhibition of mitochondrial function and organ failure. Therefore, the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) Critical Pathway for the Organ Donor recommends hormone replacement with TH, vasopressin, methylprednisolone and insulin; both L-T3 and L-T4 may be used. According to a large retrospective analysis L-T3 or L-T4 therapy produced more transplantable hearts, lungs, kidneys, pancreases, and intestines, while the number of transplantable livers was not increased (134). Positive effects include increased chronotropy and upregulation of ATPase-rich α heavy chain isoenzyme that results in increased inotropy. In combination with the increased smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilation, diastolic pressure is lowered and resistance to left ventricular ejection reduced (135). In general, disparate results were reported for heart transplantation. The studies differed in the use of TH (either alone or in combination with other hormonal therapies) in methodology and biological readouts. For instance, donor administration of L-T4 improved survival of the graft recipient. The recipients who received L-T4 prior to the transplantation had a survival advantage over those who did not and results were better when L-T4 was applied to the donor before the declaration of brain death (136). Early L-T4 therapy was

associated with an increase in solid organ procurement rate with odds ratio of 1.9 (137).

Application of L-T3 alone is commonly restricted to specific situations such as preparation of patients with advanced thyroid cancer for nuclear imaging, for primary ablation or whole body scan, if recombinant TSH is not available. Further, clinical data indicate that application of L-T3 to patients in the terminal phase of lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, mesothelioma, soft tissue cancer, and glioblastoma can prolong survival (138). The interventional lowering of fT4 by application of L-T3 alone or in combination with methimazole is better tolerated than withdrawal of TH by methimazole alone. Twenty percent of the patients exceeded the 20% expected 1-year survival upon L-T3 treatment (139). The reported prolongation of survival may be caused by reduction of the promoting effects of T4 on tumor proliferation, coagulation, and angiogenesis. Additional indications appear possible as L-T3 in septic rats prevented the consumption of coagulation inhibitors like ATIII (140).

Efficacy of L-T3 in critically ill COVID-19 patients is under investigation. A phase II clinical trial (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04348513) including patients diagnosed with pulmonary infection due to COVID-19 in intensive care requiring mechanical respiratory support was started. The trial will study the effect of intravenous high dose L-T3 for enhancing recovery of critically ill COVID-19 patients. In this trial, T3 treatment is started with a bolus injection, followed by maintenance dose of 0.113 g/kg/h for 38h and 0.057 g/kg/h for up to 30d (141). Successful weaning from ventilation was defined as primary outcome. The treatment was initiated under the assumption that thyroid dysregulation in severely ill COVID-19 patients shows the pattern of NTIS. Although a correlation between low T3 and diseases severity has been established, replacement with TH in NTIS in general is not suggested (142). Application of L-T3, instead of L-T4, was chosen based on the following findings; i) T3, in contrast to T4, does not induce hypercoagulation (71), ii) T3 stimulates secretion of the anti-inflammatory IL-10 and strengthens specific immune response by action on DCs (79), and iii) T3 prevents action of T4 on integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$. T4 may be facilitating virus uptake because it increases expression of the genes for the specific integrin monomers αv and $\beta 3$ and increases internalization of the integrin (143). In other words, fT4, in contrast to T3, may increase the number of binding sites for the virus on the target cell surface. Finally, endothelial dysfunction, induced by increased TSH level, may improve because high T3/T4 levels will reduce TSH secretion of the anterior pituitary gland (144). In the light of later studies, which reported heterogenous pattern of thyroid dysfunction with decreased TSH levels in combination with decreased T3 or increased T4 levels (Table 1), systemic administration of L-T3 appears debatable. The differentiation between decreased TSH values as indication for NTIS in prolonged disease or as thyrotoxicosis is very important because 32% of thyrotoxic COVID-19 patients developed atrial fibrillation (59). Atrial fibrillation is not typical for viral SAT but one of the most common arrhythmias caused by SARS-CoV-2induced myocardial injury (58). It was hypothesized that the

SARS-CoV-2 virus showed specific cardiotoxicity but a more recent study suggests that patients with pre-existing heart disease may be more likely to contract the disease (145). In hyperthyroidism, T3 more than T4, may cause atrial fibrillation (146). It is, therefore, possible that a combination of L-T3 administration and COVID-19 induced myocardial damage leads to an increase in adverse cardiac effects. The determination of physiological parameters and troponin I levels performed in the NCT04348513 trial are suitable to identify such effects. Another phase II trial will study effects of locally administered T3 to reduce pulmonary edema in COVID-19 pneumonia (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04725110), based on beneficial effects of intratracheally administered modified Triostat® (liothyronine) to rats on alveolar fluid clearance (147). Primary outcome is the change of the extravascular lung water index. Kidney function (glomerular filtration rate and creatinine levels) but not cardiac function will be monitored. Although local action on the Na/K ATPase to stimulate alveolar clearance is the primary mode of action (148), the lipophilic molecule can also cross the alveolar barriers and reach the systemic circulation, resulting in increases of circulating T3 levels.

L-T3 is more difficult to dose correctly than L-T4 because absorption is fast and half-life is short. Absorption leads to 40% increase in T3 blood levels, which is markedly higher than the normal daily fluctuation of 5-10%. The high T3 levels represent a risk factor for cardiovascular events and hip fractures (149). Slow release formulations, such as metal coordinated poly-zincliothyonine, may be a solution because stable levels of circulating T3 were obtained in rats. T3 from the poly-zinc complex is slowly absorbed. Over a time span of 8 days levels gradually increased but were still in the reference range. Alternatively, T3 sulfate may be applied, which has to be activated in the liver. Oral administration of T3 as sulphate may also be an option because endogenous desulphatases can slowly produce T3 (150).

Adequate supplementation with L-T4 is monitored by levels of TSH, fT4, fT3 and fT4/fT3 ratio. It is agreed that fT3 is a much better biochemical marker for euthyroidism than TSH but determination of fT3 levels is often inaccurate (118). A recent meta-analysis reported that fT4 levels were better correlated to clinical symptoms than TSH levels (151). There is no general recommendation by the European Thyroid Association to determine rT3 levels, except in infantile hepatic hemangiomatosis (IHH). This condition is also termed consumptive hypothyroidism and has to be differentiated from congenital hypothyroidism because treatments differ (152). Consumptive hypothyroidism in adults due to hemangioma or hemangioendothelioma has only been reported in a few case studies (99). Although both diseases need supplementation with TH, patients with IHH receive 22-70 µg/kg/day L-T4 or L-T3 compared to 5-10 µg/kg/day L-T4 or L-T3 in congenital hypothyroidism. For combinations of L-T4 and L-T3, lower doses may be required (153). The reason for the thigh doses in IHH is the high expression of D3 in the hemangioma tissue. It has been postulated that IHH may originate from placental angioblasts and arise from embolization of placental endothelial cells. The liver carries the highest risk for hemangioma development as it is the first

organ to be perfused with the incoming blood from the placenta (154).

Use of 3,5 T2

3,5 T2 is an interesting candidate as hypolipidemic drug and for cancer therapy. 3,5-T2 has a suitable action profile for targeting steatosis because it acts independently of T3. Anti-steatotic effects of T3 and 3,5-T2 are caused via different mechanisms. 3,5-T2 decreases lipogenesis and increases β-oxidation, while T3 only increases β -oxidation. TSH suppression and cardiac effects were observed. In summary, studies differed in dosage of 3,5 T2 (10-100 µg/kg), treatment regime (single versus chronic) and application route (sc or ip). High fat-induced obesity with coadministration or treatment with 3,5-T2 did not show antisteatotic effects in all studies (155). Accumulation of 3,5-T2 in the liver was seen only upon application of this molecule, while no accumulation of 3,5-T2 was observed when T3 was applied. The effect was specific for hepatocytes and did not occur in cardiomyocytes. 3,5-T2 increased glucose consumption but did not increase inotropy and chronotropy. In skeletal muscle ATP kinase activation and increased GLUT4 expression induced a switch from fast-twitch (white fibres) to slow-twitch (red fibres) typical for glycolytic phenotype. In animal studies no clear evidence was obtained that the anti-steatotic effects occur at concentrations that do not suppress the HPT-axis or cause adverse effects on the heart. Similarly, in a 4-week trial with the 3,5-T2-mimetic analogue TRC-150094 no increase in insulin sensitivity, decrease of fatty acids in serum or in intrahepatic triglycerides was observed (156). Based on this data the use of 3,5-T2 for treatment of metabolic syndrome and for reduction of body weight is discouraged. This applies also for use outside of the medical setting, where individuals who wish to lose weight or boost their energy use 3,5-T2 as a dietary supplement. These over-the-counter products contain variable (50-300 µg/pill) and often not stated amounts of 3,5-T2 (157).

Other molecules having the same profile as 3,5-T2 have been designed to act preferentially on $TR\beta$ receptors, expressed in liver and brain, and to avoid cardiac adverse effects induced by binding to TRa. Some of these molecules were designed based on the finding that the binding pocket of TR β is more flexible than that of TR α (32). GC-1 (sobetirome) and KB-2115 (eprotirome) had a 10- and 20-fold higher TR β /TR α ratio than T3, respectively. KB07811 (VK2809) is a prodrug converted to the active compound in the liver, and MGL-3196 (resmetirom) has a 30-fold higher TR β /TR α ratio than T3. Studies for the indication of hypercholesterolemia were successful but stopped because unexpected cartilage defects in canine bones were seen in preclinical testing (158). For application in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, however, MGL-3196 has been tested in clinical trials (159), and results are encouraging. Similarly, also VK2809 reduced liver fat content in clinical trials. Another indication for sobetirome is treatment of X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy (ALD), where the protocol of the planned clinical trial is currently being revised (32). The disease is caused by mutation of very long fatty acid transporters located in the peroxisomal membrane encoded by the ABCD1 gene.

Use of Thyroamines

3-T1AM has several biological effects in animals, where it increases plasma glucose, induces carbohydrate oxidation, gluconeogenesis, ketogenesis and decreases body weight in obese mice (160). In addition to the endocrine effects, 3-T1AM favors learning in animals by action on TAAR1 (161). The molecule, however, has a very short half-life because sulfatation and glucuronidation are so fast that very frequent doses are needed to obtain the desired effect. By its negatively inotropic and chronotropic action it can prevent myocardial lesions caused by ischemia. It binds to transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily melastatin member (TRMP) 8 that blunts function of the Ca-channel Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid (TRPV4) expressed by tumor cells and activated by heat, capsaicin, binding of growth factors and cytokine secretion. Hypothermic effects, modulation of glucose and insulin secretion, and cardiac effects suggest potential application in myocardial infarction and brain ischemia (85). Effects of 3-T1AM on feeding behaviour, learning, anti-amnestic response, protection against β -amyloid toxicity, and anticonvulsant effects, observed in rodents, present interesting applications but have not been studied in humans so far (32).

Use of Thyroacetic Acids

The two thyroacetic acids differ markedly in their action, Triac as a thyromimetic and Tetrac as a TH antagonist. The advantage of Triac from the pharmaceutical perspective is the fact that it accesses the brain by bypassing MCT8 (85). On the other hand, Triac is very rapidly conjugated to glucuronic acid (~1500 and ~200 times faster than T3 and T4, respectively) and needs frequent application.

The main off-label application of Triac is treatment of patients with TR β mutations (115). AHDS may be another indication for Triac to prevent the local hypothyroidism in the brain due to MCT8 mutation. Following promising results in animal models, a clinical trial in children harboring mutations in MCT8 has been initiated. Triac can be purchased over the counter in several European countries as a dietary supplement (trade name: Tiratricol) to reduce weight. Anti-angiogenetic effects may occur but were never reported by users. The FDA issued an official warning not to use Triac-containing supplements because Triac markedly reduced bone density and may induce thyrotoxic hypokalemic periodic paralysis (162).

Tetrac, when taken up into cells acts as a weak thyromimetic. In order to cause effects mainly be $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin signaling to improve anti-tumor action, increase of the extracellular action of Tetrac is important. For pharmaceutical application in cancer, Tetrac was bound to 200 nm poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) nanoparticles (Nanotetrac) and the binding resulted in increased antiangiogenic efficacy *in vitro* (71). After the uptake, nanoparticles were located in the cytoplasm and Tetrac in the nucleus of cancer cells. Action was caused by regulation of cytokines in combination with maturation of endothelial cells, stabilization of vessels, and inhibition of neo-angiogenesis. *In vivo*, Tetrac antagonized T3 and T4 effects regarding differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) into cancer-



associated fibroblasts, angiogenesis and recruitment of MSCs to tumor cells. In animal models Nanotetrac was 10-times more efficient in inhibiting tumor growth than the original molecule (163). Tetrac was granted Orphan Drug status by the US FDA to be used in thyroid cancer treatment (164).

CONCLUSIONS

The action of TH is more complex than that of other endocrine amine hormones. Endocrine action of catecholamines for example has many targets to increase blood pressure, heart rate, glucogenolysis, glucagon secretion, and decrease insulin secretion and lipolysis but acts only by the two hormones epinephrine and norepinephrine (165). In contrast, five metabolites have agonistic and antagonistic effects to the classical TH T4 and T3.

A comparison of biologically active TH metabolites shows that i) the more potent acting T3 and Triac appear to have shorter halflives than less potent antagonists 3T1AM and Tetrac. Ii) rT3 and 3,5-T2 may serve as indicators for metabolic dysregulation and disease, and iii) Nanotetrac may be a promising candidate for treatment of cancer and MGL-3196 for steatohepatitis, obesity, and metabolic syndrome (**Figure 5**). Use of L-T3 or combinations of L-T3 and L-T4 appear not to act better than L-T4 in common indications (e.g. hypothyroidism or thyroidectomy). The observed alterations of TH levels in COVID-19 may result from a combination of thyrotoxic effects and NTIS. Outcome of local and systemic administration of L-T3 in critically ill patients potentially may provide further insight into the still unclear relationship between SARS-CoV-2 and thyroid metabolism.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support by Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Tübingen.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021.587518/ full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Wilkinson M, Brown R. Hormone Synthesis, Storage, Release, Transport, Ans Deactivation. In: M Wilkinson and R Brown, editors. *An Introduction* to Neuroendocrinology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2015). p. 157–69. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139045803.008
- Lucke C, Hehrmann R, von Mayersbach K, von zur Muhlen A. Studies on Circadian Variations of Plasma TSH, Thyroxine and Triiodothyronine in Man. Acta Endocrinol (1977) 86:81–8. doi: 10.1530/acta.0.0860081
- Sviridonova MA, Fadeyev VV, Sych YP, Melnichenko GA. Clinical Significance of TSH Circadian Variability in Patients With Hypothyroidism. *Endocr Res* (2013) 38:24–31. doi: 10.3109/07435800.2012.710696
- Bianco AC, Casula S. Thyroid Hormone Replacement Therapy: Three 'Simple' Questions, Complex Answers. *Eur Thyroid J* (2012) 1:88–98. doi: 10.1159/000339447
- Ortiga-Carvalho T, Chiamolera M, Pazos-Moura C, Wondisford F. Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid Axis. *Compr Physiol* (2016) 6:1387–428. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c150027
- Fröhlich E, Wahl R. The Forgotten Effects of Thyrotropin-Releasing Hormone: Metabolic Functions and Medical Applications. Front Neuroendocrinol (2019) 52:29–43. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.06.006
- Suzuki S, Nishio S, Takeda T, Komatsu M. Gender-Specific Regulation of Response to Thyroid Hormone in Aging. *Thyroid Res* (2012) 5:1. doi: 10.1186/1756-6614-5-1
- de Lange P, Cioffi F, Silvestri E, Moreno M, Goglia F, Lanni A. (Healthy) Ageing: Focus on Iodothyronines. *Int J Mol Sci* (2013) 14:13873–92. doi: 10.3390/ijms140713873
- Medici M, Korevaar TI, Visser WE, Visser TJ, Peeters RP. Thyroid Function in Pregnancy: What is Normal? *Clin Chem* (2015) 61:704–13. doi: 10.1373/ clinchem.2014.236646
- de Escobar GM, Obregon MJ, del Rey FE. Maternal Thyroid Hormones Early in Pregnancy and Fetal Brain Development. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 18:225–48. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2004.03.012
- Glinoer D. What Happens to the Normal Thyroid During Pregnancy? Thyroid (1999) 9:631–5. doi: 10.1089/thy.1999.9.631
- Kragh-Hansen U, Galliano M, Minchiotti L. Clinical, Genetic, and Protein Structural Aspects of Familial Dysalbuminemic Hyperthyroxinemia and Hypertriiodothyroninemia. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:297. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2017.00297
- 13. Refetoff S. Thyroid Physiology and Disease: Abnormal Thyroid Hormone Transport. South Dartmouth: MDText.vom, Inc. (2015).
- McKinnon B, Li H, Richard K, Mortimer R. Synthesis of Thyroid Hormone Binding Proteins Transthyretin and Albumin by Human Trophoblast. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90:6714–20. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0696
- Rabah SA, Gowan IL, Pagnin M, Osman N, Richardson SJ. Thyroid Hormone Distributor Proteins During Development in Vertebrates. Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:506. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00506
- Sharma M, Khan S, Rahman S, Singh LR. The Extracellular Protein, Transthyretin is an Oxidative Stress Biomarker. *Front Physiol* (2019) 10:5. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00005
- Webb P, Phillips K, Baxter J. Mechanisms of Thyroid Hormone Action. In: Jameson J and L De Groot, editors. *Endocrinology Adult and Pediatric*. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier (2010). p. 1423–43.
- Visser TJ. Cellular Uptake of Thyroid Hormones. In: KR Feingold, B Anawalt, A Boyce, G Chrousos, K Dungan, A Grossman, et al, editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA: MDText.com, Inc (2000).
- Vancamp P, Demeneix B, Remaud S. Monocarboxylate Transporter 8 Deficiency: Delayed or Permanent Hypomyelination? *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:283. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00283
- Zhang J, Roggero VR, Allison LA. Nuclear Import and Export of the Thyroid Hormone Receptor. *Vitamins Hormones* (2018) 106:45–66. doi: 10.1016/ bs.vh.2017.04.002
- Bianco AC, da Conceicao RR. The Deiodinase Trio and Thyroid Hormone Signaling. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1801:67–83. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7902-8_8
- Meuwese CL, Dekkers OM, Stenvinkel P, Dekker FW, Carrero JJ. Nonthyroidal Illness and the Cardiorenal Syndrome. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2013) 9:599–609. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.170

- Herwig A, Ross AW, Nilaweera KN, Morgan PJ, Barrett P. Hypothalamic Thyroid Hormone in Energy Balance Regulation. *Obes Facts* (2008) 1:71–9. doi: 10.1159/000123428
- 24. Peeters R, Visser T. Metabolism of Thyroid Hormone. In: K Feingold, editor. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth: Endotext MDText.com.Inc (2017).
- 25. Kelly GS. Peripheral Metabolism of Thyroid Hormones: A Review. Altern Med Rev (2000) 5:306–33.
- Barreto-Chaves ML, Senger N, Fevereiro M, Parletta AC, Takano A. Impact of Hyperthyroidism on Cardiac Hypertrophy. *Endocr Connect* (2020) 9: R59–69. doi: 10.1530/ec-19-0543
- 27. Richard S, Flamant F. Regulation of T3 Availability in the Developing Brain: The Mouse Genetics Contribution. *Front Endocrinol* (2018) 9:265. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00265
- Liu YC, Yeh CT, Lin KH. Molecular Functions of Thyroid Hormone Signaling in Regulation of Cancer Progression and Anti-Apoptosis. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20:4986. doi: 10.3390/ijms20204986
- Davis PJ, Goglia F, Leonard JL. Nongenomic Actions of Thyroid Hormone. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2016) 12:111–21. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.205
- Hammes SR, Davis PJ. Overlapping Nongenomic and Genomic Actions of Thyroid Hormone and Steroids. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 29:581–93. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2015.04.001
- Kim HY, Mohan S. Role and Mechanisms of Actions of Thyroid Hormone on the Skeletal Development. Bone Res (2013) 1:146–61. doi: 10.4248/br201302004
- Zucchi R. Thyroid Hormone Analogues: An Update. *Thyroid* (2020) 30:1099–105. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0071
- Walsh CA, Qin L, Tien JC, Young LS, Xu J. The Function of Steroid Receptor Coactivator-1 in Normal Tissues and Cancer. *Int J Biol Sci* (2012) 8:470–85. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.4125
- 34. Cheng SY, Leonard JL, Davis PJ. Molecular Aspects of Thyroid Hormone Actions. *Endocr Rev* (2010) 31:139–70. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0007
- 35. Gionfra F, De Vito P, Pallottini V, Lin HY, Davis PJ, Pedersen JZ, et al. The Role of Thyroid Hormones in Hepatocyte Proliferation and Liver Cancer. *Front Endocrinol* (2019) 10:532. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00532
- Hercbergs AH, Ashur-Fabian O, Garfield D. Thyroid Hormones and Cancer: Clinical Studies of Hypothyroidism in Oncology. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2010) 17:432–6. doi: 10.1097/MED.0b013e32833d9710
- Goemann IM, Romitti M, Meyer ELS, Wajner SM, Maia AL. Role of Thyroid Hormones in the Neoplastic Process: An Overview. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2017) 24:R367–85. doi: 10.1530/erc-17-0192
- Yang J, Nie J, Ma X, Wei Y, Peng Y, Wei X. Targeting PI3K in Cancer: Mechanisms and Advances in Clinical Trials. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18:26. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0954-x
- Flamant F, Cheng SY, Hollenberg AN, Moeller LC, Samarut J, Wondisford FE, et al. Thyroid Hormone Signaling Pathways: Time for a More Precise Nomenclature. *Endocrinology* (2017) 158:2052–7. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00250
- 40. Team CC-R. Preliminary Estimates of the Prevalence of Selected Underlying Health Conditions Among Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 — United States, February 12–March 28, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (2020) 69:382–6. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6913e2externalicon
- Daraei M, Hasibi M, Abdollahi H, Mirabdolhagh Hazaveh M, Zebaradst J, Hajinoori M, et al. Possible Role of Hypothyroidism in the Prognosis of COVID-19. *Intern Med J* (2020) 50:1410–2. doi: 10.1111/imj.15000
- van Gerwen M, Alsen M, Little C, Barlow J, Genden E, Naymagon L, et al. Risk Factors and Outcomes of COVID-19 in New York City; a Retrospective Cohort Study. J Med Virol (2021) 93:907–15. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26337
- 43. Zhang JJ, Dong X, Cao YY, Yuan YD, Yang YB, Yan YQ, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 140 Patients Infected With SARS-CoV-2 in Wuhan, China. Allergy (2020) 75:1730–41. doi: 10.1111/all.14238
- 44. Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in Relation to Immune Profile, Disease Status, and Outcome in 191 Patients With COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106:e926–35. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa813
- 45. Khoo B, Tan T, Clarke SA, Mills EG, Patel B, Modi M, et al. Thyroid Function Before, During, and After COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106:e803–11. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa830
- Muller I, Cannavaro D, Dazzi D, Covelli D, Mantovani G, Muscatello A, et al. SARS-CoV-2-related Atypical Thyroiditis. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2020) 8:739–41. doi: 10.1016/s2213-8587(20)30266-7

- Sen K, Chakraborty S, Sinha A, Sen S, Alam M. Thyroid Function Test in COVID-19 Patients: A Cross-Sectional Study in a Tertiary Care Hospital. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 24:532–6. doi: 10.4103/ijem.IJEM_779_20
- Chen M, Zhou W, Xu W. Thyroid Function Analysis in 50 Patients With COVID-19: A Retrospective Study. *Thyroid* (2021) 1:8–11. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2020.0363
- Wang W, Su X, Ding Y, Fan W, Zhou W, Su J, et al. Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:623792. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.623792
- Malik J, Malik A, Javaid M, Zahid T, Ishaq U, Shoaib M. Thyroid Function Analysis in COVID-19: A Retrospective Study From a Single Center. *medRxiv* (2021). doi: 10.1101/2021.02.09.21251435. preprint.
- Gao W, Guo W, Guo Y, Shi M, Dong G, Wang G, et al. Thyroid Hormone Concentrations in Severely or Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2020), 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01460-w
- Chen T, Wu D, Chen H, Yan W, Yang D, Chen G, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 113 Deceased Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019: Retrospective Study. *BMJ* (2020) 368:m1091. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1091
- Katneni UK, Alexaki A, Hunt RC, Schiller T, DiCuccio M, Buehler PW, et al. Coagulopathy and Thrombosis as a Result of Severe COVID-19 Infection: A Microvascular Focus. *Thromb Haemost* (2020) 120. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1715841
- Quispe EÁ, Li XM, Yi H. Comparison and Relationship of Thyroid Hormones, IL-6, IL-10 and Albumin as Mortality Predictors in Case-Mix Critically Ill Patients. *Cytokine* (2016) 81:94–100. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.03.004
- Liu F, Li L, Xu M, Wu J, Luo D, Zhu Y, et al. Prognostic Value of interleukin-6, C-Reactive Protein, and Procalcitonin in Patients With COVID-19. J Clin Virol (2020) 127:104370. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104370
- Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 Cell Receptor Gene ACE2 in a Wide Variety of Human Tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty* (2020) 9:45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x
- Wei L, Sun S, Xu CH, Zhang J, Xu Y, Zhu H, et al. Pathology of the Thyroid in Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome. *Hum Pathol* (2007) 38:95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2006.06.011
- Scappaticcio L, Pitoia F, Esposito K, Piccardo A, Trimboli P. Impact of COVID-19 on the Thyroid Gland: An Update. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2020), 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09615-z
- Lania A, Sandri MT, Cellini M, Mirani M, Lavezzi E, Mazziotti G. Thyrotoxicosis in Patients With COVID-19: The THYRCOV Study. Eur J Endocrinol (2020) 183:381–7. doi: 10.1530/eje-20-0335
- Croce L, Gangemi D, Ancona G, Liboà F, Bendotti G, Minelli L, et al. The Cytokine Storm and Thyroid Hormone Changes in COVID-19. J Endocrinol Invest (2021), 1–14. doi: 10.1007/s40618-021-01506-7
- Nadolnik L. Role of Glucocorticoids in Regulation of Iodine Metabolism in Thyroid Gland. In: L Nadolnik, editor. *Effects of Hyper- and Hypocorticism*. Rijeka: InTech (2012). p. 265–302.
- Leow MK, Kwek DS, Ng AW, Ong KC, Kaw GJ, Lee LS. Hypocortisolism in Survivors of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS). *Clin Endocrinol* (2005) 63:197–202. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02325.x
- 63. Hennessey JV. Subacute Thyroiditis. In: KR Feingold, B Anawalt, A Boyce, G Chrousos, WW de Herder, K Dungan, A Grossman, JM Hershman, J Hofland, G Kaltsas, C Koch, P Kopp, M Korbonits, R McLachlan, JE Morley, M New, J Purnell, F Singer, CA Stratakis, DL Trence and DP Wilson, editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA: MDText.com, Inc (2000).
- Magro G. Cytokine Storm: Is It the Only Major Death Factor in COVID-19 Patients? Coagulation Role. *Med Hypotheses* (2020) 142:109829. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109829
- Iba T, Connors JM, Levy JH. The Coagulopathy, Endotheliopathy, and Vasculitis of COVID-19. *Inflammation Res* (2020) 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s00011-020-01401-6
- 66. Chiu HW, Lin JH, Chen YA, Ho SY, Wang YJ. Combination Treatment With Arsenic Trioxide and Irradiation Enhances Cell-Killing Effects in Human Fibrosarcoma Cells in Vitro and in Vivo Through Induction of Both Autophagy and Apoptosis. *Autophagy* (2010) 6:353–65. doi: 10.4161/ auto.6.3.11229
- Elbers LPB, Fliers E, Cannegieter SC. The Influence of Thyroid Function on the Coagulation System and Its Clinical Consequences. J Thromb Haemost (2018) 16:634–45. doi: 10.1111/jth.13970

- Zhong WB, Wang CY, Chang TC, Lee WS. Lovastatin Induces Apoptosis of Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer Cells Via Inhibition of Protein Geranylgeranylation and De Novo Protein Synthesis. *Endocrinology* (2003) 144:3852–9. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0098
- Thoyyib M, Garg S, Gupta N, Aggarwal S, Pandit S. Study on Coagulation Factor VIII and Fibrinogen Levels in Patients With Thyroid Disorders. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 22:479–84. doi: 10.4103/ijem.IJEM_583_17
- Hooper JM, Stuijver DJ, Orme SM, van Zaane B, Hess K, Gerdes VE, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction and Fibrin Network Structure: A Mechanism for Increased Thrombotic Risk in Hyperthyroid Individuals. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97:1463–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-2894
- Davis PJ, Tang HY, Hercbergs A, Lin HY, Keating KA, Mousa SA. Bioactivity of Thyroid Hormone Analogs At Cancer Cells. Front Endocrinol (2018) 9:739. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00739
- Abe E, Marians RC, Yu W, Wu XB, Ando T, Li Y, et al. TSH is a Negative Regulator of Skeletal Remodeling. *Cell* (2003) 115:151–62. doi: 10.1016/ S0092-8674(03)00771-2
- Ajjan RA, Weetman AP. The Pathogenesis of Hashimoto's Thyroiditis: Further Developments in Our Understanding. *Horm Metab Res* (2015) 47:702–10. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1548832
- 74. Cabral MD, Teixeira P, Soares D, Leite S, Salles E, Waisman M. Effects of Thyroxine Replacement on Endothelial Function and Carotid Artery Intima-Media Thickness in Female Patients With Mild Subclinical Hypothyroidism. *Clinics* (2011) 66:1321–8. doi: 10.1590/s1807-59322011000800003
- 75. Wang LY, Smith AW, Palmer FL, Tuttle RM, Mahrous A, Nixon IJ, et al. Thyrotropin Suppression Increases the Risk of Osteoporosis Without Decreasing Recurrence in ATA Low- and Intermediate-Risk Patients With Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma. *Thyroid* (2015) 25:300–7. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2014.0287
- 76. Carrillo-Sepulveda MA, Panackal A, Maracheril R, Maddie N, Patel MN, Ojamaa K, et al. Triiodothyronine Reduces Vascular Dysfunction Associated With Hypertension by Attenuating Protein Kinase G/Vasodilator-Stimulated Phosphoprotein Signaling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2019) 371:88–94. doi: 10.1124/jpet.119.260471
- Carrillo-Sepúlveda MA, Ceravolo GS, Fortes ZB, Carvalho MH, Tostes RC, Laurindo FR, et al. Thyroid Hormone Stimulates NO Production Via Activation of the PI3K/Akt Pathway in Vascular Myocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* (2010) 85:560–70. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp304
- Hodkinson CF, Simpson EE, Beattie JH, O'Connor JM, Campbell DJ, Strain JJ, et al. Preliminary Evidence of Immune Function Modulation by Thyroid Hormones in Healthy Men and Women Aged 55-70 Years. J Endocrinol (2009) 202:55–63. doi: 10.1677/joe-08-0488
- Montesinos MDM, Pellizas CG. Thyroid Hormone Action on Innate Immunity. Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:350. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00350
- Milani AT, Khadem-Ansari MH, Rasmi Y. Effects of Thyroxine on Adhesion Molecules and Proinflammatory Cytokines Secretion on Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. *Res Pharm Sci* (2019) 14:237–46. doi: 10.4103/1735-5362.258490
- Contreras-Jurado C, Alonso-Merino E, Saiz-Ladera C, Valiño AJ, Regadera J, Alemany S, et al. The Thyroid Hormone Receptors Inhibit Hepatic Interleukin-6 Signaling During Endotoxemia. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:30990. doi: 10.1038/srep30990
- van der Spek AH, Surovtseva OV, Jim KK, van Oudenaren A, Brouwer MC, Vandenbroucke-Grauls C, et al. Regulation of Intracellular Triiodothyronine is Essential for Optimal Macrophage Function. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159:2241–52. doi: 10.1210/en.2018-00053
- Ishaq M, Natarajan V. Integrated Stress Response Signaling Pathways Induced by Supraphysiological Concentrations of Thyroid Hormone Inhibit Viral Replication. Sign Transduct Insights (2016) 5:S39844. doi: 10.4137/STI.S39844
- Perrotta C, Buldorini M, Assi E, Cazzato D, De Palma C, Clementi E, et al. The Thyroid Hormone Triiodothyronine Controls Macrophage Maturation and Functions: Protective Role During Inflammation. *Am J Pathol* (2014) 184:230–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.10.006
- Kohrle J. The Colorful Diversity of Thyroid Hormone Metabolites. *Eur Thyroid J* (2019) 8:115–29. doi: 10.1159/000497141
- Welsh KJ, Soldin SJ. DIAGNOSIS of ENDOCRINE DISEASE: How Reliable are Free Thyroid and Total T3 Hormone Assays? *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 175:R255–63. doi: 10.1530/eje-16-0193

- Gomes-Lima C, Wartofsky L, Burman K. Can Reverse T3 Assay be Employed to Guide T4 Vs. T4/T3 Therapy in Hypothyroidism? Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:856. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00856
- Kabadi UM. Serum T3 and Reverse T3 Concentrations: Indices of Metabolic Control in Diabetes Mellitus. *Diabetes Res* (1986) 3:417–21.
- Moura Neto A, Zantut-Wittmann DE. Abnormalities of Thyroid Hormone Metabolism During Systemic Illness: The Low T3 Syndrome in Different Clinical Settings. Int J Endocrinol (2016) 2016:2157583. doi: 10.1155/2016/ 2157583
- Ruhla S, Arafat AM, Weickert MO, Osterhoff M, Isken F, Spranger J, et al. T3/rT3-ratio is Associated With Insulin Resistance Independent of TSH. *Horm Metab Res* (2011) 43:130–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1267997
- Martinez B, Ortiz RM. Thyroid Hormone Regulation and Insulin Resistance: Insights From Animals Naturally Adapted to Fasting. *Physiology* (2017) 32:141–51. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00018.2016
- Behringer V, Deimel C, Hohmann G, Negrey J, Schaebs FS, Deschner T. Applications for Non-Invasive Thyroid Hormone Measurements in Mammalian Ecology, Growth, and Maintenance. *Horm Behav* (2018) 105:66–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2018.07.011
- Azizi F. Islamic Fasting and Thyroid Hormones. Int J Endocrinol Metab (2015) 13:e29248. doi: 10.5812/ijem.13(2)2015.29248
- 94. Joffe R, Levitt A. Nutrition, Energy Metabolism, and Thyroid Hormones. In: R Joffe and A Levitt, editors. *The Thyroid Axis and Psychiatric Illness*. Washington: American Psychiatric Press Inc (1993).
- 95. Peeters RP, Wouters PJ, van Toor H, Kaptein E, Visser TJ, Van den Berghe G. Serum 3,3',5'-Triiodothyronine (rT3) and 3,5,3'-Triiodothyronine/rT3 are Prognostic Markers in Critically Ill Patients and are Associated With Postmortem Tissue Deiodinase Activities. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90:4559–65. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0535
- Davis PJ, Lin HY, Hercbergs AA, Keating KA, Mousa SA. How Thyroid Hormone Works Depends Upon Cell Type, Receptor Type, and Hormone Analogue: Implications in Cancer Growth. *Discovery Med* (2019) 27:111–7.
- Bartalena L, Brogioni S, Grasso L, Velluzzi F, Martino E. Relationship of the Increased Serum Interleukin-6 Concentration to Changes of Thyroid Function in Nonthyroidal Illness. J Endocrinol Invest (1994) 17:269–74. doi: 10.1007/bf03348974
- Wajner SM, Maia AL. New Insights Toward the Acute Non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome. Front Endocrinol (2012) 3:8. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2012. 00008
- Ruppe MD, Huang SA, Jan de Beur SM. Consumptive Hypothyroidism Caused by Paraneoplastic Production of Type 3 Iodothyronine Deiodinase. *Thyroid* (2005) 15:1369–72. doi: 10.1089/thy.2005.15.1369
- 100. Gavin LA, Hammond ME, Castle JN, Cavalieri RR. 3,3'-Diiodothyronine Production, a Major Pathway of Peripheral Iodothyronine Metabolism in Man. J Clin Invest (1978) 61:1276–85. doi: 10.1172/jci109044
- Weiss R, Refetoff S. Thyroid Function Testing. In: J Jameson and L De Groot, editors. *Endocrinology: Adult and Pediatric*. Philadelphia: Saunders (2010). p. 1444–92.
- 102. Goglia F. Biological Effects of 3,5-Diiodothyronine (T(2)). Biochem Biokhim (2005) 70:164–72. doi: 10.1007/s10541-005-0097-0
- 103. Senese R, de Lange P, Petito G, Moreno M, Goglia F, Lanni A. 3,5-Diiodothyronine: A Novel Thyroid Hormone Metabolite and Potent Modulator of Energy Metabolism. *Front Endocrinol* (2018) 9:427. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00427
- 104. Pinna G, Meinhold H, Hiedra L, Thoma R, Hoell T, Gräf KJ, et al. Elevated 3,5-Diiodothyronine Concentrations in the Sera of Patients With Nonthyroidal Illnesses and Brain Tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:1535–42. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.5.3939
- Damiano F, Rochira A, Gnoni A, Siculella L. Action of Thyroid Hormones, T3 and T2, on Hepatic Fatty Acids: Differences in Metabolic Effects and Molecular Mechanisms. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18:744. doi: 10.3390/ijms18040744
- 106. Piehl S, Hoefig CS, Scanlan TS, Kohrle J. Thyronamines–Past, Present, and Future. *Endocr Rev* (2011) 32:64–80. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0040
- 107. Louzada RA, Carvalho DP. Similarities and Differences in the Peripheral Actions of Thyroid Hormones and Their Metabolites. *Front Endocrinol* (2018) 9:394. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00394
- 108. Fernando R, Placzek E, Reese EA, Placzek AT, Schwartz S, Trierweiler A, et al. Elevated Serum Tetrac in Graves Disease: Potential Pathogenic Role in

Thyroid-Associated Ophthalmopathy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102:776–85. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2762

- 109. St. Germain D, Hernandez A. J Jameson and L de Groot, editors. Endocrinology: Adult and Pediatric, vol. II. Philadelphia: Elsevier Thyroid. (2016). p. 1322–35.
- 110. Hercbergs A, Davis FB, Lin H-Y, Luidens MK, Meng R, Ashur-Fabian O, et al. Integrin-Mediated Actions of Thyroid Hormone Analogues on Tumor Cell Chemosensitivity, Integrin-Growth Factor Receptor Crosstalk and Inflammatory Gene Expression. *Cancer Clin Oncol* (2012) 1:32–40. doi: 10.5539/cco.v1n1p32
- 111. Schmohl KA, Nelson PJ, Spitzweg C. Tetrac as an Anti-Angiogenic Agent in Cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer (2019) 26:R287–304. doi: 10.1530/erc-19-0058
- 112. Chen YK, Lin CL, Chang YJ, Cheng FT, Peng CL, Sung FC, et al. Cancer Risk in Patients With Graves' Disease: A Nationwide Cohort Study. *Thyroid* (2013) 23:879–84. doi: 10.1089/thy.2012.0568
- Moeller LC, Fuhrer D. Thyroid Hormone, Thyroid Hormone Receptors, and Cancer: A Clinical Perspective. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2013) 20:R19–29. doi: 10.1530/erc-12-0219
- 114. Moore E, Moore L. Engine and Fuel: The Thyroid and Its Hormones. In: E Moore and L Moore, editors. *Graves Disease: A Practical Guide*. Jefferson: McFarland & Company Inc (2001).
- 115. Groeneweg S, Peeters RP, Visser TJ, Visser WE. Triiodothyroacetic Acid in Health and Disease. J Endocrinol (2017) 234:R99–R121. doi: 10.1530/joe-17-0113
- 116. Mahadevan S, Sadacharan D, Kannan S, Suryanarayanan A. Does Time of Sampling or Food Intake Alter Thyroid Function Test? *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 21:369–72. doi: 10.4103/ijem.IJEM_15_17
- 117. Hennessey JV, Espaillat R. Current Evidence for the Treatment of Hypothyroidism With Levothyroxine/Levotriiodothyronine Combination Therapy Versus Levothyroxine Monotherapy. Int J Clin Pract (2018) 72: e13062. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13062
- Hoermann R, Midgley JEM, Larisch R, Dietrich JW. Functional and Symptomatic Individuality in the Response to Levothyroxine Treatment. *Front Endocrinol* (2019) 10:664. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00664
- Duntas LH, Jonklaas J. Levothyroxine Dose Adjustment to Optimise Therapy Throughout a Patient's Lifetime. Adv Ther (2019) 36:30–46. doi: 10.1007/s12325-019-01078-2
- Kansagra SM, McCudden CR, Willis MS. The Challenges and Complexities of Thyroid Hormone Replacement. *Lab Med* (2010) 41:338–48. doi: 10.1309/ LMB39TH2FZGNDGIM
- 121. Ward LS. The Difficult Patient: Drug Interaction and the Influence of Concomitant Diseases on the Treatment of Hypothyroidism. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol (2010) 54:435–42. doi: 10.1590/s0004-27302010000500002
- Biondi B, Wartofsky L. Treatment With Thyroid Hormone. Endocr Rev (2014) 35:433–512. doi: 10.1210/er.2013-1083
- Ichiki T. Thyroid Hormone and Vascular Remodeling. J Atheroscler Thromb (2016) 23:266–75. doi: 10.5551/jat.32755
- 124. Wiersinga WM, Duntas L, Fadeyev V, Nygaard B, Vanderpump MP. ETA Guidelines: The Use of L-T4 + L-T3 in the Treatment of Hypothyroidism. *Eur Thyroid J* (2012) 2012) 1:55–71. doi: 10.1159/000339444
- 125. Biondi B, Wartofsky L. Combination Treatment With T4 and T3: Toward Personalized Replacement Therapy in Hypothyroidism? J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2012) 97:2256–71. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-3399
- 126. Abdalla SM, Bianco AC. Defending Plasma T3 is a Biological Priority. Clin Endocrinol (2014) 81:633–41. doi: 10.1111/cen.12538
- 127. Peterson SJ, Cappola AR, Castro MR, Dayan CM, Farwell AP, Hennessey JV, et al. An Online Survey of Hypothyroid Patients Demonstrates Prominent Dissatisfaction. *Thyroid* (2018) 28:707–21. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0681
- 128. Carle A, Faber J, Steffensen R, Laurberg P, Nygaard B. Hypothyroid Patients Encoding Combined MCT10 and DIO2 Gene Polymorphisms May Prefer L-T3 + L-T4 Combination Treatment - Data Using a Blind, Randomized, Clinical Study. *Eur Thyroid J* (2017) 6:143–51. doi: 10.1159/000469709
- 129. Singh BK. Yen PM. A Clinician's Guide to Understanding Resistance to Thyroid Hormone Due to Receptor Mutations in the TRalpha and TRbeta Isoforms. *Clin Diabetes Endocrinol* (2017) 3:8. doi: 10.1186/s40842-017-0046-z
- 130. Jonklaas J, Bianco AC, Cappola AR, Celi FS, Fliers E, Heuer H, et al. Evidence-Based Use of Levothyroxine/Liothyronine Combinations in Treating Hypothyroidism: A Consensus Document. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:156-82. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0720

- 131. Martin Gerdes A. Is There a Safe, Therapeutic Window for Thyroid Hormone Therapy in Heart Failure? J Thyroid Disord Ther (2016) 6:1. doi: 10.4172/2167-7948.1000e127
- Razvi S. Novel Uses of Thyroid Hormones in Cardiovascular Conditions. Endocrine (2019) 66:115–23. doi: 10.1007/s12020-019-02050-4
- Madsen M, Smeds S, Lennquist S. Relationships Between Thyroid Hormone and Catecholamines in Experimental Trauma. Acta Chir Scand (1986) 152:413–9.
- 134. Novitzky D, Mi Z, Sun Q, Collins JF, Cooper DK. Thyroid Hormone Therapy in the Management of 63,593 Brain-Dead Organ Donors: A Retrospective Analysis. *Transplantation* (2014) 98:1119–27. doi: 10.1097/ tp.000000000000187
- 135. Chacon MM, Markin NW. Thyroid Hormone Replacement in Brain-Dead Organ Donor: Should It be Standard of Care or is It Still Too Soon to Tell? *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth* (2019) 33:1636–8. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2018.12.017
- 136. Holndonner-Kirst E, Nagy A, Czobor NR, Fazekas L, Dohan O, Kertai MD, et al. The Impact of l-Thyroxine Treatment of Donors and Recipients on Postoperative Outcomes After Heart Transplantation. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth (2019) 33:1629–35. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2018.10.024
- 137. Joseph B, Aziz H, Pandit V, Kulvatunyou N, Sadoun M, Tang A, et al. Levothyroxine Therapy Before Brain Death Declaration Increases the Number of Solid Organ Donations. J Trauma Acute Care Surg (2014) 76:1301–5. doi: 10.1097/ta.000000000000184
- Hercbergs A. Clinical Implications and Impact of Discovery of the Thyroid Hormone Receptor on Integrin ανβ3-a Review. *Front Endocrinol* (2019) 10:565. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00565
- 139. Davis PJ, Hercbergs A, Luidens MK, Lin HY. Recurrence of Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma During Full TSH Suppression: Is the Tumor Now Thyroid Hormone Dependent? *Horm Cancer* (2015) 6:7–12. doi: 10.1007/ s12672-014-0204-z
- 140. Chapital AD, Hendrick SR, Lloyd L, Pieper D. The Effects of Triiodothyronine Augmentation on Antithrombin III Levels in Sepsis. Am Surg (2001) 67:253–5. discussion 255-256.
- 141. Pantos C, Kostopanagiotou G, Armaganidis A, Trikas A, Tseti I, Mourouzis I. Triiodothyronine for the Treatment of Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19 Infection: A Structured Summary of a Study Protocol for a Randomised Controlled Trial. *Trials* (2020) 21:573. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04474-0
- 142. DeGroot LJ. The Non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome. In: KR Feingold, B Anawalt, A Boyce, G Chrousos, WW de Herder, K Dungan, A Grossman, JM Hershman, J Hofland, G Kaltsas, C Koch, P Kopp, M Korbonits, R McLachlan, JE Morley, M New, J Purnell, F Singer, CA Stratakis, DL Trence and DP Wilson, editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA: MDText.com, Inc (2000).
- 143. Davis PJ, Lin HY, Hercbergs A, Keating KA, Mousa SA. Coronaviruses and Integrin αvβ3: Does Thyroid Hormone Modify the Relationship? *Endocr Res* (2020) 45:210–5. doi: 10.1080/07435800.2020.1767127
- 144. Pirahanchi Y, Toro F, Jialal I. Physiology, Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (Tsh). In: Statpearls. Treasure Island (FL: StatPearls Publishing LLC (2020).
- 145. Raisi-Estabragh Z, McCracken C, Cooper J, Fung K, Paiva JM, Khanji MY, et al. Adverse Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Phenotypes are Associated With Greater Likelihood of Incident Coronavirus Disease 2019: Findings From the UK Biobank. *Aging Clin Exp Res* (2021), 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s40520-021-01808-z
- 146. Bielecka-Dabrowa A, Mikhailidis DP, Rysz J, Banach M. The Mechanisms of Atrial Fibrillation in Hyperthyroidism. *Thyroid Res* (2009) 2:4. doi: 10.1186/ 1756-6614-2-4
- 147. Flory CM, Norris BJ, Larson NA, Coicou LG, Koniar BL, Mysz MA, et al. A Preclinical Safety Study of Thyroid Hormone Instilled Into the Lungs of Healthy Rats-an Investigational Therapy for ARDS. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2021) 376:74–83. doi: 10.1124/jpet.120.000060
- 148. Bhargava M, Runyon MR, Smirnov D, Lei J, Groppoli TJ, Mariash CN, et al. Triiodo-L-thyronine Rapidly Stimulates Alveolar Fluid Clearance in Normal and Hyperoxia-Injured Lungs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2008) 178:506– 12. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200709-1429OC
- 149. Da Conceicao RR, Fernandes GW, Fonseca TL, Bocco B, Bianco AC. Metal Coordinated Poly-Zinc-Liothyronine Provides Stable Circulating Triiodothyronine Levels in Hypothyroid Rats. *Thyroid* (2018) 28:1425–33. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0205

- 150. Santini F, Giannetti M, Ricco I, Querci G, Saponati G, Bokor D, et al. Steady-State Serum T3 Concentrations for 48 Hours Following the Oral Administration of a Single Dose of 3,5,3'-Triiodothyronine Sulfate (T3s). *Endocr Pract* (2014) 20:680–9. doi: 10.4158/ep13331.Or
- 151. Fitzgerald SP, Bean NG, Falhammar H, Tuke J. Clinical Parameters are More Likely to be Associated With Thyroid Hormone Levels Than With Thyrotropin Levels: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Thyroid* (2020) 30:695–1709. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0535
- 152. Huang SA, Tu HM, Harney JW, Venihaki M, Butte AJ, Kozakewich HP, et al. Severe Hypothyroidism Caused by Type 3 Iodothyronine Deiodinase in Infantile Hemangiomas. N Engl J Med (2000) 343:185–9. doi: 10.1056/ nejm200007203430305
- 153. Cetinkaya S, Kendirci HN, Agladioglu SY, Bas VN, Ozdemir S, Bozkurt C, et al. Hypothyroidism Due to Hepatic Hemangioendothelioma: A Case Report. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol (2010) 2:126–30. doi: 10.4274/ jcrpe.v2i3.126
- 154. Mo JQ, Dimashkieh HH, Bove KE. GLUT1 Endothelial Reactivity Distinguishes Hepatic Infantile Hemangioma From Congenital Hepatic Vascular Malformation With Associated Capillary Proliferation. *Hum Pathol* (2004) 35:200–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2003.09.017
- 155. Kowalik MA, Columbano A, Perra A. Thyroid Hormones, Thyromimetics and Their Metabolites in the Treatment of Liver Disease. *Front Endocrinol* (2018) 9:382. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00382
- 156. Köhrle J, Lehmphul I, Pietzner M, Renko K, Rijntjes E, Richards K, et al. 3,5-T2-A Janus-Faced Thyroid Hormone Metabolite Exerts Both Canonical T3-Mimetic Endocrine and Intracrine Hepatic Action. *Front Endocrinol* (2019) 10:787. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00787
- 157. Hernandez A. 3,5-diiodo-L-thyronine (t2) in Dietary Supplements: What are the Physiological Effects? *Endocrinology* (2015) 156:5–7. doi: 10.1210/ en.2014-1933
- Mondal S, Mugesh G. Novel Thyroid Hormone Analogues, Enzyme Inhibitors and Mimetics, and Their Action. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2017) 458:91–104. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.04.006
- Elbers LP, Kastelein JJ, Sjouke B. Thyroid Hormone Mimetics: The Past, Current Status and Future Challenges. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* (2016) 18:14. doi: 10.1007/s11883-016-0564-7
- 160. Zucchi R, Accorroni A, Chiellini G. Update on 3-Iodothyronamine and Its Neurological and Metabolic Actions. *Front Physiol* (2014) 5:402. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00402
- 161. Moreno M, Lanni A, Lombardi A, Goglia F. How the Thyroid Controls Metabolism in the Rat: Different Roles for Triiodothyronine and Diiodothyronines. J Physiol (1997) 505(Pt 2):529–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1997.529bb.x
- 162. Cohen-Lehman J, Charitou MM, Klein I. Tiratricol-Induced Periodic Paralysis: A Review of Nutraceuticals Affecting Thyroid Function. *Endocr Pract* (2011) 17:610–5. doi: 10.4158/ep10137.Ra
- 163. Davis P, Mousa S. Anti-Cancer and Anti-Angiogenic Properties of nano-Diamino-Tetrac, a Thyroid Hormone Derivative. In: S Mousa, R Bawa and G Audette, editors. *The Road From Nanomedicine to Precision Medicine*. New York: Jenny Stanford Publishing (2020).
- 164. Raparti G, Jain S, Ramteke K, Murthy M, Ghanghas R, Ramanand S, et al. Selective Thyroid Hormone Receptor Modulators. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 17:211–8. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.109663
- 165. Paravati S, Warrington S. Physiology, Catecholamines. In: [Internet] s. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing (2020).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Fröhlich and Wahl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





COVID-19-Associated Subacute Thyroiditis: Evidence-Based Data From a Systematic Review

Pierpaolo Trimboli^{1,2}, Carlo Cappelli³, Laura Croce^{4,5}, Lorenzo Scappaticcio⁶, Luca Chiovato^{4,5} and Mario Rotondi^{4,5*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeff M. P. Holly, University of Bristol, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Ejigayehu Gigi Abate, Mayo Clinic, United States Melissa G. Lechner, UCLA David Geffen School of Medicine, United States Antonino Belfiore, University of Catania, Italy

> *Correspondence: Mario Rotondi

mario.rotondi@icsmaugeri.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 10 May 2021 Accepted: 06 September 2021 Published: 29 September 2021

Citation:

Trimboli P, Cappelli C, Croce L, Scappaticcio L, Chiovato L and Rotondi M (2021) COVID-19-Associated Subacute Thyroiditis: Evidence-Based Data From a Systematic Review. Front. Endocrinol. 12:707726. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.707726 ¹ Clinic for Endocrinology and Diabetology, Lugano Regional Hospital, Ente Ospedaliero Cantonale, Lugano, Switzerland, ² Faculty of Biomedical Sciences, Università della Svizzera Italiana (USI), Lugano, Switzerland, ³ Department of Clinical and Experimental Sciences, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy, ⁴ Unit of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology, Laboratory for Endocrine Disruptors, Istituti Clinici Scientifici Maugeri Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, (IRCCS), Pavia, Italy, ⁵ Department of Internal Medicine and Therapeutics, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁶ Division of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, University Hospital "Luigi Vanvitelli", University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy

Subacute thyroiditis (SAT) is a thyroid disease of viral or post-viral origin. Whether SAT represents a complication of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is still unclear. Our aim was to systematically review the literature to 1) explore the size of the literature about SAT in COVID-19 and 2) evaluate the clinical characteristics of SAT. PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase, and Scopus were searched until April 20, 2021. Original papers, case reports, and case series reporting SAT in COVID-19 patients were included. Authors and their country, journal, year of publication, COVID-19 and SAT clinical presentation, thyroid function, therapy, and follow-up data were extracted. Nineteen papers (17 case reports and 2 case series) were included, describing 27 patients, 74.1% females, aged 18 to 69 years. COVID-19 was diagnosed by nasopharyngeal swab in 66.7% cases and required hospitalization in 11.1%. In 83.3% cases, SAT occurred after COVID-19. Neck pain was present in 92.6% cases and fever in 74.1%. Median TSH, fT3, and fT4 were 0.01 mU/l, 10.79 pmol/l, and 27.2 pmol/l, respectively. C-reactive-protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate were elevated in 96% of cases. Typical ultrasonographic characteristics of SAT were observed in 83.3% of cases. Steroids were the most frequent SAT therapy. Complete remission of SAT was recorded in most cases. In conclusion, the size and quality of published data of SAT in COVID-19 patients are poor, with only case reports and case series being available. SAT clinical presentation in COVID-19 patients seems to be similar to what is generally expected.

Keywords: subacute thyroiditis (SAT), subacute thyroiditis de Quervain, SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, thyroid

INTRODUCTION

Subacute thyroiditis (SAT) is a self-limited thyroid disease of viral or post-viral origin. SAT, also known as de Quervain thyroiditis, is typically characterized by a triphasic clinical course of thyrotoxicosis, hypothyroidism, and return to normal thyroid function. From a clinical point of view, SAT presents with neck pain typically with radiation to the ears and a wide spectrum of systemic symptoms, which include fever, asthenia, and malaise. In the initial phase, many patients also present clinical and/or biochemical manifestation of mild-moderate thyrotoxicosis, such as tremor and palpitations (1). Thyroid follicles are infiltrated, resulting in disrupted basement membrane and rupture of the follicles. This injury is thought to be the result of cytolytic T-cell recognition of viral and cell antigens (2).

While persistent hypothyroidism is a rare event, high circulating levels of inflammatory markers, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), and, more specifically, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) represent the most frequent biochemical finding at presentation (3, 4).

Several respiratory viruses, including coxsackievirus (5), mumps (6), Epstein-Barr virus (7), cytomegalovirus (8), and influenza virus (9), were reported to be associated with SAT development (10). However, owing to the fact that specific antiviral treatment is not required in most cases, diagnostic evaluations aimed at identifying the etiological viruses are not routinely performed in these patients. Thus, the viral or postviral origin of SAT is supported by both direct and indirect evidences. Epidemiological data showed an overlap of seasonal outbreaks of infectious diseases and SAT outbreaks (6, 11). Indeed, high titers of virus-specific antibodies or positive virus swabs were found in patients harboring SAT and an association between presence of antibodies to specific viruses and SAT was observed (5, 6, 12). On the other hand, virus culture from thyroid tissue as well as viral RNA identification from thyroid cytological samples yielded conflicting results (13-15). At present, it is unclear whether follicle damage in SAT is caused by direct viral infection of the gland or by the host's immunological response to the viral infection.

With the beginning of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a thyroid impact was considered due to the potential of SARS-CoV-2 to cause multiorgan effects. Among the thyroid SARS-CoV-2 complications, SAT was early reported by some case report articles (16), and the question whether SAT might be an underestimated SARS-CoV-2 manifestation was raised (17). Subsequently, several original articles, editorials, and reviews were published on the thyroid sequelae experienced by patients with COVID-19 (18–22). More recently, a systematic review found that COVID-19 patients can develop thyroid dysfunction, frequently non-thyroidal illness syndrome, when hospitalized in an intensive care unit. Furthermore, several data supported the notion that having a thyroid disease would not increase the risk for SARS-CoV-2 infection, and thyroid patients do not need a COVID-19-adapted follow-up (23). According to the available data summarized in review articles, whether SAT can represent a COVID-19 complication remains an open question. Specifically, the prevalence of COVID-19-related SAT and the similarity of its clinical presentation to usual SAT remain unknown.

Therefore, the present study was conceived to summarize the published data about the association between COVID-19 and SAT. The literature was systematically reviewed to retrieve the largest number of original papers, case reports, and case series articles reporting SAT in patients diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2. The aims of the present study were to 1) explore the size and quality of the literature about SAT in COVID-19 and 2) evaluate the clinical characteristics of SAT in these patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Review Conduction

The systematic review was conducted according to the PRISMA statement (24), and the checklist is reported as supplemental file (**Supplemental File 1**).

Search Strategy

A comprehensive computer literature search of the PubMed/ MEDLINE, Embase, and Scopus databases was conducted to find published articles on the topic of our review. The search algorithm was created based on combinations of specific terms: ("De Quervain thyroiditis" OR "subacute thyroiditis") AND ("SARS-CoV-2" OR COVID OR COVID-19 OR coronavirus). A beginning date limit was not used, and the search was updated until April 20, 2021, without language restrictions. To identify additional studies and expand our search, the references of the retrieved articles were also screened.

The authors declare that the study selection was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Study Selection

Studies or subsets of studies that report data on the detection of SAT in patients with previous or concurrent occurrence of COVID-19 were eligible for inclusion. The main exclusion criteria were a) articles not within the field of interest of this review; b) review articles, editorials, or comments; c) articles that did not provide clear study characteristics or reports that had overlapping patient data; and d) cases in which the SAT diagnosis was not clearly rendered. Two authors (LC, LS) independently reviewed the titles and abstracts of the retrieved articles, applying the inclusion and abovementioned exclusion criteria. Then, the same two researchers independently reviewed

Abbreviations: COVID-19, Coronavirus Disease 2019; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; RT-PCR, real-time polymerase chain reaction; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SAT, subacute thyroiditis; T3, triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; TgAb, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; TPOAb, anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone.

the full text of the articles to determine their final inclusion. Disagreements were solved in a final mutual meeting involving also other two authors (PT, MR). **Figure 1** illustrates the research strategy and flow of articles.

Data Extraction

For each included study, information was extracted concerning reference data (authors, journal, year of publication, and country of origin). Number of patients evaluated, clinical data regarding COVID-19 presentation and SAT presentation, biochemical evaluation of thyroid function parameters, therapy for subacute thyroiditis, and long-term follow-up data were also extracted.

Each case report and case series were carefully evaluated to verify that no patient was included in more than one study.

RESULTS

Retrieved Articles

Using the above search strategy, 32 records were initially found. Among these, 14 were excluded because they did not fit with the study aim while the remaining 18 (16, 17, 25–41) were included in the systematic review. Another paper (40), not included in the initial pool of retrieved records, was added to the systematic review because it was known by the authors. Finally, 19 articles, consisting of 17 case reports and 2 case series (with four and six SAT cases), were included. Remarkably, no original articles including large sample size were found. **Figure 1** illustrates the flow of articles.

General Features of Included Articles

The 19 articles included in the systematic review included a total number of 27 SAT in patients diagnosed with COVID-19. The 19



studies were published from May 21, 2020 (16), to April 14, 2021 (41), by authors from 10 countries: seven cases from Italy, seven from Iran, four from the United States of America, two from Spain, two form India, one from Mexico, one from the Philippines, one from Singapore, one from Turkey, and one from the United Kingdom. The main demographic and clinical characteristics (regarding COVID-19 and SAT presentation) of each included patient are summarized in **Table 1**.

Demographic Features of Patients

Twenty (74.1%) patients were females and seven (25.9%) males. Patients' age at SAT occurrence ranged from 18 to 69 years (median 37.5, IQR 33–46). No patient was previously diagnosed with thyroid disease.

COVID-19 Diagnosis and Presentation

COVID-19 diagnosis was rendered through real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) on nasopharyngeal swab in 18 cases (66.7%), and by positivity of specific IgG in eight cases (29.6%). In one case, COVID-19 was suspected based on the presence of its typical symptoms (anosmia, dysgeusia) with no direct evidence of SARS-CoV-2 infection. COVID-19 was asymptomatic in 3 cases (11.1%), with mild upper respiratory symptoms in 21 cases (77.7%), and with pneumonia requiring hospitalization in 3 cases (11.1%). SARS-CoV-2-related peculiar symptoms (i.e., anosmia or dysgeusia) were reported in 5 (18.5%) out of 27 cases.

Time Interval Between SAT Occurrence and COVID-19 Diagnosis

The timing of SAT diagnosis with respect to COVID-19 was described in 24 cases:

In 20 (83.3%) cases, SAT occurred after COVID-19 onset, after a median of 30 (IQR 16–32) days. In three (12.5%) cases, SAT and COVID-19 were synchronous. In one (4.2%) patient (N # 21), the onset of SAT preceded by 47 days the molecular confirmation of COVID-19. This latter case should be briefly overviewed. At SAT diagnosis, the patient did not have fever or respiratory symptoms but a right lower lobe pneumonia was found on a chest radiography. Unfortunately, the reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction for SARS-CoV-2 using nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal swabs was performed only after several weeks after the onset of SAT symptoms and found positive. Although the possibility that SARS-CoV-2 infection was already present at the onset of SAT cannot be ascertained, the authors suggested that SAT might occur also in patients with confirmed COVID-19 without respiratory manifestations.

SAT Clinical Presentation

Neck pain was present in 25 (92.6%) cases; notably, one of the two patients without neck pain was taking opioid drugs since a recent surgical intervention (N. #13). General symptomatology (i.e., asthenia and malaise) was described in 23 (85.2%) patients. Fever was recorded in 20 (74.1%) patients. Palpitations were experienced by 22 (81.5%) patients, and one presented a newonset episode of atrial fibrillation.

TABLE 1 | Description of the anagraphic characteristics and clinical presentation of COVID-19 and SAT of the 27 included patients.

Year	N.	Reference	Country	Age	Gender	Preexisting Thyroid Disease	COVID-19 Diagnosis	Clinical presentation of COVID-19	Onset after COVID-19 (days)	General	Neck pain	Fever	Palpitations	Therapy
2020	1	(32)	Spain	46	F	NO	Positive IgG	Asymptomatic		YES	YES	YES	NO	Prednisone (40 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered)
	2	(25)	Turkey	41	F	NO	RT-PCR	Asymptomatic	0	NO	YES	YES	NO	Prednisolone 16 mg daily
2020	3	(16)	Italy	18	F	NO	RT-PCR	Mild upper respiratory symptoms (rhinorrhea and cough)	19	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered)
2020	4	(17)	Italy	38	F	NO	RT-PCR	Mild upper respiratory symptoms	16	YES	YES	YES	YES ^c	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered)
2020	5	(17)	Italy	29	F	NO	Positive IgG	Rhinorrhea	30	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered), propranolol 40 mg/day
2020	6	(17)	Italy	29	F	NO	RT-PCR	Fever, cough, rhinorrhea, anosmia	36	YES	YES	NO	YES	lbuprofen 600 mg/day
2020	7	(17)	Italy	46	F	NO	RT-PR	Fever, cough, rhinorrhea, anosmia, asthenia	20	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered)
2020	8	(28)	Mexico	37	F	NO	RT-PCR	Odynophagia and anosmia	30	YES	YES	NO	NO	No treatment (still thyrotoxic after 1 month)
2020	9	(39)	India	58	М	NO	RT-PCR	Fever	0	NO	YES	YES	YES	Prednisolone (30 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered), propranolol 40 mg day
2021	10	(29)	USA	37	М	NO	RT-PCR	Productive cough, fever, chills, dyspnea	30	YES	YES	NO	YES	Aspirin, propranolol
2021	11	(37)	Iran	33	М	NO	RT-PCR	Interstitial pneumonia	8	YES	YES	YES	YES	Dexamethasone 4 mg every 8 h for 5 days, then oral prednisone 25 mg daily with tapering
2021	12	(34)	UK	57	F	NO	Likely diagnosis ^a	Mild upper respiratory symptoms, anosmia	60	YES	YES	NO	YES	lbuprofen 200 mg three times per day and paracetamol 1 g three times per day
2020	13	(38)	Italy	69	F	NO	RT-PCR	Interstitial pneumonia	5	YES	NO ^b	NO	YES	First methimazole, then shifted to methylprednisolone 40 mg/die for 3 days, then prednisone 25 mg/die progressively tapered
2021	14	(36)	USA	41	F	NO	RT-PCR	Fever, cough, and coryza	14	YES	YES	YES	YES	lbuprofen 600 mg every 6 h and prednisone 40 mg daily.
2021	15	(41)	USA	67	М	NO	RT-PCR	Heart failure and interstitial pneumonia	0	YES	NO	YES	YES	Methimazole for 1 month, after no recovery shifted to prednisone
2020	16	(27)	Singapore	34	М	NO	RT-PCR	Fever, mild upper respiratory symptoms, anosmia	3	NO	YES	NO	YES	Prednisolone (20 mg/day as starting dose, gradually tapered)
2020	17	(33)	USA	29	F	NO	RT-PCR	Mild upper respiratory symptoms	49	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (40 mg/day as the starting dose gradually tapered), atenolol 50 mg/die

(Continued)

COVID-19-Associated Subacute Thyroiditis

TABLE 1 | Continued

Year	N.	Reference	Country	Age	Gender	Preexisting Thyroid Disease	COVID-19 Diagnosis	Clinical presentation of COVID-19	Onset after COVID-19 (days)	General	Neck pain	Fever	Palpitations	Therapy
2020	18	(30)	Spain	28	F	NO	RT-PCR	Diarrhea, abdominal pain	14	YES	YES	YES	YES	Aspirin 500 mg and propranolol 40 mg every 6 hours
2020	19	(26)	Italy	43	F	NO	RT-PCR	Fever, mild upper respiratory symptoms	45	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	20	(40)	India	29	F	NO	RT-PCR	Fever, cough, and other flu-like symptoms	45	NO	YES	YES	YES	Indomethacin 25 mg and propanol 40 mg thrice daily
2020	21	(31)	Philippines	47	F	NO	RT-PCR	Lobar pneumonia	-47	YES	YES	NO	NO	Mefenamic acid, later shifted to celecoxib
2021	22	(35)	Iran	37	F	NO	Positive IgG	Myalgia for a few days	30	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	23	(35)	Iran	35	М	NO	Positive IgG	Asymptomatic		YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	24	(35)	Iran	41	F	NO	Positive IgG	Low-grade fever and mild myalgia for few days	30	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	25	(35)	Iran	52	Μ	NO	Positive IgG	Low-grade fever, dry cough, and mild myalgia for few days	30	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	26	(35)	Iran	34	F	NO	Positive IgG	Asymptomatic		YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)
2021	27	(35)	Iran	26	F	NO	Positive IgG	Self-limited dry cough for 1 week	30	YES	YES	YES	YES	Prednisone (25 mg/day as the starting dose, gradually tapered)

RT-PCR, real-time polymerase chain reaction; COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; SAT, subacute thyroiditis.

^aNo direct demonstration of SARS-CoV-2.

^bWhile on morphine for back surgery.

^cAtrial fibrillation.

September 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 707726

COVID-19-Associated Subacute Thyroiditis

Thyroid Laboratory Tests and Inflammation Markers

Serum assessment was quite heterogeneous among the 19 studies. Available data are summarized in **Table 2**.

Thyroid function tests were performed in all patients but one and showed overt thyrotoxicosis in all cases. Particularly, median TSH (available in 26 out of 27 cases) was 0.01 mU/l (IQR 0.008– 0.07), median free-T4 (23 cases) was 27.2 pmol/l (IQR 22.4-31.1) with a median increase of 1.27 times (IQR 1.17–1.83) the upper limit of the reference range, and median-free T3 (15 cases) was 10.79 pmol/l (IQR 8.5–19.1) with a median increase of 2.11 times (IQR 1.67–2.80) of the upper limit of the reference range. Total T4 was measured in three (11.1%) patients ranging from 13.5 to 23.1 µg/dl. Total T3 was measured in eight (29.6%) patients with a median value of 2.15 ng/ml (IQR 1.865–2.49).

Thyroid autoantibodies were measured in 18 (66.6%) of cases. Indeed, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (TgAb) and anti-thyroperoxydase antibodies (TPOAb) can be detected in some non-autoimmune thyroid diseases, such as SAT (42). Although some studies reported the *de novo* appearance of TgAb in up

to 25%–50% of SAT patients, and, to a lesser extent, TPOAb, this positivity is usually transient and most patients do not develop autoimmune sequelae (43). Moreover, anti TSH-receptor antibody (TRAb) testing is performed in some patients in the thyrotoxic phase of SAT to exclude the presence of Graves' disease.

Positive TgAb tests were found in 3 out of 11 patients in whom they were measured. Positive TPOAb tests were found in 3 out of 16 patients. TRAb measurement was performed in 15 patients with negative results in all cases. Thyroglobulin was measured in five (18.5%) patients and was always elevated.

SAT-specific inflammation markers, such as CRP and ESR, were performed in 25 patients and were high in 24 (96%).

Thyroid-Specific Imaging

The results of thyroid-specific imaging performed for the included patients are summarized in **Table 3**. Thyroid ultrasound was performed in 24 cases (88.9%). The typical ultrasonographic characteristics of SAT (patchy hypoechogenic areas with reduced vascularization) were observed in 20 cases,

TABLE 2	Biochemical evaluation	of thyroid function parameters	, thyroglobulin	, thyroid autoantibodies,	and inflammatory	markers in the 27 i	ncluded patients.

Year	N.	Ref	TSH	TSH ref range	FT3	FT3 ref range	FT4	FT4 ref range	Тg	TgAb	TPOAb	TRAb	CRP/ ESR
2020	1	(32)	0.11	0.5–4.78 mlU/ ml	N/A	N/A	2.18	0.89-1.76 ng/dl	N/A	N/A	Slightly positive	N/A	High
2020	2	(25)	<0.008	N/A	7.7	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	25.7	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	0	0	0	High
2020	3	(16)	<0.04	0.5–4.1 mlU/l	8.7	4.6-8.4 pmol/l	27.2	11–23 nmol/l	5.6	120 Ul/ml (positive)	0	0	High
2020	4	(17)	0.1	0.4–4.5 mlU/ml	8.0	2.3 to 4.2 pmol/l	29.3	6–16 pmol/l	75.3	0	0	0	High
2020	5	(17)	< 0.01	0.4–4.5 mlU/ml	8.9	2.3 to 4.2 pmol/l	31.8	6–16 pmol/l	80	38 (positive)	0	0	High
2020	6	(17)	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
2020	7	(17)	< 0.01	0.4–4.5 mlU/ml	6.9	2.3 to 4.2 pmol/l	27.8	6–16 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	0	Normal
2020	8	(28)	<0.001	N/A	211 ^a	80–150 ng/dl ^a	1.6	0.7–1.48 ng/dl	N/A	0	0	N/A	High
2020	9	(39)	<0.005	0.27–4.2 mIU/I	2.88 ^a	0.80–2.0 ng/ml ^a	20.11 ^b	5.10–14.1 μg/dl ^b	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
021	10	(29)	0.01	0.4–4.5 μIU/ml	202 ^a	80–150 ng/dl ^a	2.3	0.6–1.3 ng/dl	N/A	N/A	0	0	High
2021	11	(37)	<0.001	N/A	236 a	75–195 ng/dl ^a	23.1 ^b	4–11 µg/dl ^b	N/A	N/A	0	0	High
2021	12	(34)	0.1	0.27-4.2 mU/l	N/A	N/A	21.2	12–22 pmol/l	N/ A	6.61 U/ml (positive)	71.8 Ul/ml (positive)	0	High
2020	13	(38)	0.08	0.27–4.2 mU/l	5.5	2–4.4 pg/ml	24.6	0.3–17 pg/ml	187	" N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
2021	14	(36)	<0.008	0.7-4.20 mlU/l	3.39 ^a	1.232–3.08 nmol/	60.63	11.61–23.22 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	96.71 (positive)	0	High
2021	15	(41)	0.029	0.27–4.2 μlU/ml	1.2 ^a	0.80–2.0 ng/ml ^a	2.1	0.8–1.7 ng/dl	N/A	0	0	0	High
2020	16	(27)	< 0.01	0.65–3.70 mU/l	13.4	3.2–5.3 pmol/l	41.8	8.8–14.4 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	0	0	High
020	17	(33)	0.01	mU/I	374 ^a	80–150 ng/l ^a	4.4	0.6–1.3 ng/l	N/A	N/A	0	0	High
020	18	(30)	<0.001	0.38–5.33 mU/l	N/A	N/A	37.5	7.0–16.0 pmol/l	N/A	0	0	0	High
020	19	(26)	0.006	0.27–4.2 mU/l	7.03	1.71–3.71 pg/ml	2.69	0.7-1.48 ng/dl	188	0	0	0	High
2021	20	(40)	0.007	N/A	5.05 ^a	ng/ml ^a	7.77	ng/dl	N/A	0	0	0	High
2020	21	(31)	0.05	0.47–4.68 μlU/ ml	1.4 ^a	0.97–1.69 ng/ml ^a	1.68	0.78-2.19 pg/ml	N/A	0	0	0	High
2021	22	(35)	< 0.01	0.4–4.0 mU/l	25.4	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	2.3	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
2021		(35)	0.12	0.4-4.0 mU/l	19.3	3.1-6.8 pmol/l	24.7	12-21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
021	24	(35)	<0.01	0.4–4.0 mU/l	23.7	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	21.9	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
2021	25	(35)	0.17	0.4–4.0 mU/l	21.6	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	26.7	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
2021	26	(35)	0.23	0.4–4.0 mU/l	18.1	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	18.4	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High
2021	27	(35)	0.07	0.4–4.0 mU/l	18.9	3.1–6.8 pmol/l	19.5	12–21 pmol/l	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	High

N/A, not available; TgAb, anti-thyroglobulin antibodies; TPOAb, anti-thyroperoxydase antibodies; TRAb, anti-TSH-receptor antibodies; CRP/ESR, C-reactive protein/erythrocyte sedimentation rate.

^aTotal T3.

^bTotal T4.

TABLE 3 | Results of thyroid-specific imaging in the 27 included patients.

Year	N.	Ref	Ultrasound	US typical for SAT	Scintigraphy
2020	1	(32)	Enlarged thyroid with heterogeneous echotexture	NO	Reduced uptake
2020	2	(25)	Increased vascularity, heterogeneous parenchyma	NO	N/A
2020	З	(16)	Multiple, diffuse hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2020	4	(17)	Enlarged thyroid gland with multiple hypoechoic areas and absent vascularization at color Doppler	YES	N/A
2020	5	(17)	Increased thyroid volume with bilateral diffuse hypoechoic areas and absent vascularization at color Doppler ultrasonography	YES	No uptake
2020	6	(17)	Increased thyroid volume (25 ml) with bilateral diffuse hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2020	7	(17)	Increased thyroid volume (18 ml) with bilateral diffuse hypoechoic areas and absent to mild vascularization at color Doppler ultrasonography	YES	N/A
2020	8	(28)	N/A		No uptake
2020	9	(39)	Diffuse bilateral enlargement of thyroid with hypoechogenicity and increased vascularity on color Doppler	YES	Reduced uptake
2021	10	(29)	Diffusely heterogeneous echotexture	NO	N/A
2021	11	(37)	Bilateral ill-defined hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021	12	(34)	Patchy areas of variably-reduced parenchymal echogenicity bilaterally	YES	Reduced uptake
2020	13	(38)	Enlarged hypoechoic thyroid, decreased vascularity	YES	No uptake
2021	14	(36)	Heterogeneous thyroid gland with bilateral patchy ill-defined hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021	15	(41)	Mildly enlarged thyroid gland with no increased vascularity and 5-mm bilateral cysts	NO	N/A
2020	16	(27)	Enlarged thyroid gland with heterogeneous echotexture; hypoechoic areas with ill-defined margins corresponding to the hard regions palpable. Reduced blood flow in both lobes	YES	N/A
2020	17	(33)	N/A		N/A
2020	18	(30)	N/A		No uptake
2020	19	(26)	Diffusely enlarged and hypoechogenic thyroid gland.	YES	Reduced uptake
2021	20	(40)	Enlarged heterogeneously hypoechoic left lobe of thyroid and isthmus with normal vascularity, and bulky right lobe of thyroid with few ill-defined hypoechoic areas which suggestive of thyroiditis.	YES	No uptake
2020	21	(31)	Slightly enlarged right thyroid lobe, with ill-defined hypoechogenicity and normal vascularity in both lobes	YES	N/A
2021	22	. ,	Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021	23		Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021	24	. ,	Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021	25	(35)	Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
2021		(35)	Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A
		· /	Hypoechoic areas	YES	N/A

N/A, not available; US, ultrasound.

while in the remaining cases non-specific patterns were described. Thyroid ^{99m}Tc-pertechnetate scintigraphy was performed in nine (33.3%) patients, with the uptake being either reduced (four cases) or absent (five cases).

SAT Treatment

Steroidal therapy was the most frequently administered therapy for SAT: the most used agent was prednisone (in 13 cases), but less frequently dexamethasone (in one case), prednisolone (in two cases), and methylprednisolone (in one case) were used. The median of prednisone equivalents administered per day was 25 mg (IQR 25–35). Seven patients received non-steroidal antiinflammatory agents (including aspirin, indomethacin, and mefenamic acid). These therapies were often paired with betablockers (most frequently propranolol). Two patients with thyrotoxicosis were initially treated with anti-thyroid drugs and subsequently switched to steroid therapy.

SAT Outcome

A complete resolution of symptoms and thyrotoxicosis was recorded in most cases, with the exception of four patients (14.8%) in whom an evolution toward subclinical

hypothyroidism was witnessed and another one who developed overt hypothyroidism.

Risk of Bias

Data extracted from the articles were almost complete in all the above outcomes except that regarding the laboratory tests. In fact, unfortunately, the antibody profile was reported in less than 50% of cases with a significant risk of bias due to missing results. On the contrary, the risk of bias was negligible in all the other outcomes.

Summary of Findings

The synthesis of results was made according to PRISMA statement (24). As reported in **Table 4**, based on the data found in the literature, the certainty of evidence was moderate in all outcomes except that of laboratory tests, which was lower.

DISCUSSION

SAT is generally secondary to upper respiratory tract infections by several viruses (3, 10); thus, SAT might represent a potential

Outcome	Participants (n)	Certainty of the evidence	Comments
Gender	27	Moderate	SAT more often recurs in women
Presentation of COVID-19	27	Moderate	In patients with SAT COVID-19 usually presents with mild upper respiratory symptoms
Time interval between SAT and COVID-19	24	Moderate	SAT typically manifests 3–60 days after COVID-19
SAT clinical presentation	27	Moderate	COVID-19-associated SAT usually manifests as classical SAT (i.e., neck pain, asthenia and malaise, palpitations, fever)
Thyroid laboratory tests and inflammation markers	Variable	Low to moderate	Overt thyrotoxicosis is present in all cases of SAT; CRP and ESR, and thyroglobulin are typically elevated
Thyroid US	24	Moderate	The ultrasonographic characteristics of classical SAT (patchy hypoechogenic areas with reduced vascularization) are observed in COVID-19-associated SAT
SAT treatment	27	Moderate	Steroidal therapy was the most frequently administered therapy
SAT outcome	27	Moderate	A complete resolution of symptoms and euthyroidism is reached in most cases

SAT, subacute thyroiditis; US, ultrasound; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence.

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different. Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited; the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate. The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

complication of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The fact that SARS-CoV-2 recognizes angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE-2) as its cellular entry receptor (44) and the recent demonstration of ACE-2 expression in follicular thyroid cells would further support this possibility (45–47).

Here we conceived a systematic review to achieve more solid evidence about the relationship between SAT and COVID-19. Particularly, we aimed to evaluate the size and quality of the published literature on this topic, and the clinical characteristics of SAT in this setting of patients.

Regarding the first objective, we found 19 studies reporting a total of 27 patients with SAT. Surprisingly, we did not find original articles with large sample size although the first case report was published 1 year ago (16). The 17 case reports (16, 25-34, 36–41) and the 2 case series (17, 35) described carefully the history of patients and their SAT. In this context, it should be highlighted that two recent systematic reviews on a similar topic included 21 (48) and 17 (49) SAT cases, respectively. Our systematic review, conducted 3 months later and conceived with two specific aims, found 27 cases. The fact that the number of reported SAT cases in literature did not exponentially increase in a time frame during which COVID-19 cases significantly increased worldwide indirectly confirms that SAT is a rare complication of COVID-19. Furthermore, because of the lack of large-sample studies, both size and quality of the literature about SAT in COVID-19 patients have to be considered poor. From this point of view, taking up the pertinent question raised by Brancatella et al. (17) of whether SAT is an underestimated manifestation of SARS-CoV-2, the issue remains unsolved. A most reasonable answer would be that SAT represents, at best, a rare complication of COVID-19.

Considering the second aim of the present systematic review, SAT occurred generally after COVID-19. Its clinical presentation appears to be similar to "classic" forms of SAT, encompassing neck pain, asthenia/malaise, fever, and palpitations. Under a biochemical point of view, the reported patients always presented with thyrotoxicosis, usually with elevated serum inflammation markers. When available, the ultrasonographic/ scintigraphic features of these patients were generally typical of virus-related thyroiditis. In addition, most patients were treated with steroids with complete resolution of symptoms. It should be noted that the median initial dose of prednisone employed in the reported patients (25 mg/day) is lower than the one recommended by the most recent guidelines (40 mg daily) (50). In general, patients with post-COVID-19 SAT presented a moderate-mild form of the disease, in terms of both clinical and biochemical presentation, with no peculiar clinical features.

The COVID-19 presentation and severity in the 27 patients with SAT deserve to be discussed. First, some specific and peculiar symptoms of COVID-19, such as anosmia and/or dysgeusia, were reported in a minority of SAT patients (19%). It is worth underlining that the above symptoms received great informative emphasis, making it unlikely that they were left unrecognized. Second, most patients experienced a pauci- or asymptomatic COVID-19 disease, with only three patients requiring hospitalization, and that their median age was 37 years, much younger than the typical COVID-19 hospitalized patients. Moreover, the female-to-male ratio was high, this being the opposite of what happens in a case series of hospitalized COVID-19 patients (51). In this context, it should be highlighted that in a recent study by Trimboli et al. (52) aimed at searching for an association between SAT and SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19-specific symptoms and contact tracing data, it was found that among the 10 included SAT patients, none had positive SARS-CoV-2 diagnostic tests, and only one case had a contact with people who were diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2.

To date, several large series studies as well as several reviews have evaluated the thyroid impact in COVID-19 hospitalized/ discharged patients (18–22). Surprisingly, even if these large case series (18–20, 23) were specifically aimed at describing the

thyroidal repercussions of COVID-19, no occurrence of SAT was reported, allowing the following speculation. It could be that, among the hospitalized COVID-19 patients, the typical symptoms of SAT were misdiagnosed in severe COVID-19 disease or masked by the routine use of high-dose corticosteroids currently employed in critical COVID-19 patients (53). This hypothesis would hold particularly true only for the so-called "second wave" of the pandemic, since corticosteroids were contraindicated by most national guidelines in the early phase of the pandemic (54). It could be thus hypothesized that SAT would be a typical complication of less severe forms of COVID-19 occurring in communitydwelling, young female subjects that are less frequently included in clinical studies, while hospitalized patients would more often experience non-thyroidal illness syndrome due to the hyperinflammatory state typical of severe COVID-19 (55-57). In this context, a systematic review by Ruggeri et al. (58) provided a comprehensive review of all COVID-19-related inflammatory disorders. This paper highlighted, from a slightly different point of view, that thyroid dysfunction is frequently observed in COVID-19 patients, regardless of the underlying thyroid disease, and physicians should be aware of its possible occurrence. The fact that no extreme increases in the number of SAT cases occurred in the last months, even in areas greatly affected by COVID-19 (59), could be due to the fact that social distancing measures and mask use reduced the diffusion of other SAT-causative viruses, similarly to what happened with the H1N1 virus (60).

The here reviewed evidence has several limitations: even if the clues in favor of a SARS-CoV-2-induced SAT exist, the size of published cases is poor, with only case reports and case series being available. Also, our review process was greatly limited by the nature of the available literature and by the lack of uniformity in part of the data, mainly the laboratory tests performed.

These results can give evidence-based information to help clinicians who encounter cases of COVID-19-related SAT in everyday practice. In particular, available literature suggests that these forms of SAT are rather mild and do not require any specific treatment when compared with "classic" SAT forms.

REFERENCES

- Stasiak M, Lewiński A. New Aspects in the Pathogenesis and Management of Subacute Thyroiditis. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2021) 5:1–13. doi: 10.1007/ s11154-021-09648-y
- Kojima M, Nakamura S, Oyama T, Sugihara S, Sakata N, Masawa N. Cellular Composition of Subacute Thyroiditis. An Immunohistochemical Study of Six Cases. *Pathol Res Pract* (2002) 198(12):833–7. doi: 10.1078/0344-0338-00344
- Nishihara E, Ohye H, Amino N, Takata K, Arishima T, Kudo T, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 852 Patients With Subacute Thyroiditis Before Treatment. *Intern Med* (2008) 47(8):725–9. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.47.0740
- Benbassat CA, Olchovsky D, Tsvetov G, Shimon I. Subacute Thyroiditis: Clinical Characteristics and Treatment Outcome in Fifty-Six Consecutive Patients Diagnosed Between 1999 and 2005. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2007) 30 (8):631–5. doi: 10.1007/BF03347442

Nevertheless, this complication does not appear to be particularly frequent in COVID-19 patients, especially in those who require hospitalization. More data regarding larger series of patients with a more uniform evaluation of thyroid function parameters will be required to draw more firm conclusions on the real incidence of SAT in COVID-19 patients. Moreover, long-term follow-up data will indicate if patients who experience COVID-19-related SAT are at risk for long-term thyroid sequelae.

In conclusion, the size of published data of SAT in COVID-19 patients is poor and the SAT clinical presentation in COVID-19 patients appears overall similar from that generally expected. According to these evidence-based data, SAT cannot be considered as a direct or frequent complication of SARS-CoV-2. However, since the rapid worldwide diffusion of SARS-CoV-2 and its variants, the present findings might change in the next future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PT, LCr, and MR designed and conceptualized the study, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript for intellectual content; all the co-authors interpreted the data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2021.707726/full#supplementary-material

- Volpé R, Row VV, Ezrin C. Circulating Viral and Thyroid Antibodies in Subacute Thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1967) 27(9):1275–84. doi: 10.1210/jcem-27-9-1275
- Eylan E, Zmucky R, Sheba C. Mumps Virus and Subacute Thyroiditis; Evidence of a Causal Association. *Lancet* (1957) 272(6978):1062–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(57)91438-1
- Volta C, Carano N, Street ME, Bernasconi S. Atypical Subacute Thyroiditis Caused by Epstein-Barr Virus Infection in a Three-Year-Old Girl. *Thyroid* (2005) 15(10):1189–91. doi: 10.1089/thy.2005.15.1189
- Al Maawali A, Al Yaarubi S, Al Futaisi A. An Infant With Cytomegalovirus-Induced Subacute Thyroiditis. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 21(2):191– 3. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2008.21.2.191
- Dimos G, Pappas G, Akritidis N. Subacute Thyroiditis in the Course of Novel H1N1 Influenza Infection. *Endocrine* (2010) 37(3):440–1. doi: 10.1007/ s12020-010-9327-3

- Desailloud R, Hober D. Viruses and Thyroiditis: An Update. *Virol J* (2009) 6:5. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-6-5
- Volpé R. Thyroiditis: Current Views of Pathogenesis. Med Clin North Am (1975) 59(5):1163–75. doi: 10.1016/S0025-7125(16)31965-4
- Parmar RC, Bavdekar SB, Sahu DR, Warke S, Kamat JR. Thyroiditis as a Presenting Feature of Mumps. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* (2001) 20(6):637–8. doi: 10.1097/00006454-200106000-00023
- Mori K, Yoshida K, Funato T, Ishii T, Nomura T, Fukuzawa H, et al. Failure in Detection of Epstein-Barr Virus and Cytomegalovirus in Specimen Obtained by Fine Needle Aspiration Biopsy of Thyroid in Patients With Subacute Thyroiditis. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (1998) 186(1):13–7. doi: 10.1620/ tjem.186.13
- Debons-Guillemin MC, Valla J, Gazeau J, Wybier-Franqui J, Giron ML, Toubert ME, et al. No Evidence of Spumaretrovirus Infection Markers in 19 Cases of De Quervain's Thyroiditis. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* (1992) 8 (9):1547. doi: 10.1089/aid.1992.8.1547
- Luotola K, Hyöty H, Salmi J, Miettinen A, Helin H, Pasternack A. Evaluation of Infectious Etiology in Subacute Thyroiditis–Lack of Association With Coxsackievirus Infection. *APMIS* (1998) 106(4):500–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1998.tb01378.x
- Brancatella A, Ricci D, Viola N, Sgrò D, Santini F, Latrofa F. Subacute Thyroiditis After Sars-COV-2 Infection. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105 (7):2367–70. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa276
- Brancatella A, Ricci D, Cappellani D, Viola N, Sgrò D, Santini F, et al. Is Subacute Thyroiditis an Underestimated Manifestation of SARS-CoV-2 Infection? Insights From a Case Series. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105 (10):e3742–6. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa537
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in Relation to Immune Profile, Disease Status and Outcome in 191 Patients With COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 106(2):e926– 35. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa813
- Khoo B, Tan T, Clarke SA, Mills EG, Patel B, Modi M, et al. Thyroid Function Before, During and After COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 106 (2):03–e811. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa830
- Chen M, Zhou W, Xu W. Thyroid Function Analysis in 50 Patients With COVID-19: A Retrospective Study. *Thyroid* (2020) 31(1):8–11. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2020.0363
- Lania A, Sandri MT, Cellini M, Mirani M, Lavezzi E, Mazziotti G. Thyrotoxicosis in Patients With COVID-19: The THYRCOV Study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183 (4):381–7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0335
- Croce L, Gangemi D, Ancona G, Liboà F, Bendotti G, Minelli L, et al. The Cytokine Storm and Thyroid Hormone Changes in COVID-19. J Endocrinol Invest (2021) 44(5):891–904. doi: 10.1007/s40618-021-01506-7
- Trimboli P, Camponovo C, Scappaticcio L, Bellastella G, Piccardo A, Rotondi M. Thyroid Sequelae of COVID-19: A Systematic Review of Reviews. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2021) 22(2):485–91. doi: 10.1007/s11154-021-09653-1
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 Statement: An Updated Guideline for Reporting Systematic Reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Asfuroglu Kalkan E, Ates I. A Case of Subacute Thyroiditis Associated With Covid-19 Infection. J Endocrinol Invest (2020) 43(8):1173–4. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-020-01316-3
- Ruggeri RM, Campennì A, Siracusa M, Frazzetto G, Gullo D. Subacute Thyroiditis in a Patient Infected With SARS-COV-2: An Endocrine Complication Linked to the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Hormones (Athens)* (2020) 20:219–21. doi: 10.1007/s42000-020-00230-w
- Mattar SAM, Koh SJQ, Rama Chandran S, Cherng BPZ. Subacute Thyroiditis Associated With COVID-19. *BMJ Case Rep* (2020) 13(8):e237336. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-237336
- Campos-Barrera E, Alvarez-Cisneros T, Davalos-Fuentes M. Subacute Thyroiditis Associated With COVID-19. Case Rep Endocrinol (2020) 2020:8891539. doi: 10.1155/2020/8891539
- Chong WH, Shkolnik B, Saha B, Beegle S. Subacute Thyroiditis in the Setting of Coronavirus Disease 2019. Am J Med Sci (2021) 361(3):400–2. doi: 10.1016/ j.amjms.2020.09.011
- Ruano R, Zorzano-Martinez M, Campos A, Rius F, Hernández M. Subacute Thyroiditis Might be a Complication Triggered by SARS-CoV-2. *Endocrinol Diabetes Nutr* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.endinu.2020.09.002

- San Juan MDJ, Florencio MQV, Joven MH. Subacute Thyroiditis In a Patient With Coronavirus Disease 2019. AACE Clin Case Rep (2020) 6(6):e361–e4. doi: 10.4158/ACCR-2020-0524
- Álvarez Martín MC, Del Peso Gilsanz C, Hernández López A. Subacute De Quervain Thyroiditis After SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *Endocrinol Diabetes Nutr* (2020) S2530–0164(20):30244–5. doi: 10.1016/j.endinu.2020.10.003
- Mehmood MA, Bapna M, Arshad M. A Case of Post-COVID-19 Subacute Thyroiditis. Cureus (2020) 12(12):e12301. doi: 10.7759/cureus.12301
- Dworakowska D, Morley S, Mulholland N, Grossman AB. Covid-19 Related Thyroiditis: A Novel Disease Entity? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2021) 95(3):369– 77. doi: 10.1111/cen.14453
- Sohrabpour S, Heidari F, Karimi E, Ansari R, Tajdini A. Subacute Thyroiditis in COVID-19 Patients. *Eur Thyroid J* (2021) 9(6):321–3. doi: 10.1159/000511707
- Khatri A, Charlap E, Kim A. Subacute Thyroiditis From COVID-19 Infection: A Case Report and Review of Literature. *Eur Thyroid J* (2021) 9(6):324–8. doi: 10.1159/000511872
- 37. Davoodi L, Oladi Z, Jafarpour H, Zakariaei Z, Soleymani E, Razavi A. A 33-Year-Old Man With COVID-19 Presented With Subacute Thyroiditis: A Rare Case Report and Literature Review. *New Microbes New Infect* (2021) 41:100871. doi: 10.1016/j.nmni.2021.100871
- Ippolito S, Dentali F, Tanda ML. SARS-CoV-2: A Potential Trigger for Subacute Thyroiditis? Insights From a Case Report. J Endocrinol Invest (2020) 43(8):1171-2. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01312-7
- Chakraborty U, Ghosh S, Chandra A, Ray AK. Subacute Thyroiditis as a Presenting Manifestation of COVID-19: A Report of an Exceedingly Rare Clinical Entity. *BMJ Case Rep* (2020) 13(12):e239953. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2020-239953
- Safwan M, Vijayan KN, Najeeb, TG J. Post-Coronavirus Disease 2019 De Quervain's Thyroiditis – A Case Report and Literature Review. *innovare Journals Med Sci* (2021) 9(2):4–6. doi: 10.22159/ijms.2021.v9i2.40956
- 41. Mathews SE, Castellanos-Diaz J, Srihari A, Kadiyala S, Leey-Casella J, Ghayee HK, et al. Subacute Thyroiditis and Heart Failure in a Patient Presenting With COVID-19. J Investig Med High Impact Case Rep (2021) 9:23247096211009412. doi: 10.1177/23247096211009412
- Ricci D, Brancatella A, Marinò M, Rotondi M, Chiovato L, Vitti P, et al. The Detection of Serum IgMs to Thyroglobulin in Subacute Thyroiditis Suggests a Protective Role of IgMs in Thyroid Autoimmunity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(6):e2261–70. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa038
- Nishihara E, Amino N, Kudo T, Kohsaka K, Ito M, Fukata S, et al. Moderate Frequency of Anti-Thyroglobulin Antibodies in the Early Phase of Subacute Thyroiditis. *Eur Thyroid J* (2019) 8(5):268–72. doi: 10.1159/000501033
- Li W, Moore MJ, Vasilieva N, Sui J, Wong SK, Berne MA, et al. Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 is a Functional Receptor for the SARS Coronavirus. *Nature* (2003) 426(6965):450–4. doi: 10.1038/nature02145
- Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 Cell Receptor Gene ACE2 in a Wide Variety of Human Tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty* (2020) 9 (1):45. doi: 10.1038/nature02145
- Rotondi M, Coperchini F, Ricci G, Denegri M, Croce L, Ngnitejeu ST, et al. Detection of SARS-COV-2 Receptor ACE-2 mRNA in Thyroid Cells: A Clue for COVID-19-Related Subacute Thyroiditis. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2020) 44:1085–90. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01436-w
- Coperchini F, Ricci G, Croce L, Denegri M, Ruggiero R, Villani L, et al. Modulation of ACE-2 mRNA by Inflammatory Cytokines in Human Thyroid Cells: A Pilot Study. *Endocrine* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02807-w
- Aemaz Ur Rehman M, Farooq H, Ali MM, Ebaad Ur Rehman M, Dar QA, Hussain A. The Association of Subacute Thyroiditis With COVID-19: A Systematic Review. SN Compr Clin Med (2021), 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s42399-021-00912-5
- Christensen J, O'Callaghan K, Sinclair H, Hawke K, Love A, Hajkowicz K, et al. Risk Factors, Treatment and Outcomes of Subacute Thyroiditis Secondary to COVID-19: A Systematic Review. *Intern Med J* (2021). doi: 10.1111/imj.15432
- Ross DS, Burch HB, Cooper DS, Greenlee MC, Laurberg P, Maia AL, et al. 2016 American Thyroid Association Guidelines for Diagnosis and Management of Hyperthyroidism and Other Causes of Thyrotoxicosis. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(10):1343–421. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0229
- McPadden J, Warner F, Young HP, Hurley NC, Pulk RA, Singh A, et al. Clinical Characteristics and Outcomes for 7,995 Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *PloS One* (2021) 16(3):e0243291. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243291

- Trimboli P, Camponovo C, Franscella S, Bernasconi E, Buetti N. Subacute Thyroiditis During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Searching for a Clinical Association With SARS-CoV-2. *Int J Endocrinol* (2021) 2021:5588592. doi: 10.1155/2021/5588592
- Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, Mafham M, Bell JL, Linsell L, et al. Dexamethasone in Hospitalized Patients With Covid-19 - Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med (2020) 394:693–704. doi: 10.1101/2020.06.22.20137273
- Dagens A, Sigfrid L, Cai E, Lipworth S, Cheng V, Harris E, et al. Scope, Quality, and Inclusivity of Clinical Guidelines Produced Early in the Covid-19 Pandemic: Rapid Review. *BMJ* (2020) 369:m1936. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1936
- Coperchini F, Chiovato L, Ricci G, Croce L, Magri F, Rotondi M. The Cytokine Storm in COVID-19: Further Advances in Our Understanding the Role of Specific Chemokines Involved. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2021) 58:82–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.12.005
- Coperchini F, Chiovato L, Rotondi M. Interleukin-6, CXCL10 and Infiltrating Macrophages in COVID-19-Related Cytokine Storm: Not One for All But All for One! *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:668507. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.668507
- Coperchini F, Chiovato L, Croce L, Magri F, Rotondi M. The Cytokine Storm in COVID-19: An Overview of the Involvement of the Chemokine/ Chemokine-Receptor System. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2020) 53:25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2020.05.003
- Ruggeri RM, Campennì A, Deandreis D, Siracusa M, Tozzoli R, Petranović Ovčariček P, et al. SARS-COV-2-Related Immune-Inflammatory Thyroid Disorders: Facts and Perspectives. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2021) 17 (7):737–59. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2021.1932467

- Pirola I, Gandossi E, Rotondi M, Marini F, Cristiano A, Chiovato L, et al. Incidence of De Quervain's Thyroiditis During the COVID-19 Pandemic in an Area Heavily Affected by Sars-CoV-2 Infection. *Endocrine* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02841-8
- Jones N. How COVID-19 is Changing the Cold and Flu Season. *Nature* (2020) 588(7838):388–90. doi: 10.1038/d41586-020-03519-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Trimboli, Cappelli, Croce, Scappaticcio, Chiovato and Rotondi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Interferon Beta-1b Therapy on Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Among COVID-19 Survivors

David Tak Wai Lui¹, Ivan Fan Ngai Hung¹, Chi Ho Lee¹, Alan Chun Hong Lee¹, Anthony Raymond Tam¹, Polly Pang¹, Tip Yin Ho¹, Chloe Yu Yan Cheung¹, Carol Ho Yi Fong¹, Chun Yiu Law², Kelvin Kai Wang To³, Ching Wan Lam⁴, Wing Sun Chow¹, Yu Cho Woo¹, Karen Siu Ling Lam¹ and Kathryn Choon Beng Tan^{1*}

¹ Department of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China, ² Division of Chemical Pathology, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China, ³ Department of Microbiology, The University of Hong Kong, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China, ⁴ Department of Pathology, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, SAR China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeff M P Holly, University of Bristol, United Kingdom

Reviewed by: Stephen Fitzgerald,

Royal Adelaide Hospital, Australia Haixia Guan, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, China

*Correspondence:

Kathryn Choon Beng Tan kcbtan@hku.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 July 2021 Accepted: 10 September 2021 Published: 30 September 2021

Citation:

Lui DTW, Hung IFN, Lee CH, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Pang P, Ho TY, Cheung CYY, Fong CHY, Law CY, To KKW, Lam CW, Chow WS, Woo YC, Lam KSL and Tan KCB (2021) The Impact of Interferon Beta-1b Therapy on Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Among COVID-19 Survivors. Front. Endocrinol. 12:746602. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.746602 **Background:** Some studies have indicated that interferon (IFN) may be valuable in COVID-19. We aimed to evaluate the impact of short-term IFN on incident thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity among COVID-19 survivors.

Methods: We included consecutive adults without known thyroid disorder admitted to Queen Mary Hospital for COVID-19 from July 2020 to January 2021 who had thyroid function tests (TFTs) and anti-thyroid antibodies measured both on admission and at three months.

Results: 226 patients were included (median age 55.0 years; 49.6% men): 135 were IFNtreated. There tended to be more abnormal TFTs upon reassessment in IFN-treated patients (8.1% vs 2.2%, p=0.080). 179 patients (65.4% IFN-treated) had a complete reassessment of anti-thyroid antibodies. There were significant increases in titres of both anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (anti-TPO: baseline 29.21 units [IQR: 14.97 – 67.14] vs reassessment 34.30 units [IQR: 18.82 – 94.65], p<0.001) and anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (anti-Tg: baseline 8.23 units [IQR: 5.40 – 18.44] vs reassessment 9.14 units [IQR: 6.83 – 17.17], p=0.001) in the IFN-treated group but not IFN-naïve group. IFN treatment (standardised beta 0.245, p=0.001) was independently associated with changes in anti-TPO titre. Of the 143 patients negative for anti-TPO at baseline, 8 became anti-TPO positive upon reassessment (seven IFN-treated; one IFN-naïve). Incident anti-TPO positivity was more likely to be associated with abnormal TFTs upon reassessment (phi 0.188, p=0.025).

Conclusion: IFN for COVID-19 was associated with modest increases in anti-thyroid antibody titres, and a trend of more incident anti-TPO positivity and abnormal TFTs during convalescence. Our findings suggest that clinicians monitor the thyroid function and

69

anti-thyroid antibodies among IFN-treated COVID-19 survivors, and call for further followup studies regarding the clinical significance of these changes.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, thyroid function tests, autoimmunity, interferon beta-1b, thyroid gland

INTRODUCTION

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has infected more than 190 million people worldwide and caused more than 4 million deaths (1). Various therapeutic options are evaluated for COVID-19. Some studies have indicated that interferon may be valuable in COVID-19. Interferon beta-1b has been shown to shorten the duration of viral shedding, alleviate symptoms, reduce cytokine responses, and may reduce mortality and intensive care unit admission (2, 3).

Interferon beta-1b is an example of drug repurposing to fight against COVID-19 (4). Indeed, interferon beta-1b is a wellestablished therapy for multiple sclerosis (5). As a maintenance therapy used in a chronic setting, its long-term safety has been evaluated. Incident thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity have been recognised in chronic interferon beta-1b therapy among patients with multiple sclerosis in retrospective and prospective, monocentric and multicentric studies (6). In contrast to the longterm treatment with interferon beta-1b in multiple sclerosis in terms of years, interferon beta-1b is given for a much shorter duration (typically a few days) in the context of acute COVID-19. Nonetheless, given the concerns of thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity with interferon beta-1b in multiple sclerosis, it is prudent to investigate whether short-term interferon beta-1b therapy in acute COVID-19 is associated with thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity. This will inform our clinical practice in the management of COVID-19 patients.

Hence, we carried out this prospective study of COVID-19 survivors to evaluate the impact of interferon beta-1b therapy on thyroid function and autoimmunity.

METHODS

The public health ordinance in Hong Kong required all patients tested positive for COVID-19 to be admitted to the hospital, including those detected on contact tracing and the Universal Community Testing Programme, regardless of symptoms (7). Our institution is one of the major centres in Hong Kong receiving confirmed COVID-19 patients. Consecutive adult patients (aged \geq 18 years) admitted to our institution for COVID-19 between 21 July 2020 and 20 January 2021 were prospectively recruited. The presence of SARS-CoV-2 was confirmed in all patients by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) from the nasopharyngeal swab (NPS) or deep throat saliva (DTS), using the LightMix SarbecoV E-gene assay (TIB Molbiol, Berlin, Germany), which targeted the envelope protein (E) gene of SARS-CoV-2 (7, 8). Exclusion criteria were (i) history of thyroid, hypothalamic or pituitary

disorders; (ii) use of anti-thyroid drugs or thyroid hormone replacement; and (iii) use of medications with potential impact on thyroid function, including systemic steroid, amiodarone, heparin and dopamine, before admission. Each patient had baseline blood tests taken within 24 hours after admission before starting COVID-19 treatments.

Serum thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), free thyroxine (fT4) and free triiodothyronine (fT3) were measured with immunoassays ADVIA Centaur® TSH3-Ultra, FT4 and FT3 assays, respectively (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Erlangen, Germany). The reference ranges for TSH, fT4, and fT3 were 0.35-4.8 mIU/L, 12-23 pmol/L and 3.2-6.5 pmol/L, respectively. Anti-thyroglobulin (anti-Tg) and anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) antibody titres were measured with QUANTA Lite[®] Thyroid T and TPO enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, respectively (Inova Diagnostics, San Diego, CA, USA). Positive anti-Tg and anti-TPO was defined by >100 World Health Organization (WHO) units (thereafter 'units'), as specified by the manufacturer. Basic haematology and biochemistry panel, glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) and inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein [CRP], erythrocyte sedimentation rate) were measured. Abnormal laboratory parameters were defined according to their respective reference ranges (7).

Demographics and significant comorbidities were recorded. Obesity was defined by the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) code 278.0. Diabetes was defined by a known diagnosis of diabetes or HbA1c ≥6.5% on admission. Charlson comorbidity index was calculated for each patient. COVID-19-related symptoms were evaluated with a standard checklist. Respiratory rate, baseline oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry, and oxygen requirement on admission were captured. Cycle threshold (Ct) values were obtained from the qualitative LightMix SarbecoV E-gene assay (TIB Molbiol, Berlin, Germany) performed on specimens from NPS or DTS (whichever was lower) on admission. The Ct value represents the number of cycles required for a gene target or a PCR product to be detected. While viral loads were not directly measured with a dedicated quantitative RT-PCR assay in this analysis, studies have shown a good correlation between Ct values and SARS-CoV-2 viral loads (9, 10), such that the lower the Ct values, the higher the viral loads.COVID-19 severity was classified according to the 'Chinese Clinical Guidance for COVID-19 Pneumonia Diagnosis and Treatment (7th edition)' published by the Chinese National Health Commission (11). Patients' clinical outcomes were captured. For patients treated for COVID-19, one or more of the following were given: clofazimine (12), ribavirin, interferon beta-1b, or remdesivir (2). Dexamethasone (13) and subcutaneous low-molecularweight heparin (LMWH) (14) were added at physicians' discretion as clinically indicated. Interferon beta-1b was given once daily subcutaneously at a dose of 16 million IU. The decision to use interferon beta-1b was not influenced by the baseline thyroid function and antibody levels. The duration of interferon beta-1b therapy was recorded.

Follow-up visits were arranged around three months from admission to reassess thyroid function tests (TFTs) and antithyroid antibodies. Patients who had TFTs reassessed were included in the current study.

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster. Written consent has been obtained from each patient or subject after fully explaining the purpose and nature of all procedures used.

All statistical analyses were performed with IBM[®] SPSS[®] version 26. Two-sided p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data were presented as median with interquartile range (IQR) or number with percentage as appropriate. Between-group comparisons were performed with the t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables as appropriate and Chi-square or Fisher's exact tests for categorical variables as appropriate. Within-group comparisons were performed with paired t-test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test for continuous variables and McNemar's test for categorical variables. Phi-coefficient was used to assess the relationship between two dichotomous categorical variables. Multivariable linear regression analysis was used to identify the independent determinants of changes in anti-TPO titre. All variables with statistical significance (p<0.05) in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariable regression analysis. Values not normally distributed were logarithmically transformed before analyses.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics of the Cohort

A total of 226 patients were included, with their baseline characteristics summarised in **Table 1**. Their median age was 55.0 years, with no sex preponderance. Hypertension, diabetes and obesity were the most common comorbidities. The majority had non-severe acute COVID-19. 59.7% of the cohort received interferon beta-1b, and 16.4% received dexamethasone. The median duration of interferon beta-1b therapy was 5 days (range: 1 - 15 days; 65.9% received 5 days of interferon). Only 2.2% of the cohort required intensive care unit admission.

Evolution of TFTs in the Cohort

Reassessment TFTs were performed at a median interval of 90 days (IQR: 68 – 105) after acute COVID-19. Out of the 46 patients who had abnormal TFTs upon admission, 38 (82.6%) recovered during convalescence. The evolution of thyroid function in the cohort is summarised in **Figure 1**. Four remained in subclinical thyrotoxicosis, defined by low TSH (i.e. <0.35 mIU/L) with normal fT4 and fT3 (i.e. fT4 and fT3

within their respective reference ranges). One had persistently low fT3 on reassessment, as he was admitted for fluid overload and clinically ill at the time of reassessment. One patient who initially had low fT3 developed T3-toxicosis (i.e. suppressed TSH <0.01 mIU/L with normal fT4 but elevated fT3 levels) at three months, followed by spontaneous resolution another three months later, suggestive of painless thyroiditis. Two patients had persistent subclinical hypothyroidism with positive anti-TPO, likely pre-existing Hashimoto's thyroiditis diagnosed upon admission for COVID-19.

Among the 180 patients who had normal TFTs at baseline, 5 had abnormal TFTs upon reassessment: one patient had subclinical hypothyroidism; two patients had isolated mildly elevated fT4 levels; one had isolated mildly elevated fT3 levels; the remaining patient had isolated mildly low fT4 level.

Among all 226 patients, 135 were treated with interferon beta-1b. The comparison of the patients who were and were not treated with interferon is summarised in **Table 1**. Interferontreated patients had higher SARS-CoV-2 viral load and more lymphopenia on admission. The length of stay of interferontreated patients was longer. As ribavirin was given in combination with interferon, the interferon-treated patients were more likely to be treated with ribavirin. There tended to be more abnormal TFTs upon reassessment among interferontreated patients (interferon-treated 11/135 [8.1%] *vs* interferonnaïve 2/91 [2.2%], p=0.080). Subgroup analysis of patients with normal TFTs at baseline (n=180) showed numerically more abnormal TFTs upon reassessment among interferon-exposed patients compared to those interferon-naïve (interferon-treated 4/104 [3.8%] *vs* interferon-naïve 1/76 [1.3%], p=0.308).

Impact of Interferon beta-1b on Anti-Thyroid Antibodies

The impact of interferon beta-1b on anti-thyroid antibodies was evaluated in 179 patients who had complete anti-TPO and anti-Tg results available at baseline and reassessment (Figure 2). One hundred seventeen patients were treated with interferon beta-1b, while 62 patients were interferon-naïve. There was no difference in age, sex, baseline COVID-19 severity, and baseline anti-TPO and anti-Tg positivity between interferon-treated and interferonnaïve patients. We first analysed the changes in anti-TPO and anti-Tg titres according to interferon exposure. (Figure 3) Among interferon-treated patients, both anti-TPO and anti-Tg titres showed statistically significant, but modest, increases upon reassessment. Anti-TPO titres increased from 29.21 units (IQR: 14.97 - 67.14) to 34.30 units (IQR: 18.82 - 94.65) (p<0.001). Anti-Tg titres increased from 8.23 units (IQR: 5.40 - 18.44) to 9.14 units (IQR: 6.83 - 17.17) (p<0.001). On the other hand, among interferon-naïve patients, titres of anti-TPO (baseline: 33.14 units [IQR: 19.77 - 79.12] vs reassessment: 27.80 units [IQR: 18.80 - 81.73], p=0.228) and anti-Tg (baseline: 9.76 units [IQR: 6.60 - 15.85] vs reassessment: 9.96 units [IQR: 6.92 -15.89], p=0.908) did not significantly change upon reassessment. Changes in anti-TPO titres among the interferon-treated group were significantly different from the interferon-naïve group (interferon-treated: 3.75 units [IQR: -1.91 to 11.96] vs
TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the cohort (n = 226).

	All	Interferon-treated	Interferon-naïve	P valu
Number	226	135	91	_
Baseline characteristics				
Age (years)	55.0 (41.8 - 63.0)	56.0 (42.0 - 64.0)	54.0 (39.0 - 62.0)	0.297
Vale	112 (49.6%)	66 (48.9%)	46 (50.5%)	0.807
Smoking	28/191 (14.7%)	18/112 (16.1%)	10/79 (12.7%)	0.511
Drinking	40/185 (21.6%)	21/106 (19.8%)	19/79 (24.1%)	0.488
Abnormal TFTs on admission	46 (20.4%)	31 (23.0%)	15 (16.5%)	0.235
Baseline anti-TPO positive	45 (19.9%)	26 (19.3%)	19 (20.9%)	0.765
Baseline anti-Tg positive	22 (9.7%)	16 (11.9%)	6 (6.6%)	0.191
COVID-19 severity	()	- ()		0.293
Mild	155 (68.6%)	97 (71.9%)	58 (63.7%)	0.200
Moderate	61 (27.0%)	32 (23.7%)	29 (31.9%)	
Severe	10 (4.4%)	6 (4.4%)	4 (4.4%)	
SARS-CoV-2 PCR Ct value	24.10 (18.67 – 29.45)	21.77 (17.49 – 26.90)	28.10 (19.95 – 32.19)	< 0.00
ymphopenia	99 (43.8%)	67 (49.6%)	32 (35.2%)	0.032
CRP (mg/dL)	1.05 (0.31–2.83)	1.00 (0.31 – 2.82)	1.04 (0.31 – 3.06)	0.444
ESR (mm/hr)	40 (23 - 62)	39 (21 – 55)	46 (24 - 71)	0.068
Comorbidities	40 (20 02)	00 (21 00)	40 (24 71)	0.000
Charlson comorbidity index				0.772
0	173 (76.5%)	104 (77.0%)	69 (75.8%)	0.112
1	30 (13.3%)	18 (13.3%)	12 (13.2%)	
≥2	23 (10.2%)	13 (9.6%)	10 (11.0%)	
	54 (23.9%)	33 (24.4%)	21 (23.1%)	0.813
Diabetes mellitus	32 (14.2%)	20 (14.8%)	12 (13.2%)	0.731
Desity	17 (7.5%)	9 (6.7%)	8 (8.8%)	0.553
Aalignancy	15 (6.6%)	7 (5.2%)	8 (8.8%)	0.286
CAD or heart failure	9 (4.0%)	5 (3.7%)	4 (4.4%)	0.200
Pulmonary disease	9 (4.0%)	5 (3.7%)	4 (4.4%)	0.999
Stroke or TIA	4 (1.8%)	3 (2.2%)	1 (1.1%)	0.998
Clinical course	4 (1.076)	0 (2.270)	1 (1.176)	0.000
ength of hospitalisation (days)	8 (6–12)	9 (7 – 13)	6 (2 – 11)	<0.00 ⁻
Dxygen requirement	27 (11.9%)	9 (7 – 13) 17 (12.6%)	10 (11.0%)	0.715
ntensive care unit admission	5 (2.2%)	4 (3.0%)	1 (1.1%)	0.651
reatment	5 (2.270)	4 (3.0%)	1 (1.176)	0.051
Interferon beta-1b	135 (59.7%)	135 (100%)	0 (0%)	<0.00 ⁻
	, ,		. ,	
Ribavirin	98 (43.4%)	98 (72.6%)	0 (0%)	<0.00
Remdesivir	54 (23.9%)	29 (21.5%)	25 (27.5%)	0.300
Dexamethasone	37 (16.4%)	25 (18.5%)	12 (13.2%)	0.288
Clofazimine	5 (2.2%)	4 (3.0%)	1 (1.1%)	0.651
SC LMWH	5 (2.2%)	4 (3.0%)	1 (1.1%)	0.651

Data presented as median with interquartile range or number with percentage as appropriate.

TFT, thyroid function test; anti-TPO, anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody; anti-Tg, anti-thyroglobulin antibody; COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; PCR Ct value, polymerase chain reaction cycle threshold value; CRP, C-reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CAD, coronary artery disease; TIA, transient ischaemic attack; SC LMWH, subcutaneous low molecular weight heparin, Values in bold represent statistical significance.

interferon-naïve: -2.63 units [IQR: -8.95 to 6.45], p=0.001). In contrast, the changes in anti-Tg titres were not significantly different between the two groups (p=0.294).

We further studied the factors associated with changes in anti-TPO titres upon reassessment. Among the continuous variables, age, baseline CRP or ESR, SARS-CoV-2 PCR Ct values, or length of hospitalisation did not correlate with changes in anti-TPO titres. Among the categorical variables, only interferon beta-1b treatment was significantly associated with changes in anti-TPO titres (p=0.001), but not sex, smoking/ drinking, abnormal TFTs on admission, baseline COVID-19 severity, baseline anti-TPO positivity, baseline lymphopenia or comorbidities. Multivariable linear regression analysis showed that interferon beta-1b treatment (standardised beta 0.245, p=0.001) was a positive independent determinant of changes in anti-TPO titres.

To investigate the impact of interferon treatment on incident anti-TPO positivity, we analysed the 143 patients who were anti-TPO negative at baseline: 94 were interferon-treated, and 49 were interferon-naïve. Eight patients became anti-TPO positive upon reassessment (**Table 2**). There were more events of incident anti-TPO positivity in the interferon-treated group than in the interferon-naïve group, although not reaching statistical significance due to the small number of events (interferontreated 7/94 [7.4%] *vs* interferon-naïve 1/49 [2.0%], p=0.264). Interestingly, with incident anti-TPO positivity, it was more likely to observe abnormal TFTs upon reassessment (phi 0.188, p=0.025).





DISCUSSION

We provided the first systematic analysis of the impact of COVID-19 treatment on the evolution of thyroid function and autoimmunity in patients with COVID-19. Our main finding was that interferon beta-1b treatment for COVID-19, even for such a short duration of a few days, could induce modest increases in anti-thyroid antibody titres and be associated with more incident anti-TPO positivity upon reassessment at three months. Furthermore, abnormal TFTs upon reassessment was more likely in interferon-treated patients and patients having incident anti-TPO positivity. Our findings would support the need for thyroid function and antibody monitoring in interferon-treated COVID-19 patients, and call for further follow-up studies regarding the clinical significance of these changes.

The interrelationship between thyroid and COVID-19 has become more evident with concerted efforts from research groups in basic science and clinical thyroidology (15, 16). With the expanding therapeutic armamentarium for COVID-19, the impact of COVID-19 treatment on the thyroid should be evaluated. Our current study focused on interferon beta-1b because of the concern about incident thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity with its chronic use in multiple sclerosis. Some studies have indicated that interferon may be valuable in COVID-19, especially when initiated in the early stage of



TABLE 2 | The thyroid function and antibody profile of patients who developed incident anti-TPO positivity upon reassessment.

Patient	Sex/			On a	dmission		COVID-19			R	eassess	ment	
number	number Age	treatment	Days	TSH ^a	fT4ª	fT3ª	Anti-TPO ^b	Anti-Tg ^b					
1	M/55	1.6	15	3.3	89.28	21.07	REM	71	3.7	14	3.7	197.9	38.01
2	M/58	0.55	16	2.9	64.92	2957.1	IFN+RIB+DEX	102	0.02	21	7.2	100.12	2793.9
3	F/67	1.3	18	N/A	45.45	4.31	IFN+RIB	89	1.7	17	5.3	148.21	6.58
4	F/61	0.61	19	4.1	44.36	5.10	IFN+RIB	109	0.45	18	4.7	129.69	5.62
5	F/61	1.2	17	3.5	6.85	4.90	IFN+RIB	93	2.8	20	5.0	141.24	8.31
6	M/21	1.1	17	4.4	99.85	6.62	IFN+RIB	105	0.47	19	5.2	128.51	9.67
7	M/51	2.2	16	4.6	97.06	4.84	IFN+RIB	90	1.7	20	5.6	122.37	7.31
8	M/45	1.6	13	4.9	82.88	8.97	IFN+REM +DEX	28	1.6	11	5.1	108.09	6.23

M, male; F, female; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone (mIU/L); fT4, free thyroxine (pmol/L); fT3, free triiodothyronine (pmol/L); anti-TPO, anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody (units); anti-Tg, anti-thyroglobulin antibody (units); COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; IFN, interferon beta-1b; RIB, ribavirin; REM, remdesivir; DEX, dexamethasone; N/A, not available. Age expressed in vears.

^aReference ranges: TSH 0.35 – 4.8 mlU/L, fT4 12–23 pmol/L, fT3 3.2–6.5 pmol/L.

^bPositive anti-TPO defined by >100 units; positive anti-Tg defined by >100 units.

Values out of reference ranges are in bold.

viraemia. Hung et al. have demonstrated early initiation of triple therapy (interferon beta-1b as the backbone) within one week from symptom onset to be effective (17). Similarly, a trial in Toronto evaluating peginterferon lambda treatment within one week from symptom onset has demonstrated efficacy in viral clearance (18). Although interferon use in the multinational SOLIDARITY trial has demonstrated no significant benefits in overall mortality, initiation of ventilation, and duration of hospital stay among hospitalised COVID-19 patients, the negative results could be explained by the probably late initiation of treatment (19). Antiviral agents are likely to be most effective during the early stage of viraemia, which is before

the inflammatory pulmonary phase requiring hospitalisation (20). Hence, the treatments in the SOLIDARITY trial may not work in this late inflammatory pulmonary phase of the COVID-19. Furthermore, the patient characteristics in the SOLIDARITY trial were heterogeneous, and information on SARS-CoV-2 viral load was not available. As one of the potential treatment options of COVID-19, it is therefore clinically relevant to understand the impact of interferon treatment on the thyroid.

Earlier longitudinal studies of the impact of interferon beta-1b treatment among patients with multiple sclerosis reported up to 33% thyroid dysfunction and 20% thyroid autoimmunity, especially during the first year of treatment (21, 22). However,

another study suggested only a random non-significant change in thyroid function, which did not correlate with thyroid autoimmunity (6). A subsequent larger cohort study of 106 patients with multiple sclerosis, with a much longer follow-up for up to 7 years, provided a clearer picture. Up to a quarter of patients developed incident thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity, mainly during the first year of treatment with interferon beta (1a or 1b), supporting the need for thyroid function and antibody monitoring, especially during the first year (23). Among these, some developed permanent hypothyroidism. Moreover, pre-existing or incident thyroid autoimmunity was predictive of incident thyroid dysfunction (23). A further Italian long-term follow-up study evaluating various disease-modifying agents for multiple sclerosis confirmed the direct role of interferon therapy on the thyroid, showing a rate of around 10% for thyroid dysfunction and autoimmunity on treatment (24). Proposed mechanisms of the impact of interferon therapy on the thyroid include a direct inhibitory effect of interferon on iodine organification, especially in patients who develop hypothyroidism without antibody production (21); and the autoimmune reaction or immune system dysregulation associated with chronic interferon exposure (24). Compared to chronic use in multiple sclerosis, we have evaluated the impact of much shorter treatment duration (median of 5 days) and a more intense dosing regimen (16 million IU/day), in contrast to the usual regimen of 8 million IU every other day as a chronic therapy in multiple sclerosis. Intriguingly, even with such a short duration of interferon therapy, we still observed a 5.6% rate of incident anti-TPO positivity at three months, which correlated with a higher chance of abnormal TFTs during convalescence. Moreover, we noted a trend towards more abnormal TFTs upon reassessment in interferon-treated patients, although most of these were not clinically overt. Despite a modest magnitude of anti-TPO titre elevation among patients who developed incident anti-TPO positivity, further follow-up is warranted for potential subsequent thyroid dysfunction as the occurrence of anti-TPO can precede thyroid dysfunction (25). Hence, our findings would suggest the need for TFT and antithyroid antibody monitoring, especially in COVID-19 patients treated with interferon beta-1b. Further follow-up of these patients on a longer-term will elucidate whether this phenomenon is transient or permanent.

In our cohort, most interferon-treated patients were also treated with ribavirin, and none were treated with ribavirin alone. It could be difficult to tell whether interferon beta-1b alone or the interferon-ribavirin combination accounted for the increase in anti-thyroid antibody titres. Ribavirin is commonly used together with interferon in treating hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. Ribavirin induces the production of T helper 1 (Th1) cytokines in the immune response against HCV. Combining ribavirin with interferon, therefore, stimulates the immune system response and eradicates HCV from the body. The Th1like immune response involved has been shown to be a factor in the development and maintenance of organ-specific autoimmune diseases. Hence, ribavirin may be associated with the occurrence of autoimmunity (26). Nonetheless, a previous study has shown that adding ribavirin to interferon-alpha therapy in patients with HCV-related chronic hepatitis did not modify the anti-thyroid antibody pattern (27).

Studying the patterns of thyroid function and autoimmunity in the interferon-naïve group could facilitate our understanding of the potential of SARS-CoV-2 in triggering autoimmunity (28). In our cohort, we did not observe significant increases in anti-TPO and anti-Tg titres among the interferon-naïve group. There was only one patient having incident anti-TPO positivity among the 62 interferon-naïve patients. From our current prospective longitudinal observational study, there is no convincing evidence of COVID-19 triggering autoimmunity suggested by existing case reports of patients who developed Graves' disease and Hashimoto thyroiditis following the diagnosis of COVID-19 (29). Nevertheless, SARS-CoV-2 infection may cause destructive thyroiditis (30), which may lead to subsequent development of autoimmunity, exemplified by cases of Graves' disease (31) and Hashimoto thyroiditis (32) a few months after the initial episode of subacute thyroiditis (believed to be of viral origin). We have yet to observe these phenomena in our cohort, possibly related to the relatively short follow-up duration. Most patients with subclinical thyrotoxicosis in the acute COVID-19 in our cohort spontaneously normalised at three months. A longer-term follow-up of this cohort may shed light on this postulated sequela.

The strength of our study was the systematic reassessment of both thyroid function and anti-thyroid antibodies stratified by interferon exposure, showing an increase in anti-TPO and anti-Tg titres and incident anti-TPO positivity in the interferontreated group, despite the anti-TPO and anti-Tg assays being semi-quantitative. The fact that the COVID-19 severity was nonsevere for most patients in our cohort means that our results may be generalisable to COVID-19 patients at large. There are certain limitations in this study. Firstly, the sample size was relatively small, and there were missing data regarding anti-thyroid antibodies upon reassessment. Nevertheless, baseline characteristics including age, sex, COVID-19 severity, SARS-CoV-2 viral load and abnormal TFTs were comparable between those with and without anti-thyroid antibodies upon reassessment. Secondly, SARS-CoV-2 viral loads were represented by Ct values. Despite a good correlation (9, 10), direct quantitative measurements of viral loads would have been preferable if available. Thirdly, obesity was defined by the ICD-9-CM diagnostic code in our study as a categorical variable, instead of body mass index as a continuous variable, and was likely to be underreported. Fourthly, high-resolution computed tomography was done at the physicians' discretion. Thus, the detection of imaging features of pneumonia in our cohort might be less sensitive. Fifthly, thyroid imaging was not available to assess the potential impact of interferon therapy or SARS-CoV-2 on the thyroid beyond TFT and anti-thyroid antibodies. Finally, the duration of follow-up was relatively short in the current study. The longer-term impact of interferon beta-1b will be informed with the continuation of follow-up of this cohort.

CONCLUSION

Interferon beta-1b treatment, even when used in the short term for COVID-19, could induce modest increases in anti-thyroid antibody titres. It was also associated with incident anti-TPO positivity during convalescence, correlating with a higher likelihood of abnormal TFTs during convalescence. If short courses of interferon treatment become a standard therapy for COVID-19, the modest changes detected thus far may indicate a phenomenon of clinical importance. As for now, our findings suggest that clinicians monitor the thyroid function and antithyroid antibodies among interferon-treated COVID-19 survivors, and call for further follow-up studies regarding the clinical significance of these changes.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- 1. WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Situation Report. Available at: https://covid19.who.int/.
- Hung IFN. Treatment of Coronavirus Disease 2019. Curr Opin HIV AIDS (2020) 15(6):336–40. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000652
- Tortajada C, Añón S, Ortiz MM, Andreu-Ballester JC, Flores J. Interferon β-1b for Patients With Moderate to Severe COVID-19 in the Inflammatory Phase of the Disease. J Med Virol (2021) 93(7):4102–7. doi: 10.1002/ jmv.26976
- Chen PL, Lee NY, Cia CT, Ko WC, Hsueh PR. A Review of Treatment of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Therapeutic Repurposing and Unmet Clinical Needs. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 1711:584956. doi: 10.3389/ fphar.2020.584956
- Plosker GL. Interferon-β-1b: A Review of Its Use in Multiple Sclerosis. CNS Drugs (2011) 25(1):67–88. doi: 10.2165/11206430-00000000-00000
- Durelli L, Ferrero B, Oggero A, Verdun E, Ghezzi A, Montanari E, et al. Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity During Interferon Beta-1b Treatment: A Multicenter Prospective Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2001) 86(8):3525–32. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.8.7721
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Role of Non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome in Predicting Adverse Outcomes in COVID-19 Patients Predominantly of Mild-to-Moderate Severity. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2021) 95, 469–77. doi: 10.1111/cen.14476
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in Relation to Immune Profile, Disease Status, and Outcome in 191 Patients With COVID-19. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106(2):e926– 35. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa813
- Yu F, Yan L, Wang N, Yang S, Wang L, Tang Y, et al. Quantitative Detection and Viral Load Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 in Infected Patients. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71(15):793–8. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa345
- Tom MR, Mina MJ. To Interpret the SARS-CoV-2 Test, Consider the Cycle Threshold Value. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71(16):2252–4. doi: 10.1093/cid/ ciaa619
- Chinese Clinical Guidance for COVID-19 Pneumonia Diagnosis and Treatment. Available at: http://kjfy.meetingchina.org/msite/news/show/cn/ 3337.html.
- Yuan S, Yin X, Meng X, Chan JF-W, Ye Z-W, Riva L, et al. Clofazimine Broadly Inhibits Coronaviruses Including SARS-CoV-2. *Nature* (2021) 593 (7859):418–23. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03431-4

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DL wrote the manuscript. DL, IH, CHL, AL, AT, PP, TH, CC, CYL, and WC researched the data. DL and CF performed statistical analyses. IH, CHL, AL, KKT, CWL, WC, YW, KL, and KCT critically reviewed and edited the manuscript. KCT initiated and supervised the study, is the guarantor of this work, has full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Crisan Dabija R, Antohe I, Trofor A, Antoniu SA. Corticosteroids in SARS-COV2 Infection: Certainties and Uncertainties in Clinical Practice. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther (2021) 1:1–10. doi: 10.1080/14787210.2021.1933437
- Barcellona D, Fanni D, Gerosa C, Congiu T, Orrù G, Faa G, et al. Heparins and 2019-nCoV Infection: A Narrative Review. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2021) 25(9):3594–606. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_202105_25842
- Lisco G, De Tullio A, Jirillo E, Giagulli VA, De Pergola G, Guastamacchia E, et al. Thyroid and COVID-19: A Review on Pathophysiological, Clinical and Organisational Aspects. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2021) 25:1–14. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-021-01554-z
- Chen W, Tian Y, Li Z, Zhu J, Wei T, Lei J. Potential Interaction Between SARS-CoV-2 and Thyroid: A Review. *Endocrinology* (2021) 162(3):bqab004. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqab004
- Hung IFN, Lung KC, Tso EYK, Liu R, Chung TWH, Chu MY, et al. Triple Combination of Interferon Beta-1b, Lopinavir-Ritonavir, and Ribavirin in the Treatment of Patients Admitted to Hospital With COVID-19: An Open-Label, Randomised, Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10238):1695–704. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31042-4
- Feld JJ, Kandel C, Biondi MJ, Kozak RA, Zahoor MA, Lemieux C, et al. Peginterferon Lambda for the Treatment of Outpatients With COVID-19: A Phase 2, Placebo-Controlled Randomised Trial. *Lancet Respir Med* (2021) 9 (5):498–510. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30566-X
- Pan H, Peto R, Henao-Restrepo A-M, Preziosi M-P, Sathiyamoorthy V, Abdool Karim Q, et al. Repurposed Antiviral Drugs for Covid-19 - Interim WHO Solidarity Trial Results. N Engl J Med (2021) 384(6):497–511. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2023184
- Ngo BT, Marik P, Kory P, Shapiro L, Thomadsen R, Iglesias J, et al. The Time to Offer Treatments for COVID-19. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* (2021) 30 (5):505–18. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2021.1901883
- 21. Monzani F, Caraccio N, Casolaro A, Lombardo F, Moscato G, Murri L, et al. Long-Term Interferon β -1b Therapy for MS: Is Routine Thyroid Assessment Always Useful? *Neurology* (2000) 55(4):549–52. doi: 10.1212/WNL.55.4.549
- Kreisler A, De Seze J, Stojkovic T, Delisse B, Combelles M, Vérier A, et al. Multiple Sclerosis, Interferon Beta and Clinical Thyroid Dysfunction. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2003) 107(2):154–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0404.2003.02009.x
- Caraccio N, Dardano A, Manfredonia F, Manca L, Pasquali L, Iudice A, et al. Long-Term Follow-Up of 106 Multiple Sclerosis Patients Undergoing Interferon-β la or lb Therapy: Predictive Factors of Thyroid Disease Development and Duration. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(7):4133–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2326

- 24. Frisullo G, Calabrese M, Tortorella C, Paolicelli D, Ragonese P, Annovazzi P, et al. Thyroid Autoimmunity and Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis Patients During Long-Term Treatment With Interferon Beta or Glatiramer Acetate: An Italian Multicenter Study. *Mult Scler J* (2014) 20(9):1265–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458514521311
- Siriwardhane T, Krishna K, Ranganathan V, Jayaraman V, Wang T, Bei K, et al. Significance of Anti-TPO as an Early Predictive Marker in Thyroid Disease. *Autoimmune Dis* (2019) 2019:1684074. doi: 10.1155/2019/1684074
- Nadeem A, Hussain MM, Aslam M, Hussain T. Interferon-Alpha Induced and Ribavirin Induced Thyroid Dysfunction in Patients With Chronic Hepatitis C. *Hepat Mon* (2010) 10(2):132–40.
- 27. Carella C, Mazziotti G, Morisco F, Rotondi M, Cioffi M, Tuccillo C, et al. The Addition of Ribavirin to Interferon-α Therapy in Patients With Hepatitis C Virus-Related Chronic Hepatitis Does Not Modify the Thyroid Autoantibody Pattern But Increases the Risk of Developing Hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2002) 146(6):743–9. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1460743
- Ruggeri RM, Campennì A, Deandreis D, Siracusa M, Tozzoli R, Petranović Ovčariček P, et al. SARS-COV-2-Related Immune-Inflammatory Thyroid Disorders: Facts and Perspectives. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2021) 2:1–23. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2021.1932467
- Inaba H, Aizawa T. Coronavirus Disease 2019 and the Thyroid Progress and Perspectives. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2021) 12:708333. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.708333
- Brancatella A, Ricci D, Cappellani D, Viola N, Sgrò D, Santini F, et al. Is Subacute Thyroiditis an Underestimated Manifestation of SARS-CoV-2

Infection? Insights From a Case Series. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105 (10):dgaa537. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa537

- Nakano Y, Kurihara H, Sasaki J. Graves' Disease Following Subacute Thyroiditis. Tohoku J Exp Med (2011) 225(4):301–9. doi: 10.1620/tjem.225.301
- Papi G, Ezzat S. Progression of Subacute (De Quervain's) Thyroiditis Into Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. *Thyroid* (2004) 14(6):477-8. doi: 10.1089/ 105072504323150840

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lui, Hung, Lee, Lee, Tam, Pang, Ho, Cheung, Fong, Law, To, Lam, Chow, Woo, Lam and Tan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Independent Association of TSH and Free Triiodothyronine Levels With Lymphocyte Counts Among COVID-19 Patients

David Tak Wai Lui¹, Chi Ho Lee¹, Wing Sun Chow¹, Alan Chun Hong Lee¹, Anthony Raymond Tam¹, Polly Pang¹, Tip Yin Ho¹, Chloe Yu Yan Cheung¹, Carol Ho Yi Fong¹, Chun Yiu Law², Kelvin Kai Wang To³, Ching Wan Lam⁴, Kathryn Choon Beng Tan¹, Yu Cho Woo¹, Ivan Fan Ngai Hung¹ and Karen Siu Ling Lam^{1*}

¹ Department of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ² Division of Chemical Pathology, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ³ Department of Microbiology, The University of Hong Kong, Queen Mary Hospital, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, ⁴ Department of Pathology, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco António Campinho, Universidade do Algarve, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Stephen Fitzgerald, Royal Adelaide Hospital, Australia Nicolas Buisine, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, France

> *Correspondence: Karen Siu Ling Lam ksllam@hku.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 11 September 2021 Accepted: 16 December 2021 Published: 13 January 2022

Citation:

Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Pang P, Ho TY, Cheung CYY, Fong CHY, Law CY, To KKW, Lam CW, Tan KCB, Woo YC, Hung IFN and Lam KSL (2022) The Independent Association of TSH and Free Triiodothyronine Levels With Lymphocyte Counts Among COVID-19 Patients. Front. Endocrinol. 12:774346. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.774346 **Background:** Both lymphopenia and thyroid dysfunction are commonly observed among COVID-19 patients. Whether thyroid function independently correlates with lymphocyte counts (LYM) remains to be elucidated.

Methods: We included consecutive adults without known thyroid disorder admitted to Queen Mary Hospital for COVID-19 from July 2020 to April 2021 who had thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), free thyroxine (fT4), free triiodothyronine (fT3) and LYM measured on admission.

Results: A total of 541 patients were included. Median LYM was 1.22×10^{9} /L, with 36.0% of the cohort lymphopenic. 83 patients (15.4%) had abnormal thyroid function tests (TFTs), mostly non-thyroidal illness syndrome (NTIS). Patients with lymphopenia had lower TSH, fT4 and fT3 levels than those without. Multivariable stepwise linear regression analysis revealed that both TSH (standardized beta 0.160, p<0.001) and fT3 (standardized beta 0.094, p=0.023), but not fT4, remained independently correlated with LYM, in addition to age, SARS-CoV-2 viral load, C-reactive protein levels, coagulation profile, sodium levels and more severe clinical presentations. Among the 40 patients who had reassessment of TFTs and LYM after discharge, at a median of 9 days from admission, there were significant increases in TSH (p=0.031), fT3 (p<0.001) and LYM (p<0.001). Furthermore, patients who had both lymphopenia and NTIS were more likely to deteriorate compared to those who only had either one alone, and those without lymphopenia or NTIS (p for trend <0.001).

Conclusion: TSH and fT3 levels showed independent positive correlations with LYM among COVID-19 patients, supporting the interaction between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and immune system in COVID-19.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, thyroid function tests, lymphopenia, lymphocytes, euthyroid sick syndromes

INTRODUCTION

Lymphopenia is a common hematologic finding in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (1), carrying prognostic implication in view of its association with disease severity and mortality (2). On the other hand, thyroid involvement by COVID-19 is increasingly recognized since the first report of subacute thyroiditis after COVID-19 (3). Data from larger cohorts of COVID-19 patients have enabled better delineation of the patterns of thyroid dysfunction, which include thyroiditis and non-thyroidal illness (NTIS) (4). NTIS, characterized by low free triiodothyronine (fT3) levels, also carries prognostic implication in COVID-19 (5-7). Furthermore, patients with more severe illness were reported to have concomitant low thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels (6, 7). These highlight the clinical relevance of lymphocyte counts, TSH and thyroid hormones in the course of COVID-19. Studies have suggested potential effects of TSH and thyroid hormones on the immune system, including the lymphocyte population (8). For example, animal studies have suggested the potential role of TSH in improving lymphocyte proliferation (9); circulating thyroid hormone levels are positively associated with immunological reactivity among healthy individuals, such as maintenance of the lymphocyte subpopulations (10).

In COVID-19, postulated mechanisms for lymphopenia include: (i) the direct effect of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) on the apoptosis of lymphocytes, bone marrow impairment and thymic suppression; (ii) cytokine-induced apoptosis of lymphocytes; and (iii) metabolic and biochemical derangements (such as lactic acidosis) (11) which may influence the production, survival and function of lymphocytes (2). In fact, all these postulated mechanisms may also lead to the disturbances in the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis, previously reported in COVID-19 patients (7, 12, 13). COVID-19 may also involve multiple extrapulmonary systems, as SARS-CoV-2 entry receptor - angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) expression is found in a wide variety of human tissues (14). A recent study suggested potential associations between TSH/ thyroid hormones and lymphopenia in a Dutch cohort of COVID-19 patients, showing that patients with severe lymphopenia had lower TSH, free thyroxine (fT4) and fT3 levels and higher levels of inflammatory markers, similar to findings in patients with bacterial sepsis (15). Whether this association is an epiphenomenon confounded by the presence of all the above discussed factors remains to be elucidated. Hence, we carried out this study to investigate whether an independent association exists between TSH/thyroid hormones and lymphopenia in COVID-19 patients, which may shed light onto the interaction of TSH/thyroid hormones with the immune system in the clinical course of COVID-19.

METHODS

Public health ordinance in Hong Kong required all patients tested positive for COVID-19 be admitted to hospital (16),

including those detected on contact tracing and Universal Community Testing Programme (17), regardless of symptoms. Our institution, Queen Mary Hospital, is one of the major centers in Hong Kong receiving confirmed COVID-19 patients. Consecutive adult patients (aged ≥18 years) admitted to Queen Mary Hospital for COVID-19 between 21 July 2020 and 20 April 2021 were prospectively recruited (12, 18, 19). The presence of SARS-CoV-2 was confirmed in all patients by RT-PCR from the nasopharyngeal swab (NPS) and/or deep throat saliva (DTS), using the LightMix SarbecoV E-gene assay (TIB Molbiol, Berlin, Germany) which targeted the envelope protein (E) gene of SARS-CoV-2 as we described previously (20). Patients were excluded if they (i) had history of thyroid, pituitary or hypothalamic disorders; (ii) were on anti-thyroid drugs or thyroid hormone replacement; (iii) were on medications with potential impact on thyroid function including systemic steroid, amiodarone, heparin and dopamine; or (iv) had active hematologic or solid malignancies. Each patient had blood tests within 24 hours after admission, before the initiation of COVID-19 treatments.

Serum TSH, fT4 and fT3 were measured with immunoassays ADVIA Centaur[®] TSH3-Ultra, FT4 and FT3 assays respectively (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., USA). The reference ranges for TSH, fT4 and fT3 were 0.35–4.8 mIU/L, 12–23 pmol/L and 3.2–6.5 pmol/L, respectively. Anti-thyroglobulin (anti-Tg) and anti-thyroid peroxidase (anti-TPO) antibody titers were measured with QUANTA Lite[®] Thyroid T and TPO enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay respectively (Inova Diagnostics, USA). Positive anti-Tg and anti-TPO was defined by >100 units. Anti-TSH receptor antibody (anti-TSHR) titer was measured with Anti-TSH Receptor (TRAb) Fast ELISA (IgG) test kit (EUROIMMUN Medizinische Labordiagnostika AG, Germany), using porcine TSHR. Anti-TSHR was considered positive if >1 IU/L. NTIS was defined by low fT3 with normal/ low TSH (21).

Basic hematology and biochemistry panel, glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were measured. Lymphopenia was defined according to the laboratory reference range, i.e. if absolute lymphocyte count $<1.06\times10^{9}/L$. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation in all individuals (22). Abnormalities in the hematological and biochemical parameters were defined by their respective laboratory reference ranges.

Demographics and major comorbidities were recorded. Obesity was defined by the International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) code 278.0. Diabetes was defined by a known diagnosis of diabetes or HbA1c \geq 6.5% on admission. COVID-19-related symptoms were evaluated with a standard checklist. Respiratory rate, baseline oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry, and oxygen requirement on admission were captured. Chest x-ray was performed in each patient on admission. Cycle threshold (Ct) values were obtained from the qualitative LightMix SarbecoV E-gene assay (TIB Molbiol, Berlin, Germany) performed on specimens from NPS and/or DTS (whichever was lower) on admission. The Ct value represents the number of cycles required for a gene target or a PCR product to be detected. While viral loads were not directly measured with a dedicated quantitative RT-PCR assay in this analysis, studies have shown a good correlation between Ct values and SARS-CoV-2 viral loads (23, 24), such that the lower the Ct values, the higher the viral loads.

COVID-19 severity was classified into mild, moderate, severe and critical according to the 'Chinese Clinical Guidance for COVID-19 Pneumonia Diagnosis and Treatment (7th edition)' published by the Chinese National Health Commission (NHC) (25). Each patient's clinical outcomes were captured. Severe COVID-19 outcomes were defined by a composite of newonset oxygen requirements, intubation and mechanical ventilation, intensive care unit (ICU) admission and death.

In the early phase of this study, reassessment blood tests including thyroid function tests (TFTs) and lymphocyte counts were arranged around 1–2 weeks after discharge. Due to the subsequent significant increase in the case load of COVID-19 patients, the early reassessment was discontinued. Hence, only a subset of patients had reassessment of TFTs and lymphocyte counts early after discharge.

The study followed the principles in the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster. All participants gave informed consent.

All statistical analyses were performed with IBM[®] SPSS[®] version 26. Two-sided p-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. Data were presented as median with interquartile range (IQR), or number with percentage as appropriate. Data not conforming to normal distributions were logarithmically transformed before analyses. Between-group comparisons were performed with t-test for continuous variables, and Chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables as appropriate. Pearson correlation was used to analyze the univariate correlation between clinical variables and lymphocyte counts. Multivariable stepwise linear regression analysis was used to identify the independent variables associated with lymphocyte counts. Multivariable stepwise logistic regression analysis was used to identify the independent variables associated with severe COVID-19 outcomes. All variables with statistical significance in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariable regression analysis.

Several sensitivity analyses were performed in the evaluation of the associations between TFTs and lymphocyte counts: (i) repeating the analyses after excluding patients with overt/ subclinical hypothyroidism and overt thyrotoxicosis; and (ii) evaluating the correlation between TSH and lymphocyte counts in the subgroup of patients with low fT3.

RESULTS

In total, 541 patients were included in this analysis. Median age was 50 years (IQR: 36 - 63) and 245 (45.3%) were men. Their

baseline characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. Hypertension (21.1%) and diabetes (16.1%) were the most common comorbidities. Most patients (n=380, 70.2%) were symptomatic at presentation: cough, fever and sore throat were the most common symptoms. Most patients had non-severe disease on presentation, only 3.1% of the cohort required supplementary oxygen on admission. Only 1.5% of the cohort carried the SARS-CoV-2 variants, including mutations N501Y, L452R and E484K. The median lymphocyte count on admission was 1.22 x 10^9 /L (IQR: 0.90 – 1.68), with 36.0% of the cohort being lymphopenic.

We compared patients with normal lymphocyte count to those with lymphopenia (Table 1). Of note, patients with lymphopenia were older than those with normal lymphocyte count. Hence, subsequent comparisons were corrected for age. Patients with lymphopenia had lower TSH, fT4 and fT3 levels than those with normal lymphocyte count. There tended to be more men having lymphopenia in this cohort, although the difference did not reach statistical significance (age-adjusted p=0.076). Patients with lymphopenia were more likely symptomatic on presentation and had lower SARS-CoV-2 Ct value (i.e. higher viral load) upon admission. They had worse profiles of acute phase reactants (higher CRP and lower albumin levels), worse coagulation profile and lower serum sodium levels. They were more likely to require supplementary oxygen on admission. Figure 1 shows the distribution of albumin levels, prothrombin time and sodium levels in the group with normal lymphocyte count and that with lymphopenia.

Abnormal TFTs, falling largely into three categories, were observed in 83 patients (15.3% of the cohort), in line with the findings described in our previous publication (12). (i) Seven patients likely had pre-existing thyroid dysfunction: one patient had overt thyrotoxicosis (TSH <0.01 mIU/L, fT4 51 pmol/L, fT3 15 pmol/L) with positive anti-TPO and anti-Tg, his anti-TSHR titer was elevated at 3.6 IU/L, likely representing co-existing Graves' disease diagnosed upon admission for acute COVID-19; six patients had subclinical hypothyroidism - three of them positive for anti-TPO. (ii) Forty-five patients had abnormal fT3 levels: 41 patients had low fT3 compatible with NTIS [38 had isolated low fT3, 2 had concomitant low TSH, and one had concomitant mildly raised fT4 (24 pmol/L)]; 4 patients had elevated fT3 where assay interference could not be totally excluded [2 had isolated high fT3 (6.6 - 6.7 pmol/L); one had mildly elevated fT4 (25 pmol/L) and fT3 (6.6 pmol/L); one patient had mildly elevated TSH (5.6 mIU/L), normal fT4 (17 pmol/L) and mildly elevated fT3 (7.0 pmol/L)]. (iii) 31 patients were considered to have thyroid dysfunction compatible with different phases of thyroiditis: 25 patients had a biochemical picture compatible with subclinical thyrotoxicosis, i.e. isolated low TSH with normal fT4 and fT3; 2 patients had isolated low fT4 (11 pmol/L); 4 patients had isolated elevated fT4 (24 pmol/L).

Variables Associated With Lymphocyte Counts

We studied the correlations of TSH, thyroid hormones and other clinical variables with the lymphocyte counts. (**Table 2**). TSH, fT4 and fT3 levels positively correlated with the lymphocyte counts.

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of the cohort.

	All	Normal Lymphocyte Count	Lymphopenia	Age-Adjusted P value
Number	541	346	195	_
Age (years)	50.0 (36.0 - 63.0)	46.0 (34.0 - 61.0) ^a	57.0 (42.0 - 66.0) ^a	_
Male	245 (45.3%)	148 (42.8%)	97 (49.7%)	0.076
Thyroid function test				
TSH (mIU/L)	1.20 (0.78 - 1.70)	1.30 (0.91 – 1.80)	1.00 (0.61 - 1.50)	<0.001
fT4 (pmol/L)	17.0 (15.0 – 19.0)	18.0 (16.0 – 19.0)	17.0 (15.0 – 18.0)	0.025
fT3 (pmol/L)	4.2 (3.7 – 4.8)	4.4 (4.0 - 4.9)	3.9 (3.4 - 4.4)	<0.001
Comorbidities			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Hypertension	114 (21.1%)	64 (18.5%)	50 (25.6%)	0.463
Diabetes	87 (16.1%)	51 (14.7%)	36 (18.5%)	0.376
Obesity	26 (4.8%)	16 (4.6%)	10 (5.1%)	0.955
IHD/CHF	22 (4.1%)	14 (4.0%)	8 (4.1%)	0.160
Stroke/TIA	13 (2.4%)	4 (1.2%)	9 (4.6%)	0.153
Cancer	17 (3.1%)	7 (2.0%)	10 (5.1%)	0.281
Symptomatic presentation	380 (70.2%)	218 (63.0%)	162 (83.1%)	<0.001
Fever	180 (33.3%)	95 (27.5%)	85 (43.6%)	<0.001
Myalgia	58 (10.7%)	37 (10.7%)	21 (10.8%)	0.966
Malaise	69 (12.8%)	37 (10.7%)	32 (16.4%)	0.079
Rhinorrhoea	66 (12.2%)	43 (12.4%)	23 (11.8%)	0.903
Cough	218 (40.3%)	126 (36.4%)	92 (47.2%)	0.088
Dyspnoea	33 (6.1%)	17 (4.9%)	16 (8.2%)	0.256
Sore throat	135 (25.0%)	79 (22.8%)	56 (28.7%)	0.064
Headache	56 (10.4%)	32 (9.2%)	24 (12.3%)	0.102
Nausea/vomiting	19 (3.5%)	14 (4.0%)	5 (2.6%)	0.384
Diarrhoea	59 (10.9%)	43 (12.4%)	16 (8.2%)	0.088
Anosmia/ageusia	63 (11.6%)	44 (12.7%)	19 (9.7%)	0.617
0			()	0.320
Symptom count ≥3 Viral load	163 (30.1%)	99 (28.6%)	64 (32.8%)	0.320
	24.76 (18.01 21.20)	27 50 (10 01 22 00)	21.00 (16.70, 26.22)	<0.001
Ct value at baseline	24.76 (18.01 – 31.20)	27.50 (19.01 – 33.00)	21.00 (16.70 – 26.32)	<0.001
Acute phase reactants		0.00 (0.01 1.00)		0.001
C-reactive protein (mg/dL)	0.57 (0.31 – 2.05)	0.39 (0.31 – 1.39)	1.06 (0.31 – 3.14)	<0.001
Albumin (g/L)	42.0 (40.0 – 45.0)	43 (41 – 46)	42 (39 – 44)	0.040
Coagulation profile				0.001
Platelet (x 10 ⁹ /L)	217 (174 – 266)	236 (190 – 284)	191 (156 – 225)	<0.001
Prothrombin time (s)	11.7 (11.4 – 12.1)	11.6 (11.3 – 12.0)	11.9 (11.6 – 12.3)	<0.001
Biochemical parameters				0.004
Sodium (mmol/L)	140 (138 – 141)	140 (138 – 141)	139 (137 – 140)	<0.001
Potassium (mmol/L)	3.7 (3.4 – 4.0)	3.8 (3.5 – 4.0)	3.7 (3.4 – 4.0)	0.054
Urea (umol/L)	3.9 (3.1 – 4.8)	3.9 (3.0 – 4.7)	4.1 (3.2 – 5.0)	0.739
eGFR (mL/min)	96 (82 - 109)	98 (88 – 112)	91.2 (75.4 – 103.0)	0.237
ALT (U/L)	25 (17 – 39)	26 (18 – 40)	22 (17 – 35)	0.278
AST (U/L)	27 (21 – 37)	27 (21 – 35)	28 (22 - 40)	0.078
LDH (U/L)	212 (179 – 263)	212 (180 – 260)	211 (179 – 267)	0.525
Creatine kinase (U/L)	98 (67 – 155)	95 (66 – 149)	108 (69 – 160)	0.176
Troponin T (ng/L)	5.71 (3.78 – 8.42)	5.56 (3.61 – 7.72)	6.23 (4.31 – 9.65)	0.354
Oxygen requirement on admission	17 (3.1%)	5 (1.4%)	12 (6.2%)	0.016

Data are presented as median (interquartile range) and number (percentage) as appropriate.

Values in bold represent statistical significance.

 $^{a}p < 0.001$ in the comparison of age among patients with normal lymphocyte counts and lymphopenia.

TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; fT4, free thyroxine; fT3, free triiodothyronine; IHD, ischaemic heart disease; CHF, congestive heart failure; TIA, transient ischaemic attack; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.

Clinical parameters having positive correlations with the lymphocyte counts included Ct value, albumin, platelet, sodium and eGFR, while those having inverse correlations with the lymphocyte counts included age, CRP, prothrombin time (PT), urea, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and creatine kinase (CK).

Regarding categorical variables, lymphocyte counts were lower among patients with hypertension (p=0.006), malignancy (p=0.014), and elevated Troponin T (p=0.009). Lymphocyte counts did not differ according to the presence of diabetes (p=0.234), obesity (p=0.234), ischemic heart disease/heart failure (p=0.158) or lung disease (p=0.119). There was a trend towards lower lymphocyte counts among men, although the difference was not statistically significant [1.16 x $10^9/L$ (IQR: 0.85 – 1.61) in men vs $1.25 \times 10^9/L$ (IQR: 0.94 – 1.71) in women, p=0.086]. However, patients requiring supplementary oxygen on admission, or those symptomatic on presentation had lower lymphocyte counts (both p<0.001). Lymphocyte counts did not differ when classified according to symptom burden (<3 vs \geq 3 symptom counts) (p=0.128).



TABLE 2 | Pearson correlation of clinical parameters with lymphocyte counts.

	Crude r	P value
TSH (mIU/L) ^a	0.231	<0.001
fT4 (pmol/L)	0.146	0.001
fT3 (pmol/L)	0.338	<0.001
Age (years)	-0.310	<0.001
Viral load		
Cycle threshold value at baseline ^a	0.378	<0.001
Acute phase reactants		
C-reactive protein (mg/dL) ^a	-0.308	<0.001
Albumin (g/L)	0.231	<0.001
Coagulation profile		
Platelet (x 10 ⁹ /L) ^a	0.406	<0.001
Prothrombin time (s)	-0.199	<0.001
Biochemical parameters		
Sodium (mmol/L)	0.298	<0.001
Potassium (mmol/L)	0.047	0.277
Urea (umol/L) ^a	-0.180	<0.001
eGFR ^a	0.318	<0.001
AST (U/L) ^a	-0.153	<0.001
ALT (U/L) ^a	0.048	0.266
LDH (U/L) ^a	-0.110	0.011
Creatine kinase (U/L) ^a	-0.136	0.001

Data are presented as median (interquartile range) and number (percentage) as appropriate.

Values in bold represent statistical significance.

TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; fT4, free thyroxine; fT3, free triiodothyronine; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase. ^alogarithmically transformed before analysis.

TSH and fT3 Levels Were Independently Associated With Lymphocyte Counts

In the multivariable stepwise linear regression analysis (**Table 3**), among the components of TFTs, TSH (standardized beta 0.160, p<0.001) and fT3 (standardized beta 0.094, p=0.023), but not fT4, remained independently and positively correlated with lymphocyte counts. Other independent variables associated with lower lymphocyte counts included: older age, lower Ct value, higher CRP, worse coagulation profile (lower platelet and higher PT), lower sodium levels and more severe clinical presentations **TABLE 3** | Independent determinants of lymphocyte counts on multivariable

 stepwise linear regression analysis.

	Standardized Beta	P value
Thyroid stimulating hormone (mIU/L) ^a	0.160	<0.001
Free triiodothyronine (pmol/L)	0.094	0.023
Age (years)	-0.132	0.001
Cycle threshold value ^a	0.208	< 0.001
C-reactive protein (mg/dL) ^a	-0.165	< 0.001
Platelet (x 10 ⁹ /L) ^a	0.226	< 0.001
Prothrombin time (s)	-0.090	0.010
Sodium (mmol/L)	0.085	0.026
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L) ^a	0.134	0.002
Oxygen requirement on admission	-0.103	0.005
Symptomatic presentation	-0.093	0.011

Model included thyroid stimulating hormone, free thyroxine, free triiodothyronine, age, cycle threshold value, C-reactive protein, albumin, platelet, prothrombin time, sodium, urea, estimated glomerular filtration rate, aspartate aminotransferase, lactate dehydrogenase, creatine kinase, elevated troponin T, hypertension, malignancy, supplementary oxygen on admission, symptomatic presentation.

^alogarithmically transformed before analysis.

(symptomatic presentation and oxygen requirement on admission). On the other hand, LDH levels positively correlated with lymphocyte counts. Further inclusion of sex did not modify the independent correlation of TSH and fT3 with lymphocyte counts. Sex was not an independent determinant of lymphocyte counts.

Sensitivity Analyses

We repeated the analyses after exclusion of patients with possibly pre-existing thyroid disorders – one patient with overt thyrotoxicosis and 6 patients with subclinical hypothyroidism. Similar results were obtained: both TSH (standardized beta 0.138, p<0.001) and fT3 (standardized beta 0.126, p=0.006) remained independently associated with lymphocyte counts in the multivariable stepwise linear regression analysis.

We evaluated the correlation between TSH and lymphocyte counts among the subgroup of 41 patients with NTIS, characterized by low fT3. TSH still showed a significant positive correlation with lymphocyte counts (r = 0.344, p=0.032).

Recovery of TFTs and Lymphocyte Counts

A subgroup of patients received reassessment of lymphocyte counts and TFTs in 1 – 2 weeks' time: 40 patients had reassessment after a median of 9 days (IQR: 4 – 15). Paired comparisons (**Table 4**) showed similar trends of improvement for TSH (p=0.031), fT3 (p<0.001) and lymphocyte counts (p<0.001), while fT4 showed no significant changes (p=0.186). Of 18 patients (45.0%) with lymphopenia on admission for COVID-19, 8 remained lymphopenic upon reassessment. Hence, 10 of 18 patients (25.0%) had abnormal TFTs on admission for COVID-19, 2 remained abnormal upon reassessment. Hence, 8 of 10 patients (80.0%) with abnormal TFTs had recovered.

Prognostic Implications of NTIS and Lymphopenia in COVID-19

Among all 541 patients, 42 (7.8%) had severe COVID-19 outcomes. When classified according to presence of lymphopenia and NTIS, there was a significant increasing trend of likelihood of severe COVID-19 outcomes with increasing number of abnormalities (p<0.001): 16 out of 332 patients (4.8%) with normal lymphocyte count and no NTIS; 17 out of 184 patients (9.2%) with either lymphopenia or NTIS; and 9 out of 25 patients (36.0%) with both lymphopenia and NTIS.

We further investigated whether NTIS or lymphopenia carried independent prognostic implications in COVID-19. The comparison between patients who did and did not develop severe COVID-19 outcomes is summarized in Table 5. Patients who developed severe COVID-19 outcomes were older, more likely to be men and more likely to have pre-existing cardiometabolic comorbidities. Apart from NTIS and lymphopenia, differences were observed in a range of biomarkers: a more adverse profile was noted in patients who developed severe COVID-19 outcomes. To examine whether NTIS or lymphopenia were independently associated with severe COVID-19 outcomes, we employed multivariable stepwise logistic regression analysis. In the final model of the multivariable logistic regression (Table 6), NTIS (adjusted OR 3.64, p=0.005) joined other known risk factors of severe COVID-19 outcomes (male, comorbidities, higher viral loads and higher inflammatory index) to be the independent variables associated with severe COVID-19 outcomes, while lymphopenia was no longer an independent predictor.

 TABLE 5 | Comparison between patients who did and did not develop severe

 COVID-19 outcomes.

	Patients without Severe COVID-19 Outcomes	Patients with Severe COVID-19 Outcomes	P value
Number	499 (92.2%)	42 (7.8%)	_
NTIS	28 (5.6%)	11 (26.2%)	<0.001
Lymphopenia	171 (34.3%)	24 (57.1%)	0.003
Age >50 years	233 (46.7%)	32 (76.2%)	<0.001
Male	217 (43.5%)	28 (66.7%)	0.004
Comorbidities			
Hypertension	98 (19.6%)	16 (38.1%)	0.005
Diabetes	73 (14.6%)	14 (33.3%)	0.002
Obesity	21 (4.2%)	5 (11.9%)	0.025
IHD/CHF	17 (3.4%)	5 (11.9%)	0.007
Stroke/TIA	9 (1.8%)	4 (9.5%)	0.013
Cancer	15 (3.0%)	2 (4.8%)	0.634
Symptomatic	343 (68.7%)	37 (88.1%)	0.008
presentation			
Ct value <25	247 (49.5%)	32 (76.2%)	< 0.001
Elevated CRP	204 (40.9%)	34 (81.0%)	< 0.001
Hypoalbuminaemia	65 (13.0%)	15 (35.7%)	< 0.001
Thrombocytopenia	99 (19.8%)	12 (28.6%)	0.178
Elevated PT	2 (0.4%)	0 (0%)	0.999
Hyponatraemia	53 (10.6%)	13 (31.0%)	< 0.001
Hypokalaemia	173 (34.7%)	12 (28.6%)	0.424
Elevated urea	15 (3.0%)	6 (14.3%)	< 0.001
eGFR <60 mL/min	18 (3.6%)	5 (11.9%)	0.010
Elevated ALT	72 (14.4%)	9 (21.4%)	0.222
Elevated AST	117 (23.4%)	20 (47.6%)	0.001
Elevated LDH	165 (33.1%)	27 (64.3%)	<0.001
Elevated CK	52 (10.4%)	10 (23.8%)	0.009
Elevated troponin T	41 (8.2%)	9 (21.4%)	0.005

NTIS, non-thyroidal illness syndrome; IHD, ischaemic heart disease; CHF, congestive heart failure; TIA, transient ischaemic attack; Ct, cycle threshold; CRP, C-reactive protein; PT, prothrombin time; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; CK, creatine kinase.

DISCUSSION

Our study showed that in COVID-19, both TSH and fT3 positively correlated with lymphocyte counts independent of demographics, comorbidities, viral load, inflammatory markers and organ dysfunction. Most of the abnormal TFTs and lymphopenia recovered soon after acute COVID-19. These findings would suggest possible interactions between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the immune system in

TABLE 4 | Thyroid function tests and lymphocyte counts of patients who had reassessment around 1-2 weeks after acute COVID-19 (n=40).

	Baseline	Reassessment	P value
Lymphocyte count (x 10 ⁹ /L) ^a	1.14 (0.80 – 1.41)	1.57 (1.30 – 2.10)	<0.001
Thyroid-stimulating hormone (mIU/L) ^a	1.20 (0.61 - 1.60)	1.43 (0.83 - 1.78)	0.031
Free thyroxine (pmol/L)	17.0 (14.0 – 20.0)	17.5 (16.3 – 19.5)	0.186
Free triiodothyronine (pmol/L)	4.1 (3.7 – 4.8)	4.9 (4.5 - 5.2)	<0.001

Data presented as median (interquartile range).

Values in bold represent statistical significance.

^alogarithmically transformed before analyses.

TABLE 6 | Variables associated with severe COVID-19 outcomes in the final model of the multivariable stepwise logistic regression analysis.

Variables	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P-value
NTIS	3.64 (1.49 – 8.91)	0.005
Male (vs female)	2.20 (1.05 - 4.61)	0.037
IHD/CHF	3.23 (0.91 - 11.5)	0.070
Stroke/TIA	5.49 (1.32 - 22.9)	0.019
Ct value <25	3.34 (1.47 - 7.58)	0.004
Elevated CRP	3.70 (1.51 - 9.10)	0.004
Hypoalbuminaemia	2.12 (0.92 - 4.89)	0.078
Elevated creatine kinase	2.28 (0.95 - 5.45)	0.065

NTIS, non-thyroidal illness syndrome; IHD, ischaemic heart disease; CHF, congestive heart failure; TIA, transient ischaemic attack; Ct, cycle threshold; CRP, C-reactive protein. The model included NTIS, lymphopenia, age >50 years, male, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, IHD/CHF, stroke/TIA, symptomatic presentation, Ct value <25, hypoalburninaemia, hyponatraemia, elevated urea, estimated glomerular filtration rate <60 mL/min, elevated aspartate aminotransferase, elevated lactate dehydrogenase, elevated creatine kinase and elevated troponin T. Values in bold represent statistical significance.

COVID-19. COVID-19 patients who had both NTIS (characterized by low fT3) and lymphopenia were more likely to have severe COVID-19 outcomes compared to those who only had either one of NTIS or lymphopenia. Furthermore, NTIS, but not lymphopenia, was an independent predictor of severe outcomes in COVID-19, suggesting thyroid function to be one of the better markers of COVID-19 severity.

Independent Associations of TSH and fT3 With Lymphocyte Counts

In this cohort of patients with predominantly non-severe COVID-19, we reported a 36.0% prevalence of lymphopenia, consistent with the rates of lymphopenia among non-severe COVID-19 patients described in the literature (varying from 1% to 80%) (2). We observed an independent positive correlation of TSH and fT3 levels with lymphocyte counts in this study. While both thyroid function and lymphocyte counts may simply be markers of illness, the fact that a significant association between thyroid function and lymphocyte counts remained after adjusting for a range of COVID-19-related parameters may suggest a potential interaction between hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the immune system. In vitro incubation of T-lymphoma mouse cell line with thyroid hormones for 24 to 72 hours showed increased proliferation, mediated by protein kinase C and involved activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase (8). Hypothyroidism in humans and experimentally-induced hypothyroidism in rats have been shown to be associated with diminished thymic activity, effects that were reversed with thyroid hormone replacement (26). Reversal of propylthiouracil-induced hypothyroidism in mice with T3 replacement led to recovery of lymphocyte proliferative ability (27). Nonetheless, these results should be applied to our study with caution as TFTs in experimentally-induced hypothyroidism were characterized by low fT4 and fT3 but high TSH, in contrast to the low fT3 and low TSH concerning our study. In addition to thyroid hormones, TSH has also been shown to interact with the immune system. TSH receptors are found on the surface of B and T lymphocytes. In murine model, there was improvement in the proliferative capacity and natural killer cell activity of spleen

lymphocytes by TSH (9). A study of athyreotic patients due to total thyroidectomy for differentiated thyroid cancer showed that administration of recombinant human TSH led to a significant rise in the percentage of natural killer T cells and B lymphocytes in their peripheral blood. This showed a potential direct impact of TSH on immune cells, independent of thyroid hormone action (28). Indeed, in our subgroup analysis, TSH still positively correlated with lymphocyte counts among patients with low fT3, further highlighting the independent association between TSH and lymphocyte counts.

Of note, fT4 levels did not show an independent correlation with lymphocyte count in the multivariable linear regression model. It may be because T3 is the active form of thyroid hormone converted from T4. On the other hand, it may reflect that in NTIS, fT3 and TSH drop earlier than fT4. Interestingly, a recent meta-analysis pooling 58 studies of correlations between thyroid function and clinical parameters indicates that fT4 seems to correlate with clinical parameters better than TSH and fT3 (29). There are also suggestions in the meta-analysis that correlations of TSH and fT3 with clinical parameters may be confounded by reverse causation. In our current association study, elements of reverse causality in the correlation of TSH and fT3 with lymphocyte counts could not be entirely excluded. This issue can be better answered by interventional studies on the benefits of thyroid hormone replacement in the context of lymphopenia in COVID-19 (30). Furthermore, considering the strength of the effects of TSH and fT3 on lymphocyte counts in the multivariable model, it is likely that thyroid function is only one of the many contributors to lymphopenia in COVID-19, rather than playing a dominant role, given the evidence of expression of the entry receptor of SARS-CoV-2, ACE2, in various human tissues (14).

Other Independent Determinants of Lymphocyte Counts in COVID-19

Our study revealed multiple independent determinants of lymphocyte counts in COVID-19 (2). Lymphocyte counts decline with age, consistent with other studies (31), which may be related to thymic involution leading to changes in the overall immune competence (32). Secondly, SARS-CoV-2 PCR Ct values positively correlated with lymphocyte counts, meaning that a higher SARS-CoV-2 viral load is associated with lymphopenia. This suggested a viral-specific mechanism of lymphopenia. Indeed, expression of ACE2, the entry receptor for SARS-CoV-2, has been found in lymphocytes. Hence, there may be a direct cytotoxic effect from SARS-CoV-2 (1, 33). Thirdly, higher levels of inflammatory markers such as CRP were associated with lymphopenia. Interleukin 6 (IL-6) is known to induce gene expression and release of CRP from the liver and from immune cells (34). IL-6 is highly expressed during viral infection, and can cause apoptosis of lymphocytes (35). Fourthly, the positive correlation between platelet and lymphocyte counts suggested a possible element of infection of the bone marrow resulting in abnormal hematopoiesis (36). Fifthly, the association of lower platelet counts, increasing PT and oxygen requirement with lower lymphocyte counts could be explained by the COVID-19-related cytokine storm leading to disseminated

intravascular coagulopathy and acute respiratory distress syndrome (37). These proinflammatory cytokines can suppress the lymphocyte proliferation. Lastly, the association between hyponatremia and lymphopenia could be explained by the increase in proinflammatory cytokines in COVID-19. IL-6 may provide a common link between hyponatremia and lymphopenia, as IL-6 can lead to lymphopenia and has been shown to be inversely correlated with sodium levels in COVID-19 in an Italian study (38). In that study, hyponatremia improved after administration of tocilizumab, an IL-6 receptor antagonist (38). IL-6 may play a pathogenic role in causing electrolyte disturbance by inducing non-osmotic release of vasopressin (39).

Thyroid Function and Lymphocyte Counts With Recovery From COVID-19

The trajectories of thyroid function recovery suggest that COVID-19 is the cause of the thyroid abnormalities. A recent study which evaluated a Dutch cohort of COVID-19 patients reported the comparison of TSH, thyroid hormones and inflammatory markers between 17 patients with severe lymphopenia and 18 patients without lymphopenia (15). In line with their findings, we found that patients with lymphopenia had lower TSH, fT4 and fT3, and higher CRP levels. Furthermore, we revealed the independent association of TSH and fT3 with lymphocyte counts even after adjusting for the levels of acute phase reactants. Interestingly, in that Dutch cohort, among the 15 COVID-19 patients who underwent reassessment blood tests 1 week later, 12 of them showed recovery of lymphocyte counts approaching normal ranges, whereas thyroid hormones did not significantly change, especially T3 levels remaining relatively low. The authors thus concluded that the results argued either for different kinetics of recovery of lymphopenia and thyroid function, or against a direct causal relationship between lymphopenia and thyroid function abnormalities. Among our 40 patients who underwent reassessment of TFTs and lymphocyte counts, we observed a parallel recovery in TSH and fT3 with lymphocyte counts. The differences between our results and those from the Dutch cohort could be explained by the milder spectrum of COVID-19 in our cohort, and the differences in inclusion criteria in the Dutch cohort. Our results could support a different kinetics in the recovery of thyroid function and lymphopenia, such that in milder cases, thyroid function and lymphopenia may recover in parallel. Nonetheless, our results may still be consistent with a possible direct interaction between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the immune system. Given that this is an association of our study, whether thyroid hormone replacement is beneficial in the context of lymphopenia remains to be elucidated in ongoing studies in COVID-19 (30).

Prognostic Implication of Thyroid Function

Our study revealed that patients with NTIS, but not lymphopenia, would have worse COVID-19 outcomes. Among COVID-19 patients with NTIS, low TSH also held prognostic significance. SARS-CoV-2 infection and its associated inflammation can lead to both lymphopenia and NTIS, so thyroid function and lymphopenia may merely reflect COVID-19 severity, where our results might suggest that thyroid function is among the better markers of COVID-19 severity, instead of lymphopenia. On the other hand, pre-clinical studies have demonstrated the influence of thyroid hormones and TSH on lymphocyte counts. As lymphopenia is believed to be a defective immune response to the virus (40), such influence on lymphocyte count may contribute to the prognostic significance of NTIS and low TSH in the context of NTIS.

Male sex has been described in different populations to be associated with worse COVID-19 outcomes including mortality (41). Hence, it might be expected to observe a male predominance among the group with lymphopenia, a marker of COVID-19 severity. In line with this, in our study, we observed a trend towards more men having lymphopenia, and lymphocyte counts tended to be lower in men than in women. Moreover, male sex was among the five prognostic factors for severe COVID-19. Nonetheless, as only total lymphocyte counts were measured in our study, further details about lymphocyte subsets were not available. Some studies have demonstrated differences in the patterns of lymphocyte subsets which may explain the worse prognosis of COVID-19 among men (42). This may explain the lack of significant sex bias observed in the current study.

Our study shed light onto the interaction between TSH/thyroid hormones and the immune system. It also offered a potential explanation for the prognostic role of NTIS in COVID-19. Our results were generated from a relatively large cohort of complete thyroid function assessment, thus allowing adjustments for multiple potential confounders. Nevertheless, our study should be interpreted bearing the following limitations. Firstly, this is an observational study of associations between TFT and lymphocyte count, which do not prove causality. Secondly, TFTs were only reassessed one week after the initial TFTs on admission. Further studies with more frequent TFT monitoring during the course of illness can delineate the kinetics of TFT and lymphocyte count recovery with a higher resolution. Thirdly, SARS-CoV-2 viral loads were represented by Ct values. Despite a good correlation (23, 24), direct quantitative measurements of viral loads would have been preferable if available. Fourthly, obesity was defined by the ICD-9-CM diagnostic code in our study as a categorical variable, instead of body mass index as a continuous variable, and was likely to be underreported. Fifthly, high-resolution computed tomography was done at the physicians' discretion. Thus, the detection of imaging features of pneumonia in our cohort might be less sensitive. Last but not least, only total lymphocyte counts were measured in this study. Further details about lymphocyte subsets were not available, which may provide more insights into the interrelationship between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the immune system.

CONCLUSION

TSH and fT3 levels showed independent positive correlations with lymphocyte counts among COVID-19 patients. There was a parallel recovery in TFTs and lymphocyte count around 1 week after acute illness. These results suggested potential interactions between the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis and the immune system. Furthermore, patients with both lymphopenia and NTIS had the worst clinical course of acute COVID-19, supporting the potential prognostic role of thyroid hormones in COVID-19.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the institutional review board of the University of

REFERENCES

- Mina A, van Besien K, Platanias LC. Hematological Manifestations of COVID-19. Leuk Lymphoma (2020) 61(12):2790-8. doi: 10.1080/ 10428194.2020.1788017
- Jafarzadeh A, Jafarzadeh S, Nozari P, Mokhtari P, Nemati M. Lymphopenia an Important Immunological Abnormality in Patients With COVID-19: Possible Mechanisms. Scand J Immunol (2021) 93(2):e12967. doi: 10.1111/sji.12967
- Brancatella A, Ricci D, Viola N, Sgrò D, Santini F, Latrofa F. Subacute Thyroiditis After Sars-COV-2 Infection. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105 (7):dgaa276. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa276
- Duntas LH, Jonklaas J. COVID-19 and Thyroid Diseases: A Bidirectional Impact. J Endocr Soc (2021) 5(8):bvab076. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvab076
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Role of non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome in Predicting Adverse Outcomes in COVID-19 Patients Predominantly of Mild-to-Moderate Severity. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2021) 95(3):469–77. doi: 10.1111/cen.14476
- Gong J, Wang DK, Dong H, Xia QS, Huang ZY, Zhao Y, et al. Prognostic Significance of Low TSH Concentration in Patients With COVID-19 Presenting With Non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome. *BMC Endocr Disord* (2021) 21(1):111. doi: 10.1186/s12902-021-00766-x
- Baldelli R, Nicastri E, Petrosillo N, Marchioni L, Gubbiotti A, Sperduti I, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in COVID-19 Patients. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2021) 44(12):2735– 9. doi: 10.1007/s40618-021-01599-0
- Jara EL, Muñoz-Durango N, Llanos C, Fardella C, González PA, Bueno SM, et al. Modulating the Function of the Immune System by Thyroid Hormones and Thyrotropin. *Immunol Lett* (2017) 184:76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.02.010
- Provinciali M, Di Stefano G, Fabris N. Improvement in the Proliferative Capacity and Natural Killer Cell Activity of Murine Spleen Lymphocytes by Thyrotropin. *Int J Immunopharmacol* (1992) 14(5):865–70. doi: 10.1016/ 0192-0561(92)90085-y
- Hodkinson CF, Simpson EE, Beattie JH, O'Connor JM, Campbell DJ, Strain JJ, et al. Preliminary Evidence of Immune Function Modulation by Thyroid Hormones in Healthy Men and Women Aged 55-70 Years. *J Endocrinol* (2009) 202(1):55–63. doi: 10.1677/JOE-08-0488
- Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, et al. Inhibitory Effect of Tumor Cell-Derived Lactic Acid on Human T Cells. *Blood* (2007) 109(9):3812–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-035972
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in Relation to Immune Profile, Disease Status, and Outcome in 191 Patients With COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(2):e926–35. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa813
- Wang W, Su X, Ding Y, Fan W, Zhou W, Su J, et al. Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2021) 11:623792. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.623792

Hong Kong/Hospital Authority Hong Kong West Cluster. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DL wrote the manuscript. DL, CHL, WC, AL, AT, PP, TH, CC, and CYL researched the data. DL and CF performed statistical analyses. CHL, WC, AL, KKT, CWL, KCT, YW, IH, and KL critically reviewed and edited the manuscript. KL initiated and supervised the study, is the guarantor of this work, has full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang XS. Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 Cell Receptor Gene ACE2 in a Wide Variety of Human Tissues. *Infect Dis Poverty* (2020) 9 (1):45. doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x
- Grondman I, de Nooijer AH, Antonakos N, Janssen NAF, Mouktaroudi M, Leventogiannis K, et al. The Association of TSH and Thyroid Hormones With Lymphopenia in Bacterial Sepsis and COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(7):1994–2009. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab148
- Hung IF, Lung KC, Tso EY, Liu R, Chung TW, Chu MY, et al. Triple Combination of Interferon Beta-1b, Lopinavir-Ritonavir, and Ribavirin in the Treatment of Patients Admitted to Hospital With COVID-19: An Open-Label, Randomised, Phase 2 Trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10238):1695–704. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31042-4
- Online Appointments for Universal Community Testing Programme to Begin Tomorrow. Available at: https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202008/28/ P2020082800837.html.
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Pang P, et al. Long COVID in Patients With Mild to Moderate Disease: Do Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Play a Role? *Endocr Pract* (2021) 27(9):894–902. doi: 10.1016/j.eprac.2021.06.016
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Insights From a Prospective Follow-Up of Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Among COVID-19 Survivors. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* (2021) 36(3):582–9. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2021.983
- Chan WM, Ip JD, Chu AW, Yip CC, Lo LS, Chan KH, et al. Identification of Nsp1 Gene as the Target of SARS-CoV-2 Real-Time RT-PCR Using Nanopore Whole-Genome Sequencing. J Med Virol (2020) 92(11):2725–34. doi: 10.1002/jmv.26140
- Boelen A, Kwakkel J, Fliers E. Beyond Low Plasma T3: Local Thyroid Hormone Metabolism During Inflammation and Infection. *Endocr Rev* (2011) 32(5):670–93. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-0007
- KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease Chapter 1: Definition and Classification of CKD. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2013) 3(1):19–62. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2012.64
- Yu F, Yan L, Wang N, Yang S, Wang L, Tang Y, et al. Quantitative Detection and Viral Load Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 in Infected Patients. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71(15):793–8. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa345
- Tom MR, Mina MJ. To Interpret the SARS-CoV-2 Test, Consider the Cycle Threshold Value. *Clin Infect Dis* (2020) 71(16):2252–4. doi: 10.1093/cid/ ciaa619
- Chinese Clinical Guidance for COVID-19 Pneumonia Diagnosis and Treatment (2020). Available at: http://kjfy.meetingchina.org/msite/news/ show/cn/3337.html.
- Fabris N, Mocchegiani E, Provinciali M. Pituitary-Thyroid Axis and Immune System: A Reciprocal Neuroendocrine-Immune Interaction. *Horm Res* (1995) 43(1-3):29–38. doi: 10.1159/000184234

- Klecha AJ, Genaro AM, Gorelik G, Barreiro Arcos ML, Silberman DM, Schuman M, et al. Integrative Study of Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Thyroid-Immune System Interaction: Thyroid Hormone-Mediated Modulation of Lymphocyte Activity Through the Protein Kinase C Signaling Pathway. J Endocrinol (2006) 189(1):45–55. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.06137
- Adamczewski Z, Stasiołek M, Zygmunt A, Śliwka PW, Wieczorek-Szukała K, Lewiński A. Recombinant Human Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Increases the Percentages of Natural Killer T Cells and B Lymphocytes in Human Peripheral Blood *In Vivo. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:543845. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.543845
- Fitzgerald SP, Bean NG, Falhammar H, Tuke J. Clinical Parameters Are More Likely to Be Associated With Thyroid Hormone Levels Than With Thyrotropin Levels: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Thyroid* (2020) 30(12):1695–709. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0535
- Pantos C, Kostopanagiotou G, Armaganidis A, Trikas A, Tseti I, Mourouzis I. Triiodothyronine for the Treatment of Critically Ill Patients With COVID-19 Infection: A Structured Summary of a Study Protocol for a Randomised Controlled Trial. *Trials* (2020) 21(1):573. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-04474-0
- Warny M, Helby J, Nordestgaard BG, Birgens H, Bojesen SE. Incidental Lymphopenia and Mortality: A Prospective Cohort Study. CMAJ (2020) 192 (2):E25–33. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.191024
- 32. Linton PJ, Dorshkind K. Age-Related Changes in Lymphocyte Development and Function. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(2):133–9. doi: 10.1038/ni1033
- 33. Xu H, Zhong L, Deng J, Peng J, Dan H, Zeng X, et al. High Expression of ACE2 Receptor of 2019-Ncov on the Epithelial Cells of Oral Mucosa. *Int J* Oral Sci (2020) 12(1):8. doi: 10.1038/s41368-020-0074-x
- 34. Herold T, Jurinovic V, Arnreich C, Lipworth BJ, Hellmuth JC, von Bergwelt-Baildon M, et al. Elevated Levels of IL-6 and CRP Predict the Need for Mechanical Ventilation in COVID-19. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2020) 146 (1):128–36.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.05.008
- 35. Abbasifard M, Khorramdelazad H. The Bio-Mission of Interleukin-6 in the Pathogenesis of COVID-19: A Brief Look at Potential Therapeutic Tactics. *Life Sci* (2020) 257:118097. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118097
- 36. Kaur S, Bansal R, Kollimuttathuillam S, Gowda AM, Singh B, Mehta D, et al. The Looming Storm: Blood and Cytokines in COVID-19. *Blood Rev* (2021) 46:100743. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2020.100743

- Rahi MS, Jindal V, Reyes SP, Gunasekaran K, Gupta R, Jaiyesimi I. Hematologic Disorders Associated With COVID-19: A Review. Ann Hematol (2021) 100(2):309–20. doi: 10.1007/s00277-020-04366-y
- Berni A, Malandrino D, Parenti G, Maggi M, Poggesi L, Peri A. Hyponatremia, IL-6, and SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) Infection: May All Fit Together? J Endocrinol Invest (2020) 43(8):1137–9. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01301-w
- Hodax JK, Bialo SR, Yalcindag A. SIADH in Systemic JIA Resolving After Treatment With an IL-6 Inhibitor. *Pediatrics* (2018) 141(1):e20164174. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-4174
- Frater JL, Zini G, d'Onofrio G, Rogers HJ. COVID-19 and the Clinical Hematology Laboratory. Int J Lab Hematol (2020) 42(Suppl 1):11–8. doi: 10.1111/ijlh.13229
- Takahashi T, Ellingson MK, Wong P, Israelow B, Lucas C, Klein J, et al. Sex Differences in Immune Responses That Underlie COVID-19 Disease Outcomes. *Nature* (2020) 588(7837):315–20. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2700-3
- 42. Kilic G, Bulut O, Jaeger M, Ter Horst R, Koeken VACM, Moorlag SJCFM, et al. The Immunological Factors Predisposing to Severe Covid-19 Are Already Present in Healthy Elderly and Men. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:720090. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.720090

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lui, Lee, Chow, Lee, Tam, Pang, Ho, Cheung, Fong, Law, To, Lam, Tan, Woo, Hung and Lam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Effect of Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines on TRAB in Graves' Disease

LingHong Huang^{1,2}, ZhengRong Jiang², JingXiong Zhou², YuPing Chen² and HuiBin Huang^{2*}

¹ The Second Clinical Medical College of Fujian Medical University, Quanzhou, China, ² Department of Endocrinology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University, Quanzhou, China

Background: The ongoing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has forced the development of vaccines. Reports have suggested that vaccines play a role in inducing autoimmune diseases (AIDs). Scattered cases have reported that severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) vaccines may promote thyroid disease, including Graves' disease (GD). However, the effect of inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine on GD remains unclear. The aim of the present study was to investigate the response of thyrotropin receptor antibody (TRAB) to inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jose Sgarbi, Faculdade de Medicina de Marília, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Lorenzo Scappaticcio, University Hospital "Luigi Vanvitelli", Italy Ilaria Muller, University of Milan, Italy Giusy Elia, University of Pisa, Italy

***Correspondence:** HuiBin Huang huibinhuang@aliyun.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 15 December 2021 Accepted: 04 April 2022 Published: 16 May 2022

Citation:

Huang L, Jiang Z, Zhou J, Chen Y and Huang H (2022) The Effect of Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines on TRAB in Graves' Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 13:835880. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.835880 **Methods:** We conducted a retrospective study to observe the differences in thyroid function and TRAB trends between pre-vaccination (n=412) and post-vaccination (n=231) groups at an interval of 2 months. We then retrospectively observed the differences in serum thyroid function and TRAB levels at 3 months before (n=280), 1 month before (n=294), 1 month after (n=306), and 3 months after (n=250) vaccination. Subsequently, 173 GD patients who were not vaccinated with inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines were selected for a prospective study. Thyroid function and TRAB assessment were performed before 3 and 1 months and 1 and 3 months after the first dose of vaccination and were then compared by repeated measures ANOVA to explore their dynamic changes.

Results: A retrospective study preliminarily observed that the trend of TRAB postvaccination was opposite of that pre-vaccination (p=0.000), serum TRAB levels decreased before vaccination and increased after vaccination. In this prospective study, repeated measures ANOVA indicated significant differences in serum FT3 (p=0.000), FT4 (p=0.000), TSH (p=0.000), and TRAB (p=0.000) levels at different time points before and after vaccination. Serum TRAB levels showed dynamic changes that decreased significantly at 1 month before vaccination (p=0.000), no significant differences at 1 month after vaccination (p=0.583), and reflected an upward trend at 3 months after vaccination (p=0.034). Serum FT3 and FT4 levels showed similar trends to serum TRAB levels before and after vaccination. Instead, the serum TSH levels showed a continuous upward trend over time. **Conclusion:** Based on the results obtained in both retrospective and prospective studies, we concluded that serum TRAB levels decreased less after inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and showed an upward trend, which may be related to humoral immunity induced by vaccination.

Keywords: inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, Graves' disease (GD), thyrotropin receptor antibody (TRAB), autoimmune disease (AID), autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD)

BACKGROUND

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), has infected more than 20 million individuals and caused more than 5 million deaths worldwide by December 12, 2021. COVID-19 can cause both pulmonary and systemic inflammation, potentially leading to multi-organ dysfunction. Thyroid diseases, including thyrotoxicosis, hypothyroidism, and nonthyroid disease syndromes, can also be caused by COVID-19 (1). To date, there is no specific treatment for SARS-CoV-2, and vaccination is a basic and effective way to prevent the spread of this virus. Currently, the types of vaccines in use include inactivated virus vaccines, live attenuated virus vaccines, nucleic acid vaccines, recombinant viral vector vaccines, and recombinant subunit vaccines (2). In China, more than 1 billion people have been vaccinated with inactivated SARS-CoV-2, and mass vaccination continues.

Graves' disease (GD) is an organ-specific autoimmune disease (AID) which is characterized by thyrotropin receptor antibody (TRAB). Genetic factors account for 80% of the risk of developing GD, whereas the other 20% are related to environmental risk factors (3). For example, autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD) is a common side effect of alemtuzumab therapy in patients with multiple sclerosis (4). These factors contribute to the onset of GD in genetically susceptible individuals by breaking down the mechanisms that lead to immune tolerance. The immunopathogenesis of GD is complex, and TRAB is the ultimate cause of hyperthyroidism (5). It binds to the thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) receptor on the surface of thyroid follicular cells, resulting in persistent and uncontrolled thyroid stimulation, leading to abnormal overproduction of thyroid hormones and hyperthyroidism.

Vaccines have long been suspected to play a role in inducing AIDs (6). There have been isolated case reports of arthritis, vasculitis, and central or peripheral nervous system symptoms following vaccination. Although these cases tend to be very infrequent, there have been reports of AID after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination, including AITD. SARS-CoV-2 vaccines-induced thyroid disease is not a single report. Recently, Alberto et al. and Zettinig et al. successively reported four cases of GD with positive TRAB induced by SARS-Cov2 RNA vaccination, which met the diagnostic criteria for autoimmune/inflammatory syndrome induced by adjuvants (ASIA) (7, 8). Another study reported that three women developed anterior neck pain after inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine and were diagnosed with subacute thyroiditis, which is also thought to be a

phenomenon of ASIA (9). Furthermore, one woman with a history of controlled GD developed ocular symptoms and signs after the mRNA COVID-19 vaccine, which, combined with elevated thyroid-stimulating immunoglobulin and orbital imaging, was consistent with a diagnosis of active Graves ophthalmopathy (GO) (10). Among the outpatients in our hospital, there were also cases of AITD induced by inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines, including GD and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), which mainly manifested as hyperthyroidism, such as a swollen neck, palpitations, and weight loss (this case report is in the process of publication). In the aforementioned reports, there were both newly diagnosed and recurrent or aggravated cases.

Until now, little was known about the effect of inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines on GD. As a marker of diagnosis and evaluation of treatment and remission, TRAB was the entry point of the present study. This study aimed to explore the response of TRABs in GD after inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in retrospective and prospective studies to further investigate the factors that may modulate these responses.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Study Population

These retrospective studies were performed to observe the effects of vaccination on thyroid function before and after vaccination. We included all GD patients in the Endocrinology Department of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University from January to August 2021. The patients included conformed to the diagnostic and treatment criteria of GD of the European Thyroid Association (ETA) (2018). Patients with GO, GD after I131 or surgical treatment, thyroid cancer, pregnant and suckling period females, or other autoimmune diseases were excluded (Figure 1). All enrolled patients were treated with methimazole (MMI) combined with levothyroxine (L-T4) to avoid druginduced hypothyroidism according to the ATD, which is the first-line treatment for GD. All of them were biochemically consistent with hyperthyroidism and were TRAB-positive, and treatment regimens remained unchanged during the study period. According to the time point of the first vaccination, the included population was divided into pre-vaccination (n=412) and post-vaccination (n=231) groups. Pre-vaccination referred to patients with GD who had not yet been vaccinated with inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. Post-vaccination, the GD was vaccinated with inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. We collected data on thyroid function and TRAB levels, which were measured



at 2-month intervals within a specified time through the clinical system.

We then retrospectively observed the differences in serum thyroid function and TRAB levels at different times before and after vaccination. We included all GD patients who received the first dose of inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine in the Endocrinology Department of the Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University from January to October 2021 (n=482). Patients with GO (n=1), GD after I131 (n=8) or surgical treatment (n=1), thyroid cancer (n=2), pregnant and suckling period females (n=0), or other autoimmune diseases (n=0) were excluded. Thyroid function and TRAB levels of the included GD patients were reviewed 3 months before, 1 month before, 1 month after, and 3 months after vaccination according to the time point of the first vaccination. After excluding patients with missing checklists at all the above time points (n=156), 314 patients were included and divided into four groups according to time points: pre-vaccination -3 month and -1 month and post-vaccination +1 month and +3 months. Due to the absence of follow-up at some time points, the cases in each group were as follows: prevaccination -3 months (n=280) and -1 month (n=294) and post-vaccination +1 month (n=306) and +3 months (n=250).

Subsequently, we conducted a prospective study on GD patients who were admitted to the Endocrinology Department of our hospital between March and May 2021 and had not been vaccinated. The enrolled population also met the diagnostic and treatment criteria of GD in ETA (2018), and the treatment regimen followed first-line treatment, which remained unchanged during the study period. According to their

willingness and the control of hyperthyroidism, they are advised to receive inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines. The exclusion criteria were as follows: 1. GO; 2. patients who needed to change treatment due to illness during the test; 3. GD after I131 or surgical treatment; 4. thyroid cancer; 5. pregnant and suckling period females; 6. GD accompanied by serious medical diseases, liver and kidney dysfunction, or granulocytopenia; and 7. other autoimmune diseases. Finally, we enrolled 173 GD patients who had not received inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines. All subjects provided informed consent to participate in the study, which was approved by the local ethical committee.

Vaccination

We reviewed the vaccination information in the Fujian Health Code to confirm and collect the type and date of vaccination and vaccine manufacturers of the participants to ensure the accuracy of information collection. They were also asked about their discomfort after the vaccination. The vaccine manufacturers of the enrolled patients included SINOVAC, Beijing Bio, and Chengdu Bio, which produced inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines.

Assays

Venous blood samples were collected before 3 and 1 months and 1 and 3 months after the first dose of inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines. Serum free triiodothyronine 3 (FT3), free thyroxine 4 (FT4), thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), and TRAB levels were measured using a competitive electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche COBAS-E601). Normal ranges of these parameters were as follows: FT3 (3.1-6.8pmol/L), FT4 (12.0-22.0pmol/L), TSH (0.27-4.20mIU/L), TRAB (0.00-1.75IU/L). The samples were analyzed in routine clinical laboratories at the Second Affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software version 23 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Continuous variables were normally distributed and shown as mean \pm standard deviation ($\overline{x} \pm s$) and irregularly distributed data were expressed as medium (interquartile range). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for variables with skewed distributions. We used Blom's formula to transform the skewed distribution into a normal distribution. The paired t-test and *post hoc* one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were used to assess the statistical significance of differences among the groups. Repeated measures ANOVA was performed to compare dynamic changes in thyroid function and TRAB levels in this prospective study. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

The Change Trend of TRAB in Post-Vaccination Was Opposite of That in Pre-Vaccination

In this retrospective study, we reviewed changes in thyroid function and TRAB in populations at different stages of vaccination, including pre-vaccination (n=412) and post-vaccination (n=231), to determine the effect of inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines on TRAB. The baseline clinical data of the two groups were analyzed statistically to exclude other influencing factors after vaccination for GD. No significant differences were observed between the groups in terms of sex, age, medication, or other clinical characteristics. Serum FT3 (p=0.000), FT4 (p=0.000), and TRAB (p=0.000) levels were significantly lower after 2 months than before pre-vaccination. There were no differences in thyroid function and TRAB between the 2-month post-vaccination intervals. The t-test

showed that the TRAB change was statistically different between the two groups (p=0.000). In contrast to the pre-vaccination values, the TRAB change trend post-vaccination (1.290IU/L vs. 0.060IU/L) (p=0.000) was the opposite (**Table 1** and **Figure 2**).

The Changes in Serum TRAB Levels Decreased Before Vaccination and Increased After Vaccination

To detect changes in serum thyroid function and TRAB levels at different time points before and after vaccination, we compared thyroid function and TRAB levels at 3 months, 1 month before and 1 month, 3 months after the first dose of vaccine. The baseline clinical data of the groups were analyzed statistically to exclude other influencing factors after vaccination for GD. No significant differences were observed between the groups in terms of sex, age, medication, and other clinical characteristics. The ANOVA analysis showed that there was a statistically significant difference in TRAB among the groups (p=0.019). The change trend of TRAB decreased before vaccination (5.880IU/L vs. 4.275IU/L) (p=0.009) and increased after vaccination (4.345IU/L vs. 4.475IU/L) (p=0.509). The change trends of FT3 and FT4 were both similar to those of TRAB, which decreased before vaccination (FT3: 5.220 pmol/L vs. 4.905 pmol/L, p=0.002; FT4: 16.415 pmol/L vs. 16.050 pmol/L, p=0.164) and increased after vaccination (FT3: 4.860 pmol/L vs. 4.990 pmol/L, p=0.247; FT4: 16.375 pmol/L vs. 16.840 pmol/L, p=0.271). The difference was that TSH levels continued to rise (0.218 mIU/L vs. 0.548 mIU/L vs. 0.817 mIU/L vs. 1.070 mIU/L) (p=0.000) (Table 2).

Baseline Characteristics of GD in Prospective Study

To further investigate the relationship between vaccination and serum TRAB levels, 173 GD who had received inactivated SARS-COV-2 vaccines were enrolled in a prospective study to compare the dynamic changes of serum TRAB levels before and at 3 and 1 months after vaccination. The baseline characteristics and clinical parameters of GD in this prospective study are summarized in **Table 3**. The mean age of the subjects in this

TABLE 1 Compariso	n of clinical characteristics ar	nd thyroid function between g	groups.					
	Pre-vaccination (n = 412)			Post-va	ccination (n = 231)		Р	
Gender (female%)	77.910			76.190			0.618	
Age (year)	39.020 ± 11.298) 39.020 ± 11.298 38.830 ± 10.895				0.941
Duration (month)	12.067 (5.433,20.725)			15.167 (9.300,25.600)			0.000	
Thiamazole (mg)	15.127± 4.902			14.946 ± 5.563			0.844	
Letrox (ug)	54.854 ± 36.674			56.	522 ± 37.830		0.585	
	2 Months Before	2 Months After	Р	2 Months Before	2 Months After	Р	_	
FT3 (pmol/L)	5.295 (4.490,7.540)	4.765 (4.110,5.790)	0.000	4.770 (4.210,5.810)	4.950 (4.490,5.750)	0.756	-	
FT4 (pmol/L)	16.490 (13.400,21.678)	15.765 (12.913,19.380)	0.000	16.050 (13.320,19.410)	16.740 (14.380,20.120)	0.246	-	
TSH (mIU/L)	0.134 (0.005,1.758)	0.524 (0.006,2.170)	0.308	0.815 (0.017,2.850)	1.300 (0.035,3.170)	0.419	-	
TRAB (IU/L)	6.300 (3.075,13.145)	4.455 (2.313,9.893)	0.000	4.450 (2.260,10.930)	4.470 (2.410,10.340)	0.237	_	
TRAB Change (IU/L)	1.290 (0.440,2.770)			0.06	0 (-0.600,1.010)		0.000	

Data are presented as mean±standard error (x±s) or median (interquartile range). Categorical outcomes were shown as absolute and relative prevalence of complications (%). FT3 free triiodothyronine 3, FT4 free thyroxine 4, TSH thyroid-stimulating hormone, TRAB thyrotropin receptor antibody.



study was 39.168 years, and 73.988% were women. The subjects had a median disease duration of 16.333 months, and their medication was MMI 14.957 mg and LT-4 58.960 μ g on average. The baseline median serum FT3, FT4, TSH, and TRAB levels were 5.230 pmol/L, 15.930 pmol/L, 0.375 mIU/L, and 5.450 IU/L, respectively.

Serum TRAB Levels Decreased Slightly After Vaccination and Showed an Upward Trend

Repeated measures ANOVA indicated significant differences in serum FT3 (p=0.000), FT4 (p=0.000), TSH (p=0.000), and TRAB (p=0.000) levels at different time points before and after

vaccination. Serum TRAB levels showed dynamic changes that decreased significantly at 1 month before vaccination (5.450IU/L vs. 3.950 IU/L) (p=0.000), no significant differences at 1 month after vaccination (3.95 0IU/L vs. 3.700 IU/L) (p=0.583), and a slight change and reflected an upward trend at 3 months after vaccination (3.700 IU/L vs. 4.100 IU/L) (p=0.034) (**Table 4** and **Figure 3**). Serum FT3 and FT4 levels showed similar trends to serum TRAB levels before and after vaccination. However, the slight differences were that FT3 and FT4 showed an upward trend at 1 month after vaccination, although there was no difference in the change of FT3 (4.630pmol/L vs. 4.740 pmol/L) (p=0.095) and FT4 (15.490 pmol/L vs. 16.220 pmol/L) (p=0.068) 1 month before and after vaccination, and the

	Pre-vace	cination	Post-va	Post-vaccination		
	3 Months Before (n = 280)	1 Month Before (n = 294)	1 Month After (n = 306)	3 Months After (n = 250)		
Gender (female%)	79.286	76.871	77.124	76.400	0.857	_
Age (year)	40.181 ±10.913	40.252 ±10.838	40.101 ±10.886	39.606±10.678	0.904	-
Duration (month)	11.150 (4.467,21.050)	13.917 (6.508,23.075)	15.283 (8.500,25.600)	18.367 (10.292,29.233)	0.000	-
Thiamazole (mg)	15.384±4.667	15.145±4.901	15.204±4.852	15.350±4.476	0.955	-
Letrox (ug)	53.214 ±37.309	52.976 ±38.665	51.797 ±38.476	53.200±37.555	0.968	-
FT3 (pmol/L)	5.220 (4.468,7.108)	4.905 (4.220,6.000)	4.860 (4.268,5.950)	4.990 (4.485,5.878)	0.006	0.002 ^a 0.997 ^b 0.247
FT4 (pmol/L)	16.415 (13.313,21.478)	16.050 (13.300,19.413)	16.375 (13.410,20.118)	16.840 (14.465,19.915)	0.361	0.164 ^a 0.999 ^b 0.271
TSH (mIU/L)	0.218 (0.005,2.018)	0.548 (0.006,2.283)	0.817 (0.012,2.595)	1.070 (0.017,3.133)	0.000	0.169 ^a 0.047 ^b 0.318
TRAB (IU/L)	5.880 (2.708,13.070)	4.275 (2.203,10.310)	4.345 (2.288,10.110)	4.475 (2.453,9.853)	0.019	0.009 ^a 0.865 ^b 0.509

TABLE 2 | Variation in thyroid function at different time points before and after vaccination.

Data are presented as mean±standard error (x±s) or median (interquartile range). Categorical outcomes were shown as absolute and relative prevalence of complications (%). FT3 free triiodothyronine 3, FT4 free thyroxine 4, TSH thyroid-stimulating hormone, TRAB thyrotropin receptor antibody.

^a3 Months Before versus 1 Month Before.

^b1 Month Before versus 1 Month After

^c1 Month After versus 3 Months After.

TABLE 3 Demog	raphic and clinical c	characteristics of	enrolled patients (n =
173).			

Gender (female%)	73.988
Age (year)	39.168 ±10.713
Duration (month)	16.333 (9.617,26.309)
Thiamazole (mg)	14.957±5.293
Letrox (ug)	58.960 ±37.246
FT3 (pmol/L)	5.230 (4.500,6.570)
FT4 (pmol/L)	15.930 (13.530,20.300)
TSH (mIU/L)	0.375 (0.005,2.020)
TRAB (IU/L)	5.450 (2.555,11.350)

Data are presented as mean±standard error (x±s) or median (interquartile range). Categorical outcomes were shown as absolute and relative prevalence of complications (%). FT3 free triiodothyronine 3, FT4 free thyroxine 4, TSH thyroid-stimulating hormone, TRAB thyrotropin receptor antibody.

upward trend was more significant 3 months after vaccination (FT3: 4.740 pmol/L vs. 5.020 pmol/L, p=0.001; FT4: 16.220 pmol/L vs. 16.610 pmol/L, p=0.012). Instead, serum TSH levels showed a continuous upward trend over time (0.375 mIU/L vs. 0.948 mIU/L vs. 1.110 mIU/L vs. 1.420 mIU/L) (p=0.000).

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we combined retrospective and prospective studies to investigate the effect of inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines on TRAB in patients with GD. The results of intergroup comparison and repeated measures ANOVA indicated that serum TRAB levels decreased less after inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and showed an upward trend. Similarly, the serum FT3 and FT4 levels increased after vaccination. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first comparative assessment of serum TRAB levels with inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in GD since the COVID-19 outbreak.

SARS-CoV-2 is spreading rapidly worldwide with high numbers of confirmed cases and fatality rates and limited treatment options. Widespread vaccination against COVID-19 is a crucial tool to control the pandemic. In China, most citizens are vaccinated with inactivated SARS-CoV-2. Inactivated vaccines are a mature technology with highly efficient proliferation and high genetic stability and are widely used for the prevention and control of emerging infectious diseases (11). Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines are made by taking live viral samples from multiple patients and replicating them in Vero cells of the African green monkey cell line, which is susceptible to infection (12). Then, the strain with the best proliferation and lowest mutagenesis rate is isolated, further proliferated, inactivated, and absorbed onto aluminum hydroxide to generate (13). In preclinical studies, inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines provided complete protection against SARS-CoV-2 infection by triggering effective humoral immune responses and inducing SARS-CoV-2-specific neutralizing antibodies in serrated animals and nonhuman primates (14). Furthermore, vaccines have been found to elicit a rapid humoral response in healthy individuals to be tolerable and immunogenic (15).

Adjuvants are compounds added to vaccines to enhance immunogenicity, which could lead to practical advantages, including dose-sparing and inducing a more rapid, strong, and long-lasting immune response (16, 17). Aluminum compounds are the most widely used adjuvants for human vaccines. Aluminum traps soluble antigens, interacts with dendritic cells, enhances antigen presentation and complement and eosinophil activation, promotes an influx of neutrophils, enhances the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and reduces immunopathology, elevating protective immunity levels to the threat of homologous viruses (18). While everything has two sides, the more effective it is, the higher is the risk. However, adjuvants are not completely free of side effects. In genetically predisposed individuals, adjuvants may induce ASIA by disrupting the host's immunological balance through molecular simulations, triggering polyclonal activation of B lymphocytes, or other similar etiological mechanisms (19). Adjuvants can trigger generalized autoimmune reactions, resulting in multiple autoantibodies, and contribute to the development of autoimmune diseases including AITD, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), Sjogren's syndrome (SS), Guillain Barre syndrome (GBS), and multiple sclerosis (18).

GD is the most common cause of hyperthyroidism. Under normal conditions, TSH receptors (TSHRs) located on the surface of thyroid cells bind to TSH, which activates adenylate cyclase and phosphoinositol-dependent signaling pathways to produce thyroid hormones (20). Hyperthyroidism is caused by the growth and reproduction of thyroid cells and persistent and uncontrolled thyroid stimulation resulting from the interaction

	Pre-vac	cination	Post-vac	ccination	Ρ	Pairwise Comparison
	3 Months Before	1 Month Before	1 Month After	3 Months After		
FT3 (pmol/L)	5.230 (4.500,6.570)	4.630 (4.095,5.515)	4.740 (4.235,5.760)	5.020 (4.530,5.735)	0.000	0.000 ^a 0.095 ^b 0.001 ^c
FT4 (pmol/L)	15.930 (13.530,20.300)	15.490 (12.910,18.760)	16.220 (13.540,19.145)	16.610 (14.660,19.400)	0.000	0.006 ^a 0.068 ^b 0.012 ^c
TSH (mIU/L)	0.375 (0.005,2.020)	0.948 (0.017,2.700)	1.110 (0.042,2.765)	1.420 (0.204,3.225)	0.000	0.002 ^a 0.064 ^b 0.138 ^c
TRAB (IU/L)	5.450 (2.555,11.350)	3.950 (2.080,8.780)	3.700 (2.000,7.835)	4.100 (2.360,8.965)	0.000	0.000 ^a 0.583 ^b 0.034 ^c

Data are presented as median (interquartile range). Categorical outcomes were shown as absolute and relative prevalence of complications (%). FT3 free triiodothyronine 3, FT4 free thyroxine 4, TSH thyroid-stimulating hormone, TRAB thyrotropin receptor antibody.

^a3 Months Before versus 1 Month Before.

^b1 Month Before versus 1 Month After.

^c1 Month After versus 3 Months After.



of TRAB with TSHR in genetically predisposed individuals with GD. The pathogenesis of GD involves the destruction of thyroid immune tolerance, with the most pathogenic antibody being TRAB, and the immune mechanism is complex. A large amount of evidence has shown that the active phase of GD is associated with an immune prevalence of the Th1 immune response, whereas the inactive or later phases of GD are associated with a switch from Th1 to Th2 immune prevalence (21). It has been speculated that the mechanism of immune tolerance disruption is the maladjustment of autoreactive B cells that switch to plasma cells that produce pathogenic immunoglobulin G (20). Moreover, increasing the stimulating effect of Th2 cells on B cells promotes the production of more TRABs, which is considered another mechanism of GD occurrence (20).

TRABs were explored as an entry point of this study as an important indicator to evaluate treatment efficacy and

recurrence. We conducted a retrospective study to observe the differences in TRAB trends between pre-vaccination and postvaccination. Before vaccination, serum thyroid function and TRAB levels decreased significantly at intervals of 2 months under standard treatment, indicating an effective treatment. In contrast to pre-vaccination, no significant differences were found in serum thyroid function and TRAB levels post-vaccination, which indicated that there was no improvement in thyroid function and TRAB after vaccination under the same treatment regimen. Simultaneously, we compared serum TRAB levels at specified time points before and after vaccination. The results showed that the TRAB increased after vaccination, which also supports the previous prediction. The differences in the duration of the retrospective study were due to the overlap among subgroups of GD enrolled during the research, with the course of disease apparently longer post-vaccination than before.

Generally, serum TRAB levels should decline over time with standard treatment, which was not observed in our study. However, an unexpected increase in TRAB levels was observed after vaccination. The expected trend of TRAB titer is to decrease before vaccination, which contrasts with the TRAB titer plateau immediately after vaccination (+1-month time point) and the subsequent inverted and unexpected trend of TRAB increase at +3-months time-point after vaccination. To further explore the dynamic changes in TRAB before and after vaccination, we expanded a prospective study that measured the levels of serum thyroid function and TRAB at 3 and 1 months before and after vaccination in GD and then performed repeated measurement ANOVA. Lifestyle and treatment of the enrolled subjects were unaltered during the study. Consistent with the results of this retrospective study, there were significant differences in serum FT3, FT4, and TRAB levels at different time points before and after vaccination. Serum TRAB levels showed dynamic changes that decreased significantly at 1 month before vaccination, showed no significant differences at 1 month after vaccination, and changed slightly and reflected an upward trend at 3 months after vaccination. Serum FT3 and FT4 levels showed trends similar to those of serum TRAB levels before and after vaccination, but the nuances were that their upward trend moved forward and appeared 1 month after vaccination. Surprisingly, the changes in TSH after vaccination 1-3 months were inconsistent with those in FT3 and FT4, showing a continuous upward trend. We speculate that this phenomenon may be related to the sensitivity of TSH, which usually changes earlier than FT3 and FT4 levels. It may be that thyroid hormone is about to decline at the time point, but we have not captured their decreased levels due to the short follow-up time.

Based on the results obtained in both retrospective and prospective studies, we concluded that serum TRAB levels decreased less after vaccination and showed an upward trend. Thinking along the lines above, the association between inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines and serum TRAB levels may be related to humoral immunity. After vaccination, antibodies were generated through humoral immunity, which could stimulate B cells and promote the synthesis of TRABs, changing the original declining trend of TRABs. Another explanation may be that adjuvants added to inactivated vaccines may disrupt the host immune balance and stimulate B cell cloning, affecting the original trend of TRAB.

Our study has two limitations. First, the current study was conducted in a single-center cohort of patients, with the possibility of selection bias. Second, the short follow-up period in our study resulted in unclear trends in serum TRAB levels 3 months after vaccination. The follow-up period should be extended to validate the time point of the peak of its increase.

The data presented here demonstrate that inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines may affect TRAB trends in GD patients. Nevertheless, we must emphasize that the initial goal of vaccination is to protect the population from infection and reduce infection and mortality, and inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccines are not contraindicated in patients with GD (22). COVID-19 has led to millions of disabilities and deaths worldwide, especially in men, the elderly, and those with previous health problems; therefore, we believe that the risks of COVID-19 outweigh the minor risks of the vaccine in these populations. However, autoimmune diseases, especially GD, predominantly affect young women, who have a significantly reduced risk of severe Covid-19 disease. Thus, a careful analysis of the risk/benefit ratio should be continuously applied and revised according to the new scientific data that are produced daily. The results of this study provide evidence for clinical management and clinicians should be aware that TRAB levels may stop declining after vaccination.

CONCLUSION

Taken together, based on retrospective and prospective studies, the data presented here demonstrate that serum TRAB levels decreased less after inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and showed an upward trend, and FT3 and FT4 were consistent with it. This may be related to humoral immunity induced by vaccination. This finding suggests that humoral immunity induced by inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine may affect autoimmunity. The advantages and disadvantages of vaccination should be weighed according to the applicable population. Clinicians should be aware that TRAB levels may stop declining following vaccination.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Second affiliated Hospital of Fujian Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors planned the concept of this report and wrote and revised the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Science and Technology Project of Fujian Provincial Department (2019J01166), Innovative Medical

REFERENCES

- Scappaticcio L, Pitoia F, Esposito K, Piccardo A, Trimboli P. Impact of COVID-19 on the Thyroid Gland: An Update. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2021) 22(4):803–15. doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09615-z
- Dong Y, Dai T, Wei Y, Zhang L, Zheng M, Zhou F. A Systematic Review of SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Candidates. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5 (1):237. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00352-y
- Boelaert K, Visser WE, Taylor PN, Moran C, Leger J, Persani L. ENDOCRINOLOGY IN THE TIME OF COVID-19: Management of Hyperthyroidism and Hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183(1): G33-G9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0445
- Scappaticcio L, Castellana M, Virili C, Bellastella G, Centanni M, Cannavo S, et al. Alemtuzumab-Induced Thyroid Events in Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Endocrinol Invest (2020) 43 (2):219–29. doi: 10.1007/s40618-019-01105-7
- Bartalena L. Diagnosis and Management of Graves Disease: A Global Overview. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2013) 9(12):724–34. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2013.193
- Toussirot É, Bereau M. Vaccination and Induction of Autoimmune Diseases. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets* (2015) 14(2):94–8. doi: 10.2174/ 1871528114666160105113046
- Vera-Lastra O, Ordinola Navarro A, Cruz Domiguez MP, Medina G, Sanchez Valadez TI, Jara LJ. Two Cases of Graves' Disease Following SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination: An Autoimmune/Inflammatory Syndrome Induced by Adjuvants. *Thyroid* (2021) 31(9):1436–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2021.0142
- Zettinig G, Krebs M. Two Further Cases of Graves' Disease Following SARS-Cov-2 Vaccination. J Endocrinol Invest (2022) 45(1):227–8. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-021-01650-0
- Iremli BG, Sendur SN, Unluturk U. Three Cases of Subacute Thyroiditis Following SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine: Postvaccination ASIA Syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106(9):2600–5. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab373
- Rubinstein TJ. Thyroid Eye Disease Following COVID-19 Vaccine in a Patient With a History Graves' Disease: A Case Report. Ophthalmic Plast Reconstruct Surg (2021) 37(6):e221–e3. doi: 10.1097/iop.000000000002059
- Wang H, Zhang Y, Huang B, Deng W, Quan Y, Wang W, et al. Development of an Inactivated Vaccine Candidate, BBIBP-CorV, With Potent Protection Against SARS-CoV-2. *Cell* (2020) 182(3):713–21.e9. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2020.06.008
- Murray J, Todd KV, Bakre A, Orr-Burks N, Jones L, Wu W, et al. A Universal Mammalian Vaccine Cell Line Substrate. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(11):e0188333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0188333
- Calvo Fernandez E, Zhu LY. Racing to Immunity: Journey to a COVID-19 Vaccine and Lessons for the Future. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* (2021) 87(9):3408– 24. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14686

Research Project of Fujian Province (2018-CX-33), and High-Level Talent Program of Science and Technology Project of Quanzhou (2018C044R).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Prof. HuiBin Huang for his valuable suggestions helping us to improve the manuscript.

- Gao Q, Bao L, Mao H, Wang L, Xu K, Yang M, et al. Development of an Inactivated Vaccine Candidate for SARS-CoV-2. *Science (New York NY)* (2020) 369(6499):77–81. doi: 10.1126/science.abc1932
- 15. Xia S, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Wang H, Yang Y, Gao GF, et al. Safety and Immunogenicity of an Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine, BBIBP-CorV: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Phase 1/2 Trial. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2021) 21(1):39–51. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30831-8
- Guimaraes LE, Baker B, Perricone C, Shoenfeld Y. Vaccines, Adjuvants and Autoimmunity. *Pharmacol Res* (2015) 100:190–209. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2015.08.003
- Pellegrino P, Clementi E, Radice S. On Vaccine's Adjuvants and Autoimmunity: Current Evidence and Future Perspectives. *Autoimmun Rev* (2015) 14(10):880–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.05.014
- Ruiz JT, Lujan L, Blank M, Shoenfeld Y. Adjuvants- and Vaccines-Induced Autoimmunity: Animal Models. *Immunol Res* (2017) 65(1):55–65. doi: 10.1007/s12026-016-8819-5
- Bragazzi NL, Hejly A, Watad A, Adawi M, Amital H, Shoenfeld Y. ASIA Syndrome and Endocrine Autoimmune Disorders. *Best Pract Res Clin* Endocrinol Metab (2020) 34(1):101412. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2020.101412
- Chistiakov DA. Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Receptor and its Role in Graves' Disease. *Mol Genet Metab* (2003) 80(4):377–88. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymgme.2003.09.001
- Antonelli A, Fallahi P, Elia G, Ragusa F, Paparo SR, Ruffilli I, et al. Graves' Disease: Clinical Manifestations, Immune Pathogenesis (Cytokines and Chemokines) and Therapy. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 34 (1):101388. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2020.101388
- Ku CR, Jung KY, Ahn CH, Moon JS, Lee JH, Kim EH, et al. COVID-19 Vaccination for Endocrine Patients: A Position Statement From the Korean Endocrine Society. *Endocrinol Metab (Seoul)* (2021) 36(4):757–65. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2021.404

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Huang, Jiang, Zhou, Chen and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Mental Health in Postoperative Thyroid Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Shijie Yang and Xiequn Xu*

Department of General Surgery, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

Background: Little is known about mental health in patients after thyroid surgery during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic in China. This study aimed to assess the mental health of postoperative thyroid patients and to explore potential factors associated with psychological symptoms.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gabriela Brenta, Dr. César Milstein Care Unit, Argentina

Reviewed by:

Mathilda Alsen, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States Chen Zhang, International Peace Maternity and Child Health Hospital, China

*Correspondence:

Xiequn Xu xxq75@163.com orcid.org/0000-0003-0347-5258

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 February 2022 Accepted: 16 May 2022 Published: 28 June 2022

Citation:

Yang S and Xu X (2022) Mental Health in Postoperative Thyroid Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front. Endocrinol. 13:875325. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.875325 **Methods:** In this study, we surveyed 241 patients who underwent thyroid surgery at Peking Union Medical College Hospital. Insomnia, anxiety, depression, and posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) were measured using the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI), Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire (GAD-7), Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), and Impact of Event Scale-Revised (IES-R), respectively.

Results: A significant proportion of postoperative patients reported experiencing insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS. Patients that were older, single/divorced/ widowed, and less educated; had lower income and poor general health; had undergone surgery within the past six months; had disrupted follow-up, and; searched social media for COVID-19-related information were associated with worse mental health.

Conclusions: During the COVID-19 pandemic, postoperative thyroid patients tended to develop mental health problems and have less psychological support, emphasizing the importance of patient education and psychological interventions.

Keywords: thyroid surgery, mental health, COVID-19, anxiety, depression

INTRODUCTION

With the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic outbreak at the end of 2019, the disease rapidly spread worldwide. In the initial period, China was the most impacted by this pandemic, and there was an accompanying epidemic of anxiety and depression nationwide (1–3). People experienced numerous inconveniences due to the implementation of home quarantine policies (4, 5). Additionally, hospitals admitted large numbers of COVID-19 patients, and the shortage of

frontline medical staff resulted in limited follow-up for postoperative patients (6, 7). Postoperative thyroid patients require close monitoring and treatment, and the majority of these patients are also cancer patients, who may be more vulnerable to negative emotions that could lead to psychological problems (8–10).

Several studies have explored anxiety, depression, and quality of life during the COVID-19 pandemic in a variety of populations, including the general population (1, 2, 11), health care workers (12-14), medical students (15, 16), cancer patients (17-19), and postoperative surgical patients (20, 21). The majority of these study populations experienced negative emotional states during the pandemic; however, to date, no studies have focused on the mental health of patients after thyroid surgery (22). While thyroid cancer is one of the more inert cancers with a relatively good prognosis, a diagnosis of thyroid nodules, especially thyroid cancer, would affect a patient's postoperative psychological status. And several studies have reported similar or greater mental burden in thyroid patients (23, 24). The prevalence of thyroid cancer has increased every year, as has the volume of thyroid surgery (25-27), and the quality of life for postoperative thyroid patients has been of great concern to researchers (28, 29). However, during the COVID-19 pandemic, postoperative thyroid patients did not receive attention commensurate with their numbers.

The current study employed 4 validated psychological scales to assess symptoms of insomnia, anxiety, depression, and posttraumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) in postoperative thyroid patients during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic in China and to investigate factors associated with these psychological symptoms. The goal of our study was to report the mental health status of postoperative thyroid patients and provide a reference for conducting thyroid surgery and perioperative patient education during the COVID-19 outbreak based on the potential influencing factors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Setting and Participants

From 2020.02.04 to 2020.02.18, when the COVID-19 epidemic was at its peak in China, we identified and contacted patients who had undergone thyroid surgery at Peking Union Medical College Hospital and were receiving regular follow-up in the outpatient clinic. An online questionnaire was sent to them via the contact information in the medical record system, and data were collected twice a day. The questionnaire was set to allow submission only after all questions were answered. According to the inclusion criteria, patients had to be 18-70 years of age, have undergone thyroid surgery, have had no surgical complications (e.g., permanent hypoparathyroidism, recurrent laryngeal nerve palsy, etc.) during hospitalization and follow-up, and can ensure the accuracy of the information. The presence of other malignancies or a history of diagnosed psychological disorders, either self-reported by patients or confirmed through the electronic medical records by the researchers, were used as exclusion criteria.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Peking Union Medical College Hospital.

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Patients' sociodemographic characteristics, such as age, sex, employment status, marital status, education level, annual family income, and knowledge of their condition, were recorded from answers to the questionnaire, as well as whether their follow-up in the outpatient clinic which was usually once every 1 month to 3 months was disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic and whether they searched for COVID-19-related news and medical information through social media. The clinical features of the patients, including comorbidities, time since surgery, type of surgery, and pathological results, were obtained by accessing the hospital's electronic medical record system.

Applied Questionnaires

Insomnia Severity Index (ISI): The 7-item ISI questionnaire is widely used to assess the symptoms and severity of insomnia (30); each question is scored from 0 to 4, for a total score of 28. Participants who scored 0-7 are classified as having no insomnia, 8-14 indicates mild insomnia, 15-21 indicates moderate insomnia and 22-28 indicates severe insomnia.

Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire (GAD-7): The GAD questionnaire consists of 7 questions measuring anxiety symptoms that are scored on a scale of 0 ("not at all") to 3 ("nearly every day") (31) for a total score of 21. A score of 0-4 indicates no anxiety, 5-9 indicates mild anxiety, 10-14 indicates moderate anxiety, and a score of more than 15 indicates severe anxiety.

Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): The PHQ is a questionnaire consisting of 9 items used to assess depression symptoms that are each scored from 0 ("not at all") to 3 ("nearly every day"), for a total score of 27 (32). A score of 0-4 indicates no depression, 5-9 indicates mild depression, 10-14 indicates moderate depression, and a score of more than 15 indicates severe depression.

Impact of Events Scale-Revised (IES-R): The 22-item IES-R questionnaire is used to assess PTSS symptoms (33); each question is scored from 0 ("not at all") to 4 ("extremely"), for a total score of 88. A score of 0-23 indicates no PTSS, 24-32 indicates mild PTSS, 33-36 indicates moderate PTSS and 37-88 indicates severe PTSS.

All questionnaires measured mental health symptoms within the past two weeks.

Statistical Analysis

Categorical data are expressed as rates, and continuous data are expressed as the median (range) or mean (SD). Independent samples t-tests, one-way ANOVAs, and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to analyze the association between the categorical variables and scores on each psychological symptom (i.e., insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS), and Pearson correlation analyses were used to analyze the association between the continuous variables and psychological symptom scores. Independent variables identified as significant in the bivariate analysis were included in a multivariable linear regression model to analyze further the independent factors influencing each psychological symptom.

All analyses were conducted in SPSS (version 26.0; IBM) and GraphPad Prism (version 9.1.1), with a two-tailed p-value of ≤ 0.05 considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Of the 248 postoperative patients who provided informed consent, seven were excluded: two could not ensure the accuracy of their information and five had a history of psychological disorders; thus, 241 patients were included in the study. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are shown in **Table 1**. The median age of these patients was 41 years (range: 23-67 years), with 78.8% female (n=190), 72.2% employed or full-time students (n=174), 85.5% married (n=206), 76.8% possessing a college degree or higher education (n=185), 71.8% with an annual household income >60,000 RMB (n=173), and 81.7% in good general health with no comorbidities (n=197).

Of the 241 patients, the majority underwent total thyroidectomy (70%, n=170) and had malignant pathology results (90.9%, n=219). The time since surgery was roughly evenly split, with 32.4%, 36.9%, and 30.7% of patients reporting that <6 months, 6-11 months, and >12 months had elapsed since surgery, respectively. The vast majority of patients felt that they had a complete or basic understanding of their condition (94.9%, n=228), and 61.0% (n=147) felt that their condition was not serious. During the peak period of the pandemic, 41.9% (n=101) of patients reported disruptions to their follow-up and treatment, and 77.6% of patients (n=187) used social media to search for news, medical information, and guidance related to COVID-19 while at home.

Mental Health Outcomes

Table 2 displays the results of the questionnaire corresponding to the 4 psychological symptoms, with median scores of 4 (IQR: 0-9) on the ISI, 3 (IQR: 0.5-7) on the GAD-7, 2 (IQR: 0-6.5) on the PHQ-9 and 10 (IQR: 2-22) on the IES-R, respectively. Of the 241 patients, those with symptoms of insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS accounted for 32.0% (n=77), 39.4% (n=95), 33.6% (n=81), and 21.2% (n=51), respectively, with the majority of patients experiencing mild psychological symptoms and fewer experiencing moderate and severe symptoms; in contrast, there were more patients with severe PTSS than those with moderate PTSS according to the IES-R.

Factors Related to Mental Health

Table 3 shows the association between demographic factors, clinical characteristics, and independent variables related to COVID-19 and mental health status. Bivariate analysis revealed that in postoperative thyroid patients, older patients

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of patients.

Characteristic	n (%)
Age, year [median (range)]	41 (23-67)
Sex	
Male	51 (21.1)
Female	190 (78.8)
Employment status	
Employed or full-time student	174 (72.2)
Unemployed	32 (13.3)
Retired	35 (14.5)
Marital status	
Married	206 (85.5)
Single, divorced, or widowed	35 (14.5)
Highest level of education	
High school or below	56 (23.2)
College or higher	185 (76.8)
Annual family income, RMB ¹	
<u>≦</u> 60,000	68 (28.2)
>60,000	173 (71.8)
Number of comorbidities	
0	197 (81.7)
1	32 (13.3)
2	9 (3.7)
3	3 (1.2)
Time since surgery, month	
<6	78 (32.4)
6-11	89 (36.9)
≧12	74 (30.7)
Type of surgery	
Total thyroidectomy	170 (70.5)
Unilateral lobectomy	71 (29.5)
Pathology	
Benign	22 (9.1)
Malignant	219 (90.9)
Lymph node metastasis (N=219)	
Yes	91 (37.8)
No	128 (53.1)
Understand their condition	
Complete or basic understanding	228 (94.9)
Partial understanding	13 (5.4)
Self-identification of the severity	
Very serious or somewhat serious	94 (39.0)
Not too serious or not serious	147 (61.0)
Usual follow-up or treatment disrupted	
No	140 (58.1)
Yes	101 (41.9)
Social media information	
No	54 (22.4)
Yes	187 (77.6)

¹ 1 RMB is equivalent to 0.16 USD.

had higher levels of PTSS during the peak period of COVID-19 (p=0.047), and single/divorced/widowed patients had higher levels of depression and PTSS than married patients (p=0.034 and p=0.022, respectively). Patients with a college degree or higher education had lower levels of insomnia, anxiety, and PTSS than patients with less-than-high school education (p=0.010, p=0.034, and p=0.012, respectively), and patients with a higher annual family income had lower levels of insomnia, depression, and PTSS (p=0.009, p=0.035, and p=0.036, respectively). The number of comorbidities was associated with every mental health dimension, and there was also a significant association between time since surgery and insomnia as well as depression.

		n (241)	%
ISI	Median (IQR) 4 (0-9)		
	Normal	164	68.0
	Mild insomnia	61	25.3
	Moderate insomnia	14	5.8
	Severe insomnia	2	0.8
GAD-7	Median (IQR) 3(0.5-7)		
	Normal	146	60.6
	Mild anxiety	70	29.0
	Moderate anxiety	19	7.9
	Severe anxiety	6	2.5
PHQ-9	Median (IQR) 2 (0-6.5)		
	Normal	160	66.4
	Mild depression	56	23.2
	Moderate depression	15	6.2
	Severe depression	10	4.1
IES-R	Median (IQR) 10 (2-22)		
	Normal	190	78.8
PHQ-9	Mild PTSS	27	11.2
	Moderate PTSS	8	3.3
	Severe PTSS	16	6.6

ISI, Insomnia Severity Index; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire; IES-R, Impact of Events Scale-Revised.

Surprisingly, patients that had surgery 6-11 months prior had the lowest levels of psychological symptoms of insomnia and depression, as shown in **Figure 1**. Patients who had undergone thyroid surgery within the past 6 months or more than 12 months ago had higher levels of insomnia and depression, and similar trends were found for anxiety and PTSS symptoms, although these were not significant. Insomnia and depression levels were significantly higher when patients knew less about their condition (p=0.022 and p=0.004, respectively). Patients whose routine follow-up was disrupted and those who searched social media for COVID-19-related information had higher levels of anxiety and PTSS than patients with nondisrupted follow-up (p=0.006 for GAD-7 scores, p=0.023 for IES-R scores) and those with less exposure to social media (p=0.008 for GAD-7 scores, p<0.001 for IES-R scores).

Based on the results of the bivariate analysis, nine variables age, marital status, highest level of education, annual family income, number of comorbidities, time since surgery, understanding their condition, usual follow-up or treatment disrupted, and social media information - were included in the multivariate linear regression model. Figure 2 shows the distribution of baseline characteristics of these variables in distinct degrees of psychological symptoms. The results of the multivariable linear regression are presented in Table 4. Time since surgery was an independent factor related to insomnia [odds ratios (ORs), -1.96 (95% CI, -3.58 to -0.34)]; marital status [ORs, 2.07 (95% CI, 0.55 to 3.60)] and number of comorbidities [ORs, -2.16 (95% CI, -3.69 to -0.63)] were independent factors related to anxiety; marital status [ORs, 2.22 (95% CI, 0.42 to 4,02)], time since surgery [ORs, -1.84 (95% CI, -3.30 to -0.38)], and knowledge of their condition [ORs, 3.50 (95% CI, 0.79 to 6.20)] were independent factors affecting depression; and age [ORs, 0.19 (95% CI, 0.01 to 0.37)], marital status [ORs, 7.06 (95% CI, 2.32 to 11.80)], number of comorbidities [ORs, 9.59 (95% CI, 1.16 to 18.03)] and use of social media for COVID-19 information [ORs, 6.28 (95% CI, 2.37 to 10.19)] were independent factors influencing PTSS. The degree of influence of these factors were displayed in **Figure 3**.

DISCUSSION

The psychological and emotional issues in numerous populations during the COVID-19 pandemic have received increasing attention (11–21). While psychological symptoms such as insomnia, anxiety, depression, and reduced quality of life after thyroid surgery have been reported by patients (34–36), the mental health of postoperative thyroid patients during the pandemic and the factors affecting it remain relatively unknown (37). To our knowledge, this current study is the first investigating mental health and influencing factors during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our study found that a significant proportion of postoperative thyroid patients experienced insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS, mostly to a mild degree. Age, marital status, education level, annual family income, number of comorbidities, time since surgery, the patients' knowledge of their condition, disruption to follow-up during the COVID-19 pandemic, and coping strategies were associated with one or more of the psychological symptoms of insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS.

Overall, we found that during the COVID-19 pandemic, postoperative thyroid patients reported more symptoms of insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS than the normal population and worse psychological status than postoperative thyroid patients before COVID-19 (1, 11, 36); however, these patients had better mental health than postoperative patients with other types of cancers (18).

Consistent with previous studies, we found that single/divorced/ widowed patients were at a higher risk of psychological symptoms than married since they received more emotional support (36, 38). Higher education levels and higher annual family income were associated with lower psychological symptoms, consistent with the literature (11, 36), possibly because patients with higher education levels usually have more comprehensive information about both their condition and the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, higher income suggests higher risk tolerance. Together, these factors may support patients in coping with negative emotions and prevent the development of psychological disorders.

As shown in **Table 1**, almost a third of the patients underwent thyroid surgery more than 12 months before enrollment, and we set time since surgery as a variable for analysis. Notably, we found that it was an independent factor related to insomnia and depression and had nonsignificant but similar associations with anxiety and PTSS scores. Interestingly, patients who had undergone surgery within the past 6 months reported the most severe psychological symptoms, followed by those who underwent surgery more than 12 months ago, while patients who had surgery between 6 and 12 months ago had the best

TABLE 3 | Bivariate analysis of insomnia, anxiety, depression, and PTSS scores.

	ISI		GAD	-7	PHQ	-9	IES-R		
	Mean (SD)	p-value	Mean (SD)	p-value	Mean (SD)	p-value	Mean (SD)	p-value	
Sex		0.689		0.355		0.707		0.266	
Male	5.45 (5.91)		3.65 (3.46)		3.69 (4.55)		11.80 (12.44)		
Female	5.11 (5.35)		4.27 (4.44)		3.98 (5.04)		14.14 (13.49)		
Employment status	()	0.150	· · · ·	0.166	· · · ·	0.397	· · · /	0.176	
Employed or full-time student	4.78 (5.30)		3.82 (3.69)		3.67 (4.54)		12.81 (12.34)		
Unemployed	5.78 (5.54)		5.06 (5.44)		4.88 (5.49)		14.09 (13.32)		
Retired	6.63 (6.03)		4.89 (5.42)		4.29 (6.13)		17.37 (17.03)		
Marital status	()	0.089	× /	0.061	· · · /	0.034	· · · /	0.022	
Married	4.93 (5.37)		3.87 (4.00)		3.56 (4.59)		12.84 (13.14)		
Single, divorced, or widowed	6.63 (5.81)		5.69 (5.32)		6.00 (6.30)		18.37 (13.32)		
Highest level of education	()	0.010	(,	0.034	()	0.110		0.012	
High school or below	6.82 (5.21)		5.36 (5.06)		4.84 (5.02)		17.93 (14.66)		
College or higher	4.68 (5.45)		3.77 (3.91)		3.64 (4.88)		12.35 (12.59)		
Annual family income, RMB ¹		0.009		0.099		0.035		0.036	
≤60,000	6.63 (5.99)		4.97 (5.25)		5.18 (6.22)		16.50 (15.08)		
>60,000	4.61 (5.15)		3.81 (3.75)		3.42 (4.24)		12.52 (12.37)		
Number of comorbidities		0.012		0.002		0.009		0.007	
0	5.23 (5.46)		4.29 (4.41)		3.97 (5.03)		13.62 (13.49)		
1	3.53 (5.23)		2.09 (2.13)		2.38 (3.85)		9.69 (10.32)		
2	8.00 (4.85)		6.33 (2.74)		6.56 (3.40)		24.11 (9.56)		
3	10.67 (3.06)		9.33 (5.69)		9.00 (7.00)		26.00 (18.68)		
Time since surgery, month	10.01 (0.00)	0.010	0.00 (0.00)	0.055	0.00 (1.00)	0.017	20.00 (10.00)	0.202	
<6	6.09 (5.90)	01010	4.79 (4.42)	0.000	4.95 (5.36)	0.011	15.03 (13.46)	0.202	
6-11	4.02 (5.19)		3.45 (4.18)		2.90 (4.57)		11.89 (12.89)		
≥12	5.61 (5.13)		4.27 (4.10)		4.05 (4.69)		14.30 (13.50)		
Type of surgery	0.01 (0.10)	0.674	1.27 (1.10)	0.299	1.00 (1.00)	0.231	11.00 (10.00)	0.846	
Total thyroidectomy	5.08 (5.35)	0.07 1	3.95 (4.13)	0.200	3.67 (4.75)	0.201	13.54 (12.92)	0.010	
Unilateral lobectomy	5.41 (5.76)		4.58 (4.52)		4.51 (5.32)		13.90 (14.19)		
Pathology	0.11 (0.10)	0.651	1.00 (1.02)	0.794	1.01 (0.02)	0.815	10.00 (11.10)	0.935	
Benign	5.68 (5.54)	0.001	4.36 (4.87)	0.101	3.68 (4.50)	0.010	13.86 (14.58)	0.000	
Malignant	5.13 (5.47)		4.11 (4.20)		3.94 (4.98)		13.62 (13.18)		
Lymph node metastasis (N=219)	0.10 (0.11)	0.815	1111 (1.20)	0.779	0.01 (1.00)	0.987	10.02 (10.10)	0.392	
Yes	5.23 (5.80)	0.010	4.21 (4.63)	0.110	3.93 (5.41)	0.001	14.53 (14.58)	0.002	
No	5.05 (5.24)		4.05 (3.88)		3.95 (4.67)		12.98 (12.10)		
Understand their condition	0.00 (0.2 1)	0.022	1.00 (0.00)	0.175	0.00 (1.07)	0.004	12.00 (12.10)	0.083	
Complete or basic understanding	4.99 (5.33)	0.0	4.05 (4.25)	01110	3.70 (4.77)		13.29 (13.05)	0.000	
Partial understanding	8.54 (6.91)		5.69 (4.15)		7.69 (6.20)		19.85 (16.19)		
Self-identification of the severity	0.01 (0.01)	0.576	0.00 (1.10)	0.350	1.00 (0.20)	0.491	10.00 (10.10)	0.602	
Very serious or somewhat serious	5.43 (5.58)	0101 0	4.46 (4.68)	0.000	4.19 (5.41)	01101	14.20 (13.74)	0.002	
Not too serious or not serious	5.02 (5.41)		3.93 (3.96)		3.74 (4.61)		13.29 (13.01)		
Usual follow-up or treatment disrupted	0.02 (01.1.)	0.056	0100 (0100)	0.006		0.323	10120 (10101)	0.023	
No	4.61 (5.12)	0.000	3.50 (4.00)		3.65 (5.03)	0.020	11.99 (12.47)	0.010	
Yes	5.97 (5.84)		5.02 (4.44)		4.29 (4.79)		15.93 (14.07)		
Social media information	5.67 (6.67)	0.145	5.62 ()	0.008		0.340		<0.001	
No	4.22 (5.52)		2.80 (3.91)		3.35 (5.34)	2.2.0	7.91 (10.85)		
Yes	5.45 (5.42)		4.52 (4.28)		4.08 (4.81)		15.30 (13.48)		
	r		r		r		r		
Age, year	0.099	0.126	0.107	0.099	0.006	0.930	0.128	0.047	

¹ 1 RMB is equivalent to 0.16 USD

The bold entries indicate variables with p value less than 0.05.

mental health. Chen et al. have shown that symptoms of anxiety and depression in patients become milder within 1 year after surgery (39), similar to our results. A possible explanation is that patients' lives gradually return to normal after surgery. However, our results are novel in that patient mental health symptoms worsened again 1 year after surgery; this unanticipated result could stem from an increase in fear of recurrence after 1 year had elapsed (40–42).

According to the multivariable linear regression model, we found a significant association between the number of comorbidities and all 4 mental health symptoms: having 2

comorbidities was an independent risk factor for PTSS. Surprisingly, however, patients with one comorbidity reported the lowest scores on the psychological scales, i.e., had better mental health than that patients without comorbidities. This result has not been previously reported and is contrary to our expectations; therefore, it should be treated with caution. It is difficult to explain this observation, but it might be related to fatigue due to comorbidity (43). Another possible explanation is that patients with one comorbidity tend to be more conscious and well informed about their physical health and therefore experienced fewer mood



fluctuations due to the COVID-19 pandemic than patients without comorbidities, whereas the poor mental health of patients with two or more comorbidities may be due to their poorer general condition (44).

Another interesting finding was that proactive search of COVID-19-related information and medical guidance from social media was associated with higher levels of anxiety and PTSS and was an independent risk factor for PTSS. This is consistent with the findings of previous studies (45-48).

Potentially, information overload on social media makes it difficult for people with insufficient expertise to distinguish between truths and falsehoods. Especially for patients who are worried about their condition and those who cannot visit hospitals due to the pandemic, information overload increases their anxiety and PTSS about COVID-19 (17, 45, 49).

Our study is the first to report on the mental health of postoperative thyroid patients during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the potential factors that influenced mental health. However, some possible limitations should be noted. First, we did not enroll a control group, although we made comparisons to previous studies. Second, this was a single-center study, and our patients were all from nearby areas; the hospital was far from Wuhan, the center of the epidemic in China. In addition, there was no specific preoperative mental assessment to determine the potential impact of thyroid function on their psychological status, which may influence postoperative mental health.

According to our findings, patients who were older, single/ divorced/widowed, less educated, had lower annual income, in poor general health, had undergone surgery within the past six months, had disrupted access to postoperative follow-up, and actively searched social media for COVID-19-related information were more likely to develop mental health problems. These findings suggest that older, single/divorced/widowed patients should be encouraged to reach out more to friends and seek emotional support. Additionally, patients with lower levels of education,

	ISI	GAD-7	PHQ-9	IES-R
	OR [95%CI]	OR [95%CI]	OR [95%CI]	OR [95%CI]
Age	0.055 [-0.02, 0.13]	0.06 [-0.01, 0.12]	0.02 [-0.06, 0.09]	0.19 [0.01, 0.37]
Marital status Married				
Single, divorced, or widowed	1.73 [-0.27, 3.72]	2.07 [0.55, 3.60]	2.22 [0.42, 4.02]	7.06 [2.32, 11.80]
Highest level of education High school or below				
College or higher	-0.80 [-2.69, 1.09]	-0.65 [-2.10, 0.80]	-0.02 [-1.72, 1.68]	-2.31 [-6.80, 2.18]
Annual family income, RMB				
<u>≦</u> 60,000				
>60,000	-1.28 [-2.96, 0.41]	-0.35 [-1.64, 0.94]	-1.37 [-2.89, 0.15]	-1.33 [-5.33, 2.68]
Number of comorbidities				
0				
1	-1.72 [-3.72, 0.28]	-2.16 [-3.69, -0.63]	-1.39 [-3.20, 0.41]	-3.79 [-8.54, 0.97]
2	2.17 [-1.38, 5.73]	1.68 [-1.03, 4.40]	2.24 [-0.96, 5.44]	9.59 [1.16, 18.03]
3	2.39 [-3.83, 8.61]	2.35 [-2.40, 7.10]	3.08 [-2.52, 8.68]	3.29 [-11.47, 18.05]
Time since surgery, month				
<6	ref	ref	ref	ref
6-11	-1.96 [-3.58, -0.34]	-1.16 [-2.40, 0.08]	-1.84 [-3.30, -0.38]	-2.24 [-6.09, 1.61]
≧12	-0.01 [-1.70, 1.69]	0.06 [-1.36, 1.23]	-0.48 [-2.01, 1.04]	0.77 [-3.25, 4.79]
Understand their condition				
Complete or basic understanding	ref	ref	ref	ref
Partial understanding	2.67 [-0.33, 5.68]	0.86 [-1.44, 3.16]	3.50 [0.79, 6.20]	4.40 [-2.74, 11.52]
Usual follow-up or treatment disrupted				
No	ref	ref	ref	ref
Yes	0.85 [-0.56, 2.25]	1.06 [-0.01, 2.13]	0.16 [-1.10, 1.43]	1.98 [-1.35, 5.32]
Social media information				
No	ref	ref	ref	ref
Yes	0.61 [-1.04, 2.26]	1.18 [-0.08, 2.44]	0.42 [-1.06, 1.90]	6.28 [2.37, 10.19]

The bold entries indicate variables with p value less than 0.05.



lower income, more comorbidities, and those who have undergone surgery within the past 6 months are at higher risk of developing mental health problems and need to be promptly identified to provide more psychological support and intervention.

In addition, the mental health of patients might be improved by enhancing patient education and improving their understanding of their condition. Providing postoperative patients with medical care during the COVID-19 pandemic, such as educating patients to correctly identify medical information on social media, providing psychological counseling services for patients during special periods, offering special online consultation section, and organizing interpatient support to alleviate patients' anxiety and PTSS.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Peking Union Medical College Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Wang Y, Shi L, Que J, Lu Q, Liu L, Lu Z, et al. The Impact of Quarantine on Mental Health Status Among General Population in China During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Mol Psychiatry* (2021) 26(9):4813–22. doi: 10.1038/ s41380-021-01019-y
- Zhou Q, Hu Z, Bian G, Yu H, Li X, Lu Y, et al. Mental Health and Psychosocial Function of General Population During the COVID-19 Epidemic in China. *Clin Transl Med* (2020) 10(2):e103. doi: 10.1002/ctm2.103
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, McIntyre RS, et al. A Longitudinal Study on the Mental Health of General Population During the COVID-19 Epidemic in China. *Brain Behav Immun* (2020) 87:40–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2020.04.028
- Chen S, Yang J, Yang W, Wang C, Bärnighausen T. COVID-19 Control in China During Mass Population Movements at New Year. *Lancet* (2020) 395 (10226):764–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30421-9
- Bao Y, Sun Y, Meng S, Shi J, Lu L. 2019-Ncov Epidemic: Address Mental Health Care to Empower Society. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10224):e37–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30309-3
- Scaravonati R, Diaz E, Roche S, Bertone S, Brandi C. Strategies for Follow Up After Hernia Surgery During COVID 19 Pandemia. *Int J Surg* (2020) 79:103– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.05.051
- Sonagli M, Cagnacci Neto R, Leite FPM, Makdissi FBA. The Use of Telemedicine to Maintain Breast Cancer Follow-Up and Surveillance During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Surg Oncol (2021) 123(2):371-4. doi: 10.1002/jso.26327
- 8. Pitman A, Suleman S, Hyde N, Hodgkiss A. Depression and Anxiety in Patients With Cancer. *BMJ* (2018) 361:k1415. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k1415
- Mackenzie LJ, Carey ML, Sanson-Fisher RW, D'Este CA, Paul CL, Yoong SL. Agreement Between HADS Classifications and Single-Item Screening Questions for Anxiety and Depression: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Cancer Patients. Ann Oncol (2014) 25(4):889–95. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu023
- Mitchell AJ, Chan M, Bhatti H, Halton M, Grassi L, Johansen C, et al. Prevalence of Depression, Anxiety, and Adjustment Disorder in Oncological, Haematological, and Palliative-Care Settings: A Meta-Analysis of 94 Interview-Based Studies. *Lancet Oncol* (2011) 12(2):160–74. doi: 10.1016/ S1470-2045(11)70002-X
- 11. Shi L, Lu ZA, Que JY, Huang XL, Liu L, Ran MS, et al. Prevalence of and Risk Factors Associated With Mental Health Symptoms Among the General Population in China During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open* (2020) 3(7):e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2020.14053
- Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors Associated With Mental Health Outcomes Among Health Care Workers Exposed to Coronavirus Disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open (2020) 3(3):e203976. doi: 10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.3976
- 13. Hummel S, Oetjen N, Du J, Posenato E, Resende deAlmeida RM, Losada R, et al. Mental Health Among Medical Professionals During the COVID-19

FUNDING

This study is supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (32071436) and the Beijing Municipal Natural Science Foundation (7222127).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SY data analysis, data interpretation, original manuscript drafting; XX: study concept and design, data collection, data interpretation, original manuscript drafting and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Pandemic in Eight European Countries: Cross-Sectional Survey Study. J Med Internet Res (2021) 23(1):e24983. doi: 10.2196/24983

- Mattila E, Peltokoski J, Neva MH, Kaunonen M, Helminen M, Parkkila AK. COVID-19: Anxiety Among Hospital Staff and Associated Factors. *Ann Med* (2021) 53(1):237–46. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2020.1862905
- Li Y, Wang Y, Jiang J, Valdimarsdóttir UA, Fall K, Fang F, et al. Psychological Distress Among Health Professional Students During the COVID-19 Outbreak. *Psychol Med* (2021) 51(11):1952-4. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291720001555
- Harries AJ, Lee C, Jones L, Rodriguez RM, Davis JA, Boysen-Osborn M, et al. Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Medical Students: A Multicenter Quantitative Study. *BMC Med Educ* (2021) 21(1):14. doi: 10.1186/s12909-020-02462-1
- Wang Y, Duan Z, Ma Z, Mao Y, Li X, Wilson A, et al. Epidemiology of Mental Health Problems Among Patients With Cancer During COVID-19 Pandemic. *Transl Psychiatry* (2020) 10(1):263. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-00950-y
- Kassianos AP, Georgiou A, Kyprianidou M, Lamnisos D, Lubenko J, Presti G, et al. Mental Health and Adherence to COVID-19 Protective Behaviors Among Cancer Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic: An International, Multinational Cross-Sectional Study. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(24):6294. doi: 10.3390/cancers13246294
- 19. Kim K, Kim H, Lee J, Cho IK, Ahn MH, Son KY, et al. Functional Impairments in the Mental Health, Depression and Anxiety Related to the Viral Epidemic, and Disruption in Healthcare Service Utilization Among Cancer Patients in the COVID-19 Pandemic Era. *Cancer Res Treat* (2021). doi: 10.4143/crt.2021.585
- Doglietto F, Vezzoli M, Biroli A, Saraceno G, Zanin L, Pertichetti M, et al. Anxiety in Neurosurgical Patients Undergoing Nonurgent Surgery During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Neurosurg Focus* (2020) 49(6):E19. doi: 10.3171/ 2020.9.FOCUS20681
- Chen K, Yao F, Chen X, Lin Y, Kang M. Effectiveness of Telerehabilitation on Short-Term Quality of Life of Patients After Esophageal Cancer Surgery During COVID-19: A Single-Center, Randomized, Controlled Study. *J Gastrointest Oncol* (2021) 12(4):1255–64. doi: 10.21037/jgo-21-385
- 22. Falcone R, Grani G, Ramundo V, Melcarne R, Giacomelli L, Filetti S, et al. Cancer Care During COVID-19 Era: The Quality of Life of Patients With Thyroid Malignancies. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1128. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.01128
- Buchmann L, Ashby S, Cannon RB, Hunt JP. Psychosocial Distress in Patients With Thyroid Cancer. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* (2015) 152(4):644–9. doi: 10.1177/0194599814565761
- Goswami S, Mongelli M, Peipert BJ, Helenowski I, Yount SE, Sturgeon C. Benchmarking Health-Related Quality of Life in Thyroid Cancer Versus Other Cancers and United States Normative Data. *Surgery* (2018) 164 (5):986–92. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2018.06.042
- Lim H, Devesa SS, Sosa JA, Check D, Kitahara CM. Trends in Thyroid Cancer Incidence and Mortality in the United States, 1974-2013. JAMA (2017) 317 (13):1338–48. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.2719

- Seib CD, Sosa JA. Evolving Understanding of the Epidemiology of Thyroid Cancer. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2019) 48(1):23–35. doi: 10.1016/ j.ecl.2018.10.002
- Toumi A, DiGennaro C, Vahdat V, Jalali MS, Gazelle GS, Chhatwal J, et al. Trends in Thyroid Surgery and Guideline-Concordant Care in the United States, 2007-2018. *Thyroid* (2021) 31(6):941–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0643
- McIntyre C, Jacques T, Palazzo F, Farnell K, Tolley N. Quality of Life in Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Int J Surg (2018) 50:133–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijsu.2017.12.014
- Chan WL, Choi HC, Lang B, Wong KP, Yuen KK, Lam KO, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life in Asian Differentiated Thyroid Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Control* (2021) 28:10732748211029726. doi: 10.1177/ 10732748211029726
- Morin CM, Belleville G, Bélanger L, Ivers H. The Insomnia Severity Index: Psychometric Indicators to Detect Insomnia Cases and Evaluate Treatment Response. Sleep (2011) 34(5):601–8. doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.5.601
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. Arch Intern Med (2006) 166 (10):1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- 32. Levis B, Benedetti A, Thombs BDDEPRESsion Screening Data (DEPRESSD) Collaboration. Accuracy of Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) for Screening to Detect Major Depression: Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis. *BMJ* (2019) 365:l1476. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l1476
- Wu KK, Chan KS. The Development of the Chinese Version of Impact of Event Scale–Revised (CIES-R). Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2003) 38 (2):94–8. doi: 10.1007/s00127-003-0611-x
- 34. Teliti M, Monti E, Comina M, Conte L, Vera L, Gay S, et al. A Comparative Cross-Sectional Study on Sleep Quality in Patients With a History of Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma and its Correlation With Quality of Life. *Endocrine* (2021) 73(2):347–57. doi: 10.1007/s12020-020-02591-z
- 35. Li J, Zhang B, Bai Y, Liu Y, Zhang B, Jin J. Health-Related Quality of Life Analysis in Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma Patients After Thyroidectomy. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10(1):5765. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-62731-3
- Wang T, Jiang M, Ren Y, Liu Q, Zhao G, Cao C, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life of Community Thyroid Cancer Survivors in Hangzhou, China. *Thyroid* (2018) 28(8):1013–23. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0213
- Graves CE, Goyal N, Levin A, Nuño MA, Kim J, Campbell MJ, et al. Anxiety During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Web-Based Survey of Thyroid Cancer Survivors. *Endocr Pract* (2022) 28(4):405–13. doi: 10.1016/j.eprac.2022.01.002
- Mess E, Ziembowska A, Staś J, Misiąg W, Chabowski M. Assessment of the Emotional Condition of Women With Cancer. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2021) 25(17):5429–35. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_202109_26650
- 39. Chen W, Li J, Peng S, Hong S, Xu H, Lin B, et al. Association of Total Thyroidectomy or Thyroid Lobectomy With the Quality of Life in Patients With Differentiated Thyroid Cancer With Low to Intermediate Risk of Recurrence. *JAMA Surg* (2021) 157(3):200–9. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg. 2021.6442
- Hedman C, Strang P, Djärv T, Widberg I, Lundgren CI. Anxiety and Fear of Recurrence Despite a Good Prognosis: An Interview Study With Differentiated Thyroid Cancer Patients. *Thyroid* (2017) 27(11):1417–23. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0346

- Roth EM, Lubitz CC, Swan JS, James BC. Patient-Reported Quality-Of-Life Outcome Measures in the Thyroid Cancer Population. *Thyroid* (2020) 30 (10):1414–31. doi: 10.1089/thy.2020.0038
- Hedman C, Djärv T, Strang P, Lundgren CI. Fear of Recurrence and View of Life Affect Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients With Differentiated Thyroid Carcinoma: A Prospective Swedish Population-Based Study. *Thyroid* (2018) 28(12):1609–17. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0388
- Hughes DT, Reyes-Gastelum D, Kovatch KJ, Hamilton AS, Ward KC, Haymart MR. Energy Level and Fatigue After Surgery for Thyroid Cancer: A Population-Based Study of Patient-Reported Outcomes. *Surgery* (2020) 167 (1):102–9. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.068
- 44. Husson O, Haak HR, Buffart LM, Nieuwlaat WA, Oranje WA, Mols F, et al. Health-Related Quality of Life and Disease Specific Symptoms in Long-Term Thyroid Cancer Survivors: A Study From the Population-Based PROFILES Registry. Acta Oncol (2013) 52(2):249–58. doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2012.741326
- 45. Ma Z, Zhao J, Li Y, Chen D, Wang T, Zhang Z, et al. Mental Health Problems and Correlates Among 746 217 College Students During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Outbreak in China. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci* (2020) 29:e181. doi: 10.1017/S2045796020000931
- 46. Zhao N, Zhou G. Social Media Use and Mental Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Moderator Role of Disaster Stressor and Mediator Role of Negative Affect. *Appl Psychol Health Well Being* (2020) 12(4):1019–38. doi: 10.1111/ aphw.12226
- 47. Mongkhon P, Ruengorn C, Awiphan R, Thavorn K, Hutton B, Wongpakaran N, et al. Exposure to COVID-19-Related Information and its Association With Mental Health Problems in Thailand: Nationwide, Cross-Sectional Survey Study. J Med Internet Res (2021) 23(2):e25363. doi: 10.2196/25363
- Rens E, Smith P, Nicaise P, Lorant V, Van den Broeck K. Mental Distress and Its Contributing Factors Among Young People During the First Wave of COVID-19: A Belgian Survey Study. *Front Psychiatry* (2021) 12:575553. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.575553
- Neria Y, Sullivan GM. Understanding the Mental Health Effects of Indirect Exposure to Mass Trauma Through the Media. JAMA (2011) 306(12):1374–5. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1358

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yang and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Thyroid Function, Inflammatory Response, and Glucocorticoids in COVID-19

Renata Świątkowska-Stodulska¹, Agata Berlińska^{1*} and Ewelina Puchalska-Reglińska²

¹ Department of Endocrinology and Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland, ² Dialysis Unit, 7 Navy Hospital, Gdańsk, Poland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco António Campinho, Universidade do Algarve, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Gianmaria Salvio, University Hospital Ospedali Riuniti Di Ancona, Italy Avaniyapuram Kannan Murugan, King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Centre, Saudi Arabia Malgorzata Gietka-Czernel, Medical Centre for Postgraduate Education, Poland Grzegorz Wiktor Kaminski, Military Institute of Medicine (Poland), Poland

> *Correspondence: Agata Berlińska

agata.berlinska@gumed.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 May 2022 **Accepted:** 20 June 2022 **Published:** 29 July 2022

Citation:

Świątkowska-Stodulska R, Berlińska A and Puchalska-Reglińska E (2022) Thyroid Function, Inflammatory Response, and Glucocorticoids in COVID-19. Front. Endocrinol. 13:939842. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.939842 The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic calls for extensive research on various medical topics. Since the beginning of the pandemic, multiple studies investigated the impact of SARS CoV-2 on thyroid function. However, crucial data, such as trend progression over time or influence of commonly used drugs, might still be missing. We checked the thyroid function in 174 patients with PCR-confirmed COVID-19. Our research covered three separate time points of hospitalization (days 1, 4, and 10). We did not exclude patients treated with glucocorticoids but, instead, compared them with patients not treated with steroids. We correlated the results of thyroid function tests with markers of systemic inflammation. We checked if abnormal thyroid function can predict unfavorable outcomes defined as combined primary endpoint and/or secondary endpoints; the combined primary endpoint was the occurrence of death, mechanical ventilation, non-invasive ventilation, vasopressor infusion, or prolonged hospital stay, and the secondary endpoint was any of the listed events. In general, 80.46% of evaluated patients displayed abnormalities in thyroid function tests over at least one time point throughout the observation. We noticed a high prevalence of features typical for thyroid dysfunction in non-thyroidal illness (NTI). Free triiodothyronine (fT3) concentration was significantly lower in the group requiring glucocorticoids. Patients displaying abnormal thyroid function were statistically more likely to meet the predefined combined primary endpoint. We found that fT3 measured at admission could be perceived as an independent predictor of endpoint completion for all analyzed groups. Thyroid involvement is common in COVID-19. Our study supports the idea of thyroid function abnormalities being important clinical tools and allowing early recognition of possible detrimental outcomes of the disease.

Keywords: thyroid, COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019, SARS CoV-2, free triiodothyronine, interleukin-6, glucocorticoids, TSH

INTRODUCTION

Over the past two years of the COVID-19 pandemic, the thyroid function in the context of COVID-19 quickly gained wide attention of researchers. As early as in the mid-2020, first studies on the topic were published. Chen and colleagues, the authors of one of the first articles, noticed that thyrotropin (TSH) and total triiodothyronine (T3) in COVID-19 patients were significantly lower than in their

counterparts who either suffered from non-COVID-19 pneumonia or were healthy (1). Subsequent studies confirmed the increased occurrence of features typical for thyroid dysfunction in nonthyroidal illness (NTI); however, the abnormalities were rather mild and rarely required specific treatment (2). A large prospective study conducted by Beltrão et al. concluded that early evaluation of simple biomarkers such as free triiodothyronine (fT3) and reverse triiodothyronine (rT3) in patients with moderate to severe COVID-19 can be helpful in assessment of the overall prognosis (3). A systematic review of 1237 patients enrolled into 7 studies performed by Giovanella et al. proved thyroid dysfunction in COVID-19 to be common, ranging between 13 and 64% of cases, and once again called attention to the positive correlation between the disease severity and abnormal thyroid function (4). Extensive reviews of COVID-19-related thyroid pathologies performed by Murugan and Alzahrani further highlighted the depth and prevalence of observed anomalies, calling for a careful evaluation of potentially affected individuals, with special regards for, amongst others, NTI, autoimmune thyroiditis, and subacute thyroiditis (5, 6). Data pointing out high incidence of new onset of hyperthyroidism (up to 20% of examined cases) in COVID-19 was presented (7). Currently, it is believed that observed thyroid pathologies arise not only from the wellknown phenomena such as the thyroid dysfunction in NTI, but also from the direct action of SARS CoV-2 on thyrocytes and thyrotrope pituitary cells (6, 8-13).

Most of the available studies deliver the results of thyroid function tests assessed over a single time point and often correlate them with markers of inflammation (2, 14, 15). In our project, the tests were carried out over three separate time points throughout the hospital stay. Also, we aimed at providing information about possible relationships between the thyroid function and the occurrence of unfavorable endpoints (prolonged hospital stay, non-invasive or mechanical ventilation, infusion of vasoactive amines, and death) and about potential links between the concentration of hypothalamus-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) hormones and inflammatory markers.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We designed a multiple cross-sectional study which recruited 180 adult patients (\geq 18 years old) with PCR-confirmed COVID-19 (nasopharyngeal swabs). All patients required hospital stay at the 7 Navy Hospital in Gdańsk, Poland, which served as our recruitment center between the 14 February 2021 and the 1 December 2021. 6 patients were excluded from the final analysis due to essential data missing which left us with 174 patients for the final analysis.

We gathered information about the patients' metrical and anthropometric data, as well as previous medical history. Prospectively, we evaluated oxygen supplementation, glucocorticoid use, vital parameters, the occurrence of unfavorable events (death, mechanical and/or non-invasive ventilation, vasopressor use), length of hospitalization, and laboratory tests (TSH, total thyroxine [T4], free thyroxine [fT4], fT3, rT3, anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies [anti-TPO abs], anti-thyroglobulin antibodies [anti-TG abs], leukocyte count [LEU], neutrocyte count [NEU], lymphocyte count [LYMPH], interleukin 6 [IL-6], C-reactive protein [CRP]).

Laboratory assays were performed using venous blood collected between 6 AM and 8 AM. There were three separate dates for blood collection, later referred to as the time points: day 1, 4, and 10 of the hospital stay. The blood collection could be moved up to 24 hours, however, we highly encouraged timely procedures. On all three dates, we assessed TSH, T4, fT4, fT3, rT3, CRP, IL-6, LEU, NEU, and LYMPH. In addition, on day 1 we checked anti-TG abs and anti-TPO abs.

Laboratory tests were performed by commercial laboratories. Due to technical abilities at the time of recruitment, rT3 measurement was performed in two separate laboratories. Information on laboratory methods is available in **Table 1**.

Some of the recruited patients required glucocorticoids (GCs) for COVID-19 or chronic diseases. Exogenous GC use modifies the endocrine function, therefore, for the sake of proper data analysis, we separated the patients who received GCs (the glucocorticoid group – GCG; N = 93) from those who did not (the no-glucocorticoid group – NGCG; N = 81). The GCs were either dexamethasone or methylprednisolone. Patients were labeled as the GCG if they received parenteral and/or oral GCs at least once during their stay and GCs were administered at least one day before the blood was collected.

We conducted the study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Our project was approved by the Independent Bioethics Committee for Scientific Research at the Medical University of Gdańsk (permissions NKBBN/373/2020, NKBBN/373-96/2021, NKBBN/373-184/2021). Written consent was obtained by the recruiters. As some patients arrived in bad general condition due to COVID-19 and/or concomitant diseases, they were unable to give written consent. In such cases, recruiters made a clear remark on the consent form. All recruited patients maintained their consent to participation. Inclusion criteria consisted of PCR-confirmed COVID-19, age of at least 18 years, and consent to participation. There were no exclusion criteria other than dissent to participation. The study was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT05070091).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The Centre of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics Analysis, the Medical University of Gdańsk in Gdańsk, Poland performed the analysis. The analysis was performed using the R environment, with additional use of MS Excel. The threshold of significance was defined as p<0.05.

Quantitative data was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk W test and, based on the distribution pattern, was presented as either arithmetic mean with standard deviation (normal distribution) or as median with interquartile range (distribution deviating from normal). To describe qualitative data, absolute numbers and percentages were used.

TABLE 1	Detailed technical inform	nation on used laboratory assays.
---------	---------------------------	-----------------------------------

Par	ameter	Reference norm with units	Laboratory	Analytical method	Analyzer	
1.	TSH	0,27-4,2 μlU/ml	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Electrochemiluminescence assay	Cobas 8000, Roche	
2.	fT4	12-22 pmol/l	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Electrochemiluminescence assay	Cobas 8000, Roche	
3.	fT3	3,1-6,8 pmol/l	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Electrochemiluminescence assay	Cobas 6000, Roche	
4.	rT3	i. <0,95 ng/ml ii. 0,1-0,35 μg/l	i. Central Clinical Laboratory, University Clinical Centre, Gdańsk, Poland ii. Cerba International, Barcelona, Spain	i. Chemiluminescence immunoassay i. Chemiluminescence	i. Maglumi 800, Snibe ii. Maglumi 800,	
5. 6.	T4 anti-TPO abs	5,13-14,10 µg/dl <9 IU/ml	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	immunoassay Electrochemiluminescence assay Electrochemiluminescence assay	Snibe Cobas, Roche Cobas 8000, Roche	
7.	anti-TG abs	<10 IU/ml	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Electrochemiluminescence assay	Cobas 8000, Roche	
8.	CRP	0-5 mg/l	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Immunoturbidimetric assay	Cobas 6000, Roche	
9.	IL-6	<5.9 pg/ml	Central Clinical Laboratory, University Clinical Centre, Gdańsk, Poland	Chemiluminescence immunoassay	Immulite XP, Siemens	
10.	LEU	females: 3.98-10.04x10 ³ / µl males: 4.23-9.07x10 ³ /µl	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Fluorescence flow cytometry	XT-4000i, Sysmex	
11. 12.	NEU LYMPH	2-7x10 ³ /µl 1-3x10 ³ /µl	Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland Diagnostyka Laboratoria, Gdańsk, Poland	Fluorescence flow cytometry Fluorescence flow cytometry	XT-4000i, Sysme> XT-4000i, Sysme>	

The Spearman's test for rank correlation was applied to correlate the available variables, with the Spearman's r_{SP} correlation coefficient was used to check the strength of correlations. By applying the coefficient of determination R^2 , the proportion of variation explained by correlation was calculated. The groups were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. Associations between variables were checked using the Cramer's phi, the Yule's Q, and the Kendall's tau tests.

The changes in hormone levels over time were determined by the repeated measures ANOVA (rmAOV). The results were later validated using the Mauchly's sphericity test and, sometimes, adjusted using the Greenhouse-Geisser correction. The Student's t test was introduced for *post-hoc* multiple comparisons, with the FDR correction by Benjamini and Hochberg used whenever necessary.

Logistic regression and ROC curve assessment were used to check if baseline fT3 can be seen as an early predictor of unfavorable endpoints. The relationship between thyroid dysfunction and endpoints was validated by calculating the odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval. OR was measured using the Fisher's exact test and logistic regression.

Analyses covering rT3 were carried out separately depending on the laboratory site.

RESULTS

The final analysis included 174 patients: 93 from the NGCG and 81 from the GCG. In the NGCG, 12 patients had a history of hypothyroidism and 11 received levothyroxine (LT4); one patient required anti-thyroid treatment due to hyperthyroidism. In the GCG, 6 patients had a history of hypothyroidism and 4 required LT4; one patient used thyrostatics for hyperthyroidism. All patients with a history of thyroid dysfunction were clinically euthyroid at the time of recruitment. 7 patients (4.0%) required GCs for chronic conditions other than COVID-19 (4 – dexamethasone, and 3 – methylprednisolone); in this group, GCs were maintained as usual.

The mean age of recruited patients was 66.77 ±15.06 years, age range 18-94 years. 84 out of 174 patients (48.3%) were women. Half of the patients (87 out of 174 - 50.0%) required hospital stay lasting 10 days or longer. 102 (58.62%) patients suffered from arterial hypertension, 53 (30.46%) - type 2 diabetes, 17 (9.77%) heart failure, 23 (13.22%) - atrial fibrillation, 30 (17.24%) coronary artery disease, 18 (10.34%) - asthma and/or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 26 (14.94%) - chronic kidney disease, 17 (9.77%) required hemodialysis, 11 (6.32%) had a history of stroke, 3 (1.72%) - pulmonary embolism, and 14 (8.05%) - active neoplasia. BMI of 139 patients was analyzed mean BMI equaled 27.57 ± 5.25 kg/m², with 53 (38.1%) individuals being overweight, and 39 (28.1%) - obese. Supplemental oxygen was introduced in 100 out of 173 subjects (57.8%). Over the period of observation, 30 patients (17.2%) died, 12 (6.9%) needed NIV/CPAP and/or HFNO, 3 (1.7%) – ventilator, and 6 (3.5%) – vasopressor infusion.

We assessed the thyroid function of patients in three predefined time points. The normal range was based on the recommendations provided by the laboratory kits' producers (**Table 1**). The parameters we considered were TSH, T4, fT4, fT3, and rT3, with an addition of anti-TG and anti-TPO abs. The results were labeled abnormal if any of the parameters deviated from the laboratory norms. In some patients, the clinical and/or laboratory data were incomplete which is reflected by the number of studied cases (N).

140 out of 174 patients (80.46%) displayed abnormal thyroid function in at least one time point throughout the observation. In

time point #1, abnormal thyroid function was present in 33 out of 56 (58.9%) patients from the GCG and in 67 out of 118 (56.8%) patients from the NGCG. In time point #2, thyroid dysfunction was present in 51 out of 74 (68.9%) patients from the GCG and in 48 out 83 (57.8%) patients from the NGCG. In time point #3, thyroid function was abnormal in 49 out of 63 (77.8%) GCG patients and in 33 out of 46 (71.7%) NGCG patients (**Table 2**).

Next, we focused on the connection between the thyroid function and the GC use: we found statistically significant differences between the GCG and the NGCG. TSH concentration was lower in the GCG as compared with the NGCG in all three time points (time point #1: p<0.01; time point #2: p<0.0001; time point #3: p<0.05) – **Figure 1**. Levels of fT3 were significantly lower in the GCG than in the NGCG in time points #2 and #3 (time point #2: p=0.001, time point #3: p<0.0001) – **Figure 2**. We observed a statistically relevant decrease in T4 concentration in the GCG as compared with the NGCG only in time point #3 (p<0.05). There were no relevant differences in fT4 and rT3 levels between the GCG and the NGCG in any of the time points (**Tables 3–5**).

As the next step of our analysis, we checked the relationship between the thyroid function and the occurrence of unfavorable clinical outcomes defined as the endpoints. The combined primary endpoint was a composite of hospitalization ≥ 10 days, mechanical ventilation, non- invasive ventilation (CPAP/NIV) and/or high-flow nasal oxygen device (HFNO), vasopressor use, death. The secondary endpoints were defined as any of the conditions listed above. 95 out of 140 (67.86%) patients with abnormal thyroid function and 12 out of 34 (35.29%) patients with normal thyroid function met the combined primary endpoint.

Patients displaying abnormal thyroid function were statistically more likely to meet the combined primary endpoint (OR=3.9, p=0.0001); among the secondary endpoints, statistical significance was found for prolonged hospitalization (OR=5.1, p<0.0005). When the confounders, such as age, sex, and BMI, were considered, the ORs were even higher (OR=5.3, p=0.001 and OR=6.6, p=0.001, consecutively). No significant relationship between the thyroid function and secondary endpoints other than prolonged hospital stay was found.

We checked if the baseline fT3 concentration can predict the endpoints. The analysis was performed for the entire studied population, as well as for the GCG and the NGCG separately. We found that fT3 measured at admission might predict the occurrence of endpoints in all analyzed groups (the general population: regression coefficient -1.067, p=0.0000; the GCG: regression coefficient -1.286, p=0.0010; the NGCG: regression

coefficient -0.936, p=0.0051). Statistical significance was found regardless of the confounders (age, sex, BMI). Negative values of the regression coefficients suggested that the higher the fT3 concentration, the lower the risk of unfavorable endpoints.

Next, possible correlations between thyroid function and markers of generalized inflammation were assessed. For the first time point, significant negative correlations were found between TSH and CRP (r=-0.169, p=0.030), fT3 and CRP (r=-0.398, p=0.000), fT3 and IL-6 (r=-0.262, p=0.001), fT3 and LEU (r=-0.237, p=0.002), T4 and IL-6 (r=-0.182, p=0.022), T4 and LEU (r=-0.189, p=0.016), and rT3 and IL-6 (r=-0.170, p=0.032). For the second time point, there was a statistically important positive correlation between TSH and IL-6 (r=0.209, p=0.011) and negative correlation for fT3 and CRP (r=-0.304, p=0.000), fT3 and LEU (r=-0.195, p=0.017), and T4 and IL-6 (r=-0.179, p=0.029). For the third time point, there was a positive correlation between TSH and CRP (r=0.263, p=0.006), TSH and IL-6 (r=0.349, p=0.000), and a negative correlation between TSH and LEU (r=-0.396, p=0.000), fT3 and LEU (r=-0.327, p=0.001), and fT4 and CRP (r=-0.202, p=0.038). Laboratory results are displayed in Tables 3-5.

We verified if the presence of anti-thyroid antibodies can take its toll on the thyroid function in COVID-19. The presence of anti-TPO abs was confirmed in 13 out of 164 (7.9%) patients and anti-TG abs – in 12 out of 165 (7.3%). TSH levels in patients with positive anti-TG and anti-TPO abs were checked over all three time points. There were considerable differences in TSH levels between the groups with positive and negative autoantibodies, but only for the first time point (p<0.05). At the same time, TSH concentration in patients with anti-TG abs was significantly lower over all three time points (#1: p<0.0001; #2: p<0.005; #3: p<0.005). As we assessed the relationship between the presence of anti-thyroid antibodies and the endpoint completion, we found no significant results.

DISCUSSION

Most articles on thyroid function in COVID-19 involve HPT parameters assessed over a single time point (15–19). The majority of authors decided to exclude patients treated with GCs as GCs can influence the HPT axis (14, 19, 20). In our project, we decided not only to evaluate hormonal parameters, but to seek for potential trends appearing over the course of prolonged observation (up to 10 days post-admission). We chose

TABLE 2 | Pattern of thyroid function abnormalities throughout the observation time.

Type of abnormalities		NGCG		GCG						
	Time point #1 (number/percentage of cases)	Time point #2 (number/percentage of cases)	Time point #3 (number/percentage of cases)	Time point #1 (number/percentage of cases)	Time point #2 (number/percentage of cases)	Time point #3 (number/percentage of cases)				
Total	67/56.78%	48/57.83%	33/71.74%	33/58.93%	51/68.92%	49/77.78%				
Thyroid dysfunction in non-thyroidal illness	51/43.22%	32/38.55%	20/43.48%	29/51.78%	40/54.05%	42/66.67%				
Unspecified/mixed	16/13.56%	16/19.28%	13/28.26%	4/7.14%	11/14.86%	7/11.11%				



FIGURE 1 | Concentration of TSH over three consecutive time points among patients not treated with glucocorticoids (NGCG) and treated with glucocorticoids (GCG). (A) time point #1; (B) time point #2; (C) time point #3.

to include patients treated with GCs and compare them with their counterparts who did not receive GCs. We evaluated the thyroid function abnormalities and their potential effect on the clinical outcomes.

The available data shows that between 13% and 78% of COVID-19 patients display abnormal thyroid function and the degree of dysfunction differs based on the disease severity (7, 15, 20, 21). This is in accordance with our own research which documented thyroid function pathology, defined as typical laboratory abnormalities within at least one assessed parameter, in more than 80% of all recruited patients over the period of observation. The percentage of affected individuals raised over time, with more than 70% patients with abnormal thyroid function over the third time point of follow-up. These findings support the observations made by Campi and colleagues who decided to record hormonal trends over an extended period (18).

The hormonal pattern we noticed was characteristic for NTI and the results were comparable between the GCG and the NGCG (NTI criteria used: low fT3 and/or low fT4, and/or low T4, and/or elevated rT3, and/or low TSH). However, some of the observed abnormalities, such as decreased TSH and fT3, especially within the GCG, could be explained not only by the NTI, but the use of exogenous GCs as well. The thyroid function abnormalities in NTI, also referred to as euthyroid sick syndrome or low triiodothyronine syndrome, are a complex topic. The pathogenesis might involve excessive generalized immune response and cytokine storm, direct cytotoxic effect of SARS CoV-2 on pituitary and thyroid cells (9–12), altered activity of deiodinases (especially if the concomitant disease is severe), changes in concentrations of carrier proteins for thyroid hormones, changes of thyroid hormone carriers activity (9), endogenous dopamine release, and non-neoplastic hypercortisolemia (18, 20, 22). Unfavorable clinical prognosis is common in patients with NTI and COVID-19 who did not receive GCs (9, 15, 21, 23). Our project demonstrated that low fT3 can precede unfavorable clinical outcomes both in patients treated and not treated with GCs. As Campi and colleagues offered a longer follow-up, their data revealed that the thyroid profile tends to reverse back to normal in survivors but remains abnormal in those who eventually die (18).

Our analysis proved that HPT dysfunction might predict the occurrence of the combined primary endpoint, and among the secondary endpoints, there is a statistically significant chance for the patients with abnormal thyroid function to require a prolonged hospitalization. A relationship between thyroid function pathology and the clinical course of COVID-19 was confirmed by other authors (14, 16, 23). Zhang and colleagues in their evaluation of COVID-19 patients with abnormal thyroid function described an increased incidence of severe form of the disease, requiring antibiotic treatment, GCs, high-flow oxygenation, non-invasive ventilation, or invasive ventilation. Low triiodothyronine syndrome was the most prevalent clinical entity in the studied group (16).

To fully assess the thyroid function, we evaluated not only the tropic and peripheral hormones, but checked the anti-thyroid antibody titers and the potential relationship between their presence and the disease severity. COVID-19 patients with positive anti-TG abs displayed significantly lower concentration of TSH in all three preset time points as compared with their counterparts with negative antibodies; however, patients with positive autoantibodies did not show a higher likelihood of meeting the endpoints. Lui and colleagues assessed the anti-thyroid antibodies in COVID-19 during hospital stay and three



TABLE 3 | Chosen clinical and laboratory parameters - time point #1.

Characteristics	Time point #1													
	NGCG							GCG						
	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range		
Age (years)	118	67.229 ± 15.134	58.000	69.000	79.000	18.00-94.00	56	65.804 ± 14.984	56.750	68.000	75.750	31.00-90.00		
BMI (kg/m ²)	95	26.815 ± 5.146	23.620	25.760	29.530	17.33-40.89	44	29.213 ± 5.156	25.620	27.895	31.328	19.53-44.08		
Oxygen demand (I/min.)	117	2.517 ± 5.237	0.000	0.000	4.000	0.00-30.00	56	10.562 ± 15.958	3.000	6.000	10.000	0.00-75.00		
Hospital stay (days)	118	12.890 ± 9.135	7.000	10.000	18.000	1.00-50.00	56	10.429 ± 6.126	6.000	9.000	14.250	1.00-30.00		
TSH (µIU/ml)	112	1.916 ± 1.9699	0.619	1.330	2.428	0.005-12.62	53	1.117 ± 0.900	0.444	0.827	1.590	0.025-3.37		
fT3 (pmol/l)	112	3.389 ± 1.017	2.582	3.340	4.043	1.590-6.15	53	3.145 ± 0.756	2.640	3.220	3.720	1.580-4.89		
fT4 (pmol/l)	112	15.357 ± 3.352	13.180	14.620	16.900	9.660-27.07	53	15.132 ± 3.384	13.440	14.700	17.540	4.880-23.05		
T4 (µg/dl)	110	7.570 ± 1.791	6.385	7.520	8.595	4.240-13.00	52	7.575 ± 2.321	5.885	7.185	9.045	2.380-14.5-		
rT3 – laboratory #1 (µg/l = ng/ml)	37	0.219 ± 0.052	0.190	0.210	0.240	0.130-0.35	12	0.202 ± 0.041	0.170	0.190	0.220	0.160-0.29		
rT3 – laboratory #2 (ng/ml = µg/l)	72	0.652 ± 0.239	0.478	0.605	0.755	0.270-1.35	40	0.605 ± 0.315	0.465	0.555	0.685	0.080-1.90		
anti-TG abs (IU/ml)	112	75.477 ± 395.412	3.200	3.200	11.800	3.200-4000.00	53	12.136 ± 24.652	3.200	3.200	11.600	3.200-141.00		
anti-TPO abs (IU/ml)	112	21.841 ± 75.617	3.000	3.000	12.425	3.000-589.00	52	17.151 ± 51.859	3.000	3.000	12.000	3.000-346.00		
IL-6 (pg/ml)	111	35.888 ± 47.938	9.390	19.400	41.650	1.410-267.00	53	233.631 ± 1368.543	7.210	20.000	59.100	1.41-10,000.00		
CRP (mg/l)	112	61.400 ± 67.871	9.875	39.700	84.775	0.700-320.10	53	103.50 ± 100.612	21.700	78.100	139.900	1.00-427.70		
LEU (^10 ³ /µl)	112	6.786 ± 3.578	4.375	5.845	8.152	1.790-26.16	53	6.706 ± 3.823	3.920	5.590	8.280	1.90-21.22		
NEU (^10 ³ /µl)	112	4.640 ± 3.241	2.570	3.560	5.610	1.220-21.36	53	5.29 ± 3.670	3.120	4.390	6.520	1.08-20.24		
LYMPH (^10 ³ /µl)	112	1.332 ± 0.652	0.858	1.260	1.755	0.260-3.56	53	0.898 ± 0.499	0.650	0.800	1.030	0.17-2.78		

 TABLE 4 | Chosen clinical and laboratory parameters – time point #2.

Characteristics	Time point #2											
				GCG								
	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range
Age (years)	83	68.157 ± 14.374	60.000	70.000	78.500	18.00-94.00	74	65.459 ± 15.664	56.000	67.000	78.000	31.00-94.00
BMI (kg/m ²)	67	26.533 ± 4.877	23.775	25.950	28.360	17.40-40.82	58	28.752 ± 5.501	24.828	27.815	31.250	17.33-44.08
Oxygen demand (l/min.)	82	2.293 ± 6.787	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00-40.00	73	8.493 ± 11.168	0.000	5.000	11.000	0.00-60.00
Hospital stay (days)	83	13.458 ± 9.793	7.000	10.000	18.500	2.00-50.00	74	12.730 ± 5.836	8.000	12.000	16.000	4.00-30.00
TSH (µIU/ml)	80	2.252 ± 2.365	0.787	1.420	2.770	0.032-17.42	70	0.964± 1.030	0.289	0.656	1.202	0.051-5.55
fT3 (pmol/l)	79	3.506 ± 1.235	2.755	3.430	3.895	1.100-10.29	70	2.964 ± 0.683	2.520	2.955	3.400	1.780-5.24
fT4 (pmol/l)	80	15.709 ± 3.480	13.453	15.380	17.355	9.870-31.69	70	16.117± 3.499	13.518	15.830	18.677	7.050-24.43
T4 (µg/dl)	78	7.828 ± 1.683	6.628	7.745	8.900	4.690-13.60	70	7.813 ± 2.194	6.418	7.730	8.968	3.370-16.00
rT3 – laboratory #1 (μ g/l = ng/ml)	18	0.198 ± 0.068	0.150	0.180	0.232	0.120-0.35	16	0.213 ± 0.057	0.180	0.205	0.222	0.140-0.38
rT3 – laboratory #2 (ng/ml = μ g/l)	56	0.726 ± 0.319	0.528	0.635	0.843	0.330-2.24	50	0.645± 0.230	0.472	0.620	0.775	0.270-1.34
IL-6 (pg/ml)	78	41.296 ± 62.231	8.975	21.000	48.275	1.41-399.00	70	39.765 ± 167.153	3.990	7.920	18.100	1.41-1374.00
CRP (mg/l)	79	52.347 ± 60.984	9.150	36.300	66.000	0.70-281.80	70	40.333 ± 41.274	13.875	24.750	57.425	0.80-171.30
LEU (^10 ³ /µl)	80	6.576 ± 3.230	4.355	5.615	8.035	0.56-18.25	69	7.460 ± 2.861	5.200	7.500	10.090	2.39-13.32
NEU (^10 ³ /µl)	80	4.392 ± 2.997	2.375	3.250	5.862	0.25-14.31	69	5.658 ± 2.522	3.450	5.880	7.270	1.33-11.66
LYMPH (^10 ³ /µl)	80	1.331 ± 0.676	0.880	1.200	1.765	0.12-3.92	69	1.040 ± 0.585	0.670	0.920	1.230	0.35-3.42

months after the discharge and their follow-up did not confirm a long-standing relationship between the presence of autoantibodies at the baseline and worse clinical outcomes but, quite on the contrary, patients with positive autoantibodies took shorter to recover from symptomatic COVID-19 (23)

Available studies confirmed a link between thyroid function and inflammatory markers, such as ferritin, fibrinogen, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, interleukin-8, interleukin-15, or LYMPH (14, 20, 24). Typically, the more severe the infection was, the more pronounced the abnormalities of thyroid function and the degree of inflammation were. In our material, we noticed multiple various correlations between the results of thyroid function tests and inflammatory markers, with CRP, LEU, and IL-6 being emphasized the most. The variety of observed abnormalities highlights the complex background of the process and most likely arises from different physiopathological processes. We paid special

TABLE 5 | Chosen clinical and laboratory parameters - time point #3.

Characteristics	Time point #3											
	NGCG						GCG					
	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range	Ν	Mean ± SD	LQ	Medium	UQ	Range
Age (years)	46	68.435 ± 14.842	61.500	70.000	75.000	18.00-94.00	63	68.365 ± 14.544	61.500	69.000	80.000	31.00-94.00
BMI (kg/m ²)	38	26.054 ± 4.267	22.868	25.735	28.263	19.10-38.30	49	29.302 ± 5.980	24.690	27.940	32.030	17.33-44.08
Oxygen demand (l/min.)	41	1.976 ± 5.303	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.00-30.00	61	4.984 ± 9.856	0.000	0.000	6.000	0.00 -52.00
Hospital stay (days)	46	15.565 ± 8.400	9.000	13.500	20.000	4.00-41.00	63	15.952 ± 8.261	10.000	14.000	19.000	6.00- 50.00
TSH (μIU/ml)	40	2.344 ± 1.886	1.017	2.060	2.875	0.006-7.26	62	1.311 ± 1.239	0.314	1.065	1.850	0.024-6.24
fT3 (pmol/l)	40	3.863 ± 2.055	2.982	3.515	4.162	2.000-14.59	62	2.845 ± 0.833	2.405	2.865	3.165	1.230-5.73
fT4 (pmol/l)	40	16.401 ± 5.558	13.662	15.570	17.320	9.290-44.12	62	16.319 ± 3.989	13.625	16.595	19.125	6.710-25.38
T4 (µg/dl)	40	8.338 ± 2.462	7.312	7.880	9.032	4.200-17.40	61	7.158 ± 2.056	5.730	7.250	8.260	2.910-12.62
rT3 – laboratory #1	11	0.184 ± 0.043	0.155	0.170	0.200	0.140-0.26	14	0.197 ± 0.052	0.162	0.190	0.230	0.120-0.31
$(\mu g/l = ng/ml)$												
rT3 – laboratory #2	26	0.919 ± 0.547	0.650	0.815	1.070	0.320-3.27	45	0.734 ± 0.835	0.460	0.560	0.720	0.110-5.88
$(ng/ml = \mu g/l)$												
IL-6 (pg/ml)	40	47.343 ± 115.409	8.705	16.900	29.275	1.41-704.00	61	140.251 ± 917.906	3.530	8.130	22.200	1.41-7182.00
CRP (mg/l)	40	47.150 ± 54.222	8.550	32.800	58.500	0.80-280.30	62	37.098 ± 67.678	3.450	7.900	30.700	0.80-342.60
LEU (^10 ³ /µl)	40	6.558 ± 2.678	4.920	5.770	7.195	1.92-16.96	62	10.039 ± 5.770	6.478	9.230	11.925	3.09-39.01
NEU (^10 ³ /µl)	40	4.224 ± 2.734	2.638	3.385	4.970	0.68-15.84	62	7.702 ± 5.548	4.395	6.585	9.047	1.36-35.97
LYMPH (^10 ³ /µl)	40	1.352 ± 0.621	0.865	1.290	1.768	0.43-3.19	62	1.287 ± 0.756	0.747	1.185	1.585	0.28-4.46

attention to IL-6 known as a potential trigger of cytokine storm, which is often the underlying cause of a severe disease (18, 22, 25, 26) and might influence the thyroid function tests (22). The reverse correlation between the basic thyroid function parameters, such as TSH or fT3, and inflammatory markers was reported before (18), and additional studies confirmed that thyroid dysfunction seemed more pronounced in severe states (19). While low fT3 in most cases can be viewed as a manifestation of NTI, especially with fT4 and TSH decreased and/or within the normal limits, and without clinical signs and symptoms of thyroidopathy, the physiopathological background of decreased TSH may be more complex. We agree with other authors that multiple explanations of this phenomenon in COVID-19 should be considered (18, 22, 27). For instance, Croce et al. in their review of thyroid function in COVID-19 explained that multiple proinflammatory cytokines can influence the HPT, eventually leading to NTI and a drop in peripheral thyroid hormones and/or TSH (22). Other plausible explanations of reduced TSH concentrations include the development of typical or atypical subacute thyroiditis, the inhibitory effect of systemic GCs on the pituitary, or thyrotoxicosis.

As described above, the topic of thyroid function in COVID-19 can be complex. Assessment of the thyroid panel early during hospitalization – as early as on day one – can benefit the patients and allow an early recognition of potential warning signs. Thus, a simple laboratory profile of basic parameters such as TSH, fT3, and fT4 could be implemented into routine diagnostics, with additional clinical value added by repeated testing in different time-points. NTI is common in COVID-19 and, often, the more pronounced it is, the poorer the prognosis is. The abnormalities typical for NTI should reverse once the patient recovers. Nonetheless, some patients might suffer from subacute thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, or thyrotoxicosis. In such cases, clinical signs and symptoms typical for suspected disorders should be assessed together with laboratory (full thyroid profile, anti-thyroid antibodies, sedimentation rate, CRP) and radiological (thyroid ultrasound) work-up, and disease-specific treatment should follow once a diagnosis is concluded.

Strengths of our research are: i. prolonged observation covering three separate time points; ii. inclusion of patients treated with GC who were underrepresented in previous studies; iii. wide range of assessed parameters, including rT3 and IL-6; iv. evaluation of relationship between endpoint completion and thyroid hormone levels; v. unified approach to patient recruitment, blood collection, and follow-up.

However, our study also has its weaknesses: i. recruitment in only one center; ii. ethnically uniform studied group; iii. division of rT3 assessment between two separate laboratories; iv. lack of follow-up focused on detailed clinical signs and symptoms typical for thyroid disorders; v. lack of post-discharge follow-up.

SUMMARY

Our research proves an important role of endocrine function in COVID-19. Thyroid function markers, especially fT3, are important for the diagnostic process and allow early recognition of unfavorable outcomes. There is a close relationship between thyroid function and the degree of systemic inflammation in COVID-19 patients. Simple hormonal tests like fT3 could predict the hospitalization outcomes, especially in patients with severe disease. Our analysis supplements and confirms the data on observed HPT abnormalities in COVID-19.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Independent Bioethics Committee for Scientific Research at the Medical University of Gdańsk. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The Independent Bioethics Committee for Scientific Research at the Medical University of Gdańsk waived the requirement of written consent in patients unable to to provide it due to bad general state caused by COVID-19 and/or concomitant diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RŚ-S – manuscript concept and preparation, results interpretation, manuscript revision, literature collection and review, project supervision. AB – manuscript concept and preparation, database creation, results interpretation, literature collection and review. ER

REFERENCES

- Chen M, Zhou W, Xu W. Thyroid Function Analysis in 50 Patients With COVID-19: A Retrospective Study. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:8–11. doi: 10.1089/ THY.2020.0363/SUPPL_FILE/SUPP_TABLE1.PDF
- Khoo B, Tan T, Clarke SA, Mills EG, Patel B, Modi M, et al. Thyroid Function Before, During, and After COVID-19. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106: E803–11. doi: 10.1210/CLINEM/DGAA830
- Beltrão FEDL, Beltrão DCDA, Carvalhal G, Beltrão FEDL, Brito ADS, Capistrano KHR, et al. Thyroid Hormone Levels During Hospital Admission Inform Disease Severity and Mortality in COVID-19 Patients. *Thyroid* (2021) 31:1639–49. doi: 10.1089/THY.2021.0225
- Giovanella L, Ruggeri RM, Ovčariček PP, Campenni A, Treglia G, Deandreis D. Prevalence of Thyroid Dysfunction in Patients With COVID-19: A Systematic Review. *Clin Trans Imaging* (2021) 9:233. doi: 10.1007/S40336-021-00419-Y
- Murugan AK, Alzahrani AS. SARS-CoV-2 Plays a Pivotal Role in Inducing Hyperthyroidism of Graves' Disease. *Endocrine* (2021) 73:243–54. doi: 10.1007/S12020-021-02770-6
- Murugan AK, Alzahrani AS. SARS-CoV-2: Emerging Role in the Pathogenesis of Various Thyroid Diseases. J Inflammation Res (2021) 14:6191–221. doi: 10.2147/JIR.S332705
- Lania A, Sandri MT, Cellini M, Mirani M, Lavezzi E, Mazziotti G. Thyrotoxicosis in Patients With COVID-19: The THYRCOV Study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 183:381–7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0335
- Chen W, Tian Y, Li Z, Zhu J, Wei T, Lei J. Potential Interaction Between SARS-CoV-2 and Thyroid: A Review. *Endocrinology* (2021) 162(3):bqab004. doi: 10.1210/ENDOCR/BQAB004
- Chen Y, Li X, Dai Y, Zhang J. The Association Between COVID-19 and Thyroxine Levels: A Meta-Analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2022) 12:779692. doi: 10.3389/FENDO.2021.779692
- Hanley B, Naresh KN, Roufosse C, Nicholson AG, Weir J, Cooke GS, et al. Histopathological Findings and Viral Tropism in UK Patients With Severe Fatal COVID-19: A Post-Mortem Study. *Lancet Microbe* (2020) 1:e245–53. doi: 10.1016/S2666-5247(20)30115-4
- Xiaohong Y, Tingyuan L, Zhicheng H, Yifang P, Huawen L, Shicang Y, et al. [A Pathological Report of Three COVID-19 Cases by Minimal Invasive Autopsies]. *Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi* (2020) 49:411–7. doi: 10.3760/ CMA.J.CN112151-20200312-00193
- 12. Naguib R. Potential Relationships Between COVID-19 and the Thyroid Gland: An Update. J Int Med Res (2022) 50(2):3000605221082898. doi: 10.1177/03000605221082898

- patient recruitment, data collection. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The study was funded by the National Centre for Research and Development, project number SZPITALE-JEDNOIMIENNE/ 46/2020.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Peter Grešner from the Centre of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics Analysis, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland, for performing the biostatistical analysis and providing biostatistics consultations. The Centre is working as a part of the Excellence Initiative "Research University", grant no. MNISW 07/IDUB/2019/94.

- Scappaticcio L, Pitoia F, Esposito K, Piccardo A, Trimboli P. Impact of COVID-19 on the Thyroid Gland: An Update. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2021) 22:803–15. doi: 10.1007/S11154-020-09615-Z
- Ilera V, Delfino LC, Zunino A, Glikman P, Drnovsek M, Reyes A, et al. Correlation Between Inflammatory Parameters and Pituitary-Thyroid Axis in Patients With COVID-19. *Endocrine* (2021) 74:455–60. doi: 10.1007/S12020-021-02863-2
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Fong CHY, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in Relation to Immune Profile, Disease Status, and Outcome in 191 Patients With COVID-19. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106:E926–35. doi: 10.1210/CLINEM/DGAA813
- Zhang Y, Lin F, Tu W, Zhang J, Choudhry AA, Ahmed O, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction may be Associated With Poor Outcomes in Patients With COVID-19. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2021) 521:111097. doi: 10.1016/ J.MCE.2020.111097
- Lang S, Liu Y, Qu X, Lu R, Fu W, Zhang W, et al. Association Between Thyroid Function and Prognosis of COVID-19: A Retrospective Observational Study. *Endocr Res* (2021) 46:170–7. doi: 10.1080/07435800.2021.1924770
- Campi I, Bulgarelli I, Dubini A, Perego GB, Tortorici E, Torlasco C, et al. The Spectrum of Thyroid Function Tests During Hospitalization for SARS COV-2 Infection. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2021) 184:699–709. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-1391
- Wang W, Su X, Ding Y, Fan W, Zhou W, Su J, et al. Thyroid Function Abnormalities in COVID-19 Patients. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2021) 11:623792. doi: 10.3389/FENDO.2020.623792
- Clausen CL, Rasmussen ÅK, Johannsen TH, Hilsted LM, Skakkebæk NE, Szecsi PB, et al. Thyroid Function in COVID-19 and the Association With Cytokine Levels and Mortality*Endocr Connect.* (2021) 10(10):1234–42. doi: 10.1530/EC-21-0301
- Baldelli R, Nicastri E, Petrosillo N, Marchioni L, Gubbiotti A, Sperduti I, et al. Thyroid Dysfunction in COVID-19 Patients. J Endocrinol Invest (2021) 44:2735–9. doi: 10.1007/S40618-021-01599-0
- Croce L, Gangemi D, Ancona G, Liboà F, Bendotti G, Minelli L, et al. The Cytokine Storm and Thyroid Hormone Changes in COVID-19. J Endocrinol Invest (2021) 44:891–904. doi: 10.1007/S40618-021-01506-7
- Lui DTW, Lee CH, Chow WS, Lee ACH, Tam AR, Pang P, et al. Long COVID in Patients With Mild to Moderate Disease: Do Thyroid Function and Autoimmunity Play a Role? *Endocr Pract* (2021) 27(9):894–902. doi: 10.1016/J.EPRAC.2021.06.016
- 24. Grondman I, de Nooijer AH, Antonakos N, Janssen NAF, Mouktaroudi M, Leventogiannis K, et al. The Association of TSH and Thyroid Hormones With Lymphopenia in Bacterial Sepsis and COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2021) 106:1994–2009. doi: 10.1210/CLINEM/DGAB148

- Szarpak Ł, Nowak B, Kosior D, Zaczynski A, Filipiak KJ, Jaguszewski MJ. Cytokines as Predictors of COVID-19 Severity: Evidence From a Meta-Analysis. Pol Arch Intern Med (2021) 131:98–9. doi: 10.20452/PAMW.15685
- Sun Y, Dong Y, Wang L, Xie H, Li B, Chang C, et al. Characteristics and Prognostic Factors of Disease Severity in Patients With COVID-19: The Beijing Experience. J Autoimmun (2020) 112:102473. doi: 10.1016/J.JAUT.2020.102473
- 27. Assimakopoulos SF, Markantes GK, Papageorgiou D, Mamali I, Markou KB, Marangos M, et al. Low Serum TSH in the Acute Phase of COVID-19 Pneumonia: Thyrotoxicosis or a Face of "Non-Thyroidal Illness Syndrome"? *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2021) 59:420–3. doi: 10.1515/CCLM-2021-0511/PDF

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Świątkowska-Stodulska, Berlińska and Puchalska-Reglińska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



